
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 

 
Wednesday, 8th September, 2021 

 
10.00 am 

 
Online 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 





 
 

AGENDA 
 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 

Wednesday, 8 September 2021 at 10.00 am Ask for: Matthew Dentten 
Online Telephone: 03000 414534 
 
Membership (16) 
 
Conservative (12): Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R Love, OBE (Vice-Chairman), 

Mr N Baker, Mr C Beart, Mr T Bond, Mr N Collor, Mr D Crow-
Brown, Mr M Dendor, Mr A Hills, Mrs S Hudson, Mrs L Parfitt-
Reid and Mr D Watkins 
 

 
Labour (2): 
 
 
Liberal Democrat (1): 

 
Ms M Dawkins, Mr B Lewis 
 
 
Mr I Chittenden 
 

  
Green and 
Independents (1): 

Mr M Baldock    
 

 
UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 

(During these items the meeting is likely to be open to the public) 
 

1 Introduction/Webcast announcement  

2  Apologies and Substitutes  

 To receive apologies for absence and notification of any substitutes present. 
 

3  Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  

 To receive any declarations of interest made by Members in relation to any matter on 
the agenda.  Members are reminded to specify the agenda item number to which it 
refers and the nature of the interest being declared. 
 

4  Minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2021 (Pages 1 - 10) 

 To consider and approve the minutes as a correct record. 
 

5 Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  

6 21/00073 - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 - 5 Year Review of 2016 
adopted Plan (Pages 11 - 186) 



7 Approach to monitoring Net Zero Target (Pages 187 - 192) 

8 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy - Progress Update (Pages 
193 - 202) 

9 Heritage Conservation Strategy (Pages 203 - 238) 

10 21/00072 - Highway Rural Swathe Contract (Pages 239 - 250) 

11 21/00071 - Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract (Pages 251 - 258) 

12 Winter Service Policy (Pages 259 - 264) 

13 Local Transport Plan 5 - Early review (Pages 265 - 272) 

14 21/00075 - Independent Cost Consultancy Services (Pages 273 - 278) 

15 21/00066 - Kent Active Travel scheme - Cinque Ports Phase 5 - A259 Palmarsh to 
Dymchurch (Pages 279 - 288) 

16 Performance Dashboard (Pages 289 - 300) 

17  Work Programme (Pages 301 - 304) 

 To consider and agree a work programme for 2021/2022. 
 

18 Date of next programmed meeting - Wednesday 3 November 2021  

 

EXEMPT ITEMS 

(At the time of preparing the agenda there were no exempt items.  During any such items 
which may arise the meeting is likely NOT to be open to the public) 

 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 416814 
 
 
Tuesday, 31 August 2021 
 



1 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL 
 

 

ENVIRONMENT & TRANSPORT CABINET COMMITTEE 
 
MINUTES of a meeting of the Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee held in 
the  on Tuesday, 29 June 2021. 
 
PRESENT: Mr S Holden (Chairman), Mr R C Love, OBE, Mr Baker, Mr M Baldock, 
Mr C Beart, Mr T Bond, Mr I S Chittenden, Mr N J Collor, Mr D Crow-Brown, 
Ms M Dawkins, Mr M Dendor, Mr B H Lewis, Mrs L Parfitt-Reid, Mr D Watkins and 
Mr H Rayner 
 
ALSO PRESENT: Ms S Hamilton 
 
IN ATTENDANCE: Mr S Jones (Interim Corporate Director of Growth, Environment 
and Transport), Mrs S Holt-Castle (Director of Growth and Communities) and 
Mr M Dentten (Democratic Services Officer) 
 

UNRESTRICTED ITEMS 
 
1. Declarations of Interest by Members in items on the Agenda  
(Item 3) 
 

1. Mr Collor declared a non-pecuniary interest in Item 12, he cited his 

involvement in the Dover Fastrack project as a Dover District Councillor. 

 
2. Election of Vice-Chair  
(Item 4) 
 

1. The chairman proposed and Mr Collor seconded that Mr Love be elected vice-

chairman of the committee. 

 

2. Ms Dawkins proposed and Mr Baldock seconded that Mr Lewis be elected 

vice-chairman of the committee. 

 

3. Members voted on the election of vice-chairman.  

 

4. It was agreed by majority vote that Mr Love be elected vice-chairman of the 

committee. 

RESOLVED that Mr Love be elected vice-chairman of the committee. 
 
3. Minutes of the meeting held on 18 March and 27 May 2021  
(Item 5) 
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meetings held on 18 March 2021 and 27 May 
2021 were a correct record and that they be signed by the chairman. 
 
4. Verbal Updates by Cabinet Members and Corporate Director  
 

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



 

2 

1. Miss Carey gave a verbal update. She paid tribute to Mr Hills for his work as 

Cabinet Member for Environment between 14 May and 18 June 2021. 

Members were reminded that briefings on KCC’s environment and waste 

operations were circulated two weeks before each committee meeting. Miss 

Carey confirmed that KCC’s Environment division had won a national award 

from the Association of Directors of Environment, Economy, Planning and 

Transport (ADEPT) for delivering clean growth as part of their efforts on Low 

Carbon Across the South East (LoCASE), which involved providing local 

businesses with sustainability advice and support. Members were invited to 

take part in the Kent Environment Strategy cross-party member working 

group.  

 

2. Mr Brazier gave a verbal update. He confirmed that high level highway 

maintenance contract discussion had begun; that half of the annual Pothole 

Blitz programme had been completed, with the remainder to be finished by the 

end of summer; and that a bid was submitted on 18 June 2021 to the Levelling 

Up Fund – Round 1, for a new rail cross over at Dollands Moor, Folkestone. 

Members were informed that as part of the government’s ‘Bus Back Better’ 

national bus strategy, Kent Public Transport and Communications had been in 

contact with bus operators to understand their key priorities, also forming a 

stakeholder focus group. Mr Brazier noted that a third tranche of the Active 

Travel Fund was expected and that bids had been received in anticipation.   

 

3. Mr Lewis invited Mr Brazier to visit Margate to observe the county’s only 

vehicle-free school street as well as local 20mph zones. Mr Brazier accepted 

the invitation and informed the committee that a second vehicle-free school 

street was in development in Tunbridge Wells. 

 

4. Ms Dawkins encouraged active travel schemes which involved cycling and 

asked that the ‘Top 10 asks for Canterbury’ local travel document be 

considered when deciding on schemes in her division. She agreed to forward 

the document to Mr Brazier for his information.  

RESOLVED that the verbal updates be noted. 
 
5. Performance Dashboard  
(Item 6) 
 
Rachel Kennard (Chief Analyst) and David Beaver (Head of Waste and Business 
Services) were in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Kennard provided a verbal overview of the performance dashboard. She 

confirmed that it covered the last quarter of the 2020-21 financial year and 

reflected a positive position with 13 of 18 key performance indicators rated 

green and none rated red. Newly proposed indicators and planned changes to 

existing indicators were detailed, with the justification for the changes given. 

 

2. Mr Bond asked why 7 2021-22 targets detailed in Appendix 2 of the report 

were below their 2020-21 target levels. Mr Jones confirmed that targets had 

been reconsidered following an analysis of the operating environment and 

Page 2



 

3 

reassured members that a review of targets would be undertaken following the 

pandemic.  

 

3. Mr Chittenden asked in reference to indicator EPE14 (Greenhouse Gas 

emissions from KCC estate), why staff working from home had not significantly 

reduced estate emissions. Miss Carey emphasised that not all KCC 

employees were office based, including before the pandemic, and reassured 

the committee that emissions from the KCC estate were in decline.  

 

4. Mr Lewis asked in reference to indicator WM04 (Percentage of customers 

satisfied with Household Waste and Recycling Centres), whether future 

surveys could include non-service users. Miss Carey confirmed that a mystery 

shopper approach had been adopted to ensure that the views of non-service 

users were received.  

 

5. Ms Dawkins asked whether there would be a public consultation if the 

Household Waste and Recycling Centre online booking system was made 

permanent. Miss Carey confirmed that there would be a public consultation 

before a final decision was made. 

RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
6. Risk Register Annual Update  
(Item 7) 
 
Jody Catterall (Risk Manager) was in attendance for this item. 

1. Ms Catterall introduced the report that set out the strategic risks relating to the 

Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee and paid particular attention to 

the two risks that featured on the Corporate Risk Register for which the 

Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and Transport was the designated 

owner. 

 

2. Addressing governance Ms Catterall reminded members that the Governance 

and Audit Committee analysed the Corporate Risk Register in its entirety. 

RESOLVED that the risks presented in the report be noted. 
 
7. 21/00046 - A229 Blue Bell Hill Improvement Scheme  
(Item 8) 
 
Lee Burchill (Major Capital Programme Manager) and Victoria Soames (Project 
Manager) were in attendance for this item. 

1. Mr Brazier outlined the scope and importance of the proposed scheme. He 

emphasised the role the improvements would have in improving transit on the 

M20 and A2, given the future impact of the lower Thames crossing on Kent’s 

highway network and the resulting need to increase capacity. 

 

2. Mr Burchill added that the scheme formed part of a larger Department for 

Transport led initiative (Large Local Majors Fund) and was being promoted to 

receive central government funding as a result. Regarding the Cabinet 

Member decision, Mr Burchill confirmed that the proposed decision covered 

Page 3



 

4 

the scheme scope, but that further updates would be provided to the 

committee at appropriate times to ensure that they are kept up to date with 

scheme progress and direction. 

 

3. Mr Baldock noted that the proposed scheme was within a sensitive landscape 

and asked for reassurance that archaeological sites would not be damaged. 

Mr Burchill confirmed that planning and stakeholder engagement would seek 

to mitigate the scheme’s impact on the local environment. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to give approval to: 

a) the feasibility design options for A229 Blue Bell Hill Improvement Scheme to 

be developed and further explored to establish a preferred option which best 

meets the objectives for the scheme; 

b) progress the preferred option through the next stages of development and 

delivery including any ancillary works such as drainage and environmental 

mitigation; 

c) submit a planning application/development consent order for the scheme, 

following completion of the outline design process and public consultation; 

d) take all steps necessary to obtain and implement all Statutory Orders and 

approvals or consents required for the schemes; 

e) all acts required to acquire the land and rights for the carrying out and 

completion of the A229 Blue Bell Hill Improvement Scheme, including by 

means of a compulsory purchase order; 

f) enter into Agreements to allow the County Council to design and deliver a 

scheme on Highways England and Network Rail (High Speed 1) infrastructure; 

g) enter into Large Local Majors funding, developer funding and other such 

funding Agreements subject to the approval of the Corporate Director for 

Finance; 

h) enter into construction contracts as necessary for the delivery of the scheme, 

subject to the approval of Strategic Commissioning; and 

i) the Corporate Director of Growth, Environment & Transport, under the Officer 

Scheme of Delegations, to take further or other decisions as may be 

appropriate to deliver the A229 Blue Bell Hill Improvement Scheme in 

accordance with these recommendations. 

 

 
8. 21/00045 - Vision Zero - The Road Safety Strategy for Kent 2021-2026  
(Item 9) 
 
Tim Read (Head of Transportation) and Rory McMullan (Casualty Reduction 
Manager) were in attendance for this item. 

1. Mr McMullan gave a verbal overview of the Vision Zero road safety strategy. It 

was noted that zero road deaths by 2050 was the primary goal and that safe 

systems methodology would be used. Safe roads, speed, vehicles and post 

collision response were set out as key focuses. The importance of community 

engagement was highlighted, it was stated that consultation had indicated 

overall public support for the strategy. Amendments made to the strategy 

following consultation were set out and included interim targets and simplified 

language.  

Page 4



 

5 

 

2. Highlighting vehicle safety, Mr Love asked for the justification behind the 

correlation between road safety and low emission vehicles, set out in the 

strategy. Mr McMullan recognised that whilst there was no strict correlation 

between road safety and lower emission vehicles, newer, lower emission 

vehicles were equipped with a greater selection of safety features than older 

vehicles.  

 

3. Mr Chittenden asked when average speed cameras would be rolled out across 

Kent and whether local partners had been consulted on the strategy. Mr 

McMullan confirmed that an average speed camera pilot had been planned for 

later in the 2021-22 financial year. He reassured members that Kent Police 

and Kent Fire and Rescue Service had attended stakeholder meetings and 

endorsed the strategy. 

 

4. Members highlighted the use of bicycles and private e-scooters on pavements 

as key safety concerns and recognised the role enforcement played in 

increasing road safety. 

 

5. Following a question from Mr Bond, Mr McMullan confirmed that casualties 

were divided into three categories: slight, serious and fatal. 

 

6. Mr Watkins welcomed the incorporation of interim targets into the strategy and 

reflected on the role technology played in reducing road fatalities. He cited the 

use of black boxes in cars as an example.  

 

7. Ms Parfitt-Reid asked how it would be ensured that police enforcement was 

carried out to the greatest possible extent in line with the road safety strategy. 

Mr Jones reassured members that on the issue of transport enforcement, he 

had been in communication with central government and local partners to 

extend enforcement powers and maximise capabilities.  

 

8. Members raised their concerns regarding the naming of the strategy, Vision 

Zero. It was noted that a greater distinction was needed to prevent confusion 

between Vision Zero and (Carbon) Net Zero and that the proposed name 

presented an unrealistic target which would lead to criticism even in the event 

of an increase in road safety. Mr McMullan informed the committee that Vision 

Zero constituted a multi-national road traffic safety initiative and that the 

branding of the strategy was not Kent specific.  

 

9. The committee recommended that an alternate name for the strategy be 

considered.   

 

10. Mr Love abstained to endorse the proposed Cabinet Member decision. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to adopt Vision Zero – The Road Safety Strategy for Kent 2021 – 2026 
for subsequent development of delivery plans and pilots. 
 

Page 5



 

6 

9. Decision taken between meetings - 21/00043 - Statutory Notice for 
Enhanced Partnership for Buses  
(Item 10) 
 
Phil Lightowler (Head of Public Transport) was in attendance for this item. 

1. Mr Brazier detailed the grounds upon which he took the Statutory Notice for 

Enhanced Partnership for Buses decision on 14 June 2021. He noted that the 

decision to form a partnership was a prerequisite for future funding and 

acknowledged that the deadline set by the Department for Transport had 

prevented the decision from being delayed. 

 

2. Mr Lightowler gave an overview of the decision timeline and recognised that 

the Enhanced Partnership for Buses strategy was launched by the Department 

for Transport on 15 March 2021, during the County Council’s pre-election 

period. He confirmed that 30 June 2021 was the deadline set by the 

Department and noted that operators had been consulted and agreed 

overwhelmingly to join Kent’s enhanced partnership.  

 

3. Mr Dendor asked to what extent bus operators had signed up to the enhanced 

partnership. Mr Lightowler confirmed that at the time of the meeting 40 

operators, including all major operators, had agreed to the first stage of the 

partnership. 

RESOLVED that the decision be noted. 
 
10. 21/00048 - A228/B2017 and B2017/B2160/Mascalls Court Road, Paddock 
Wood Junction Improvements  
(Item 11) 
 
John Farmer (Project Manager) was in attendance for this item. 

1. Mr Brazier gave a verbal summary of the proposed decision. He asserted that 

the junction improvements were required in Paddock Wood to expand road 

capacity, necessitated by an impending increase in local housing.   

 

2. The chairman invited Ms Hamilton as the local member to make a comment. 

Ms Hamilton noted that the matter was of local importance and welcomed the 

committee’s consideration. She added that there had been local interest for 

commemorating a German plane which crashed on the project’s site during 

the second world war.  

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to grant: 

a) Approval to progress the proposed junction improvements as indicatively 

shown on drawings SK26 Rev P4; and SK49 Rev A and SK50 Rev B through 

surveys, design, and construction; 

b) approval for the proposed junction improvements shown on drawings SK26 

Rev P4; and SK49 Rev A and SK50 Rev B to be used for Land Charge 

disclosures and development control; 

c) approval to take a transfer of land for the improvements from an adjacent 

housing development under a S106 planning obligation and acquire other land 

and rights as necessary; 

Page 6



 

7 

d) approval to progress all statutory approvals and consents required for the 

schemes including detailed planning consent, drainage and environmental 

consents and securing temporary use of land for a construction site 

compound; 

e) approval to enter into construction contracts as necessary for the delivery of 

the schemes subject to any internal approval process required to the proposed 

procurement strategy; and 

f) approval for any further decisions required to allow the schemes to proceed 

through to delivery to be taken by the Interim/Corporate Director of Growth, 

Environment & Transport under the Officer Scheme of Delegations following 

prior consultation with the Cabinet Member. 

 
11. 21/00047 - Dover Fastrack - Compulsory Purchase Order  
(Item 12) 
 
John Farmer (Project Manager) and Barry Stiff (Project Manager) were in attendance 
for this item. 

1. Mr Brazier provided a verbal overview of the proposed decision and 

accompanying report. He reassured the committee that compulsory purchase 

would only be used as a last resort and that there remained scope for an 

agreement between KCC and the current landowner on the sale of the plot.  

 

2. When asked by the chairman, Mr Jones confirmed that no residential property 

would be subject to the Compulsory Purchase Order.   

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to: 

a) Approve all acts required to carry out and complete the Dover Fastrack 

scheme; 

b) approve all acts required to acquire the land and rights for the carrying out and 

completion of the Dover Fastrack scheme, including by means of a 

compulsory purchase order; 

c) approve the delegation to the Interim/Corporate Director of Growth, 

Environment & Transport under the Officer Scheme of Delegations following 

prior consultation with the Cabinet Member, any further or other decisions as 

may be appropriate to deliver the Dover Fastrack scheme; 

d) approve the delegation to the Interim/Corporate Director of Growth, 

Environment & Transport under the Officer Scheme of Delegations following 

prior consultation with the Cabinet Member, any further or other decisions as 

may be appropriate to deliver the Dover Fastrack scheme; and 

e) confirm that other decisions in Record of Decision 19/00053 remain extant. 

 
12. Bath Street, Gravesend - Fastrack Infrastructure Scheme  
(Item 13) 
 
Lee Burchill (Major Capital Programme Manager) and Abigail Roscoe (Assistant 
Project Manager) were in attendance for this item. 

1. Mr Brazier gave a verbal summary of the proposed decision and noted the 

improvement of Fastrack journey times from the Northfleet Embankment East, 

Page 7



 

8 

Clifton Slipways and Charter developments as the scheme’s key aim. He 

reminded members that no KCC funding would be used to deliver the scheme. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to accept the capital grant from Ebbsfleet Development Company and 
to take the Bath Street scheme through the stages of development and delivery and 
specifically for: 

a) Formal ratification of funding agreement with EDC following the approval of 

the Corporate Director of Finance, Corporate & Strategic Services; 

b) approval to undertake the detailed design and surveys for the Bath Street 

Scheme; 

c) approval to progress all statutory approvals or consents required for the 

scheme, including any transfer of land and rights; 

d) approval to carry out any additional consultation required for the scheme; 

e) approval to enter into construction contracts as necessary for the delivery and 

future maintenance of the scheme subject to a review of the procurement 

strategy by the Capital Officer Group; and 

f) approval for any further decisions required to allow the scheme to proceed 

through to delivery to be taken by the Corporate Director of Growth, 

Environment & Transport under the Officer Scheme of Delegations following 

prior consultation with the Cabinet Member. 

 
13. Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme Update  
(Item 14) 
 
Helen Shulver (Interim Head of Countryside and Community Development), Steve 
Baggs (Energy Programmes Manager) and Jonathan White (Projects and Operations 
Manager) were in attendance for this item. 

1. Miss Carey gave a verbal update. She delivered an overview of the 

decarbonisation scheme’s funding and affirmed a pledge to deliver on project 

commitments following central government funding. It was highlighted that 

since 2010 KCC had reduced its carbon footprint by 56%.  

 

2. Ms Shulver provided a scheme-by-scheme verbal overview. It was confirmed 

that planned schemes would further reduce KCC’s carbon footprint by more 

than 46%, with West End Solar Park the largest single project.  

 

3. Mr Watkins recognised the positive impact of the decarbonisation scheme on 

schools in his division and asked for details of forthcoming projects. Mr Baggs 

agreed to provide the committee with an overview of future projects which 

were open to consideration. 

RESOLVED that the update be noted. 
 
14. Kent area pathways to Net Zero 2050  
(Item 15) 
 
Lucy Breeze (Kent Environment Strategy Programme Manager) was in attendance 
for this item. 

Page 8



 

9 

1. Miss Carey introduced the report which presented the key findings of the Kent 

and Medway Emissions Analysis and Pathways to Net Zero 2050 report that 

had been produced by Anthesis. She reminded the committee that KCC had 

targeted carbon neutrality on its estate by 2030 and that it had a key role to 

play in achieving overall carbon neutrality in the county by 2050. It was 

stressed that the report reflected recommendations from Anthesis rather than 

commitments from KCC. 

 

2. Ms Breeze provided further detail on the report’s scope and purpose. She 

recognised the scale of change required for the county to achieve carbon net 

zero by 2050 and gave a breakdown of the county’s carbon outputs. 

Recognition was given to the role technology would play in decarbonisation; it 

was noted that future technology costs had not been addressed in the report 

as they remained unknown.  

 

3. Following a question from Ms Dawkins on whether multiple forms of 

sustainable energy production including wave power had been investigated, 

Miss Carey confirmed that analysis had been undertaken. 

 

4. Mr Collor sought reassurance that flooding prevention and the impact of trees 

on infrastructure would be considered when planting. Miss Carey gave a 

commitment to continue a ‘right tree, right place’ approach which factored in 

the local environment. 

 

5. In response to a question from Mr Crow-Brown concerning tree loss at Thanet 

Parkway Railway Station, Miss Carey committed to contact Network Rail and 

share relevant information on tree planting at the site with members.  

 

6. Ms Dawkins asked whether there were any schemes to help low-income 

households switch to renewable heating sources. Ms Breeze confirmed that a 

grant to support fuel poor households was available. 

RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
15. 21/00028 - Adoption of Highways Asset Management Plan 2021/22 to 
2025/26  
(Item 16) 
 
Andrew Loosemore (Head of Highways Asset Management) was in attendance for 
this item. 

1. Mr Brazier summarised the proposed decision, noted the scope of the asset 

management plan and confirmed the rationale behind a single policy that sets 

out KCC’s approach to highways asset management to 2025-26. 

 

2. Mr Loosemore provided a detailed overview of the plan. He stated that asset 

management plans had been developed since 2016 following Department for 

Transport bloc maintenance grant incentives and recognised the link between 

multi-year planning and value for money. It was noted that whilst funding from 

the Department for Transport had been static over the previous five years, 

there had been a 20% grant reduction in 2021-22. The renewal of street trees 

Page 9



 

10 

was highlighted as a continued initiative. Mr Jones added that the plan 

informed KCC’s ability to make positive interventions using quality planning 

and intelligence. 

 

3. Mr Baldock drew the maintenance of concrete roads to the attention of 

members and asked whether central government had been lobbied to 

increase highways investment in Kent. Mr Jones confirmed that the 

maintenance of concrete roads had been taken into account and that KCC 

cooperated with Highways England on the issue.  

 

4. Mr Dendor highlighted the maintenance of roadside drains and pavements as 

areas which required continued focus. Mr Loosemore reassured members that 

a risk-based approach was taken when cleaning problematic drains. 

 

5. Mr Baldock abstained to endorse the proposed Cabinet Member decision. 

RESOLVED to endorse the proposed decision of the Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Transport to adopt and publish a single Highways Asset Management Plan 
document that sets out our approach to highways asset management over the next 
five years. 
 
16. Work Programme  
(Item 17) 
 
RESOLVED that the Work Programme for 2021/22 be noted, subject to the inclusion 
of the following items: - 

 A26 cycle route 

 Thanet coast wastewater release 

 
 
POST MEETING NOTE: A presentation on the Government’s Resources and Waste 
Strategy Consultations was circulated to members following the meeting. 
 

Page 10



From:               Susan Carey – Cabinet Member for Environment  

 

  Simon Jones, Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport 

   

To: Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – 8 September 2021  

         
Decision No:      21/00073 

  Subject: Kent Minerals & Waste Local Plan 2013-30 – 5 Year Review of 2016 

adopted Plan, September 2021 

 

  Classification:    Unrestricted 

Past Pathway of Paper:    N/A 

Future Pathway of Paper: N/A 

Electoral Division:             Countywide 

Summary: The County Council has a statutory responsibility to plan for future minerals 
supply and waste management within Kent. To this end, the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) was adopted by Full Council in July 2016 and changes to a 
limited number of policies were made in 2020 following an Early Partial Review. The Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan contains planning policies relating to minerals supply and 
waste management against which planning applications for these types of development 
are assessed. The Plan also includes a number of policies related to the safeguarding of 
mineral resources and waste management facilities which are mainly implemented by 
District and Borough Councils.   

Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 require Local 
Planning Authorities to review their Local Plans every five years. This is to ensure that the 
policies remain relevant, conform to national policy and guidance and satisfactorily 
address the needs of the local community. A review of the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan has now been completed and the outcomes set out in a separate report (see 
Appendix 1). The review has identified that a number of policies require updating to 
ensure the Local Plan remains consistent with national policy and legislation and relevant 
to the local context. To satisfy the Regulations regarding the 5 year Review, the Council 
is required to agree the review.   

The identified changes needed to the 2016 Kent Mineral and Waste Local Plan then form 
the basis for the next plan making cycle.  The detail of the proposed changes will be the 
subject of a separate key decision and reported to a future Environment and Transport 
Cabinet Committee.  

Recommendation(s):   

The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or 
make recommendations to the Cabinet Member responsible for the Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan in respect of agreeing the five-year review of the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan 2013-30 (as set out in Appendix 1) for publication. 
 
The Proposed Record of Decision is shown at Appendix A.   
 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6



    1.    Introduction and Background 

1.1 As the minerals and waste planning authority for Kent, the County Council is 

required to prepare and maintain planning policy concerning waste management 

and minerals supply in the County. The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-

30 (KMWLP) was adopted by the Council in July 2016 and sets out the strategy and 

policy framework for minerals and waste development in Kent which includes future 

capacity and supply requirements. The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan forms 

part of the Development Plan for Kent and is a key policy document both for the 

determination of planning applications for minerals and waste development by the 

County Council, and applications relating to other development that may affect 

minerals and waste development or other aspects determined by the Kent District 

and Borough Councils. 

 

1.2 Following its adoption, the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was subject to an 

‘Early Partial Review’ and changes resulting from this review were adopted by the 

Council in September 2020. These changes removed the Council’s commitment to 

prepare a separate plan allocating land suitable for waste management 

development (a Waste Sites Plan) and improved the effectiveness of safeguarding 

existing waste and minerals infrastructure and mineral resources to assure ongoing 

waste management and minerals supply. Also in September 2020, the Council 

adopted a Minerals Sites Plan which allocates three areas of land suitable for 

development associated with the extraction of sand and gravel. 

 

1.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (and legislation1) states policies in 

Local Plans should be reviewed at least once every five years to assess whether 

they need updating and should then be updated as necessary. Planning Practice 

Guidance produced by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local 

Government (MHCLG) notes that updates to local planning policy may be needed 

for several reasons including the following: 

 

 The policy is no longer in conformity with national policy; 

 changes to local circumstances; such as a change in the quantum of 

development requirements or development of a Nationally Significant 

Infrastructure Project within the area (or nearby); 

 the performance of policies during appeals i.e. whether the implementation 

policies is challenged successfully; 

 the effectiveness of policies in achieving the objectives of the Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan; 

 significant economic changes that may impact on viability; and, 

 whether any new social, environmental or economic priorities may have arisen. 

 

1.4 The County Council is required by national planning policy to ensure the Plan 

promotes sustainable minerals and waste development and the review work plays 

an important role in ensuring that minerals and waste development in Kent remains 

relevant to local development requirements and consistent with national policy and 

guidance. 

 

                                                 
1
 Regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as 

amended) 
 

Page 12

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1244/regulation/4/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2017/1244/regulation/4/made


1.5 Government expects that all planning authorities have an up to date Local Plan in 

place and where this is not the case there is a risk that Government will intervene as 

the plan making authority, resulting in reduced local accountability. The need for the 

review is recognised by the Council in its Mineral and Waste Development Scheme 

(MWDS) that was adopted by Cabinet Member for Environment following 

consideration by the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee on 19 January 

2021. 

 

1.6 As the Kent Local Plan was adopted in July 2016 all its policies have now been 

reviewed. For completeness, those policies updated by the Early Partial Review 

have also been reviewed.  

 

1.7 To inform the review, views on the need for updates to the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan were sought from key stakeholder groups including District and Borough 

Councils in Kent, neighbouring Minerals and Waste Planning Authorities, 

representatives from the minerals and waste operators in Kent and other interested 

parties such as the Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England. A 

total of nine responses were received. 

 

1.8 The experience of applying the Local Plan policies in the determination of planning 

applications over the last five years has also been used to establish how effective 

the policies are in achieving desired outcomes in terms of waste management and 

mineral supply in Kent. 

 

1.9 Up to date data and information relating to the supply of minerals and management 

of waste has been collated to establish how the Local Plan’s objectives for waste 

management and minerals supply are being achieved.   

 

1.10 A report detailing how the Local Plan policies, Vision and Strategic Objectives have 

been reviewed, including recommendations for updates to the Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan is included as Appendix 1. This report includes a summary of 

views received from key stakeholder groups.  

 

2. Outcomes of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 

2.1 The review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan identified the need for 

updates to the Plan in response to relevant Government policy and legislation that 

has been published since the Local Plan was adopted in 2016. Key Government 

policy changes which the review took into account include the following: 

 

 Updates to the National Planning Policy Framework in 2018, 2019 and 2021 and 

associated Planning Practice Guidance; 

 policy relating to the management of low-level radioactive waste; 

 legislation and policy concerning the need to adapt to, and mitigate, climate 

change and associated low carbon growth; and, 

 policy and legislation concerned with achieving a circular economy where more 

waste is prevented or reused. 

 

 

 

Page 13



2.2 The review also identified changes to the local context which require further updates 

to be made. These include the following: 

 

 Changes to settlement boundaries affecting the extent of areas identified in the 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan where the presence of economic minerals 

needed to be taken into account before surface development can take place. 

These areas are known as ‘Mineral Safeguarding Areas’; 

 a need for the development of additional capacity associated with the 

management of household waste has been identified by the Waste Disposal 

Authority; and 

 adoption by the County Council of the Kent Environment Strategy and Kent and 

Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy and the emerging work on the 

refreshed Kent Design Guide. 

 

2.3 In respect of policy CSM2 - Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent, the County Council 

has very recently received (August 2021) a representation from one of the mineral 

operators asserting that the policy requires review to satisfy landbank requirements 

for ragstone.  Further assessment is required to satisfy whether this is the case or 

not. For the purpose of the 5 year Review, it has been concluded that no change is 

required. The further assessment work is however being undertaken and if changes 

are considered necessary then this will be included in the work for the next plan 

making cycle and subsequent public consultation.  

 

2.4 The Executive Summary included in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 

Report (see Appendix 1) summarises the outcome of the review and so this is not 

repeated here, however it is important to note that the report recommends that 39 of 

the Plan’s 52 policies, and/or their supporting text, be updated. 

 

2.5 Updates to the Vision and Strategic Objectives are recommended, including those 

required to bring the Plan up to date with regard to approaches relating to protection 

and enhancement of biodiversity and adaptation to, and mitigation of, climate change. 

 

3. Next Steps 

3.1 Subject to Members’ agreement to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 

Report (Appendix 1), this will be published in accordance with Planning Practice 

Guidance. Publication will satisfy the Council’s statutory requirement of reviewing its 

planning policy every five years. 

 

3.2 In response to the recommendations in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

Review Report, changes to planning policy and supporting text will be drafted with the 

intention to report to  Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee later this year. 

This report will detail the proposed changes to the adopted Local Plan  the procedure 

for updating the Plan and arrangements for public consultation. 

 

4. Financial Implications 

4.1 The costs of reviewing the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan are met from the 

Growth and Communities  Division - Planning Applications Group’s budget.  

Page 14



5. Policy Framework  

5.1 The review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan takes account of changes to the  

County Council’s corporate policies since July 2016 which are concerned with the way 

in which land is developed in Kent. 

6. Legal Implications  

6.1 The County Council is required by Regulation 10A of The Town and Country Planning 

(Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended) to review its Local Plan 

every five years. Failure to have an up to date Plan risks the Secretary of State 

appointing others to undertake the Council’s plan making function. The review 

reported in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review Report included as 

Appendix 1 satisfies this requirement.                

7. Equalities implications 

7.1  An equality impact assessment (EQIA) has been completed and no equalities 

implications have been identified which arise from the review of the Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan. A copy of the assessment is included as Appendix 2.  

8. Conclusion 

8.1 The County Council is statutorily required to review its planning policy within five 

years of its adoption. The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan has been reviewed 

and the need for updates to the Vision, Strategic Objectives and planning policies 

have been identified. The review has taken account of changes to Government policy 

and legislation and changes to the context in Kent including adoption of strategy 

relating to climate change and the environment. In accordance with Planning Practice 

Guidance the outcomes of the review, as set out in the Kent Minerals and Waste 

Local Plan Review Report should be published on the Council’s website. The process 

of updating the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in light of the review is to be 

considered in a separate report to Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee 

later this year and is the commencement of the next Kent Minerals and Waste Local 

Plan cycle.   

9. Recommendation 

 The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse 

or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member responsible for the Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan in respect of agreeing the five-year review of the Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (as set out in Appendix 1) for publication. 

 The Proposed Record of Decision is shown at Appendix A.  

10.  Background documents and Appendices: 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 as amended by the Early Partial Review 2020: 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/112585/Kent-Minerals-and-Waste-
Local-Plan-2013-2030.pdf 
 
Appendix A: Proposed Record of Decision  
Appendix 1: Report of the Review of the Kent Minerals Waste Local Plan, 2021  

Page 15

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0004%2F112585%2FKent-Minerals-and-Waste-Local-Plan-2013-2030.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7Cf9fc3d2ae291440b307a08d968a2d3b6%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637655871168076228%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=CbbvFrfuhc%2FjQLZG%2F6xtR3YvIgLYoUdOXGtXD5Nqy94%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0004%2F112585%2FKent-Minerals-and-Waste-Local-Plan-2013-2030.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7Cf9fc3d2ae291440b307a08d968a2d3b6%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637655871168076228%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=CbbvFrfuhc%2FjQLZG%2F6xtR3YvIgLYoUdOXGtXD5Nqy94%3D&reserved=0


Appendix 2: Report of the Review of the Kent Minerals Waste Local Plan, 2021 – Equality 
Impact Assessment: 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105531/Appendix2FullReviewoftheKMWLP2021
EqIA.docx.pdf 
 

11. Contact details 
 
Lead Officer:  
Sharon Thompson – Head of Planning Applications Group 
Phone number: 03000 413468  
E-mail: sharon.thompson@kent.gov.uk   
 
Lead Director:  
Stephanie Holt-Castle – Director for Growth and Communities 
Phone number: 03000 412064 
Email: Stephanie.Holt-Castle@kent.gov.uk  
 
 

 

 
 

Page 16

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105531/Appendix2FullReviewoftheKMWLP2021EqIA.docx.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105531/Appendix2FullReviewoftheKMWLP2021EqIA.docx.pdf


KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: 

Susan Carey, Cabinet Member, Environment  

   
DECISION NO: 

21/00073 

 

For publication  
 

Key decision: YES /  
 
 

Subject Matter / Title of Decision: 
Kent Minerals & Waste Local Plan 2013-30 – 5 Year Review of 2016 adopted Plan, September 
2021 
 

Decision:  
As Cabinet Member responsible for the Minerals and Waste Local Plan, I agree the five-year review 
of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (as set out in Appendix 1) for publication. 
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
The County Council has a statutory responsibility to plan for future minerals supply and waste 
management within Kent. To this end, the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (KMWLP) 
was adopted by Full Council in July 2016 and changes to a limited number of policies were made in 
2020 following an Early Partial Review.  
 
Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 require Local Planning 
Authorities to review their Local Plans every five years. This is to ensure that the policies remain 
relevant, conform to national policy and guidance, and satisfactorily address the needs of the local 
community.  
 
A review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan has now been completed and has identified 
that a number of policies require updating to ensure the Local Plan remains consistent with national 
policy and legislation and relevant to the local context.  
 
To satisfy the Regulations regarding the 5 year Review, the Council is required to agree the review.    

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  
To inform the review, views on the need for updates to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
were sought from key stakeholder groups including District and Borough Councils in Kent, 
neighbouring Minerals and Waste Planning Authorities, representatives from the minerals and waste 
operators in Kent and other interested parties such as the Environment Agency, Natural England 
and Historic England.  
 
The proposed decision will be considered by members of the Environment and Transport Cabinet 
Committee at their meeting on 8 September 2021. 

Any alternatives considered and rejected: 
N/A – Statutory Process  

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer:  
 
 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   
 

 

Page 17



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 1 of 168 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Kent Minerals & Waste Local Plan 2013-30 – 

5 Year Review of 2016 adopted Plan 
  

 

 

 

 

Date: September 2021 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 19



Page 2 of 168 

 
 

Table of Contents 

Executive summary ............................................................................................................... 4 

Summary of the outcome of the review ................................................................................. 5 

Mineral and waste development scheme (adopted january 2021) ......................................... 8 

1. Introduction ..................................................................................................................... 9 

2. Assessment of plan vision, strategic objectives and policies ......................................... 12 

POLICY CSM 1: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ............................................................. 21 

POLICY CSM 2: SUPPLY OF LAND-WON MINERALS IN KENT ........................................... 23 

POLICY CSM 3: STRATEGIC SITE FOR MINERALS ......................................................... 28 

POLICY CSM 4: NON-IDENTIFIED LAND-WON MINERAL SITES ........................................ 31 

POLICY CSM 5: LAND-WON MINERAL SAFEGUARDING .................................................. 33 

POLICY CSM 6: SAFEGUARDED WHARVES AND RAIL DEPOTS ....................................... 35 

POLICY CSM 7: SAFEGUARDING OTHER MINERAL PLANT INFRASTRUCTURE................... 39 

POLICY CSM 8: SECONDARY AND RECYCLED AGGREGATES ......................................... 41 

POLICY CSM 9: BUILDING STONE IN KENT ................................................................... 44 

POLICY CSM 10: OIL, GAS AND UNCONVENTIONAL HYDROCARBONS ............................. 46 

POLICY CSM 11: PROSPECTING FOR CARBONIFEROUS LIMESTONE .............................. 48 

POLICY CSM 12: SUSTAINABLE TRANSPORT OF MINERALS ........................................... 50 

POLICY CSW 1: SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT ............................................................. 52 

POLICY CSW 2: WASTE HIERARCHY ........................................................................... 54 

POLICY CSW 3: WASTE REDUCTION ........................................................................... 58 

POLICY CSW 4: STRATEGY FOR WASTE MANAGEMENT CAPACITY ................................. 63 

POLICY CSW 5: STRATEGIC SITE FOR WASTE ............................................................. 70 

POLICY CSW 6: LOCATION OF BUILT WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES .......................... 72 

POLICY CSW 7: WASTE MANAGEMENT FOR NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE ........................... 74 

POLICY CSW 8: RECOVERY FACILITIES FOR NON-HAZARDOUS WASTE .......................... 76 

POLICY CSW 9: NON INERT WASTE LANDFILL IN KENT .................................................. 80 

POLICY CSW 10: DEVELOPMENT AT CLOSED LANDFILL SITES ....................................... 82 

POLICY CSW 11: PERMANENT DEPOSIT OF INERT WASTE ............................................ 84 

POLICY CSW 12: IDENTIFYING SITES FOR HAZARDOUS WASTE…………………………88 

POLICY CSW 13: REMEDIATION OF BROWNFIELD LAND ................................................ 90 

POLICY CSW 14: DISPOSAL OF DREDGINGS ................................................................ 93 

POLICY CSW 15: WASTEWATER DEVELOPMENT .......................................................... 95 

POLICY CSW 16: SAFEGUARDING OF EXISTING WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES……..97 

POLICY CSW 17: NUCLEAR WASTE TREATMENT AND STORAGE AT DUNGENESS ............. 99 

Page 20



Page 3 of 168 

POLICY CSW 18: NON-NUCLEAR INDUSTRY RADIOACTIVE LOW LEVEL WASTE 

MANAGEMENT ....................................................................................................... 101 

POLICY DM 1: SUSTAINABLE DESIGN ........................................................................ 104 

POLICY DM 2: ENVIRONMENTAL AND LANDSCAPE SITES OF INTERNATIONAL, NATIONAL 

AND LOCAL IMPORTANCE…………………………………………………………………106 

POICY DM 3: ECOLOIGCAL IMPACT ASSESSMENT……………………………………….110 

POLICY DM 4: GREEN BELT………………………………………………………………113 

POLICY DM 5: HERITAGE ASSETS………………………………………………………..114 

POLICY DM 6: HISTORIC ENVIRONMENT ASSESSMENT………………………………….117 

POLICY DM 7: SAFEGUARDING MINERAL RESOURCES: ............................................... 118 

POLICY DM 8: SAFEGUARDING MINERALS MANAGEMENT, TRANSPORTATION PRODUCTION 

& WASTE MANAGEMENT FACILITIES ......................................................................... 120 

POLICY DM 9: PRIOR EXTRACTION OF MINERALS IN ADVANCE OF SURFACE DEVELOPMENT

 ............................................................................................................................ 123 

POLICY DM 10: WATER ENVIRONMENT…………………………………………………..125 

POLICY DM 11: HEALTH AND AMENITY...................................................................... 127 

POLICY DM 12: CUMULATIVE IMPACT ....................................................................... 130 

POLICY DM 13: TRANSPORTATION OF MINERALS AND WASTE..................................... 131 

POLICY DM 14: PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY: .................................................................. 133 

POLICY DM 15: SAFEGUARDING OF TRANSPORT INFRASTRUCTURE ............................ 134 

POLICY DM 18: LAND STABILITY............................................................................... 138 

POLICY DM 19: RESTORATION, AFTERCARE AND AFTER-USE ..................................... 139 

POLICY DM 21: INCIDENTAL MINERAL EXTRACTION ................................................... 142 

STRATEGIC MINERALS POLICIES .............................................................................. 145 

STRATEGIC WASTE POLICIES .................................................................................. 146 

DEVELOPMENT MANAGEMENT POLICIES .................................................................. 147 

Glossary............................................................................................................................ 150 

Appendix 1 summary of policy drivers since 2015 ............................................................. 161 

Appendix 2 – results of early engagement with key stakeholders ...................................... 166 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 21



Page 4 of 168 

 

Executive Summary 
 
The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (KMWLP) was adopted in July 2016 with changes 
made as a result of the ‘Early Partial Review’, adopted in 2020. 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) (NPPF) requires that Local Plans should be 

reviewed to assess whether they require updating at least once every five years. Having 

been adopted five years ago, the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan has been 

reviewed to assess whether updates to the Plan’s policies are required.   

 

The review needs to consider whether the Vision, Strategic Objectives and policies of the 

Plan are still consistent with national policy and whether the policies have been effective in 

achieving the intended outcomes relating to the use of land for minerals and waste 

development in Kent. 

 

To inform the process a review of national policy changes has been undertaken. This 

revealed that, amongst other things there have been updates to the National Planning Policy 

Framework which require updates to polices in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan to 

ensure they remain consistent with national planning policy. Monitoring of the way in which 

planning applications have been determined has also been undertaken to assist the review 

of the policies.  Other observations regarding the wording of the policies and supporting text 

have also been made and some of these indicate that policies, and supporting text should be 

updated to ensure the ongoing effectiveness of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 

 

The review of the Vision and Strategic Objectives indicates that the majority of the text 

remains fit for purpose, however some changes are needed in light of: 

 

 Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework; 

 government policy on the achievement of a circular economy; 

 government policy and legislation concerned with climate change and protection and 

enhancement of the natural environment. 

  

A system of Red/Amber/Green (RAG) scoring has been applied to the review of policies 

which helps summarise whether a policy (and/or supporting text) needs updating. Red 

indicates that the presence of an issue likely to mean that the policy should be updated. 

Amber indicates that the presence of an issue which, while an update would be useful, does 

not jeopardise the effective implementation of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan. This 

may include where an update to the supporting text rather than a policy is needed. Green 

indicates that no issues were identified and so updates are not required. A summary of the 

outcome of the review is provided in the table below:  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 22



Page 5 of 168 

 

Summary of the Outcome of the Review 
 

Policy Number & Title Monitoring 

 

National & 
Local Policy 

Other 
Observations 

Update 
Required 

Policy CSM 1: Sustainable 
development  

Green Red Green Yes 

Policy CSM 2
1
: Supply of Land-

won Minerals in Kent  
Green Green Red Yes 

Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for 
Minerals  

Green Green None No 

Policy CSM 4: Non-identified 
Land-won Mineral Sites  

Green Green None No 

Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral 
Safeguarding 

Green Green None No 

Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded 
Wharves and Rail Depots 

Green Green Green No 

Policy CSM 7: Safeguarded Other 
Mineral Plant Infrastructure  

Green Green None No 

Policy CSM 8: Secondary and 
Recycled Aggregates  

Green Green Red Yes 

Policy CSM 9: Building Stone in 
Kent  

Neutral Red Red Yes 

Policy CSM 10: Oil, Gas and 
Unconventional Hydrocarbons  

Neutral Amber None Yes 

Policy CSM 11: Prospecting for 
Carboniferous Limestone  

Neutral Amber None Yes 

Policy CSM 12: Sustainable 
Transport of Minerals  

Neutral Red Red Yes 

Policy CSW 1: Sustainable 
Development  

N/A Red Red     Yes 

Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy 
and Policy  

 Green Red Red Yes 

Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction Red Red Amber Yes 

Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste 
Management Capacity  

Red Amber Amber Yes 

Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for 
Waste  

Green Green Green No 

Policy CSW 6: Location of Built 
Waste Management Facilities  

N/A Red None Yes 

Policy CSW 7: Waste 
Management for Non-hazardous 
Waste  

Green Red Red Yes 

Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities 
for Non-Hazardous Waste  

Green Red Red Yes 

                                                 
1
 The County Council received (August 2021) a representation from one of the mineral operators asserting that policy CSM2 - 

Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent requires a review to satisfy landbank requirements for ragstone.  Further assessment is 
required to satisfy whether this is the case or not.   For the purpose of the 5 year Review, it has been concluded that no change 
is required, The further assessment work is however being undertaken and if changes are necessary then public consultation 
on a revised policy CSM2 will be postponed until a later 

Page 23



Page 6 of 168 

Policy Number & Title Monitoring 

 

National & 
Local Policy 

Other 
Observations 

Update 
Required 

Policy CSW 9: Non inert Waste 
Landfill in Kent  

Neutral Red Red Yes 

Policy CSW 10: Development at 
Closed Landfill Sites  

Neutral Green Red Yes 

Policy CSW 11: Permanent 
Deposit of Inert Waste  

Green Red Red Yes 

Policy CSW 12: Identifying Sites 
for Hazardous Waste  

Neutral Red Amber Yes 

Policy CSW 13: Remediation of 
Brownfield Land  

Neutral Green Green No 

Policy CSW 14: Disposal of 
Dredgings  

Neutral Green Amber Yes 

Policy CSW 15: Wastewater 
Development  

Neutral Green Red Yes 

Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of 
Existing Waste Management 
Facilities  

N/A Green Red Yes 

Policy CSW 17: Nuclear Waste 
Treatment and Storage 
Dungeness 

Neutral Red None Yes 

Policy CSW 18: Non-nuclear 
Radioactive Low-Level Waste 
(LLW) Management Facilities  

Neutral Red None Yes 

Policy DM 1: Sustainable Design  Green Red Amber Yes 

Policy DM 2: Environmental and 
Landscape Sites of International 
National and Local Importance 

Green Red Amber Yes 

Policy DM 3: Ecological Impact 
Assessment  

Green Red Amber Yes 

Policy DM 4: Green Belt Green Green None No 

Policy DM 5: Heritage Assets Green Amber Red Yes 

Policy DM 6: Historic Environment 
Assessment  

Green Amber Green Yes 

Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral 
Resources  

Green Green Green No 

Policy DM 8: Safeguarding 
Minerals Management, 
transportation Production & Waste 
Management Facilities 

Green Green Green No 

Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of 
Minerals in Advance of Surface 
Development  

Neutral Green Red Yes 

Policy DM 10: Water Environment  Green Red Red Yes 

Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity  Green Red Red Yes 

Policy DM 12: Cumulative Impact  Green Amber None Yes 

Policy DM 13: Transportation of 
Minerals and Waste  

Green Red None Yes 

Page 24



Page 7 of 168 

Policy Number & Title Monitoring 

 

National & 
Local Policy 

Other 
Observations 

Update 
Required 

Policy DM 14: Public Rights of 
Way 

Green Green Green No 

Policy DM 15: Safeguarding of 
Transportation Infrastructure   

Green Green None No 

Policy DM 16: Information 
Required in Support of an 
Application  

Green Amber Red Yes 

Policy DM 17: Planning 
Obligations  

Green Red Red Yes 

Policy DM 18: Land Stability  Green Green Red Yes 

Policy DM 19: Restoration, 
Aftercare and After-use  

Green Red Red Yes 

Policy DM 20: Ancillary 
Development 

Green Green Red Yes 

Policy DM 21: Incidental Mineral 
Extraction 

Green Green None No 

Policy DM 22: Enforcement Green Green Red Yes 

  

Planning Practice Guidance indicates that a local planning authority should publish the 

outcome of the review. Updating of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in response to 

the review will require agreement of the Council as this is a Council policy document. To this 

end, the version of the revised mineral and waste planning policies (and supporting text) that 

the Council intends to submit to the Planning Inspectorate for independent examination will 

require consideration by County Council and Cabinet.   

 

The process of updating the Plan will follow a statutory process as set out in the Town and 

Country (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 (as amended). In anticipation of the 

need for updates to the Plan the Council’s current Mineral and Waste Development Scheme 

(adopted January 2021) includes a timetable for the process which is set out overleaf. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 25



Page 8 of 168 

 

Mineral and Waste Development Scheme (adopted January 
2021) 

 

Stage Dates 
 

Consultation on draft updated policy (Regulation 
18) 

October-November 2021 
 

Publication of draft updated policy (Regulation 19) 
for representations on soundness 

March-April 2022 
 

Submission to Secretary of State  
 

July 2022 
 

Independent Examination Hearings  
 

October 2022 
 

Inspector's Report  
 

December 2022 
 

Adoption  
 

January 2023 
 

 

Consultation relating to the update of the Plan will take place in accordance with the 

Council’s recently updated Statement of Community Involvement. Progress on the activities 

described above against the timetable will be reported on an annual basis in the County 

Council’s Annual Monitoring Report. 

 

In undertaking this review it is recognised the review’s recommendations are based on 

information currently available and there are a number of uncertainties which may have an 

impact as the process of updating the policies takes place. Uncertainties include the ability of 

current reserves of crushed rock in Kent to meet future supply requirements which is 

currently being investigated by the relevant mineral operator. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 26



Page 9 of 168 

1. Introduction 
 

1.1 Paragraph 33 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) includes the following:  

 

“Policies in local plans and spatial development strategies should be reviewed to assess 

whether they need updating at least once every five years and should then be updated as 

necessary. Reviews should be completed no later than five years from the adoption date of a 

plan and should take into account changing circumstances affecting the area, or any relevant 

changes in national policy.”  

 

1.2 Furthermore, undertaking a local plan review every five years is a legal requirement for all 

local plans (Regulation 10A of the Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 

(Amendment) Regulations 2017). 

 

1.3 The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted in July 2016 and therefore a review 

of this Plan was required to be completed by July 2021. The delay to the publication of the 

review is due to County Council elections in May 2021. A focussed ‘Early Partial Review’ 

of the Plan has already taken place and the resulting changes were adopted in 2020. This 

early partial review was focussed on the need for a Waste Sites Plan and improvements 

to the effectiveness of safeguarding policies. The limited number of policies updated by 

the Early Partial Review therefore only require review by 2025 but have also been 

included in this review for completeness. 

 

1.4 National Planning Practice Guidance (PPG)2 states that “The review process is a method 

to ensure that a plan and the policies within remains effective”. The PPG3 also sets out 

what authorities should consider when determining whether a Plan or policies should be 

updated. Information relevant to this Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review 

includes: 

 Conformity with national planning policy; 

 changes to local circumstances; 

 success of policies against indicators in the Development Plan as set out in their 

Authority Monitoring Report (AMR); 

 significant economic changes that may impact on viability; and,  

 whether any new social, environmental or economic priorities may have arisen.  

 

1.5 Following the review the planning authority should either update their policies or publish 

the reasons for not making an update within five years of the adoption date of its Local 

Plan. If one or more policies of the plan are found in need of revision, then the Local 

Development Scheme should set out the timetable for the revision(s) to the Plan. The 

Kent Minerals and Waste Local Development Scheme was updated in January 2021 and 

reflects this possibility by including the following timetable: 

 

 

 

                                                 
2 Reference ID: 61-064-20190315 
3 Reference ID: 61-065-20190723 

Page 27



Page 10 of 168 

Stages Dates 

Consultation on draft updated policy (Regulation 18) October-November 2021 

Publication of draft updated policy (Regulation 19) for 

representations on soundness  

March-April 2022 

Submission to Secretary of State July 2022 

Independent Examination Hearings October 2022 

Inspector's Report December 2022 

Adoption by Council January 2023 

 

1.6 Planning Practice Guidance (PPG4) notes that a local planning authority will not necessarily 

need to revise their entire plan and may publish a list of which policies they will update and 

which policies they consider do not need updating.  

 

1.7 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG5) further notes that new evidence may be required 

to inform the Plan review, and that proportionate, relevant and up-to-date evidence should 

be used to justify a decision to not update policies.  

 

1.8 As stated in Planning Practice Guidance (PPG6), “Updates to the plan or certain policies 

within it must follow the plan-making procedure; including preparation, publication, and 

examination by the Planning Inspectorate on behalf of the Secretary of State.”  

 

1.9 The Planning Practice Guidance (PPG7) is also clear that any proposed amendments must 

be subject to the Duty to Co-operate, both in terms of the amendments proposed and 

whether any aspect of the Plan requires amending in the first instance, as follows: “Given 

the direct implications of plan reviews in enabling such matters to be addressed through the 

updating of policies, it is important that the bodies subject to the Duty to Co-operate have 

an opportunity to engage in both how plan reviews are undertaken and the review of the 

plan. Engagement with neighbouring authorities and prescribed bodies needs to occur 

before a final decision on whether to update policies in a plan is made, as such 

engagement may influence that decision.” Some early engagement with key stakeholders 

(including bodies subject to the Duty to Cooperate) has already been undertaken to inform 

this report and the results are reported in Appendix 2. 

 

1.10 The first part of this report presents a broad overview of the relevant changes to the 

National Planning Policy Framework and National Guidance since the KWMLP was 

adopted in 2016. In addition, other contextual changes are summarised. 

 

1.11 The Review of the Plan itself begins with an assessment of the continued appropriateness 

of the Vision and Strategic Objectives for waste and mineral development. There then 

                                                 
4
 Reference ID: 61-070-20190315 

5
 Reference ID: 61-068-20190723 

6
 Reference ID: 61-069-20190723 

7
 Reference ID: 61-075-20190723 

Page 28



Page 11 of 168 

follows an assessment of the 52 policies and their supporting text which make up the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  

 

1.12 While some mention is made, it should be noted that this report does not provide 

commentary on the need for amendments to the Plan’s following contextual Chapters: 

 Chapter 1 – Introduction 

 Chapter 2 – Minerals and Waste Development in Kent: A Spatial Portrait 
 
Updates to these chapters will be made as necessary as part of the Plan updating process 
and will be subject to consultation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 29



Page 12 of 168 

2. Assessment of Plan Vision, Strategic Objectives and 

Policies  
 

2.1 This section assesses each of the Vision, Strategic Objectives and 52 policies included 

within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in turn. Key factors taken into account in the 

assessment are as follows: 

 

Updates to Policy and Legislation 

2.2 Updates to policy and legislation which have occurred since the adoption of the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan are listed in Appendix 1 and this section highlights the key 

changes which have occurred. 

 

2.3 The National Planning Policy Framework has undergone a number of revisions. While 

changes to the National Planning Policy Framework have not impacted specifically on 

national waste and minerals policy, certain Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan policies 

intended to ensure minerals and waste development does not adversely impact on 

communities and the environment need updating to ensure they are consistent with related 

changes in the National Planning Policy Framework. For example, the need for net gains to 

biodiversity to result from any new development. 

 

2.4 The government has recently published further changes to the National Planning Policy 

Framework including minor changes to the chapter containing minerals policies. The 

government has also signalled its intention to update National Planning Policy for Waste 

(2014) and make further changes to the National Planning Policy Framework .  As the 

process of updating the policies in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local takes place it will be 

necessary to monitor Government’s publication of any updates to national planning policy 

and review as necessary. 

 

2.5 In 2019 the government issued policy relating to the management of low-level radioactive 

waste arising from the nuclear industry and Policy CSW17 relating to the management of 

waste arising from decommissioning at the Dungeness Nuclear Licensed Site has been 

reviewed in light of this. This is consistent with a ‘Statement of Common Ground' between 

Kent County Council, the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority and Magnox Ltd. (the 

company responsible for decommissioning at Dungeness nuclear power station) prepared as 

part of independent examination associated with the Early Partial Review in 2019. 

 
2.6 Legislation and policy concerning the need to adapt to, and mitigate climate change and 

associated low carbon growth, is another area identified as requiring consideration in the 

review of the Plan. In particular the Government’s statutory target of achieving net zero 

carbon emission by 2050. In this regard, the Council’s Climate Emergency Statement and 

the recent findings of the national Climate Change Committee are also of relevance. 

 
2.7 The Government has also introduced policy and legislation concerned with achieving a circular 

economy where more waste is prevented and reused. This is being implemented in London where 

applications for major development must now be accompanied by ‘Circular Economy Statements’. 

A recent government consultation on a draft ‘Waste Prevention Programme for England’ 

Page 30



Page 13 of 168 

specifically identifies how local planning policy should promote reuse and repair initiatives. This 

informs the review of policy in the Plan concerned with minimising waste arising from the 

construction, demolition and operation of all forms of development. 

 
2.8 While not yet enacted, the Environment Bill proposes legislation which will affect how waste is 

managed and how development comes forward. In particular the Bill proposes that new 

development will have to result in a minimum 10% net gain to biodiversity. The updated National 

Planning Policy Framework already expects the achievement of biodiversity net gains and so the 

Plan needs to be reviewed in light of this, but updates to the Plan will need to be consistent with 

the Environment Bill as it is due to become law later this year. 

 

2.9 The Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan has been adopted and the 

review needs to consider whether changes to policy or supporting text are needed in light of this. 

 

2.10 The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy sets out how Kent County Council, in 

Partnership with Medway Council, and Kent district and borough councils, will respond to the UK 

climate emergency and drive clean, resilient economic recovery across the county. Priorities set 

out in the document include ensuring that climate change and circular economy principles are 

integrated into Local Plans, including environmental considerations, reducing carbon emissions, 

and ensuring management of resource sustainably.  The Strategy includes the following statement: 

 

‘Principles of Clean Growth (growing our economy whilst reducing greenhouse gas emissions), 

must be factored into all planning and development polices and decisions, whilst not becoming a 

barrier to new development.’ 

 

2.11 The Strategy also expects a clean growth and climate change strategic planning framework for 

Local Plans and development to be prepared in the short term (by 2023) and clean growth and 

climate change to be fully integrated into Local Plans in the long term (by 2030).  

 

Updates to the Evidence Base 

2.12 Monitoring the achievement of the Plan’s waste recovery targets indicates that significant 

additional capacity relating to recycling activity has been permitted, mainly with regard to 

Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste. Increases in recycling of Local Authority Collected 

Waste and Commercial and Industrial Waste have also been observed. Further details are 

reported as part of the review of Policy CSW4. 

 

2.13 Minerals Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) are included in the Plan which denote where development 

should be resisted in order to avoid sterilisation of mineral resources. Recent evidence suggests 

that the MSAs need revising to take account of changes to urban settlement boundaries as a result 

of decisions taken by the Borough and District Councils and to the economic geology i.e., areas 

where minerals of economic value may exist.  

 
2.14 The Waste Disposal Authority has indicated the need to develop or expand facilities to manage 

household waste across the county to support sustainable growth and the review of relevant 

polices takes this into account.  

 
2.15 Plan policy expects a supply of crushed rock to be provided such that a landbank of 10 years 

Page 31



Page 14 of 168 

supply is maintained which is consistent with national policy. Recent discussions with the major 

supplier of crushed rock in Kent suggest that existing reserves may be under pressure but further 

work is needed to confirm the position. 

 
2.16 The deposit of inert waste on land can have beneficial uses and there is a need to ensure the Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan fully recognises this by broadening its focus beyond disposal 

activities and restoration of mineral workings. This would be consistent with the principles of the 

circular economy and approaches set out in a Joint Position Statement recently adopted by South 

East Waste Planning Advisory Group that the County Council is signatory to. 

 
Review of the Vision and Strategic Objectives 

 
2.17 The achievement of the Plan’s Vision and Strategic Objectives is dependent on the effective 

implementation of the policies and so is monitored via the monitoring of the implementation of the 

policies. The monitoring framework in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan (included in 

Chapter 8) shows how each policy relates to each Strategic Objectives.  

 

2.18 It is important that the Vision and Strategy Objectives are consistent with national and local policy 

and the review takes this into account. The review of the Vision and Strategic Objectives is set out 

below before the assessment of the policies. 

 
2.19 Text shown shaded yellow describes where updates are considered necessary while text shaded 

blue, indicates where no changes are proposed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 32



Page 15 of 168 

Review of Vision 
 
Throughout the plan period 2013-2030, minerals and waste development will:  
 
1. Make a positive and sustainable contribution to the Kent area and assist with 
progression towards a low carbon economy. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
In the same way that not all waste produced in Kent is managed in Kent, it is usual for waste 
managed in Kent to be produced beyond the County boundary. Similarly minerals landed at 
wharves or extracted from quarries in Kent supplies an area beyond Kent. In this way waste 
management and mineral supply in Kent make contributions to communities beyond Kent. 
Furthermore, the National Planning Policy Framework expects authorities to plan to meet the 
unmet needs of other areas as appropriate.  In light of this it is considered that this aspect of the 
Vision does not properly reflect the wider contribution made by waste and minerals supply in 
Kent and should be updated to reflect this. 
Additional updating is required to recognise that waste and minerals development must 
contribute to a low carbon economy in light of legislation concerning climate change, national 
policy and the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 2020.   

 
2. Support the needs arising from growth within Kent. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
3. Deliver cost effective and sustainable solutions to Kent's minerals and waste needs 
through collaborative working with communities, landowners, the minerals and waste 
industries, the environmental and voluntary sector and local planning authorities. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
It is considered that the term ‘cost effective’ is unclear and also superfluous as for solutions to 
be sustainable they must be economically viable (amongst other things). Minerals and waste 
facilities meet the needs of areas beyond that in which they are located. Facilities beyond Kent 
serve Kent’s needs and vice versa. Furthermore, the National Planning Policy Framework 
expects authorities to plan to meet the unmet needs of other areas as appropriate. The Vision 
should be updated to recognise these matters. 
 
4. Embrace the naturally and historically rich and sensitive environment of the plan area, 
and ensure that it is conserved and enhanced for future generations to enjoy. 

 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Planning for Minerals in Kent will: 
5. Seek to deliver a sustainable, steady and adequate supply of land-won minerals 
including aggregates, silica sand, crushed rock, brickearth, chalk and clay, building 
stone and minerals for cement manufacture. 

 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
6. Facilitate the processing and use of secondary and recycled aggregates and become 
less reliant on land-won construction aggregates.  

 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 

Page 33



Page 16 of 168 

This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 

7. Safeguard economic mineral resources for future generations and all existing, planned 
and potential mineral transportation and processing infrastructure (including wharves 
and rail depots and production facilities). 

 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  

 
8. Restore minerals sites to a high standard that will deliver sustainable benefits to Kent 
communities. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
 
Planning For Waste in Kent will: 
 
9. Move waste up the Waste Hierarchy, reducing the amount of non-hazardous waste 
sent to landfill. 
 
10. Encourage waste to be used to produce renewable energy incorporating both heat 
and power if it cannot be re-used or recycled. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
The current Vision makes no mention of the principle of achieving a Circular Economy. The 
achievement of a Circular Economy requires particular emphasis to be placed on managing 
waste in accordance with the upper levels of the Waste Hierarchy i.e.  ‘prevention’, ‘preparing 
for reuse’ and ‘recycling’. The current wording alludes to reuse and recycling but there is no 
clear Vision statement related to these matters. 
 
The Vision statements are drafted with a concern for how waste management facilities should 
be developed in Kent, however the achievement of a circular economy is also dependent on 
how other forms of development, such as housing come forward. In light of this, it is considered 
that wording is required that specifically references how other forms of development should 
come forward in a manner which will help facilitate the achievement of a circular economy. 
 
The use of the term ‘encourage’ within the wording of Vision statement 10 in relation to the 
production of renewable energy from waste appears to mask the issue that such a waste 
management method is near the bottom of the waste hierarchy. The statement should be 
reworded to place the emphasis on achieving maximum prevention, reuse and recycling of 
waste before it is managed to produce renewable energy. 
 
11. Ensure waste is managed close to its source of production. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with the proximity principle and no change is considered necessary.  
 
12. Make provision for a variety of waste management facilities to ensure that Kent 
remains at the forefront of waste management with solutions for all major waste streams, 
while retaining flexibility to adapt to changes in technology. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 

Page 34



Page 17 of 168 

13. Ensure sufficient capacity exists to meet the future needs for waste management. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
14. Restore waste management sites to a high standard that will deliver sustainable 
benefits to Kent communities. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
While it might be said that improvements to the natural environment will result in benefits to 
Kent communities, it is considered that specific reference to the natural environment, as well as 
‘communities’, would add appropriate emphasis to the protection and enhancement of the 
natural environment. Such a change would be consistent with the national legislation and policy 
in this area, in particular the 25 Year Environment Strategy and the Environment Bill.  
 
 
Review of Strategic Objectives – General 
 
Strategic Objective 1. Encourage the use of sustainable modes of transport for moving 
minerals and waste long distances and minimise road miles. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
It is considered that this objective does not adequately consider the use of low carbon or 
renewable fuels in transporting minerals and waste and an update to the text is therefore 
required. Furthermore, while the use of sustainable modes of transport may not be practical 
over shorter distances, it should be encouraged in any event. 
 
Strategic Objective 2. Ensure minerals and waste developments contribute towards the 
minimisation of, and adaptation to, the effects of climate change. This includes helping 
to 
shape places to secure radical reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and 
supporting the delivery of renewable and low carbon energy and associated 
infrastructure. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 3. Ensure minerals and waste sites are sensitive to both their 
surrounding 
environment and communities, and minimise their impact on them. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 4. Enable minerals and waste developments to contribute to the 
social and economic fabric of their communities through employment opportunities. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
As well as providing employment, minerals and waste developments can offer educational and 
recreational opportunities which should be recognised in this objective.  
 
Review of Strategic Objectives for Minerals 
 
Strategic Objective 5. Seek to ensure the delivery of adequate and steady supplies of 
sand and gravel, chalk, brickearth, clay, silica sand, crushed rock, building stone and 

Page 35



Page 18 of 168 

minerals for cement during the plan period, through identifying sufficient sites 
and safeguarding mineral bearing land for future generations. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 6. Promote and encourage the use of recycled and secondary 
aggregates in place of land-won minerals. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 7. Safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for mineral 
infrastructure including wharves and rail depots across Kent to enable the on-going 
transportation of marine dredged aggregates, crushed rock and other minerals 
as well as other production facilities. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 8. Enable the small-scale, low-intensity extraction of building stone 
minerals for heritage building products. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
Recent update to minerals policy in the National Planning Policy Framework has removed the 
term ‘small scale’ associated with the extraction of building stone and so the objective is no 
longer consistent with national policy 
 
Strategic Objective 9. Restore minerals sites to the highest possible standard to 
sustainable afteruses that benefit the Kent community economically, socially or 
environmentally. Where possible, afteruses should conserve and improve local 
landscape character and incorporate opportunities for biodiversity to meet targets 
outlined in the Kent Biodiversity Action Plan, the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and the 
Greater Thames Nature Improvement Area. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
The National Planning Policy Framework expectation for mineral workings to be restored at the 
earliest opportunity should be reflected in this objective. Furthermore, in light of policy in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and proposed legislation in the Environment Bill, the 
objective should specifically recognise the opportunities provided by mineral restoration to 
achieving biodiversity net gain and contribute to Local Nature Recovery Strategies. Reference 
to the Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty  management plan should also be considered. 
 
Strategic Objective 10. Encourage the sustainable use of the inert non-recyclable fraction 
of Construction, Demolition and Excavation Waste for quarry restoration. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
The objective unduly encourages a particular type of management of inert construction, 
demolition and excavation waste (CDEW), especially as quarries may be adequately restored 
without, or with minimal, infilling. A change to Strategic Objective 9 regarding the timely 
restoration of mineral workings addresses the need to prioritise the use of inert construction, 
demolition and excavation waste in the restoration. This objective should be deleted 
 
 
 

Page 36



Page 19 of 168 

Review of Strategic Objectives for Waste 
 
Strategic Objective 11. Increase amounts of Kent’s waste being re-used, recycled or 
recovered. Promote the movement of waste up the Waste Hierarchy by enabling the 
waste industry to provide facilities that help to deliver a major reduction in the amount of 
Kent’s waste being disposed of in landfill. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
The first sentence of the objective does not adequately distinguish between the different 
management options in terms of the preference set out in the waste hierarchy e.g. increasing 
the amount of waste recovered is not necessarily consistent with the waste hierarchy if this is at 
the expense of reductions in recycling.  Waste management facilities in Kent provide for the 
management of waste beyond Kent and this should be reflected in the objective. The objective 
should also consider how development can come forward in a manner which reduces the 
production of waste consistent with circular economy principles 
 
Strategic Objective 12. Promote the management of waste close to the source of 
production in a sustainable manner using appropriate technology and, where applicable, 
innovative technology, such that net self-sufficiency is maintained throughout the plan 
period. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
This is consistent with national and local policy and no change is considered necessary.  
 
Strategic Objective 13. Use waste as a resource to provide opportunities for the 
generation of renewable energy for use within Kent through energy from waste and 
technologies such as gasification and aerobic/anaerobic digestion. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
It is considered that additional emphasis should be placed on the use of heat arising from 
energy from waste.  
 
Strategic Objective 14. Provide suitable opportunities for additional waste management 
capacity to enable waste to be managed in a more sustainable manner. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
It is considered that this objective is too broad in its scope to be meaningful and is more of a 
visionary statement and in any event the sentiment of this objective is addressed by other 
elements of the Vision and Strategic Objectives. It is proposed that the objective be deleted. 
 
Strategic Objective 15. Restore waste management sites to the highest possible standard 
to sustainable afteruses that benefit the Kent community economically, socially or 
environmentally. Where possible, afteruses should conserve and improve local 
landscape character and incorporate opportunities for biodiversity to meet targets 
outlined in the Kent Biodiversity Action Plan, the Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and the 
Greater Thames Nature Improvement Area. 
 
Assessment of need for update to wording: 
In light of policy in the National Planning Policy Framework and proposed legislation in the 
Environment Bill, the objective should specifically recognise the need for development to 
achieve biodiversity net gain. Reference to the AONB management plan should also be 
considered. 

 
 

Page 37



Page 20 of 168 

Review of Policies 

 
2.20 The assessment sets out the wording of the policies and considers the results of any monitoring 

of the use of the policies and achievement of related targets. It also considers whether policy 

and/or legislation has come forward which requires updates to policies to ensure they are 

consistent. ‘Other observations’ are also noted which may indicate other reasons which merit 

updates to policies.  

 

2.21 In the last 5 years (July 2016 to July 2021): 

 

• Kent County Council has processed 159 applications; 

• A total of 158 permissions have been granted (53 Minerals /105 Waste) 

• A total of 37 new development sites have been permitted (6 Minerals / 31 Waste) 

 

2.22 A RAG (Red, Amber and Green) scores are assigned to each element of the 

review for each policy as follows: 

 

Review shows no issues to be addressed 
Green 

Review shows some issues which can likely be dealt 

with through changes to supporting text Amber 

Review shows issues resulting in need for policy update 
Red 

 

2.21  In addition where no applications have come forward which have required the application of 

certain policies it can be said that the effectiveness of these policies remains untested and so it 

is not possible to assign a RAG score. In such instances a ‘Neutral’ score has been applied. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 38



Page 21 of 168 

Policy CSM 1: Sustainable Development  

 
Policy wording 

 
 
 

Monitoring indicators and threshold for policy review 

 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 

effective implementation of Policy CSM 1. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 

policy review 

 

1. Mineral applications granted contrary to 

national policy and guidance. 

 

 

1. One application permitted contrary to 

national policy and guidance. 

 

2. Minerals applications determined within 

13/16 weeks. 

 

 

2. One application determined beyond the 

agreed timescale. 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 

 

Planning decisions are made in accordance with the development plan (Kent Minerals and 

Waste Local Plan) as a whole and are a balance of policy considerations.  In assessing the 

effectiveness of the policies against the adopted monitoring schedule, it is appropriate to 

consider against those applications where it was concluded that the development proposed 

was a departure to the development plan.  In such cases these would have resulted in a 

referral of the decision to the Secretary of State and triggering development being permitted 

that was contrary to polices in the Plan. Since the Plan was adopted in 2016 no decisions 

have been considered to depart from the development plan. 

 

When considering mineral development proposals, the Council will take a positive approach that 

reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning 

Policy Framework and the associated Planning Practice Guidance.  

 

Mineral development that accords with the development plan will be approved without delay, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

 

Where there are no policies relevant to the application or relevant policies are out of date at the 

time of making the decision then the Council will grant permission unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise, taking into account where either:  

1. any unacceptable adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National Planning 

Policy Framework taken as a whole, or  

2. specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

GREEN 

Page 39



Page 22 of 168 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 

The presumption in favour of sustainable development has been updated since the Plan was 
adopted and so the wording of the Policy is no longer exactly consistent with national policy. 
 
The policy should be updated to avoid any tension between this policy and the National 
Planning Policy Framework.  

 
 
Other observations 
 
The wording of the text of the policy states that minerals development proposals be 
considered in light of 
“…the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning 
Policy Framework and the associated Planning Practice Guidance” and in this regard the 
policy wording correctly reflects where sustainability, in the planning context, is to be 
understood and correctly applied to mineral development proposal. 

 
  
Recommendation 
 
Policy and supporting text require review to ensure consistency with national policy and that 
the wording in the policy is effective. Reference to ‘associated Planning Practice Guidance’ 
should be deleted. 

 

 
 

RED 
 

GREEN 

RED 
 

Page 40



Page 23 of 168 

Policy CSM 2: Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent 
 

Policy wording 

 
 

Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent  
 
Mineral working will be granted planning permission at sites identified in the Minerals Sites Plan subject to meeting the requirements 
set out in the relevant site schedule in the Mineral Sites Plan and the development plan.  
 
1. Aggregates 
 
Provision will be made for the supply of land-won aggregates as follows:  
 
- Sharp sand and gravel: At least 10.08mt and a landbank of at least seven years supply (5.46mt) will be maintained while 

resources allow. The rate of supply will decline through the Plan period from a supply of a 10-year average of around 0.78mtpa 
and resources will be progressively worked out (unless additional sites are brought forward which would be assessed against 
Policy CSM4). Demand will instead be met from other sources, principally a combination of recycled and secondary aggregates, 
landings of MDA, blended materials and imports of crushed rock through wharves and railheads. The actual proportions will be 
decided by the market.  

- Soft sand: Rolling landbanks for the whole of the plan period and beyond of at least seven years equivalent to at least 15.6mt, 
comprising 10.6mt from existing permitted sources and 5.0mt from sites allocated in the Minerals Sites Plan.  

- Crushed rock: Rolling landbanks for the whole of the Plan period and beyond of at least ten years equivalent to at least 20.5mt, 
all from existing permitted sources.  

 
Sites will be identified in the Mineral Sites Plan to support supplies of land-won aggregates at the stated levels above. A rolling 
average of ten years' sales data and other relevant information will be used to assess landbank requirements on an on-going basis, 
and this will be kept under review through the annual production of a Local Aggregates Assessment.  
 
2. Brickearth and Clay for Brick and Tile Manufacture  
 
The stock of existing planning permissions at Paradise Farm, Orchard Farm, Hempstead House and Claxfield Road for brickearth clay 
for brick and tile making is sufficient for the plan period. Applications for sites supplying brickearth and clay for brick and tile making will 
be dealt within in accordance with the policies of this Plan. The existence of a stock of permitted reserves of at least 25 years (as 
reported in the latest Annual Monitoring report) to support the level of actual and proposed investment required for new or existing 
plant and the maintenance and improvement of existing plant and equipment will be a material consideration. Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan 2013-30 (adopted 2020) Kent County Council 47 5 Delivery Strategy for Minerals  
 
3. Silica Sand  
 
In response to planning applications, the Mineral Planning Authority will seek to permit sites for silica sand production sufficient to 
provide a stock of permitted reserves of at least 10 years for individual sites of 10 years and 15 years for sites where significant new 
capital is required, to support the level of actual and proposed investment required for new or existing plant and the maintenance and 
improvement of existing plant and equipment.(61) Proposals will be considered on their own merits, having regard to the policies of the 
Development Plan as a whole subject to them demonstrating:  

a. how the mineral resources meet technical specifications required for silica sand (industrial sand) end uses  
b. how the mineral resources will be used efficiently so that high-grade sand deposits are reserved for industrial end uses  

 
4. Chalk for Agriculture and Engineering Purposes  
 
The stock of existing planning permissions for chalk is sufficient to supply Kent's requirements for agricultural and engineering chalk 
over the plan period. Applications for sites supplying chalk for agriculture and engineering purposes will be dealt with in accordance 
with the policies of this Plan. The need for additional supplies of chalk will be assessed based on the latest assessment of supply and 
demand set out in the Annual Monitoring Report.  
 
5. Clay for Engineering Purposes  
 
A site for the extraction of clay for engineering purposes will be identified at Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site in the Minerals Sites 
Plan. Other sites will be identified if required in order to enable clay extraction to continue through the Plan period to supply Kent's 
requirements.  
 
Selection of Sites in the Minerals Sites Plan  
 
The criteria that will be taken into account for selecting and screening the suitability of sites for identification in the Minerals Sites Plan 
will include:  

- the requirements for minerals set out above  
- relevant policies set out in Chapter 7: Development Management Policies  
- relevant policies in district local plans and neighbourhood plans  
- strategic environmental information, including landscape assessment and HRA as appropriate  
- their deliverability  
- other relevant national planning policy and guidance 

Page 41



Page 24 of 168 

Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 

 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSM 2. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Reserve data for sharp sand and 
gravel 

1. Permitted reserves equivalent to 10% 
above supply target 

2.  Reserves data for soft sand 2.  Permitted reserves equivalent to 10% 
above supply target 

3.  Reserves data for crushed rock 
(confidential) 

3.  Permitted reserves equivalent to 10% 
above supply target 

4. Reserves data for brickearth and clay 
for brick and tile manufacture 

4.  Permitted reserves equivalent to less 
than three years above the minimum 
stock of permitted reserves targe 

5. Reserve data for silica sand 

 

5. Permitted reserves equivalent to less 
than three years above the minimum 
stock of permitted reserves target 

6.  Reserve data for chalk for agricultural    

and engineering purposes 

6. Permitted reserves equivalent to less 
than three years of reserves at current 
(annual) rates 

7. Reserve data for clay engineering 

purposes 
 

7. Permitted reserves equivalent to less 
than three years of reserves at current 
(annual) rates  

 
Taking the monitoring indicators in turn for the land-won mineral types: 

  

Aggregates 

 

1. Permitted reserves of sharp sand and gravel are estimated to be at 2.50mt by end of 

2021. The requirement for the remaining Plan period (until 2030 plus an additional 7 

years of landbank based on 10-year average sales) is 4.464mt. Therefore, the policy 

review trigger has been met. However, the adopted Plan is predicated on the 

understanding that the available landbank replenishing sustainable resources in the 

County are reaching exhaustion. The future supply of sharp sands and gravel, as 

determined by monitoring (as reported in the Local Aggregate Assessments (LAA)) will 

be met (where secondary and recycled aggregates cannot fulfil the specifications) by 

imports via wharves and rail depots to make up the deficit over the remaining Plan 

period. On this basis this part of the policy remains justified and does not require to be 

reviewed at this time. 

Page 42



Page 25 of 168 

 

2. Permitted reserves of soft sand (Folkestone Formation) are estimated to be at 8.9mt by 

end of 2021. The requirement for the remaining Plan period (until 2030 plus an additional 

7 years of landbank based on 10-year average sales) is 7.056mt. This will yield a surplus 

of 1.844mt. This is above the 10% ‘headroom’ in supply required by the monitoring 

trigger of the policy. On this basis this part of the policy remains justified and does not 

require to be reviewed at this time. 

 

3. Permitted reserves of crushed rock in the County, and the 10-year sales average based 

requirement are confidential given that there are only two sites in operation. However, the 

data available to the County shows that the 10% ‘headroom’ in supply required by the 

monitoring trigger of the policy is essentially met. On this basis this part of the policy 

remains justified and does not require to be reviewed at this time. 

 

Brickearth and clay for brick and tile manufacture 
 

4. Permitted reserves and sales of Brickearth in the County are confidential given that there 

is only one site in operation. There is no landbank requirement for this mineral type, 

though on determining any planning application for this process, consideration is required 

of whether 10 years of supply is available as a stock of permitted reserves, and where 

substantial new investment is required, 25 years. Though the monitoring trigger sets a 

10% ‘headroom’ of permitted reserves above supply requirements, confidentiality 

prevents this from being detailed, however it can be stated that it is estimated that, based 

on existing brickworks requirements, current reserves will last for over 30 years, well 

beyond the Plan period (to 2030). On this basis this part of the policy remains justified 

and does not require to be reviewed at this time. 

 
Silica sand 
 

5. Silica sand (Folkestone Formation) is an industrial mineral that can be used in a variety of 

applications. In the County there is one operator that historically has used this material 

for aerated block manufacture. The monitoring review ‘trigger’ states: ‘Permitted reserves 

equivalent to less than three years above the minimum stock of permitted reserves 

target’.  The policy requires, on determining any planning application for this process, 

consideration of whether 10 years of supply is available as a stock of permitted reserves, 

and where substantial new investment is required, 25 years.  

 

Therefore, a landbank or stock of permitted reserves maintained at any one time is not 

what the policy seeks to achieve. If an operator runs down permitted reserves and then 

applies for additional reserves the policy requires that the proposal would be judged on 

its merits and the availability of existing reserves (at the 10 or 25 years of production 

levels, whichever is appropriate). Therefore, the monitoring ‘trigger’ applies more to the 

determination of a planning application than the policy’s performance, as a maintained 

stock of reserves at a certain level throughout the Plan period is not its objective. On this 

basis this part of the policy remains justified and does not require to be reviewed at this 

time. 

 
 

Page 43



Page 26 of 168 

Chalk for agricultural and engineering purposes 
 

6. There are number of sites in the County providing chalk for agricultural and/or 

engineering purposes. Total reserves are currently estimated at 0.46 million tonnes. The 

overall rate of extraction would give a permitted reserve life of approximately 14 years. 

The monitoring ‘trigger’ for review of this part of the policy is when the life of permitted 

reserves falls below 3 years. On this basis this part of the policy remains justified and 

does not require to be reviewed at this time. 

  

Clay engineering purposes 
 

7. Clay for engineering purposes is permitted at one site in the County. Reserves and sales 

data is therefore confidential. However, the reserves are substantial and would in all 

probability last longer than the monitoring ‘trigger’ for review of this part of the policy 

when the life of permitted reserves falls below 3 years. On this basis this part of the policy 

remains justified and does not require to be reviewed at this time. 

 

5-year trend 

 

The Local Aggregate Assessment (LAA) mainly considers 10-year sales averages for the 

aggregate minerals and a three-year sales average if a recent divergent trend to the 10-year is 

evident. It would also report a 5-year sales average significant divergent trend. This monitoring 

process could trigger a review of the aggregates supply part of the policy. 

 

Commentary  

 

It should be recognised that the aggregate land-won minerals component of the policy is also 

monitored annually by the Local Aggregate Assessment process. If at some point the permitted 

reserves were to change (reduce), or the sales averages were to markedly increase, this would 

trigger policy review independent from the formal five yearly statutory plan review. 

 
 

Consistency with National Policy 

 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (July 2021) Part 17. Facilitating the 
sustainable use of minerals, Paragraph 209 states:   
 

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since minerals 
are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found, best 
use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term conservation.  

 
The policy is effective in ensuring that the economic minerals in Kent are being supplied 
effectively to maintain an adequate and steady supply over the Plan period.  In relation to 
aggregate minerals the required 7-year and 10-year landbank levels based on the relevant 
10-year sales averages are being maintained where geologically possible (National Planning 
Policy Framework  Para 213 sections a) and f refers)).   
 

GREEN 
 

Page 44



Page 27 of 168 

For the industrial mineral, silica sand, the policy sets out that planning applications would be 
determined in in order to seek to provide permitted reserves of at least 10-years for 
individual sites (National Planning Policy Framework Para 214 section c) footnote 74).  
 
Similarly, the supply of Brickearth is greater than 25 years as required by the same part of 
the National Planning Policy Framework. Engineering clay and chalk (and agricultural chalk) 
are both at reserve levels that will provide for a “..a steady and adequate supply…” (National 
Planning Policy Framework Para 213). 

 
 
 
Other observations 
 
This policy was, in part, considered in 2020 in the formulation of the Kent Mineral Sites Plan. 
This process demonstrated, for aggregate minerals there is no need for it be reviewed at this 
time.  
 
The policy also sets out how sites will be selected in the Mineral Sites Plan. This is now in 
existence as an adopted plan. It is therefore considered that the specific reference to the 
‘Mineral Sites Plan’ should be deleted in the sub-title and the first sentence of the policy prior 
to the criteria that will be used to screen sites for suitability for identification as future 
allocations. 
 
Consultation with one of the main mineral operators in Kent during the review revealed that it 
was undertaking work to better understand the extent of its reserves of crushed rock. At the 
time of completing the review work was still ongoing and so it has been assumed that no 
changes to Policy CSM2 are required. If information is forthcoming which suggests changes 
to this policy are needed then this will be considered as part of the process of updating the 
Plan. 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy CSM2 is consistent with national policy and monitoring suggests the policy is being 
implemented effectively and therefore updates to this policy are not considered necessary. 
Specific reference to the ‘Mineral Sites Plan’ should be deleted in the sub-title and the first 
sentence of the policy prior to the criteria that will be used to screen sites for suitability for 
identification as future allocations.  

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 45



Page 28 of 168 

Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals  
 

Policy wording 

 

 
 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSM 3. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Planning applications granted for 
alternative development within the 
Strategic Site for Minerals at Medway 
Cement. 

 

1. One application permitted with an 
objection from the County Council.  

 

 
No development proposals have been granted planning permission that would 
compromise the full and unimpeded implementation of the Medway Strategic Site 
for Minerals. 
 

 
 

 

Strategic Site for Minerals  

 

The site of the proposed Medway Cement Works, Holborough and its permitted mineral reserves 

are together identified as the Strategic Site for Minerals in Kent. The site location is shown on 

Figure 17. 

  

Planning permission will not be granted for any development other than chalk extraction for 

cement manufacture, cement manufacture and restoration of the resulting void.  

Mineral working and processing at the Strategic Site for Minerals will be permitted subject to 

meeting the requirements of the development plan and the following criteria: 

  

1. an assessment of the impact of mineral working upon views from the Kent Downs Area of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty, with suitable sufficient landscaping mitigation measures to 

minimise the impacts upon views, protect the amenity of nearby residents and enhance and 

restore the landscape character  

 

2. the development not generating more traffic movements than can be accommodated without 

any unacceptable adverse impacts upon the local highway network 

 

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard and where 

appropriate after-use that supports and enhances the long-term local landscape character 

GREEN 
 

Page 46



Page 29 of 168 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Section 209 states:   
 

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since minerals 
are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found, best 
use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term conservation.  

 
The policy wording maintains the site for the extraction of chalk for the manufacture of cement, 
thus providing for a sufficient and secure (safeguarded) supply of this material into the future. 
The long-term conservation of this mineral resource to meet need is being secured by the 
policy in its current wording. 
 
 Moreover, the National Planning Policy Framework at Section 214 c) states: 
 
Minerals planning authorities should plan for a steady and adequate supply of industrial 
minerals by: 
 

c) maintaining a stock of permitted reserves to support the level of actual and proposed 
investment required for new or existing plant, and the maintenance and improvement 
of existing plant and equipment 68 
 

Footnote 68 These reserves should be at least 10 years for individual silica sand sites; at least 
15 years for cement primary (chalk and limestone) and secondary (clay and shale) materials to 
maintain an existing plant, and for silica sand sites where significant new capital is required; 
and at least 25 years for brick clay, and for cement primary and secondary materials to 
support a new kiln. 
 
Chalk for cement production is an industrial mineral. The safeguarded site, known as  Medway 
Works, Holborough contains sufficient reserves to meet the ‘at least 25 years for brick clay, 
and for cement primary and secondary materials to support a new kiln’ as required by the 
National Planning Policy Framework. The policy is therefore entirely consistent with national 
planning policy.  The site benefits from an implemented planning consent.  
 
The adopted Tonbridge and Malling Local Development Plan Documents8, and the emerging 
Local Plan Submission 2019 Tonbridge and Malling Local Plan do not identify any land within, 
or adjacent to, the allocated area that constitutes the Strategic Site for Minerals for 
development that would conflict with the safeguarding of this site. A proportion of the permitted 
site is also in Medway Council authority’s area (to the north). Similarly, the adopted Medway 
Local Plan 2003 and the emerging Medway Local Plan (2019-2037) do not allocate land for 
development that would conflict with the safeguarding of this site. The policy is therefore not in 
conflict with any existing adopted and emerging local plan planning policy.      
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None. 

                                                 
8 Core Strategy (September 2007), Development Land Allocations (April 2008), Tonbridge Central 
Area Action Plan (April 2008), Manging Development & the Environment (April 2010) and Saved 
Policies (April 2010)  

GREEN 
 

Page 47



Page 30 of 168 

Recommendation 
 
Policy CSM 3: Strategic Site for Minerals remains appropriate for maintaining the 
supply of chalk, for the purposes of cement manufacture. It is in accordance with 
national and local planning policy, both adopted and emerging.  The potential for 
recommencement of cement manufacture in Kent, at this strategic site, will be 
maintained without any amendment to the current wording of the policy. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 
 

Page 48



Page 31 of 168 

Policy CSM 4: Non-Identified Land-won Mineral Sites  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to 
monitor the effective implementation of Policy CSM 4. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Planning applications granted for 
mineral extraction at alternative sites 
outside allocated sites. 

 

1. One application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria.  

 

 
No planning applications for mineral development (extraction) sites have been permitted that 
are outside the monitoring criteria thresholds of the Plan for Policy CSM 4. 
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Paragraph 209 states:   
 

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. 
Since minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked 
where they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure 
their long-term conservation.  

 
However, mineral supply, like all forms of development can impact the environment. Therefore, 
the National Planning Policy Framework balances this with the requirement to assess these 
impacts for acceptability. Part 15 Conserving and enhancing the natural environment of the 
National Planning Policy Framework, Paragraph 174 requires:  
 

Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites  

 

With the exception of proposals for the extraction of silica sand provided for under Policy CSM 2, 

proposals for mineral extraction other than the Strategic Site for Minerals and sites identified in 

the Minerals Sites Plan will be considered having regard to the policies of the development plan 

as a whole and in the context of the Vision and Objectives of this Plan, in particular the objective 

to plan for a steady and adequate supply of aggregates and industrial minerals. Where harm to 

the strategy of the development plan is shown, permission will be granted only where it has been 

demonstrated that there are overriding benefits that justify extraction at the exception site 

GREEN 
 

Page 49



Page 32 of 168 

174. Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural 
and local environment by: 
 

a) protecting and enhancing valued landscapes, sites of biodiversity or 
geological value and soils (in a manner commensurate with their statutory 
status or identified quality in the development plan);  
 
b) recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the countryside, and the 
wider benefits from natural capital and ecosystem services – including the 
economic and other benefits of the best and most versatile agricultural 
land, and of trees and woodland; 
 
 c) maintaining the character of the undeveloped coast, while improving 
public access to it where appropriate;  
 
d) minimising impacts on and providing net gains for biodiversity, including 
by establishing coherent ecological networks that are more resilient to 
current and future pressures;  
 
e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put 
at unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable 
levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or land instability. Development 
should, wherever possible, help to improve local environmental conditions 
such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant information such 
as river basin management plans; and 
 
f) remediating and mitigating despoiled, degraded, derelict, contaminated 
and unstable land, where appropriate. 
 

Any development proposals for mineral extraction in Kent on sites not identified in the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan or the Mineral Sites Plan or addressed in Policy CSM 2, will 
have to satisfy Policy CSM4’s tests of acceptability. The need for the mineral in the non-
identified sites would have to be established and any adverse effects found either absent or 
mitigable. Thus, the policy, as currently worded would ensure that mineral supply is maintained 
without undue harm to the wider environment, thereby being consistent with Part 15, Section 
174 and Part 17, Section 209 of the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy CSM 4 Non-identified Land-won Mineral Sites remains appropriate for maintaining the 
supply of required minerals. It is in accordance with national and local planning policy, both 
adopted and emerging.  The policy’s current wording, requiring assessment of consistency of 
proposals with the development plan as a whole, prior to any mineral extraction at non-
identified sites, is considered to remain effective. 

 

 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 

Page 50



Page 33 of 168 

Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral Safeguarding  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor 
the effective implementation of Policy CSM 5. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Decisions resulting in non-mineral 
development permitted within Kent 
MSAs. 

 

1.  One application permitted with an 
objection from the County Council. 

 

2. Decisions resulting in non-mineral 
development permitted within the 
separate MCA adjacent to the 
Strategic Site for minerals at Medway 
Works, Holborough. 

 

2.  One application permitted with an 
objection from the County Council. 

3. Decisions resulting in non-mineral 
development permitted on sites for 
mineral working within the plan 
period identified in Appendix C and in 
the Mineral Sites Plan. 

3.  One application permitted with an 
objection from the County Council. 

 
None of the monitoring trigger points have been initiated. Whilst a small number of 
applications on land within Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSA) where land-won minerals have 
been affected has occurred, none have been permitted with an objection from the County 
Council on safeguarding matters.  The development that has come forward within MSAs is due 
to appropriate application of exemption criteria set out in Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral 
Resources (in original form and as modified in an Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan in 2020). 
 

 

Land-won Mineral Safeguarding  

 

Economic mineral resources are safeguarded from being unnecessarily sterilised by other 

development by the identification of:  

1. Mineral Safeguarding Areas for the areas of brickearth, sharp sand and gravel, soft sand 

(including silica sand), ragstone and building stone as defined on the Mineral Safeguarding Area 

Policies Maps in Chapter 9  

2. Mineral Consultation Areas which cover the same area as the Minerals Safeguarding Areas 

and a separate area adjacent to the Strategic Site for Minerals at Medway Works, Holborough as 

shown in Figure 17  

3. Sites for mineral working within the plan period identified in Appendix C and in the Mineral 

Sites Plan. 

GREEN 

Page 51



Page 34 of 168 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Section 209 states:   
 

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since 
minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where 
they are found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-
term conservation.  

 
The Policy is specifically purposed to secure the long-term conservation of finite mineral 
resources. 
The National Planning Policy Framework  goes on to say (Section 210 sub-section 
c): 
 

safeguard mineral resources by defining Mineral Safeguarding Areas; 
and adopt appropriate policies so that known locations of specific 
minerals resources of local and national importance are not sterilised by 
non-mineral development where this should be avoided (whilst not 
creating a presumption that the resources defined will be worked); 

 
Part 1. of the policy is in accordance with the need for Mineral Safeguarding Areas (MSAs) to be 
defined and is part of the mineral safeguarding process as set out in the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan.  Though the National Planning Policy Framework is silent on the use of 
Mineral Consultation Areas (MCA) (part 2. of the policy), the relevant Planning Practice 
Guidance9 states: 

Mineral planning authorities should adopt a systematic approach for safeguarding 

mineral resources, which: 

 uses the best available information on the location of all mineral 

resources in the authority area. This may include use of British Geological 

Survey maps as well as industry sources; 

 consults with the minerals industry, other local authorities (especially 

district authorities in 2-tier areas), local communities and other relevant 

interests to define Minerals Safeguarding Areas; 

 sets out Minerals Safeguarding Areas on the policies map that 

accompanies the local plan and define Mineral Consultation Areas; and 

 adopts clear development management policies which set out how 

proposals for non-minerals development in Minerals Safeguarding Areas 

will be handled, and what action applicants for development should take 

to address the risk of losing the ability to extract the resource. This may 

include policies that encourage the prior extraction of minerals, where 

practicable, if it is necessary for non-mineral development to take place in 

Minerals Safeguarding Areas and to prevent the unnecessary sterilisation 

of minerals. 

 

                                                 
9 Paragraph: 003 Reference ID: 27-003-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014 

 

Page 52

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Definitions-in-minerals-guidance&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C20cc28b6a85d48028d2908d91b9c5116%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637571180458711740%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=hMlXThok%2FVLki8tmy%2FgA48%2FClV9GMZey%2FMo8%2BOIWXL4%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Definitions-in-minerals-guidance&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C20cc28b6a85d48028d2908d91b9c5116%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637571180458721740%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=0%2FWBy9knylq2N5D1LAN90uutZ23%2F%2B9GZI4TK30qpDXA%3D&reserved=0


Page 35 of 168 

The identification of the MCAs in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan remains important in 
relation to the Strategic Minerals Site, to ensure that consultation on proposed development in 
its proximity occurs. The Chalk is not within the MSA (as it is a mineral generally not of 
economic importance) but the Holborough Cement Works site remains a strategic mineral site 
allocation.    

 
  
Other observations 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy remains fully effective and consistent with national policy. 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Policy CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 

Page 53



Page 36 of 168 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor 
the effective implementation of Policy CSM 6. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers 
(thresholds) for policy 
review 

1. Decisions resulting in non-mineral 
development permitted within 250m of 
safeguarded minerals transportation 
facilities listed in Policy CSM 6 and 
allocated sites in the Mineral Sites Plan 
(other than the developments listed in 

1. One application 
permitted with 
an objection 
from the County 
Council. 

 

Safeguarded Wharves and Rail Depots Planning permission will not be granted for non-minerals 

development that may unacceptably adversely affect the operation of existing, (67) planned or 

potential sites, such that their capacity or viability for minerals transportation purposes may be 

compromised. The following sites, and the allocated sites included in the Minerals Sites Plan, are 

safeguarded:  

1. Allington Rail Sidings  

2. Sevington Rail Depot  

3. Hothfield Works  

4. East Peckham  

5. Ridham Dock (both operational sites)  

6. Johnson's Wharf, Greenhithe  

7. Robins Wharf, Northfleet (both operational sites)  

8. Clubbs Marine Terminal, Gravesend  

9. East Quay, Whitstable  

10. Red Lion Wharf, Gravesend  

11. Ramsgate Port  

12. Wharf 42, Northfleet (including Northfleet Cement Wharf)  

13. Dunkirk Jetty (Dover Western Docks)  

14. Sheerness  

15. Northfleet Wharf  

16. Old Sun Wharf, Gravesend 

 

Their locations are shown in Figure 13: Minerals Key Diagram in Chapter 2 and their site 

boundaries are shown in Chapter 9: Adopted Policies Maps.  

The Local Planning Authorities will consult the Minerals Planning Authority and take account of its 

views before making a planning decision (in terms of both a planning application and an allocation 

in a local plan) for non-mineral related development (other than that of the type listed in policy DM 

8 (clause 1) on all development proposed at, or within 250m of, safeguarded minerals 

transportation facilities. 

Page 54



Page 37 of 168 

Policy DM 8 criteria 1). 
 

 
The monitoring trigger point has not been initiated. Applications for non-mineral development 
permitted on safeguarded sites or on land within 250m of safeguarded minerals transportation 
facilities (as listed in Policy CSM 6) with an objection from the County Council have not 
occurred.  
 
Exemption criteria (1-7) of Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals management, Transportation 
Production & Waste Management Facilities (in original form and as modified in an Early Partial 
Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in 2020) have either been appropriately 
applied, or, in the case of development within 250m of safeguarded sites, the County Council 
has been satisfied that this would not compromise or impede the future lawful operation of the 
safeguarded facilities.     
 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Paragraph 210 and subsection e) states:   
 
Planning Policies should 
 

e) safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk transport, handling and 
processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and concrete products; and the 
handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate 
material; 
 

The policy is fully consistent with this requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework  
(2021).  
 

 
 
 
Other observations 
 
The wharf known as ‘Dunkirk Jetty (Dover Western Docks)’ is no longer in use. Proposals for its 
redevelopment are anticipated as part of the Dover Western Docks redevelopment. Any 
planning application for redevelopment will need to be accompanied by an Infrastructure 
Assessment that demonstrates why the wharf is exempt from safeguarding. If the proposals are 
found to be exempt from the need for ongoing safeguarding of this wharf then the policy will 
require updating as well as the list of safeguarded sites10. At this stage, while proposals for 
development are anticipated none have been permitted and so the site should be retained as an 
identified safeguarded site within this policy. 
 

                                                 
10 The wharf is listed as a safeguarded minerals facility on the County Council’s monitoring schedule 
of safeguarded sites see https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0019/90910/Kent-waste-and-
mineral-sites.pdf 

 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 55

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0019%2F90910%2FKent-waste-and-mineral-sites.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cc1579fa8a4c74d64ed8408d93596fc4d%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637599744988783498%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=e5PyrgaKjQkqugARiB3UKgOhrWI0jcA0LvfdvL2F1gI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2F__data%2Fassets%2Fpdf_file%2F0019%2F90910%2FKent-waste-and-mineral-sites.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cc1579fa8a4c74d64ed8408d93596fc4d%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637599744988783498%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=e5PyrgaKjQkqugARiB3UKgOhrWI0jcA0LvfdvL2F1gI%3D&reserved=0


Page 38 of 168 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy remains fully effective and consistent with national policy.  
 
Policy may need updating to remove reference to ‘Dunkirk Jetty (Dover Western Docks)’ at the 
next review. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 56



Page 39 of 168 

Policy CSM 7: Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure  
 
Policy wording 
 

 
 

Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor 
the effective implementation of Policy CSM 7. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Decisions resulting in other 
development permitted on, or within 
250m of, sites safeguarding for other 
mineral plant infrastructure. 

 

1.  One application permitted with an 
objection from the County Council. 

 
 

 
The monitoring trigger point has not been initiated. No applications for non-mineral development 
have been permitted on land occupied by safeguarded mineral plant infrastructure or on land 
within 250m of such infrastructure with an objection from the County Council.  
 

 
 
Consistency with National and Local Policy 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Paragraph 210 and subsection e) states:   
 
Planning Policies should: 
 

e) safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk transport, 
handling and processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and 
concrete products; and the handling, processing and distribution of 
substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate material; 

 
The policy is fully consistent with this requirement of the National Planning Policy 
Framework (2021).  

Safeguarding Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure  

 

Facilities for concrete batching, the manufacture of coated materials, other concrete 

products and the handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and secondary 

aggregate material in Kent are safeguarded for their on-going use.  

 

Where these facilities are situated within a host quarry, wharf or rail depot facility, they are 

safeguarded for the life of the host site. Where other development is proposed at, or within 

250m of, safeguarded minerals plant infrastructure, Local Planning Authorities will consult 

the Minerals Planning Authority and take account of its views before making a planning 

decision (in terms of both a planning application and an allocation in a local plan). 

GREEN 

Page 57



Page 40 of 168 

 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy remains fully effective and consistent with national policy. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 58



Page 41 of 168 

Policy CSM 8: Secondary and Recycled Aggregates 

 
Policy wording 
 

 
 

Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 
 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor 
the effective implementation of Policy CSM 8. 
 

Monitoring indicators 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) 
for policy review 

1. Identification of secondary and 
recycled aggregate capacity in 
the Mineral Sites Plan. 

1. Processing capacity falls by 
the equivalent to 10% 
below the target capacity.  

Secondary and Recycled Aggregates  

 

Sites will be identified in the Minerals Sites Plan to ensure processing capacity is 

maintained to allow the production of at least 2.7 million tonnes per annum of secondary 

and recycled aggregates, throughout the Plan period.  

 

Proposals for additional capacity for secondary and recycled aggregate production 

including those relating to the expansion of capacity at existing facilities that increases the 

segregation and hence end product range/quality achieved, will be granted planning 

permission if they are well located in relation to the source of input materials or need for 

output materials, have good transport infrastructure links and accord with the other 

relevant policies in the development plan, at the following types of sites:  

1. temporary demolition, construction, land reclamation and regeneration projects and 

highways developments where materials are either generated or to be used in the project 

or both for the duration of the project (as defined by the planning permission)  

2. appropriate mineral operations (including wharves and rail depots) for the duration of the 

host site permission.  

3. appropriate waste management operations for the duration of the host site permission.  

4. industrial estates, where the proposals are compatible with other policies set out in the 

development plan including those relating to employment and regeneration.  

5. any other site that meets the requirements cited in the second paragraph of this policy 

above.  

 

The term ‘appropriate’ in this policy is defined in terms of the proposal demonstrating that it 

will not give rise to unacceptable adverse impacts on communities or the environment as a 

whole over and above the levels that had been considered to be acceptable for the host 

site when originally permitted without the additional facility. 

Planning permission will be granted to re-work old inert landfills and dredging disposal 

sites to produce replacement aggregate material where it is demonstrated that net gains in 

landscape, biodiversity or amenity can be achieved by the operation and environmental 

impacts can be mitigated to an acceptable level. 

Page 59



Page 42 of 168 

2. Planning applications granted 
for secondary and recycled 
aggregate production. 

  

2. One application permitted 
that does not meet all policy 
criteria. 

 

The sector’s overall processing capacity has remained at around 4.0 million tonnes per annum 
for over five years (see Local Aggregate Assessment reports at the following link:  
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-
planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-4).   

 
The monitoring trigger points of the policy’s monitoring schedule have not been exceeded and 
the sector’s productive capacity has remained consistently in excess of 2.7 million tonnes per 
annum. Only those applications in accordance with the policy’s site acceptability criteria have 
been permitted.  
 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Paragraph 210 and subsection b) states:   
 
Planning Policies should: 
 

b) so far as practicable, take account of the contribution that substitute or secondary and 
recycled materials and minerals waste would make to the supply of materials, before 
considering extraction of primary materials, whilst aiming to source minerals supplies 
indigenously; 
 

The policy is fully consistent with this requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(2021). 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The policy refers to identification of sites in a Mineral Sites Plan to maintain at least 2.7mtpa of 
secondary and recycled aggregate production capacity throughout the plan period. However, 
the permitted capacity has remained in excess of the required 2.7mtpa figure (it is 4.0mtpa 
currently) for several years (see Local Aggregate Assessment reports at the following link:  
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-
planning-policies/planning-policies/minerals-and-waste-planning-policy#tab-4 ).  Therefore, this 
part of the policy can now be modified to remove the expectation that sites would be identified in 
the Sites Plan and also to state that the current capacity (4.0mtpa) should be maintained over 
the remainder of the plan period to 2030. 
    

 
 
Recommendation 

GREEN 

GREEN 

RED 

Page 60

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2Fabout-the-council%2Fstrategies-and-policies%2Fenvironment-waste-and-planning-policies%2Fplanning-policies%2Fminerals-and-waste-planning-policy%23tab-4&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34e04f1bf2743fcadcd08d932640780%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637596227465807792%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ArTA5yTjUESZfZU3ije7EV1UJWqOOqkKDnOs548v%2BzU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2Fabout-the-council%2Fstrategies-and-policies%2Fenvironment-waste-and-planning-policies%2Fplanning-policies%2Fminerals-and-waste-planning-policy%23tab-4&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34e04f1bf2743fcadcd08d932640780%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637596227465807792%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ArTA5yTjUESZfZU3ije7EV1UJWqOOqkKDnOs548v%2BzU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2Fabout-the-council%2Fstrategies-and-policies%2Fenvironment-waste-and-planning-policies%2Fplanning-policies%2Fminerals-and-waste-planning-policy%23tab-4&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34e04f1bf2743fcadcd08d932640780%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637596227465807792%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ArTA5yTjUESZfZU3ije7EV1UJWqOOqkKDnOs548v%2BzU%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.kent.gov.uk%2Fabout-the-council%2Fstrategies-and-policies%2Fenvironment-waste-and-planning-policies%2Fplanning-policies%2Fminerals-and-waste-planning-policy%23tab-4&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7Cd34e04f1bf2743fcadcd08d932640780%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637596227465807792%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=ArTA5yTjUESZfZU3ije7EV1UJWqOOqkKDnOs548v%2BzU%3D&reserved=0


Page 43 of 168 

 
Policy remains effective, though modification is required to remove reference to sites being 
identified in a Mineral Sites Plan and the maintenance of ‘at least 4.0mtpa’ over the remainder 
of the plan period, needs to replace the 2.7mtpa figure in this regard. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

RED 

Page 61



Page 44 of 168 

Policy CSM 9: Building Stone in Kent  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSM 9. 
 

Monitoring indicator 

 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy 
review 

1. Planning applications granted for building 
stone extraction. 

 

1. One application permitted that does 
not meet all policy criteria. 

 

 
No applications have been received for the extraction of building stone over the five year period 
since the Plan was adopted and so the policy is untested. 
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Section 209 states:   
 

“It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since minerals 
are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are found, best use 
needs to be made of them to secure their long-term conservation.” 

 
The Policy is specifically purposed to secure the long-term conservation of finite mineral 
resources. 
 
In addition, Section 211 states: 
 

Building Stone in Kent 

 

Planning permission will be granted for small-scale proposals that are needed to 

provide a supply of suitable local building stone necessary for restoration work 

associated with the maintenance of Kent's historic buildings and structures and new 

build projects within conservation areas, subject to:  

1. development taking place in appropriate locations where the proposals do not 

have unacceptable adverse impacts on the local environment and communities 

2. there being no other suitable, sustainable sources of the stone available  

3. the site is restored to a high quality standard and appropriate after-use that 

supports the local landscape character 

NEUTRAL 

Page 62



Page 45 of 168 

“When determining planning applications, great weight should be given to the 
benefits of mineral extraction, including to the economy. In considering proposals for 
mineral extraction, minerals planning authorities should:….. 
 
f) consider how to meet any demand for the extraction of building stone needed for 
the repair of heritage assets, taking account of the need to protect designated sites; 
and….” 

 
The Policy is specifically purposed to secure the long-term conservation of finite mineral 
resources and to ensure the supply of building stone in Kent to maintain the County’s historic 
buildings and structures into the future. 
 
Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework made in July 2021 removed the term ‘small 
scale’ from the text in Section 205 (now 211) as shown above. In light of this the policy requires 
updating to ensure consistency with national policy. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The policy references maintenance of historic buildings in Kent whereas stone is extracted in 
Kent to maintain such buildings beyond the County. An update is needed to correct this matter. 
 
The third criterion in the policy is addressed by other policies in the Plan.  
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
The Policy is no longer consistent with national policy and needs to be updated due to a change 
in the National Planning Policy Framework involving deletion of the term ‘small scale’. The 
policy should also be updated to reflect the fact that stone is extracted in Kent to main historic 
buildings beyond the County. The third criterion in the policy should be deleted to avoid 
inconsistency with those development management policies in the Plan intended to achieve the 
same aim which are applied to all forms of mineral and waste development.  
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RED 
 

RED 
 

RED 

Page 63



Page 46 of 168 

Policy CSM 10: Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons  

 
Policy wording 
 

Oil, Gas and Unconventional Hydrocarbons  

Planning permission will be granted for proposals associated with the exploration, 

appraisal and production of oil, gas and unconventional hydrocarbons subject to:  

1. well sites and associated facilities being sited, so far as is practicable, to 

minimise impacts on the environment and communities  

2. developments being located outside Protected Groundwater Source Areas 

3. there being no unacceptable adverse impacts (in terms of quantity and quality) 

upon sensitive water receptors including groundwater, water bodies and 

wetland habitats 

4. all other environmental and amenity impacts being mitigated to ensure that 

there is no unacceptable adverse impact on the local environment or 

communities 

5. exploration and appraisal operations being for an agreed, temporary length of 

time 

6. the drilling site and any associated land being restored to a high quality 

standard and appropriate after-use that reflects the local landscape character at 

the earliest practicable opportunity 

7. it being demonstrated that greenhouse gases associated with fugitive 

emissions from the exploration, testing and production activities will not lead to 

unacceptable adverse environmental impacts  

Particular consideration will be given to the location of hydrocarbon development involving 

hydraulic fracturing having regard to impacts on water resources, seismicity, local air quality, 

landscape, noise and lighting impacts. Such development will not be supported within protected 

groundwater source protection zones or where it might adversely affect or be affected by flood 

risk or within Air Quality Management Areas or protected areas for the purposes of the 

Infrastructure Act 2015, section 50.  

 

Monitoring indicator and trigger (threshold) for policy review 
 

The following table sets out the monitoring indicator and threshold used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSM10. 
 

Monitoring indicator 

 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for 
policy review 

Planning applications granted associated with 
the exploration, appraisal and development of 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 

Page 64



Page 47 of 168 

oil, gas and unconventional hydrocarbons. 
 

 
Since the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted, no planning permissions have 
been granted associated with the exploration, appraisal and development of oil, gas or 
unconventional hydrocarbons. No such planning applications have been submitted to the 
County Council for consideration either and so the policy is untested. 
 

 

Consistency with National Policy 
 
National policy publications since the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
largely reflect the initiatives of the Paris Agreement 2016. This includes the reduction of 
greenhouse gas emissions to limit the increase in global average temperatures and combat 
climate change. It is recognised that the end product of development referred to in CSM 10 
can contribute to greenhouse gas emissions when used as a fuel, however the National 
Planning Policy Framework (in recognising the product as a mineral resource) still requires 
Mineral Planning Authorities to plan positively for the three stages of development 
(exploration, appraisal and extraction).  
 
The supporting text to Policy CSM 10 reflects the wording in previous versions of the National 
Planning Policy Framework which stated: 
 

‘recognise the benefits of on-shore oil and gas development, including 
unconventional hydrocarbons, for the security of energy supplies and supporting 
the transition to a low-carbon economy; and put in place policies to facilitate their 
exploration and extraction;’ 

 
This paragraph was removed from the National Planning Policy Framework, following the 
Written Ministerial Statement on 23rd May 2019. Therefore, the wording should be updated to 
reflect this. The rest of the supporting text remains consistent with the National Planning Policy 
Framework and other paragraphs on unconventional hydrocarbons which remains unchanged.  

 
Concerns over the safety of such developments have arisen in recent years, with the Written 
Ministerial Statement 4th November 2019 advising that they would only support such 
development where it is safe and sustainable. Policy CSM 10 requires a high degree of 
certainty to be demonstrated that such developments would not result in adverse impacts on 
the environment or public safety/health. This is considered appropriate in terms of what can be 
done to manage such development in the remits of the planning system, as the process of 
hydrocarbon exploration/extraction is largely managed by other regulatory bodies.  

 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy remains effective and is currently consistent with national policy.  
 

NEUTRAL 

AMBER 

Page 65



Page 48 of 168 

The supporting text should be updated to reflect the changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework on unconventional hydrocarbons. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy CSM 11: Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone  

 

AMBER 

Page 66



Page 49 of 168 

Policy wording 
 

 

Monitoring indicator and threshold for policy review 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicator and threshold used to monitor 
the effective implementation of Policy CSM 11. 
 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Planning applications granted 
for underground limestone 
prospecting. 

 

1.  One application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria. 

 
 

 
No planning applications for underground limestone underground prospecting have been 

submitted to the County Council for determination. Policy remains untested in terms of its 

effectiveness for use in decision making when determining applications for prospecting using 

surface test drilling operations. 

 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable 
use of minerals, Section 209 states:   
 

‘It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the 
infrastructure, buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since 
minerals are a finite natural resource, and can only be worked where they are 
found, best use needs to be made of them to secure their long-term 
conservation’.  

 
The policy’s objective is to ensure that the prospecting for underground limestone would not 
result in unacceptable impacts, though in doing so will support the sufficient supply of 
minerals, if needed, into the future.  
 
With regard to the assessment of impacts, the relevant Planning Practice Guidance11 states: 
Assessing environmental impacts from minerals extraction 
 
How and when are the details of any significant environmental impacts best addressed? 

                                                 
11 Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 27-011-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014 

 

Prospecting for Carboniferous Limestone 

Planning permission will be granted at suitable locations for the drilling operations associated 

with the prospecting for underground limestone resources in East Kent subject to: 

1. exploration and appraisal operations are for an agreed, temporary length of time 

NEUTRAL 

Page 67



Page 50 of 168 

Significant environmental impacts are best addressed through consideration of an 
Environmental Statement which will have to accompany nearly all planning applications for 
new mineral working. Statutory regulators must be consulted as part of the Environmental 
Impact Assessment process. This ensures that the mineral planning authority has sufficient 
information on all environmental matters at the time the planning decision is made. 
 
Though the guidance is silent on how to assess impacts of onshore non energy minerals 
prospecting using drilling technology, it is reasonable to conclude that the Environmental 
Impact Assessment (EIA) process may well apply, as it does for onshore hydrocarbon 
exploration and appraisal.  The need for Environmental Impact Assessment is especially likely 
as limestone resource area in East Kent is affected by a number of sensitive national and 
international designations (including BAP, Habitat of Principle Importance under the NERC Act 
2006, Natura 2000, Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) and Local Wildlife Sites). 
Therefore, while the policy is in accordance with national planning policy, the explanatory text 
could be amended to reflect likely requirements for Environmental Impact Assessment. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy remains effective and consistent with national policy, though supporting text 
requires additional text to reflect the Environmental Impact Assessment process. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy CSM 12: Sustainable Transport of Minerals  

 

AMBER 

AMBER 

Page 68



Page 51 of 168 

Policy wording 
 

 

 

Monitoring indicator and threshold for policy review 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicator and threshold used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSM12. 
 

Monitoring indicator 

 

Monitoring trigger (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning applications granted for the 
sustainable transport of minerals (e.g. water 
or rail) 
 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 

 
No planning applications for sustainable transport of minerals have been submitted 

to the County Council for determination. Policy remains untested in terms of its 

effectiveness for use in decision making when determining applications for 

sustainable transport of minerals. 

 

 
 

Consistency with National Policy 

Supporting text to the policy discusses the need for “sustainable transport of minerals”. This point 
could be elaborated upon to make specific reference to carbon neutrality and reduction of 
greenhouse gases. This would be in line with the initiatives of the Paris Agreement 2016 and 
other policy which has since stemmed from it.  

 
Text could also usefully be updated to reflect publications such as the Clean Air Strategy 2019, 
which sets out the targets for reducing air pollution. It is acknowledged that some 12% of harmful 
particulates in the atmosphere are the result of road transportation.  
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
As wharves are not automatically associated with rail transportation, to ensure its effectiveness, 

Sustainable Transport of Minerals  

 

Planning permission for any new wharf and rail depot importation operations, or for wharves and 
rail depots that have been operational in the past (having since fallen out of use), that includes the 
transport of the minerals by sustainable means (i.e. sea, river or rail) as the dominant mode of 
transport will be granted planning permission, where:  

1. they are well located in relation to the Key Arterial Routes across Kent and  

2. the proposals are compatible with other local employment and regeneration policies set out in 
the development plan. 

NEUTRAL 

RED 

Page 69



Page 52 of 168 

where the policy states “Planning permission for any new wharf and rail”, this should be changed to 
“Planning permission for any new wharf and/or rail”. 

 
It may also be appropriate for the policy to refer to the adopted Mineral Sites Plan; in that it does 
not allocate any sites related to minerals transportation. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy and supporting text require review to ensure consistency with national policy and that the 
wording of the policy is effective. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Policy CSW 1: Sustainable Development  

 
Policy wording 

RED 

RED 

Page 70



Page 53 of 168 

 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
No specific monitoring indicators and associated thresholds were included in the Plan to monitor 
the implementation of Policy CSW1. 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The presumption in favour of sustainable development set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework has been updated since the Plan was adopted and so the wording of the Policy is no 
longer precisely consistent with national policy. 
 
The policy should be updated to avoid any tension between it and the National Planning Policy 
Framework.  

 

Other observations 
 
The wording of the text suggests that waste developments proposals be considered in light 
of ‘the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National Planning 
Policy Framework, National Planning Policy for Waste and the Waste Management Plan for 
England’, whereas the presumption in favour of sustainable development is actually only set 
out in the National Planning Policy Framework (and not the National Planning Policy for 
Waste and the Waste Management Plan for England). 
 

 

Recommendation 
 

Sustainable Development  

 

When considering waste development proposals the Council will take a positive approach that 

reflects the presumption in favour of sustainable development contained in the National 

Planning Policy Framework, National Planning Policy for Waste and the Waste Management 

Plan for England.  

 

Waste development that accords with the development plan should be approved without delay, 

unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  

Where there are no policies relevant to the application, or relevant policies are out of date at 

the time of decision making, the Council will grant permission unless material considerations 

indicate otherwise, taking into account where either:  

1. any unacceptable adverse impacts of granting permission would significantly and 

demonstrably outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in the National 

Planning Policy Framework taken as a whole, or  

2. specific policies in that Framework indicate that development should be restricted. 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 71



Page 54 of 168 

An update to Policy CSW1 is required to ensure it is consistent with updated national policy 
and to correct references to the presumption in favour of sustainable development included 
in national policy. Reference to ‘associated Planning Practice Guidance’ should be deleted. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy CSW 2: Waste Hierarchy  
 

RED 
 

Page 72



Page 55 of 168 

POLICY WORDING 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW2. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Existing waste capacity by facility type and 
Waste Hierarchy Category 
 

1. Relative and total fall in the proportion 
of waste capacity provided further up the 
waste hierarchy  
 

2. Planning applications for waste 
management to include information on how 
the proposal will help drive waste to ascend 
the Waste Hierarchy wherever possible and 
practicable 

2. One application permitted without the 
required information  
 
 

 

5-year trend 

The Table below presents the cumulative annual increase in consented capacity across all 
waste streams. This shows that consented capacity has grown progressively over the five 
year period, ending with over 2 million tonnes per annum of additional capacity across all 
waste streams. This doesn't include any permissions that may have been granted by the 
District/Boroughs/City councils that might relate to Lawful Use Certificates for scrap metal 
type sites,B2/B8 permissions being used for waste transfer or disassembly or engineering 
operations related to wider construction projects that might be classed as recovery to land. It 
therefore presents what may be regarded as the minimum provision picture. 

 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Cumulative 
Annual 
Capacity of 
waste 
management 
facilities 

+195,000 +635,835 +849,835 +1,604,635 +2,101,595 

 
The Table below presents data for the principal waste stream12.  

                                                 
12

 note the value does not equate to the total as permissions relating to IBA processing capacity (total 600ktpa in 
three permissions) has not been attributed to a specific stream as it is processing a residue arising from Local 
Authority Collected Waste and Commercial and Industrial waste being subject to 'Other Recovery' in unknown 
proportions.  Hence counting it would double count recovery capacity. 

Waste Hierarchy  

 

To deliver sustainable waste management solutions for Kent, proposals for waste 

management must demonstrate how the proposal will help drive waste to ascend the 

Waste Hierarchy whenever possible. 

Page 73



Page 56 of 168 

 

  2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Local Authority 
Collected Waste 
(LACW) 

Annual 12,500 19,000 0 123,160 0 

 Cumulative 12,500 31,500 31,500 154,660 154,660 

Commercial and 
Industrial (C&I) 

Annual 12,500 155,935 61,500 12,600 262,500 

 Cumulative 12,500 168,435 229,935 242,535 505,035 

Construction, 
Demolition and 
Excavation Waste 
(CDEW) 

Annual 30,000 250,900 135,000 527,300 221,960 

 Cumulative 30,000 280,900 415,900 943,200 1,165,160 

Hazardous Annual 0 15,000 0 0 12,500 

 Cumulative 0 15,000 15,000 15,000 27,500 

Agricultural Annual 0 0 17,500 0 0 

 Cumulative 0 0 17,500 17,500 17,500 

 
Where capacity has been indicated to be available for more than  a single stream the value 
has been divided by the number of streams. For example where permission has been 
granted for a site that may handle up to 25,000 tpa of both Local Authority Collected Waste 
and Commercial and Industrial waste, the capacity has been divided equally between the 
streams as in 2016.  

Broadly waste management capacity has been permitted which is consistent with the waste 
hierarchy. 

Analysis of planning decisions, shows that this policy has been considered in decisions 
where additional waste management capacity has been proposed. No decisions made by 
the council which were informed by the application of this policy have been appealed against 
on the grounds that the policy had been misapplied. 

All applications permitted have included information to allow consideration of the consistency 
of the proposal with this policy, although additional clarification could usefully be provided in 
a revised local validation list. 

In light of the above monitoring information, it can be concluded that neither of the thresholds 
which would trigger a review of this policy have been breached. 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

The waste hierarchy remains a key principle which is used to determine how waste should 
be managed. The principle was endorsed in the Resources and Waste Strategy published in 
December 2018 and subsequently in the Waste Management Plan for England published in 
January 2021. However the inclusion of the term ‘whenever possible’ at the end of the policy 
suggests that there may be instances when the waste hierarchy does not need to be 
applied. While national policy acknowledges that deviation from the hierarchy may be 
acceptable, it must be justified through life cycle assessment. It is therefore considered that 
this wording replace the caveat of “whenever possible" to reflect national policy more closely. 

GREEN 
 

Page 74



Page 57 of 168 

 

Other observations 
 
Policy CSW2 is an overarching policy which suggests that for ‘sustainable waste 
management solutions’ to be delivered proposals must be in accordance with waste 
hierarchy. However more is required than just the management of waste in accordance with 
the waste hierarchy for waste management solutions to be truly ‘sustainable’. In light of this it 
is recommended that the wording of this policy be expanded to avoid such a suggestion.  
 
Supporting text to the policy, in particular footnote 75, references ‘DCLG’ (meaning 
Department for Communities and Local Government) whereas the name of this government 
department has changed to ‘Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’ and 
so the abbreviation should be updated to MHCLG. 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
An update to the Policy is recommended to avoid confusion when assessing whether waste 
management proposals are sustainable and consistent with the waste hierarchy. 

 

RED 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 75



Page 58 of 168 

Policy CSW 3: Waste Reduction  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW3. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) 
for policy review 

All development applications submitted with details 
of the compliance to policy CSW 3 as applicable.  

One application permitted without 
the required information  

 

Waste Reduction  

 

All new development should minimise the production of construction, demolition and 

excavation waste and manage any waste in accordance with the objectives of Policy CSW 2.  

The following details shall be submitted with the planning application, except for householder 

applications:  

1. the measures to be taken to show compliance with this policy  

2. the details of the nature and quantity of any construction, demolition and excavation waste 

and its subsequent management  

 

New development should include detailed consideration of waste arising from the occupation 

of the development including consideration of how waste will be stored, collected and 

managed.  

 

In particular proposals should ensure that:  

1. there is adequate temporary storage space for waste generated by that development 

allowing for the separate storage of recyclable materials; and  

2. as necessary, there is adequate communal storage for waste, including separate 

recyclables, pending its collection; and  

3. storage and collection systems (e.g. any dedicated rooms, storage areas and chutes or 

underground waste collection systems), for waste are of high quality design and are 

incorporated in a manner which will ensure there is adequate and convenient access for 

users and waste collection operatives and will contribute to the achievement of waste 

management targets; and  

4. adequate contingency measures are in place to manage any mechanical breakdowns. All 

relevant proposals should be accompanied by a recycling & waste management strategy 

which considers the above matters and demonstrates the ability to meet local authority 

waste management targets. 

Page 76



Page 59 of 168 

It should be noted that this policy is concerned with applications for all forms of development 
and not just those relating to minerals and waste, and, as such, its implementation is also 
the responsibility of the District, Borough and City Council local planning authorities in Kent. 
 
The threshold for the monitoring of this policy has been breached as more than one planning 
application has been permitted where the information required by Policy CSW3 has not been 
provided or evidenced.  
 
The actual number of breaches relative to the number of applications dealt with is unknown.  
Anecdotally it is understood that some authorities have not implemented this policy. It is 
unclear whether this is because it is considered that the policy wording is ineffective or 
possibly be due to a lack of awareness within District, Borough and City Councils or due to 
the policy being within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan rather than the determining 
authority's own Local Plan. This may also reveal a lack of appreciation that the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan forms part of the development plan for the county.  
 
A review of all District and Borough Council Local Plan policies which might require 
development to come forward in accordance with circular economy principles including 
consideration of waste management has been undertaken. This found variation between 
Local Plans but all were found to include policies which encouraged ‘sustainable’ 
construction. No Local Plans were found to specifically reference circular economy. Policies 
tended to include a clearer focus on ‘carbon’, water and energy efficiency rather than waste. 
Any update to this policy will require input from the District, Borough and City Councils. 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The 2018 Resources and Waste Strategy sets out current Government thinking on waste 
management in England, including how waste is to be minimised and managed more 
effectively through maximising opportunities to generate value from material prevented from 
entering, and that extracted from, waste streams.  
The Resources and Waste Strategy identifies five strategic ambitions:  
 

- To work towards all plastic packaging placed on the market being recyclable, 
reusable or compostable by 2025;  

- To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030; 
- To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year Environment 

Plan; 
- To double resource productivity by 2050; and  
- To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 

 
The strategy is particularly concerned with ensuring that society’s approach to waste aligns 
with the following circular economy principles: 

- design out waste and pollution;   
- keep products and materials in use; and  
- regenerate natural systems 

 
The role waste management plays in promoting these principles affect is illustrated below. 
 
 

RED 
 

Page 77



Page 60 of 168 

 
 
The Resources and Waste Strategy identifies the construction sector as an area where 
resource efficiency is key, recognising that the industry is important to achieving waste 
targets as well as the overarching aim of resource productivity. The strategy recognises that 
the construction industry is on the brink of fundamental change involving the implementation 
of innovative construction materials and techniques and notes how this may be supported 
through the Extended Producer Responsibility (EPR) initiative. 
 
In terms of the design of new buildings, application of circular economy thinking takes 
considerations beyond how waste is simply managed and places a greater emphasis on how 
buildings are designed to ensure that they are less to likely result in waste being produced in 
the first place. Examples include using modular off site construction techniques and 
designing buildings in a way to make them adaptable to changes in their use. It is now 
widely recognised that while old buildings may be less energy efficient, the carbon impacts 
of demolishing buildings and replacing them with a new energy efficient one may be greater 
than the savings that occur from the operation of the new buildings. Another example is 
designing with a building’s ‘deconstruction’ in mind such that structures and building 
elements can be reused in other buildings.  
 
In addition, the County Council has adopted a Climate Emergency Statement and other 
District and Borough Councils have adopted similar statements which set out how they 
intend to achieve net zero carbon emissions. This ought to have a bearing on how the 
Council’s allow for the development of land via the planning system. 
 
Policy CSW3 focuses on two aspects of waste management as follows:  
 
Minimising the production of construction, demolition and excavation waste and steps taken 
to ensure that waste which is produced is managed in accordance with the waste hierarchy; 
and the management of any waste arising from the occupation of any kind of development 
will be stored, collected and managed in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 
 
Updates to this policy will help ensure that the proposals for development address the above 
matters to promote the aspirations considered above as follows: 
 
Production of Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste 
While the policy relates to this, it doesn’t extend to the full range of possible actions that 
might be considered from a circular economy point of view. In light of this it is considered 
that the policy could be updated to require consideration of how buildings are designed to 

Page 78



Page 61 of 168 

extend their lifespan and reduce waste when they ultimately come to the end of their life e.g. 
by the application of design for reuse principles such as modular development.  
 
The new London Plan has introduced a requirement for all new proposals for development 
over a certain size to be submitted with a ‘Circular Economy Statement’. Such a statement is 
concerned with not just how waste which arises from the development is to be managed, but 
also how developments are designed to minimise the production of waste in the first place. 
An example of a policy which reflects this approach is also included in the Old Oak and Park 
Royal Local Plan. This policy states: 
 
‘ Major development proposals will be required to submit a Circular and Sharing Economy 
Statement, demonstrating: a) how the design and construction of the development enables 
buildings and their constituent materials, components and products to be disassembled and 
reused at the end of their useful life; b) where, so far as is possible, the circular and sharing 
economy has been promoted through leasing or rental arrangements for building systems, 
products and materials; c) how sharing economy principles have been adopted in the 
design, construction and on-going operation of the development; and d) how circular 
economy principles have informed the design and implementation of energy (including 
heating and cooling), water and waste infrastructure.’ 
 
The Resources and Waste Strategy sets out the Government’s intention to review and 
consult on measures such as Extended Producer Responsibility and product standards for 
certain materials in the construction and demolition sector, this is intended to ensure that 
fewer materials are wasted and to encourage the use of materials with recycled content. 
 
Management of operational waste 
The inclusion of a requirement for a recycling & waste management strategy to be submitted 
with applications to demonstrate measures put in place for the management of operational 
waste will help meet local authority waste management targets is sensible joined up thinking 
although somewhat gets lost in the current layout. 
 
This ought to be developed further to specifically address the expectations of the 
Government’s draft updated Waste Prevention Programme for England which specifically 
mentions how the planning system should support the prevention of waste as follows: 
 
"We would like to see local authorities taking waste prevention into account in the 
development of their Waste Management Plans, as well as Site Allocation Plans and Local 
Plans that underpin development control decisions. The evidence suggests that the latter 
needs to reflect the importance of space for storage of reusable goods, and reuse and repair 
services. Local authorities are expected to report on “reuse & recycling” and reporting more 
clearly as to action against each of these would help them meet their duties under the waste 
hierarchy"   
 
Updates to the Plan may therefore be required to ensure development comes forward which 
is consistent with this agenda. Such a policy may also play a role in the District and Borough 
Council’s action plans for delivering their carbon net-zero objectives. It will be important to 
monitor the publication of the final updated Waste Prevention Programme for England which 
is expected to be published in Autumn 2021. 
 
The supporting text to Policy CSW2 references Policy CSW3 which, amongst other things, is 
intended to ensure space is provided in all new development to facilitate waste separation 
and recycling. However, Policy CSW3 is silent on how proposals should come forward which 
take account of ‘the importance of space for storage of reusable goods, and reuse and repair 
services’. It is recommended that Policy CSW3 be updated to reflect the need to encourage 
repair and reuse. 

Page 79



Page 62 of 168 

 

Other observations 

While Policy DM17 explains that contributions may be obtained from developers to help 
mitigate the impact of minerals and waste management development, the Plan does not 
explain how financial contributions from promotors of other development, in particular 
housing, may be secured to assist with the development of additional capacity that may be 
needed to manage the additional waste from households. Providing such clarification in the 
supporting text to Policy CSW3 would support KCC as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) in 
its negotiations with the Kent district, borough and city councils responsible for determining 
such development. This could be linked to proposed changes to the supporting text of Policy 
CSW4 which would set out specific issues relating to capacity provision that the WDA is 
currently seeking to address.  

The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy: Implementation Plan 2020-
2023 includes "priorities for collaborative action in the short- and medium-term”. This include 
a priority  dedicated to “planning and development” (“priority 3”) that sets out actions 
including the refresh of the Kent Design Guide to reflect clean growth, net-zero targets and 
climate change adaptation.  It is recommended that Policy CSW3 be updated to reference 
the Kent Design Guide.   

 

 

Recommendation 
 
Update to the Policy and supporting text are necessary to ensure development comes 
forward in a way which is consistent with circular economy principles. 
 
The supporting text should be updated to confirm how developers may be required to make 
financial contributions for the provision of capacity required to manage the additional 
household waste arising. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RED 
 

AMBER 
 

RED 
 

Page 80



Page 63 of 168 

Policy CSW 4: Strategy for Waste Management Capacity 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW4. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for policy 
review 

Annual capacity of waste management 
facilities  

Capacity fallen to 10% above the target 
capacity beyond the years stated 

Net self-sufficiency plus proportion of 
London’s waste 

More than -10% difference in the annual levels 
of imports and exports Spare consented 
capacity falls below forecast need for Kent 10% 

 

Strategy for Waste Management Capacity  

 

The strategy for waste management capacity in Kent is to provide sufficient waste 

management capacity to manage at least the equivalent of the waste arising in Kent plus 

some residual non-hazardous waste from London. As a minimum it is to achieve the 

targets set out below for recycling and composting and other forms of recovery.  

 

Table 1:  

Page 81



Page 64 of 168 

5-year trend 

The table below presents the cumulative annual increase in consented capacity across all 
waste streams. This shows that consented capacity has grown progressively over the five 
year period, ending with over 2 million tonnes per annum of additional capacity across all 
waste streams. This doesn't include any permissions that may have been granted by the 
District/Boroughs/City councils that might relate to Lawful Use Certificates for scrap metal 
type sites, B2/B8 permissions being used for waste transfer or disassembly or engineering 
operations related to wider construction projects that might be classed as recovery to land. It 
therefore presents what may be regarded as the minimum provision picture. 

 

 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

Cumulative annual 
changes in waste 
management 
capacity13 

+195,000 +635,835 +849,835 +1,604,635 +2,101,595 

Where capacity has been indicated to be available for more than a single stream the value 
has been divided by the number of streams. 

 
The information presented below sets out whether the targets included in Policy CSW4 have 
been met or exceeded approaching the first Plan milestone of 2020/21 by principal waste 
stream.  

                                                 

13
 The table on page 56 provides a breakdown of the above data by principal waste stream.  

Page 82



Page 65 of 168 

Table: Local Authority Collected Waste: Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Targets 
vs actual performance 
 

 Milestone Year 

  2015/16  2020/2114  2025/26  2030/31 

Recycling/Composting Target 
(Floor) 

N/A 50% 55% 60% 

 Actual 46.2% 48.5% - - 

Other Recovery Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 45% 43% 38% 

 Actual  47.1% 50.1% - - 

Remainder to Landfill Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 2% 2% 2% 

 Actual 6.4% 1.4% - - 

 
Observations 
 
Local Authority Collected Waste recycling has increased and landfill has fallen which are 
both trends consistent with the objectives the Plan. However, the percentage of Local 
Authority Collected Waste going to Energy from Waste (EfW) has also risen, and is likely to 
exceed the threshold target i.e. ceiling (maximum) set for 2020/21 of 45%. Given the 
tonnage sent to landfill has already been minimised this may threaten achievement of the 
Local Authority Collected Waste recycling/composting target which is itself a floor target i.e. 
a minimum, to be achieved.  
 
Table: Commercial & Industrial Waste: Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Targets vs 
actual performance 
 

 Milestone Year 

  2015/16  2020/21  2025/26  2030/31 

Recycling/Composting Target 
(Floor) 

N/A 50% 55% 60% 

 Actual >41% 52%15 - - 

Other Recovery inc 
Recovery to Land 

Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 35% 32.5% 30% 

 Actual  >3% 10% - - 

Remainder to Landfill Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 15% 12.5% 10% 

 Actual 27% 38% - - 

 
Observations 
 
Recycling of Commercial & Industrial Waste has increased, but landfill has also increased 
exceeding the ceiling set for 2020/21 by a significant margin. However, it should be noted 
that the actual tonnage of waste managed by landfill has remained virtually unchanged. That 
is to say the increase in the proportion managed by landfill is also a product of the fact that 
the total estimated C&I waste arisings for Kent has decreased over the period.  The 
percentage of Commercial and Industrial  waste going to EfW has also risen, but is well 
below the ceiling set for 2020/21 (35%).  
 
 

                                                 
14

 Data for 2020/21 not available at time of writing. Actual data for 2019 or 2019/20 taken as proxy. 
15

 Taken to be the remainder after landfill and Other Recovery. 

Page 83



Page 66 of 168 

Table: Construction & Demolition Waste (Non-Inert Fraction management profile 
expressed as % of total arisings) 
 

 Milestone Year 

  2015/16  2020/21  2025/26  2030/31 

Recycling/Composting Target 
(Floor) 

N/A 13% 14% 15% 

 Actual 11% 5% - - 

Other Recovery Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 5% 5% 5% 

 Actual  1% 3% - - 

Remainder to Landfill Target 
(Ceiling) 

N/A 2% 1% 0.5% 

 Actual 5% 4% - - 

 
Observations 
 
The percentage of the C, D & E waste stream composed of non-inert waste varies between 
2015 and 2019, from 17% to 11%. This means directly comparing these datasets is 
problematic, which also highlights a difficulty with setting a target for management of the 
non-inert fraction as a % of total CDEW arisings rather than just the proportion of the CDE 
stream that is non-inert. If this variation were to be adjusted for, the actual management 
profiles below emerge. 
 
Table: Construction & Demolition Waste (Non-Inert Fraction management profile 
expressed as % of Non-inert fraction only) 
 

  2015/16  2020/21  

Recycling/Composting Actual (Floor) 63% 42% 

Other Recovery Actual (Ceiling) 8% 25% 

Remainder to Landfill Actual(Ceiling) 28% 33% 

 
This suggests that the management targets set for this fraction in the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan ought to be revised to be expressed as % of the non-inert fraction only. 
 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
This policy was reviewed and updated as part of the Early Partial Review of the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan. This review took account of the latest Government policy on 
waste management in place at that time which included the Resources and Waste Strategy. 
The Kent Resources Partnership has recently embarked on updating the Kent Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy. This is the principal driver for the activity of the 
Partnership, which is in effect the vehicle for the Strategy delivery. The key objectives are as 
follows: 

- Maximising the ‘value’ of resources that we manage from households, in terms of 

realising the social, environmental and economic opportunities;  

- Providing the best possible value for money service to the Kent taxpayer, taking into 

account whole service costs;  

- Realising opportunities to improve services now and in the future through engagement, 

RED 
 

Page 84



Page 67 of 168 

collaboration and working in partnership with the supply chain; and  

- Supporting future thinking through ongoing research and evidence that will facilitate the 

transition to a circular economy for Kent.  

 
The County Council as Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) is conducting a five year review of its 
Waste Disposal Strategy originally endorsed by Members in July 2017. This strategy is the 
guiding document for the WDA's assessment of current and future infrastructure operational 
requirements for the ongoing management of local authority collected waste across Kent. 
While both documents focus on the achievement of targets for household and other local 
authority collected waste, the Resources and Waste Strategy also places an emphasis on 
improving recycling and food waste diversion rates arising from the commercial waste stream that 
would fall within the wider waste class of 'municipal waste' as enshrined in English law16.  It was 
this focus that informed the development of the commercial and industrial waste targets set out in 
the Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan. 
 
The municipal component of Commercial and Industrial arisings has been taken to represent up 
to 60% of total C&I arisings and around 70% of commercial waste arisings in the latest impact 
assessment of the Government's consistency proposals17. This is referred to as 'non-household 
municipal' or NHM for short. It should be noted that the waste composition profiles for the diverse 
NHM sectors all show much larger proportions of recyclable waste than for household waste. 
This is primarily due to businesses purchasing packaged goods from their supply chain, food 
waste generated in preparation and post-consumer waste. As such, the recycling potential from 
NHM sectors is significantly greater than from household sector meaning that the need to 
promote achievement of the NHM targets is all the more important if the overall national target is 
to be achieved.  
 
The NHM baseline recycling rate nationally is assumed to be 49% as a best estimate for 2018 
which is very close to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2020 target of 50% 
recycling/composting. The baseline recycling rate is being achieved without any direct 
government intervention.  There are currently few drivers for businesses to recycle waste and 
costs of the change can actually inhibit it because businesses usually pay for waste collections 
on a per-lift or per-bin basis. Consequently, introducing additional recycling bins may lead to 
increased service costs.  
 
The Environment Bill introduced by Government requires the separate collection of five waste 
streams from premises producing household like waste as follows: food waste; plastics; metal; 
glass; and paper/card, except where this is not practicable for technical or economic reasons or 
there is no significant environmental benefit. The preferred businesses option expects all 
businesses to have separate collection for Dry Mixed Recyclables (DMR) , with separate glass 
waste collections and separate food waste collections. It is assumed that all businesses transition 
to these arrangements by 2026 with a possible exemption for certain businesses, such as micro 
firms, from these requirements entirely or in respect of a particular waste stream, for example, 
food waste. 
 
Implementation of these requirements will be crucial to achievement of the recycling/composting 
ambition of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan targets of 55% by 2025/26 and 60% by 
2030/31.   
 
This is likely to generate the need to provide additional management capacity for the separation 
of Dry Mixed Recyclate (DMR) into its constituent recyclates plus bulking capacity for glass and 

                                                 
16 The Waste (Circular Economy) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 introduce a definition of municipal waste, 

which is waste collected from households and waste collected from other sources, where such waste is similar in 
nature and composition to waste from households 
17

 National Municipal Commercial Waste Composition, England 2017 WRAP 

Page 85



Page 68 of 168 

food waste, if not final treatment capacity for food arising both from the Local Authority Collected 
Waste and 'non-household municipal streams. This pressure would be additional to capacity 
required for the management of an increased quantity of additional household derived materials 
arising from population growth. Many of the existing facilities managing Local Authority Collected 
Waste have been identified as requiring upgrade, expansion or replacement by the County 
Council in its Waste Disposal Strategy. 
 
Provision has been made in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan for the management of a 
reducing tonnage of residual non-hazardous waste from London.  The new London Plan adopted 
in 2021 anticipates achievement of net self-sufficiency for London by 2026. While the movement 
of waste from London to Kent may still continue after that date, the intention is that sufficient 
capacity will be developed in London to ensure an equivalent quantity of waste can be managed 
in London, hence, at that point, theoretically, the net burden on Kent should end. As this is not 
planned to occur until 2026, and there is already a significant surplus in provision of other 
Recovery capacity for the management of residual waste in Kent, it is considered that the current 
approach of Policy CSW 4 of accommodating a reducing amount of London’s residual waste in 
Kent may continue with the need for a change to this Policy being reconsidered at the Plan’s next 
5 yearly review.  
 

 

Other observations 

 
Issues with the spatial distribution of ‘final fate’ capacity for Local Authority Collected Waste 
in the form of recycling facilities e.g. Materials Recycling Facilities  and other recovery 
facilities i.e. Energy from Waste plants, have been identified by the Waste Disposal 
Authority. The current distribution of waste transfer facilities receiving household waste 
across the county results in excessive transport especially from Folkestone and Hythe 
district and the Ebbsfleet Development Corporation area. In light of this the Waste Disposal 
Authority has identified a pressing need for the development of new waste transfer facilities 
to serve those particular areas where collected waste can be bulked up for onward transport 
to its final fate. 

 

AMBER 
 

Page 86



Page 69 of 168 

 
Figure: Kent County Council operational waste sites (2019) 

 
Given the stated aim of the Plan is to: 

- "provide a balanced and accessible network of modern facilities" (Para 2.4.8) and 
-  "support the needs arising from growth within Kent" (point 2 Spatial Vision) and 
- "Ensure waste is managed close to its source of production." (point 11 Spatial Vision) 

 
While Policy DM13 addresses the need to demonstrate that emissions "associated with road 
transport movements are minimised as far as practicable" it may be that the policies of the 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan ought to be revisited to enshrine the importance of this 
spatial dimension into policy more explicitly. 

 
 
Recommendation 

An amendment to the target for non-inert Construction, Demolition and Excavation waste 
such that it is expressed as % of the non-inert fraction only. 

Updates to the supporting text which set out issues concerning the management of waste in 
Kent area are recommended to cover the need for the development of additional Local 
Authority Collected Waste transfer capacity. 

 
 

 

 

AMBER 
 

RED 
 

Page 87



Page 70 of 168 

Policy CSW 5: Strategic Site for Waste  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW5. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers 
(thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning decision resulting in development (other than mineral 
working with restoration through the landfilling of hazardous flue 
dust from Energy from Waste plants in Kent) on or near the 
Strategic Site for Waste that could adversely affect development 
of required capacity to serve Allington EfW. 

One Application 
permitted with an 
objection from the 
County Council  
 

 
No development has been granted planning permission that would adversely affect 
development of the strategic site at Norwood Quarry for purpose set out in Policy CSW5. 

 

 

Strategic Site for Waste  

 

The proposed extension areas for Norwood Quarry and Landfill Site, Isle of Sheppey are 
together identified as the Strategic Site for Waste in Kent. The site location is shown on Figure 
19. Unless criterion 1 below is satisfied, planning permission will not be granted for any other 
development other than mineral working with restoration through the landfilling of hazardous 
(flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants.  

 

Mineral working and restoration by hazardous landfill and any ancillary treatment plant at the 
Strategic Site for Waste will be permitted subject to meeting the requirements of the 
development plan and the following criteria:  

1. Demonstration that the site can be suitably restored in the event that landfilling of hazardous 
(flue) dust ash residues from Energy from Waste plants were to cease before completion of the 
final landform due to changes in treatment capacity and/or government policy that may result in 
the diversion of these wastes from landfill  

2. an air quality assessment is made of the impact of the proposed development and its 
associated traffic movements (80) on the Medway Estuary and Marshes Special Protection 
Area and the Swale Special Protection Area sites and if necessary mitigation measures are 
required through planning condition and/or planning obligation  

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high-quality standard and appropriate 
after-use that accords with the local landscape character  

4. Any proposal for this site would need to consider the requirements of other relevant polices 
of this Plan and in particular would need to consider any impacts on the A2500 Lower Road. 
Depending on the nature of any proposal it may be necessary for the developer to make a 
contribution to the improvement of this road. 

GREEN 
 

Page 88



Page 71 of 168 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The management of waste by landfill constitutes disposal which is at the bottom of the 
Waste Hierarchy and more sustainable means of management should therefore be planned 
for if practicable. However national policy recognises that for some wastes disposal by 
landfill might be the only management option. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Evidence suggests that more sustainable alternative options to landfill is emerging for the 
management of hazardous (flue) dust ash residues from EfW (including Allington EfW 
facility). However, this position is currently unlikely to be available in sufficient capacity for to 
warrant a review of current policy.  It is therefore considered prudent to retain this allocation.   

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Although the landfill of flue gas residues may not constitute the optimum management 
method the allocation should be retained to provide capacity while other management 
methods are established. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

Page 89



Page 72 of 168 

Policy CSW 6: Location of Built Waste Management Facilities 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 

Location of Built Waste Management Facilities  

Planning permission will be granted for proposals that:  

a. do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon national and international designated 

sites, including Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB), Sites of Special Scientific 

Interest (SSSI), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), Special Protection Areas (SPAs), 

Ramsar sites, Ancient Monuments and registered Historic Parks and Gardens. (See Figures 

4, 5 & 6).  

b. do not give rise to significant adverse impacts upon Local Wildlife Sites (LWS), Local 

Nature Reserves (LNR), Ancient Woodland, Air Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) and 

groundwater resources. (See Figures 7, 8, 10 & 15)  

c. are well located in relation to Kent's Key Arterial Routes, avoiding proposals which would 

give rise to significant numbers of lorry movements through villages or on unacceptable 

stretches of road.  

d. do not represent inappropriate development in the Green Belt.  

e. avoid Groundwater Source Protection Zone 1 or Flood Risk Zone 3b  

f. avoid sites on or in proximity to land where alternative development exists/ has planning 

permission or is identified in an adopted Local Plan for alternate uses that may prove to be 

incompatible with the proposed waste management uses on the site.  

g. for energy producing facilities - sites are in proximity to potential heat users.  

h. for facilities that may involve prominent structures (including chimney stacks) - the ability 

of the landscape to accommodate the structure (including any associated emission plume) 

after mitigation.  

i. for facilities involving operations that may give rise to bioaerosols (e.g. composting) to 

locate at least 250m away from any potentially sensitive receptors. 

 

Where it is demonstrated that waste will be dealt with further up the hierarchy, or it is 

replacing capacity lost at existing sites, facilities that satisfy the relevant criteria above on 

land in the following locations will be granted consent, providing there is no adverse impact 

on the environment and communities and where such uses are compatible with the 

development plan:  

1. within or adjacent to an existing mineral development or waste management use  

2. forming part of a new major development for B8 employment or mixed uses  

3. within existing industrial estates  

4. other previously developed, contaminated or derelict land not allocated for another use  

5. redundant agricultural and forestry buildings and their curtilages  

Proposals on greenfield land will only be permitted if it can be demonstrated that there are 

no suitable locations identifiable from categories 1 to 5 above within the intended catchment 

area of waste arisings. Particular regard will be given to whether the nature of the proposed 

waste management activity requires an isolated location. 

Page 90



Page 73 of 168 

 
No specific monitoring indicators and associated thresholds were included in the Plan to 
monitor the implementation of Policy CSW6. 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
Policy CSW6 gives protection to ‘Ancient Monuments and registered Historic Parks and Gardens’ 
whereas the term used in the National Planning Policy Framework to define such features is 
‘designated heritage asset’. Such a term has a wider meaning and potentially provides greater 
protection to sites of archaeological interest than that provided by the term used in the Policy. 
The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan currently defines ‘Heritage assets’ in the glossary as: 
 
‘A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as having a degree of 
significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. 
Heritage asset includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning 
authority (including local listing).’ 
 
The Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan also includes a specific policy (DM5) concerned with 
the protection of Heritage Assets and so it appears Policy CSW6 is not wholly consistent with 
Policy DM5. 
 
Recent changes to the National Planning Policy Framework emphasise how development 
proposed in the settings of AONBs must not adversely impact on the duty to protect and enhance 
AONBs. For Kent this affects development proposed within the settings of the High Weald and 
Kent Downs AONBs. Policy CSW6 expects waste development not to have significant adverse 
impacts upon national and international designated sites, including Areas of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty (AONB), Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI), Special Areas of Conservation (SAC), 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Ramsar sites, Ancient Monuments and registered Historic 
Parks and Gardens.  Currently no mention of ‘settings’ of AONBs is included and so Policy CSW6 
is no longer be consistent with national policy.  
 
The policy currently requires energy from waste facilities to be located proximate to potential heat 
users, however it is considered that this does not provide the certainty required by updated policy 
and legislation concerned with ensuring that net zero carbon emissions are achieved by 2050. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None 

  
Recommendation 

Updates to the policy are required to ensure consistency within the Plan and with national 
policy. 

 

 
 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 91



Page 74 of 168 

Policy CSW 7: Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste 
 
Policy wording 

Waste Management for Non-hazardous Waste  

Waste management capacity for non-hazardous waste that assists 

Kent in continuing to be net self-sufficient while providing for a reducing 

quantity of London's waste, will be granted planning permission 

provided that:  

1. it moves waste up the hierarchy,  

2. recovery of by-products and residues is maximised  

3. energy recovery is maximised (utilising both heat and power)  

4. any residues produced can be managed or disposed of in 

accordance with the objectives of Policy CSW 2  

5. sites for the management of green waste and/or kitchen waste in 

excess of 100 tonnes per week are Animal By Product Regulation 

compliant (such as in vessel composting or anaerobic digestion) 

 

6. sites for small-scale open composting of green waste (facilities of less than 100 tonnes 
per week) that are located within a farm unit and the compost is used within that unit. 
 
 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW7. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning applications granted for non-
hazardous waste developments 
 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 
 

 
Planning decisions are made in accordance with the development plan (which includes the  Kent 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan) as a whole and are a balance of policy considerations.  In 

assessing the effectiveness of the policies against the adopted monitoring schedule, it is 

appropriate to consider against those applications where it was concluded that the development 

proposed was a departure to the development plan.  In such cases these would have resulted in 

a referral of the decision to the Secretary of State and triggering development being permitted 

that was contrary to polices in the Plan. Since the Plan was adopted in 2016 no decisions have 

been considered to depart from the development plan. 

 

Page 92



Page 75 of 168 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 

In its requirement that waste management capacity should ensure waste is managed in 

accordance with the waste hierarchy and heat and energy is recovered, the Policy is broadly 
consistent with National Planning Policy for Waste. 
 
The efficient recovery of energy is linked to the need to meet targets for achieving net zero which 
have recently been tightened by the Government. In light of this it may be that the clause ‘energy 
recovery is maximised’ and should be tightened to ensure achievement of the objective of 
maximum recovery of energy. 
 
While this is valid supporting information, criteria 5 repeats legislation which is the responsibility 
of the Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA) to enforce and so may be considered ultra vires 
as it duplicates control. 
 
Criterion 6 may be construed as placing too limited a scope for open (windrow) composting 
facilities, which are to be promoted generally as they move green waste up the waste hierarchy. 
Such specific control may be more appropriate to the Environment Agency through the 
environmental permitting regulations. The criteria is also more concerned identifying a particular 
type of suitable location for small scale composting and so should be moved to Policy CSW 6. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The criteria 1 requirement for facilities to ensure waste is moved up the hierarchy appears to 
duplicate Policy CSW2.  Similarly, Policies CSW7 and CSW8 both address the need for 
maximum energy to be derived from energy from waste. The approaches taken by the 
different policies is slightly different and so, whilst there is duplication, there is also potential 
for inconsistent implementation of requirements. 

 
 
Recommendation 

 
Policy CSW7 should be updated to avoid duplication with policies CSW2 and CSW8. 
Further changes to Policy CSW7 are considered necessary to ensure it is effective. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 93



Page 76 of 168 

Policy CSW 8: Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste 

 
Policy wording 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW8. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for policy 
review 

1. Percentage of waste managed in Kent 
diverted from landfill  
 
 

1. Within 10% of the target maximum for the 
household waste landfill diversion target at or 
beyond the dates stated 

2. Remaining capacity of non-hazardous 
landfill 
 
 

2. Sufficient capacity for net self-sufficiency 
(import and export levels) for non-inert 
management capacity plus 10% 

3. Planning applications granted for EfW 
Facilities and their capacity 
 

3. Insufficient capacity for non-hazardous 
landfill to manage predicted level of non-
hazardous waste 

 

5-year trend18 

Monitoring Indicator 1 

The percentage of Local Authority Collected Waste from Kent which has been diverted from 
landfill is set out in the table below: 

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

% Waste diverted 
from landfill 

97 97 98 98 

                                                 
18 Information for 2020 has not yet been published and so a full five years of data cannot be provided 
– this will likely be available in the Autumn of 2021. 

Recovery Facilities for Non-hazardous Waste  

Facilities using waste as a fuel will only be permitted if they qualify as 

recovery operations as defined by the Revised Waste Framework Directive.  

When an application for a combined heat and power facility has no proposals for use of the 

heat when electricity production is commenced, the development will only be granted 

planning permission if the applicant and landowner enter into a planning agreement to 

market the heat and to produce an annual public report on the progress being made toward 

finding users for the heat 

 

Page 94



Page 77 of 168 

Policy CSW4 includes targets for waste management which show the target for diversion of 
Local Authority Collected Waste from landfill is 98%. Although the indicator references 
‘maximum’ these aren’t specifically referenced in the Plan and so an assessment has been 
made against the 98% target. It can be seen from the table above that the diversion of Local 
Authority Collected Waste has been within less than 10% of the 98% diversion target and so 
the threshold for this monitoring indicator has not been breached.  

Monitoring Indicator 2 

The remaining capacity of non-hazardous landfill in Kent reported at the end of 2019 was as 
follows: 

Facility Name  Remaining Capacity (cubic metres)  

Greatness Quarry  11,855 

Shelford Landfill Site 1,734,833 

TOTAL: 1,746,688 

The anticipated landfill requirement for non-hazardous waste arising in Kent from 2020 to the 
end of the Plan period 2031 is 312,335 m3 19 and so there is more than sufficient non-
hazardous waste landfill capacity to meet Kent's projected needs for the next decade at 
least.  

The applicability of the trigger threshold of "Sufficient capacity for net self-sufficiency (import 
and export levels) for non-inert management capacity plus 10%" might be usefully refined to 
relate specifically to "residual waste management capacity" rather than "non-inert" as non-
inert management capacity could include recycling/composting capacity. 

Monitoring Indicator 3 

The third indicator is indirectly concerned with the adequacy of non-hazardous landfill 
capacity to meet residual waste management requirements and so essentially repeats 
monitoring indicator 2 through the alternative lens of Energy from Waste capacity. It is 
proposed that as part of the updates to the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, monitoring 
indicator 3 be deleted. 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The Government’s Resources and Waste Strategy places additional emphasis on the 
utilisation of heat from energy recovery facilities. This is confirmed in the Waste 
Management Plan for England 202120 that states: 
 
"Any given technology is more beneficial if both heat and electricity can be recovered. 
Particular attention should therefore be given to the location of the plant to maximise 
opportunities for heat use". 
 

                                                 
19 From Table 12 of Capacity Requirement for the Management of Residual Non Hazardous Waste September 
2018 Update 

20 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/waste-management-plan-for-england-2021 

GREEN 
 

Page 95



Page 78 of 168 

Furthermore, in 2019 Government adopted a target of reducing the UK's net greenhouse 
gas emissions by 100% i.e. net zero, by 2050 relative to1990 levels. With a stated intention 
to reduce emissions to no more than 78% by 2035, effectively bringing forward the previous 
80% target by 15 years. 
 
The Climate Change Committee (CCC) advises the Government on steps that need to be 
taken to achieve these statutory reduction targets. It does this by recommending carbon 
budgets which indicate how emissions from different sectors of the economy will need to 
change for the overall target to be achieved. The CCC published its sixth carbon budget in 
December 2020 and this included a sector report on waste. A key recommendation within 
the waste sector report (and in the overarching report) is that all energy-from-waste plants 
should be fitted with Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage technology (CCUS) by 2050 at 
the latest. 
 
The trade association for the waste management sector (the Environmental Services 
Association) published a Net Zero greenhouse gas emissions strategy21 for the UK recycling 
and waste sector recognising the need for heat utilisation and consideration of CCUS as part 
of the decarbonisation of the waste management sector. This strategy includes the following 
targets: 
 

 Develop heat networks where feasible to deliver heat from EfW plants from 2021 
onwards. 

 Start fitting Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage (CCUS) technologies to EfW 
facilities from 2025, with all plants fitted with Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage 
where feasible by 2040; and 

 Ensure that all new EfW plants are built with Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage 
CCUS fitted or are CCUS-ready from 2025 onwards.  

 
In addition to the above it also proposes to divert all organic waste from landfill by 2030 to 
recycling and energy production through composting, anaerobic digestion (AD) and Energy 
from Waste.  It is also understood that the sectoral targets assume that oil based plastics are 
diverted from Energy from Waste plants, and therefore it may be appropriate to prescribe 
pre-treatment to achieve this. 
 
Given these targets represent agreed rather than best practice, it is recommended that the 
above targets be enshrined into Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan policy as a minimum. 
 
Revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework have occurred since the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan was adopted that revised and expanded national policy on climate 
change. Specifically, the National Planning Policy Framework (at paragraph 153) now 
expects local plans to take a ‘proactive approach to mitigating and adapting to climate 
change’. 
 
In 2019 the County Council adopted a Climate Emergency Statement which states: 
 
“Through the framework of the Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, we will facilitate the 
setting and agreement of a target of net zero emissions by 2050 for Kent and Medway.” 
 
Furthermore, recent changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) include 
a change to the presumption in favour of sustainable development such that local plans are 
required to (with emphasis added): 

                                                 
21

 http://www.esauk.org/what-we-say/publications 

Page 96



Page 79 of 168 

 
“promote a sustainable pattern of development that seeks to: meet the development needs 
of their area; align growth and infrastructure; improve the environment; mitigate climate 
change (including by making effective use of land in urban areas) and adapt to its effects”.  
 
Under this change, plans are now more explicitly expected to promote development of a 
form that mitigates climate change. Revisions to policy CSW8 are needed reflect this latest 
version of the National Planning Policy Framework.  

 
In light of the above, it is considered that Policy CSW8 should be updated to strengthen the 
need for energy recovery facilities to utilise heat and to ensure Carbon Capture, Utilisation 
and Storage is included in proposals. The supporting text to the policy will require 
amendment to provide guidance on how the policy would be implemented by the Council. 
 

RED 

 
Other observations 
 
The title of the policy references ‘recovery’ facilities which is potentially misleading as all 
facilities which divert waste from landfill (including recycling and composting) fall under the 
category of ‘recovery’ while this policy is concerned with capacity falling within the category 
known as ‘other recovery’ i.e. recovery after recycling & composting has been maximised.  
 
As ‘other recovery’ sits near the bottom of the waste hierarchy it is important that waste 
managed at such sites could not have been managed by means further up the hierarchy for 
achievement of the recycling /composting targets to not be compromised. While this is 
addressed in overarching policy CSW2 it is considered that a cross reference to this policy 
should be included with related explanatory text.  
 
In addition, the use of the term "non-hazardous waste" might be usefully clarified as relating 
to "residual non-hazardous waste", to ensure that waste that might otherwise be recycled or 
composting would not be managed through this route. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy CSW8 and supporting text should be updated to strengthen the need for energy 
recovery facilities to utilise heat and to ensure Carbon Capture, Utilisation and Storage is 
included in proposals. 
 
The supporting text should be updated to include a cross reference to CSW2 and the Policy 
title should be amended to qualify the use of the term ‘recovery’.  
 
The monitoring framework for Policy CSW8 includes a duplicate indicator and trigger and so 
updates are needed to address this matter.  

 
 

 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 97



Page 80 of 168 

Policy CSW 9: Non inert Waste Landfill in Kent  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW9. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning decisions resulting in non-inert 
waste landfilling  
 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria   
 

 

5-year trend 
 
Since the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted there have been no planning 
decisions relating to proposals for landfilling with non-inert waste and so the effectiveness of 
the policy has not been tested. 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The Waste Management Plan for England 2021 confirms (p18) that landfill should "usually 
be the last resort for waste, particularly biodegradable waste" but recognises that it will 
continue to offer the best, or least worst, option for the management of some waste. The 
Resources and Waste Strategy 2018 recognises the need to continue work to reduce 
methane emissions from landfill including by working towards a target of zero food waste to 
landfill by 2030. This is especially important as methane is a greenhouse gas that is 25% 
more potent than carbon dioxide. The need for landfill to be managed in a way that ensures 
landfill gas is managed effectively is very important and this is currently addressed to a 
degree by requirements relating to aftercare and restoration. However, neither Policy CSW9, 
nor DM19 consider how methane should be managed during the operation of a site. In light 
of this it is considered that the policy could be strengthened to ensure proposals seek to 
maximise methane capture while a site is operational. Consideration of policy to support 

Non Inert Waste Landfill in Kent  

 

Planning permission will only be granted for non-inert waste landfill if:  

1. it can be demonstrated that the waste stream that needs to be landfilled cannot be 

managed in accordance with the objectives of Policy CSW2 and for which no suitable 

disposal capacity exists; and  

2. environmental or other benefits will result from the development  

3. the site and any associated land being restored to a high quality standard and appropriate 

after-use that accords with the local landscape character as required by Policy DM 19. 

NEUTRAL 

Page 98



Page 81 of 168 

energy recovery from that methane, whether through the stationing of landfill gas engines or 
methane compressors for use as vehicle fuel might also be included. 
It should be noted the waste industry sector net zero strategy commits to: 

- increasing capture of methane emissions from landfill to 85% by 2030; and 
- for all waste transport vehicles to switch from diesel to 100% zero emissions sources 

by 2040  
 
Strengthening of policy would be consistent with these goals and help promote their 
achievement.  

 
 
Other observations 
 
Insertion of the term ‘alternative’ before ‘suitable disposal capacity’ in criteria 1 would make 
the meaning of policy clearer. The inclusion of supporting text explaining that additional 
capacity will only be considered acceptable if suitable alternative disposal capacity is not 
available would also be helpful. This would help ensure that the availability of such capacity 
is kept to a minimum to discourage management of waste by a means at the bottom of the 
waste hierarchy. 
 
Criteria 2 indicates that proposals would be acceptable if ‘environmental or other benefits will 
result from the development’ however what might constitute ‘other benefits’ is not clear. 
“other benefits’ might be said to include the provision of capacity for the management of non-
inert waste which cannot be managed by a means other than landfill which makes the 
criteria meaningless. To ensure the policy is effective it is considered that criteria 2 should 
be reworded. 
 
KCC has signed a Statement of Common Ground (SCG) made between all waste planning 
authorities in the South East. The SCG states the following on non-hazardous waste landfill: 
 
“2.30 The Parties agree that despite the management of waste at higher levels of the waste 
hierarchy (in accordance with National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) there will continue 
to be a need for some landfill capacity to deal with waste in the South East and that this 
matter will therefore need to be addressed in their Local Plans. 
 
2.31 When planning for non-hazardous landfill, the Parties agree that such facilities are 
regional in nature and will therefore receive waste from beyond the area within which they 
are located. The Parties agree that they will therefore consider the ability of their own area to 
accommodate new non-hazardous landfill capacity as well as the ability of other areas to 
meet their own needs over the period being planned for (in line with the agreement in 
paragraph 2.4).  
 
2.32 The Parties agree that the assessment of need for any new22 non-hazardous landfill will 
also consider impacts associated with vehicle movements of waste across the South East.” 
 
It is considered that the current policy and supporting text is consistent with the SCG. Any 
updates to the policy, as suggested above, ought to take the SCG into account. While noting 
the finding in relation to the Monitoring Indicator 2 of Policy CSW 8 above.  
 

 
                                                 
22 This includes extensions to existing sites 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 99



Page 82 of 168 

Recommendation 
 
The policy could be strengthened to ensure proposals consider how methane will be 
captured and utilised while a non-inert landfill site is operational. 
 
The policy should be reworded to ensure it can be implemented effectively and its meaning 
is clear.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 

Policy CSW 10: Development at Closed Landfill Sites  
 
Policy wording 

RED 

Page 100



Page 83 of 168 

 
 

Development at Closed Landfill Sites  

 

Planning permission will be granted for development for any of the following purposes:  

1. development for the improvement of restoration for an identified after use for the site; or  

2. development for the reduction of emissions of gases or leachate to the environment; or  

3. development making use of gases being emitted and which will reduce the emission of 

gases to the environment. 
 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW10. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning applications granted on closed 
Biodegradable Landfill sites for the 
developments listed in Policy CSW 10 
 

One Application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria  
 

 

5-year trend 
 
No applications have been received for proposals concerning development at closed landfill 
sites and so the effectiveness of the policy has not been tested.   
 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
There have been no changes to national or local policy concerning development at closed 
landfill sites. It is considered that the policy and supporting text remain consistent with 
national and local policy. 

The policy remains consistent with National Planning Policy for Waste which expects 
landraising or landfill sites to be ‘restored to beneficial after uses at the earliest opportunity 
and to high environmental standards’. 

 

Other observations 
 
Criterion 1 states: "development for the improvement of restoration for an identified after use 
for the site;" but it is not absolutely clear what ‘improvement of restoration’ means. It appears 
that an error may have occurred at the drafting stage such that the term ‘of’ should in fact be 

NEUTRAL 

GREEN 
 

Page 101



Page 84 of 168 

‘and/or’. The criteria would then read "development for the improvement and/or restoration 
for an identified after use for the site;" 
 
Criterion 3 duplicates Criterion 2 when it refers to reducing the emission of gases to the 
environment. As the policy is focussed on development making use of gases being emitted it 
could be helpfully strengthened to extend to consideration of making the most efficient use of 
the methane captured in particular, so might read "development making use of gases being 
emitted, by the most energy efficient means". Commentary on the relative merits of power 
production vs compressing for use of vehicle fuel might also be added. As the carbon 
intensity of electricity from the grid falls, the avoided carbon benefit from gas engines 
declines. Plus, the sector commitment to transitioning the fleet fuel mentioned above. 

 
 
Recommendation 

A minor update to the text of criterion 1 is required to ensure it is clear and effective. 
Updates to criteria 2 and 3 are needed to avoid duplication and ensure the most efficient use 
of methane gas is promoted.  

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Policy CSW 11: Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste  

 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 102



Page 85 of 168 

Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW11. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for policy review 

1. Annual volume of CDE waste 
Arising 
 

1. Delay in restoration timetable of landfills and mineral 
workings due to lack of available suitable fill material. 
Delay in development of mineral extraction sites where 
phasing requires progressive restoration. 

2. Annual CDE waste recycling 
capacity  
 

2. More than 10% deficit in the actual capacity provided 
at or beyond the dates stated in CSW 8  

3. Planning applications granted 
for permanent deposit of inert 
waste  

3. One application permitted that does not meet all 
policy criteria 
 

 
There is no indication that implementation of this policy is resulting in delays to the 
progressive restoration of mineral extraction sites.  
 
The reference to Policy CSW8 within the second monitoring trigger appears incorrect as 
there is no mention of Construction, Demolition and Excavation (CDE) waste recycling 
capacity within that policy. This appears to be a drafting error as Policy CSW4 does include 
targets for recycling Construction and Demolitions waste (but not excavation waste). 
However, it is not clear how this indicator relates to the monitoring of Policy CSW 11 as this 
policy is not concerned with the recycling of CDE waste. 
 
Since the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted there have been no applications 
permitted by the County Council that do not meet all criteria of policy CSW11. 
 
The deposit of inert waste on land may form part of a non-waste development and so be 
addressed as part of proposals for such development considered by the district, borough or 
city council planning authorities in Kent. No information has been obtained on the extent to 
which these councils have implemented this policy, but appropriate data will be sought from 
those councils to inform any update to this policy. A review of Environment Agency 
permitting data indicates few sites have been granted permits for recovery to land operations 
in Kent. 

Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste  

 

Planning permission for the disposal of inert waste will be granted where:  

1. it can be demonstrated that the waste cannot be managed in accordance with the 

objectives of Policy CSW2  

2. it is for the restoration of landfill sites and mineral workings  

3. environmental benefits will result from the development, in particular the creation of priority 

habitat  

4. sufficient material is available to restore the site within agreed timescales. 

Page 103



Page 86 of 168 

 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
The policy and supporting text suggest that inert waste can be disposed of to landfill which is 
a waste management method at the bottom the waste hierarchy and therefore to be 
discouraged. However, the use of clean soils to backfill and restore mineral workings and in 
engineering operations may be classed as recovery. Hence, there is an inconsistency 
between the title and scope of the policy and the use of the term ‘disposal’ within of the 
policy. The deposit of inert waste on land should take place in a manner that is consistent 
with the waste hierarchy and therefore involve its ‘recovery’ rather than ‘disposal’ wherever 
possible. Proposals involving the ‘disposal’ of inert waste should not be encouraged as inert 
waste should always be managed in a beneficial way. Therefore the term ‘disposal’ within 
the policy should be replaced with the term ‘deposit’. For the same reasons the policy is 
inconsistent with Policy CSW2 which only allows for proposals to come forward that can 
demonstrate the management of waste in accordance with the waste hierarchy.  
 

In addition, while the availability of suitable material to restore mineral workings is 
paramount, there may be cases where the deposit of such material for engineering 
operations such as acoustic bund construction or flood management might also be 
desirable, particularly given the need for local outlets for material. Currently the way in which 
the policy criteria are set does not allow for the possibility of use of soils for such purposes. 
This policy would therefore benefit from revision to establish a sequential approach to 
safeguard material for restoration in the first instance but then allow for the possibility of use 
in other development. This is of particular note as void at mineral workings is a finite 
resource, whose availability is limited by the rate of working of the mineral, Hence, it cannot 
be assumed that while void is to be created as a consequence of mineral permissions, it will 
be worked at a rate commensurate with the possible need for void. Such a revision would 
allow for more local outlets to emerge, potentially reducing road transport miles and 
associated emissions.  
 

 

Other observations 
 
In 2019 the South East Waste Planning Advisory Group published a Joint Position 
Statement on the Permanent Deposit of Inert Waste that considers this matter at length. 
Updates to the policy and supporting text should consider the Joint Position Statement.     

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Changes to the supporting text and policy are needed to ensure that the policy provides 
more flexibility for deposit to land options for inert waste, and disposal, via landfill, of inert 
waste is not promoted. 
 
Some changes to the monitoring framework are needed to ensure that the implementation of 
this policy can be effectively monitored. 

GREEN  
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 104



Page 87 of 168 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy CSW 12: Hazardous Waste Management  

 

RED 
 

Page 105



Page 88 of 168 

Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW12. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

 
1. Capacity of hazardous waste management 
facilities. 
 

 
1. Capacity fallen to 90% of capacity for 
net self sufficiency  
 

2. Planning decisions resulting in permitted 
built hazardous waste management facilities 
 

2. One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 

 

 

5-year trend 

Target: To maintain net self-sufficiency in the management of hazardous waste throughout 
the plan period, (Policy CSW 12) 

 

  2015/16  2020/21  2025/26  2030/31 

 Arisings 245,441 185,46523   

 Managed in 
Kent24 

236,516  

 

183,822   

Net self sufficiency 96% 99%   

The above table shows that net self-sufficiency in hazardous waste management is being 
maintained. 

 

 

                                                 
23

 HWI value only  
24

 Taken as proxy for capacity assessment. But given this data is waste actually managed it must be 
less than the theoretical capacity. 

Hazardous Waste Management  

 

To maintain net self-sufficiency in the management of hazardous waste throughout the plan 

period, development proposals for built hazardous waste management facilities will be granted 

planning permission in locations consistent with Policy CSW 6, regardless of whether their 

catchment areas for waste extend beyond Kent 

GREEN 
 

Page 106



Page 89 of 168 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 

The current supporting text and policy are concerned with achieving net self-sufficiency 
for hazardous waste which while laudable is not required by national policy. The 
management of different types of hazardous waste is generally not interchangeable, that 
is to say a facility capable of managing one particular type of hazardous waste will 
generally not be able to manage other types of hazardous waste. For example, waste oils 
and bonded asbestos have completely different, and incompatible, management 
requirements. Therefore achievement of true net self-sufficiency for hazardous waste, 
where different types of capacity are provided in Kent equivalent to the quantity of the 
different types of hazardous waste arising, is not considered to be practical. As set out in 
the current supporting text, this is because the economies of scale associated with the 
management of hazardous waste mean that for facilities to be economic and operate 
effectively they need to manage waste from a regional or national catchment. That having 
been said, provision of management capacity for hazardous waste to meet Kent's and 
other areas identified needs is to be supported in appropriate locations. This is the case 
at present with provision of, for example, the Pinden Landfill accepting asbestos waste 
from Kent and further afield. The policy commitment to not limit consideration of need to 
Kent only by inclusion of the clause" regardless of whether their catchment areas for 
waste extend beyond Kent" supports this. 

It is notable in that context that the current policy wording refers to "built hazardous waste 
management facilities" whereas the policy might be broadened to also account for the 
possibility of replacement hazardous waste landfill capacity coming forward where needed. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The SEWPAG Statement of Common Ground, to which KCC is a signatory states the 
following with regard to planning for waste management on the basis of net self-sufficiency 
(with emphasis added): 
 
“2.1 The Parties agree that they will plan for net self-sufficiency which assumes that within 
each waste local plan area the planning authority or authorities will plan for the management 
of an amount of waste which is equivalent to the amount arising in that plan area. For the 
avoidance of doubt, the Parties agree that they will plan on the basis that no provision has to 
be made in their waste local plans to meet the needs of any other waste local plan area 
which are basing their waste policies on achieving the principle of net self-sufficiency 
.    
2.2 The Parties accept that when using this principle to test policy, it may not be possible to 
meet this requirement for all waste streams, particularly where a specialist facility is required 
to manage specialist waste streams such as hazardous waste.” 
 
This indicates that planning for hazardous waste on the basis of net self-sufficiency is not 
considered to be necessary. 
 

 

Recommendation 

RED 
 

AMBER 
 

Page 107



Page 90 of 168 

It is considered that the assessment of proposals for the management of hazardous waste 
on the basis of achieving net self-sufficiency is not consistent with national policy and could 
lead to confused decisions on the acceptability of such proposals. In addition, the policy 
ought to allow consideration of provision of replacement hazardous waste landfill capacity. In 
light of this the policy should be updated. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Policy CSW 13: Remediation of Brownfield Land  

RED 
 

Page 108



Page 91 of 168 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW13. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Temporary waste related planning 
applications granted on brownfield land that 
facilitate its redevelopment 
 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 

 

5-year trend 

 
No applications have been received for proposals concerning waste related developments 
on brownfield land that facilitate its redevelopment and so the effectiveness of the policy has 
not been tested.   
 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
There have been no changes to national or local policy concerning the treatment of waste 
arising from the redevelopment of brownfield land. It is considered that the policy and 
supporting text remain consistent with national and local policy. 

 
 
Other observations 

This policy may be applied by the local planning authorities in Kent as part of their non-waste 
development management function. 

Remediation of Brownfield Land  

 

Planning permission will be granted for a temporary period for waste related developments on 
brownfield land that facilitate its redevelopment by reducing or removing contamination from 
previous development, where:  

1. the site is identified in a local plan for redevelopment or has planning permission for 
redevelopment, or  

2. the site is part of a network of brownfield sites that are identified in a local plan or local plans 
for redevelopment or that have planning permission for redevelopment and is to receive waste 
for treatment from those sites as well as treating the land within the site. 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

Page 109



Page 92 of 168 

 
 
Recommendation 

The policy remains effective and consistent with national and local policy. No updates to 
Policy CSW13 are considered necessary.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

Page 110



Page 93 of 168 

Policy CSW 14: Disposal of Dredgings  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW14. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning applications determined for the 
disposal of dredgings 

One application permitted that does 
not meet all policy criteria 

 

 

5-year trend 
 
No applications have been received for proposals concerning the disposal of dredging 
materials and so the effectiveness of the policy has not been tested.   
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
There have been no changes to national or local policy concerning the disposal of dredging 
materials. It is considered that the policy and supporting text remain consistent with national  
and local policy. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Policy CSW14 was revised as part of the Early Partial Review of the Kent Minerals and 
Waste Local Plan. The revision to the Policy removed the need to allocate land suitable for 
the development of a landfill site to accommodate dredging material in a separate Sites Plan 
on the basis that such an allocation was not justified. 
 

Disposal of Dredgings  

 

Planning permission will be granted for new sites for the disposal of dredging materials 

where it can be demonstrated that:  

1. the re-use of the material to be disposed of is not practicable  

2. there are no opportunities to use the material to enhance the biodiversity of the Kent 

estuaries 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

Page 111



Page 94 of 168 

Subsequent engagement with the Port of London Authority (PLA) related to the five yearly 
review has taken place and the PLA has suggested that the need to allocate a specific site 
be kept under review. However, the PLA has not indicated that such an allocation is 
currently required. 
 
The PLA is reviewing its ‘Vision for the Tidal Thames (The Thames Vision)’25 in 2021. 
Depending on the outcome of this review, Policy CSW14 and/or supporting text may require 
updating.  

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy CSW14 and its supporting text remain fit for purpose, however updates may be 
required in light of the outcome of the Port of London Authority’s (PLA) review of its ‘Vision 
for the Tidal Thames (The Thames Vision)’.    

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                 
25 https://www.pla.co.uk/assets/thevisionforthetidalthames.pdf   

AMBER 

AMBER 
 

Page 112

https://www.pla.co.uk/assets/thevisionforthetidalthames.pdf


Page 95 of 168 

Policy CSW 15: Wastewater Development  

 
Policy wording 
 

Wastewater Development  
 

Wastewater treatment works and sewage sludge treatment and disposal facilities  
will be granted planning permission, subject to: 

  
1. there being a proven need for the proposed facility 

 
 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW15. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

Planning applications determined for 
wastewater treatment works, sewage sludge 
treatment and disposal facilities 
 

One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria 
 
 

 
5-year trend 
 
Since the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan was adopted there have been no applications 
permitted that do not meet all criteria of policy CSW15. 
 

 
 
 
Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
There have been no changes to national or local planning policy concerning the 
management of waste water. It is considered that the policy and supporting text remain 
consistent with national and local policy. 
 
Ofwat changed the way it regulates the sludge treatment activities of water companies in 
2018.  It has now ring fenced these activities and directed water companies to release data 
on sludge treatment facilities that may be available for the use of others under commercial 
arrangements.   
 
This is intended to bring about a "change (in) the thought process from viewing this as an 
inconvenient waste produced by treating wastewater, to seeing it as an opportunity. The 
trading of bioresources could be a real breakthrough – economically and environmentally". It 
was due to take full effect by 2020. This means that listings of facilities will be in the public 

GREEN 
 

Page 113



Page 96 of 168 

domain that may facilitate synergies between areas and across waste streams for organic 
waste treatment, given commercial incentives. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The supporting text to this policy suggests that a separate policy is required to determine 
proposals for wastewater treatment works because the particular requirement to connect to 
the sewerage network means the locational criteria in Policy CSW6 ‘will not always be 
appropriate’. While this statement remains valid, Policy CSW15 does not include any 
additional locational criteria and so does not appear to respond to the supporting text. In light 
of this it is considered the supporting text needs updating.  
 
Reference to "disposal" should be deleted as all sludge is capable of treatment to some 
degree. Furthermore, the treatment of sewage sludge frequently involves the production of a 
biogas which is a greenhouse gas but also constitutes a renewable fuel. The use of 
renewable fuels is preferred over fossil fuels and so its capture and production should be 
maximised to ensure optimum displacement of fossil fuels and minimisation of uncontrolled 
releases of biogas. 
 
Southern Water’s initial comments on the need for an update of policies in the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan did not suggest any changes were needed to this policy. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
The supporting text to Policy CSW 15 requires updating to address the issue that the 
general locational criteria for waste management facilities including in Policy CSW6 does not 
cover the specific locational requirements of wastewater treatment facilities.  
 
The supporting text could also be updated to reflect Ofwat’s current position on sludge 
treatment. 
 
The Policy should be amended to promote maximum capture and utilisation of biogas from 
sewage treatment. 
 

 
 

GREEN 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 114



Page 97 of 168 

Policy CSW 16: Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management 
Facilities 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 
 
No specific monitoring indicators and associated thresholds were included in the Plan to 
monitor the implementation of Policy CSW16. 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
There have been no changes to national or local policy concerning the safeguarding of 
existing waste management facilities. In particular NPPW expects that proposals for non-
waste development on sites and areas allocated for waste management, are acceptable and 
do not prejudice the implementation of the waste hierarchy and/or the efficient operation of 
existing waste management facilities. 
 
It is considered that the policy and supporting text remain consistent with national and local 
policy. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Policy relating to safeguarding of existing sites would benefit from clarification of what is to 
be classed as an existing site, by reference to a list in the Annual Monitoring Report (AMR). 
 
It is notable that within criterion 1 only sites with "permanent planning permission" are 
currently safeguarded. This ignores the contribution that sites subject to temporary consents 
such as C ,D & E waste recycling facilities on mineral workings, or processing capacity such 
as composting on landfill may make. It is considered that such capacity ought to be 
safeguarded for the life/duration of the temporary permission as well. 
 
The text of the policy references the Waste Sites Plan, however the Early Partial Review 
identified that such a Plan was not required. This text is therefore out of date.    

 
 

Safeguarding of Existing Waste Management Facilities  

 

Sites that have permanent planning permission for waste management, or are allocated in the 

Waste Sites Plan are safeguarded from being developed for non-waste management uses.  

Where other development is proposed at, or within 250m of, safeguarded waste management 

facilities Local Planning Authorities will consult the Waste planning Authority and take account 

of its views before making a planning decision (in terms of both a planning application and an 

allocation in a local plan). 

GREEN 
 

RED 
 

Page 115



Page 98 of 168 

 
Recommendation 
 
The text of Policy CSW16 should be updated to remove the reference to the Waste Sites 
Plan and to expand the scope of safeguarded sites. 

 

 
 

 

 

 

  

RED 
 

Page 116



Page 99 of 168 

Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at Dungeness  
 
Facilities for the storage and/or management of radioactive waste will be acceptable within the 
Nuclear Licensed area at Dungeness where:  
1. this is consistent with the national strategy for managing radioactive waste and discharges  
2. the outcome of environmental assessments justify it being managed on site.  
 
The only waste arisings from Dungeness Nuclear Licensed Site that will be acceptable as fill 
material for the back-filling of voids within the nuclear licensed site are inert (non-radioactive) wastes 
generated by the demolition of existing buildings and structures. Landfill or landraise activities that 
use radioactive wastes within the nuclear licensed site will not be granted planning permission. 

Policy CSW 17: Nuclear Waste Treatment and Storage at 
Dungeness 

 
Policy wording 
 
 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicator and threshold used to monitor the 
effective implementation of Policy CSW 17. 
 

Monitoring indicator 

 

Monitoring trigger (threshold) for 
policy review 

1. Planning applications granted for 
storage and/or management of 
radioactive waste in the licensed area 
at Dungeness. 

1. One application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria. 

 

 

5-year trend 

 
No 5-year trend identified to consider in this policy’s performance monitoring. 
 
No planning applications for the storage and/or management of radioactive waste at the Nuclear 

Licensed area from the Dungeness Estate have been submitted.  Therefore, the effectiveness 

of this policy has not been tested.  

 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
Whilst National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Policy for Waste PPW are 
silent on radioactive and nuclear industry wastes, Planning Practice Guidance confirms that 
waste planning authorities should plan for the management of low level radioactive waste 
(LLW). The general requirement of the planning system to contribute to achieving sustainable 
development is relevant.  The management, storage and eventual safe disposal of such 

NEUTRAL 

Page 117



Page 100 of 168 

materials is of environmental, economic and social importance and so affects the achievement 
of sustainable development. (National Planning Policy Framework [2021] Part 2. Achieving 
sustainable development, Paragraphs 7-14). The policy does not advance this process, and the 
prevention of disposal of LLW at the Dungeness Estate may argued as counter to the National 
Planning Policy Framework’s ‘positive planning’ objective in securing sustainable development.    
 
The policy is considered to be inconsistent with both National Planning Policy Framework and 
National Planning Policy for Waste that seek to ensure sustainable development, in all its forms, 
is the outcome of the plan led planning system.  
 
Furthermore, the government has published a specific strategy on radioactive and nuclear 
industry integrated waste management for radiological waste (2019). This strategy is a single 
radioactive strategy that replaces the previous Nuclear Decommissioning Authority (NDA) 
strategy for Higher Activity Wastes (HAW) and is consistent with the earlier UK strategy for solid 
Low Level Waste (LLW) (contained in the UK Low Level Waste Strategy March 2010), providing 
a consolidated position and greater clarity in overall approach. The strategy focusses on the 
following stages pertinent to radiological waste management: 
 

 Planning and preparation 

 Treatment and packaging 

 Storage 

 Disposal 

This is intended to build on the existing Low Level Waste (of 2010) programme which has 
significantly increased levels of re-use and recycling while extending the life of Low Level 
Waste repositories by reducing volumes of waste automatically assigned to disposal options. 
This approach supports greater flexibility in managing radioactive wastes (that will arise at the 
Dungeness Estate as a consequence of decommissioning the power generation plants and 
structures) allowing for better coordination, integration and reduced costs.  The existing policy 
wording is not aligned to the 2019 strategy as it does not allow for any radioactive waste 
disposal at the Dungeness Estate. The policy and explanatory text require modification to 
ensure consistency. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
In January 2020 the Nuclear Decommissioning Authority and Kent County Council agreed a 
Statement of Common Ground that, amongst other things, confirmed that the policy does not 
align with the Government’s strategy on radioactive and nuclear industry integrated waste 
management for radiological waste (2019).  This was identified as a result of the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan Early Partial Review examination.  
 
Recommendation 
 
An update is needed to Policy CSW17 to ensure it is consistent with national policy. 
 

 

 

 

RED 

RED 

Page 118



Page 101 of 168 

Policy CSW 18: Non-nuclear Industry Radioactive Low Level 

Waste Management  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the effective 
implementation of Policy CSW 18. 
 

Monitoring indicators 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) 
for policy review 

Planning applications granted for 
facilities managing non-nuclear LLW 
and VLLW waste 

One application submitted without 
the required information 

Monitoring of waste material source. 
 

 

 
5-year trend 
 

No planning applications for the management of non-nuclear industry low level waste and very low 

level waste arisings have been submitted.  Therefore, the effectiveness of this policy has not been 

tested.  

 

 
 
Consistency with National and Local Policy 
 
Whilst National Planning Policy Framework and National Planning Policy for Waste PPW are silent on 
radioactive and nuclear industry wastes, Planning Practice Guidance confirms that waste planning 
authorities should plan for the management of low level radioactive waste.  
 
The general requirement of the planning system to contribute to achieving sustainable development is 
relevant.  The management, of such materials is of environmental, economic and social importance 
and so affects the achievement of sustainable development. (National Planning Policy Framework 
[2021] Part 2. Achieving sustainable development, Paragraphs 7-14).  The policy, as worded, does 
address the need to advance this process.    
 

Non-nuclear Industry Radioactive Low Level Waste Management  

 

Planning permission will be granted for facilities that manage non-nuclear industry low level waste 

and very low level waste arisings where they meet the requirements of all relevant development 

plan policies, in the following circumstances:  

1. where there is a proven need for the facility  

2. some of the source material to be managed arises from within Kent. 

NEUTRAL 

Page 119



Page 102 of 168 

The National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) also confirms that a more efficient approach to resource 
use and waste management plays a pivotal role in delivering a more sustainable pattern of 
development. Though is silent on radioactive non-nuclear industry wastes. 
 
The Strategy for the management of solid low level radioactive waste from the non-nuclear industry in 
the United Kingdom (Department of Energy and Climate Change 2012) makes clear at para. 2.36 that 
the role of the planning authorities is: 
 

‘Waste planning authorities should consider how to manage Low Level Waste (LLW) 
and Very Low Level Waste (VLLW) arising in their areas as part of the preparation of 
their local waste plans. They should seek advice from waste producers and the 
environment agencies to ensure that the waste is being sent to a suitable waste 
management facility. If necessary and feasible, they should work with other waste 
planning authorities to share facilities. The environment agencies will supply 
information on disposal facility locations, on request, to waste producers and planning 
authorities to assist their decisions’. 

 
The policy is considered to be in generally consistent with both national planning policy documents that 
seek to ensure sustainable development, in all its forms, and the relevant government strategy. 
However, the policy has two criteria that have to be satisfied for permission to be granted: criterion 2. 
States: 
 

‘some of the source material to be managed arises from within Kent’ 
 

It is an accepted principle that waste should be manged close to its point of origin, thus gaining 

‘proximity’. The criterion, however, goes further and makes it mandatory that for planning 

permission to be granted that some of the material comes from Kent.  This imposed limitation, 

though ostensibly a requirement that that reinforces ‘proximity’, may not actually lead to the most 

sustainable outcome for the management of these waste materials. The government’s strategy 

emphasises that wase planning authorities should work together to share facilities in each other’s 

areas. The criterion, as worded, could result in this being precluded.  

 

Therefore, as currently worded the policy does not align with the government’s strategy on the 

management of solid low level radioactive waste from the non-nuclear industry 2012. It is proposed 

that Criterion 2 of the policy should be deleted.    

 
 
Other observations 
 
None 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy CSW18 is not, as currently worded, sufficiently flexible in overall waste management terms, as it 
does not allow for Low level waste (LLW) derived from locations other than Kent to be managed in 
Kent. This is inconsistent with national policy. 
 

 

 

RED 

RED 

Page 120



Page 103 of 168 

Development Management Policies 

 
Note on monitoring implementation of the development management policies. 

 

The monitoring framework included in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan applies the same 

approach to the monitoring all development management policies as set out below: 

 

Monitoring indicator Monitoring trigger (threshold) for policy 
review 

DM decisions One application permitted / adopted site allocation that 
does not meet all policy criteria, unless clearly justified. 

 

It is considered that if the determination of any applications had resulted in a referral of the decision 

to the Secretary of State, due to a departure from the development plan, then triggers relating to 

development being permitted contrary to the development management policies in the Plan would 

have been initiated. Since the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan in 2016 no 

decisions have been considered to depart from the development plan and so the triggers relating to 

the monitoring of the development management policies have not been initiated. A ‘green’ RAG 

score can therefore be applied.  

 
  

Page 121



Page 104 of 168 

Policy DM 1: Sustainable Design   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National and Local Policy 

Since the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, the National Planning Policy 
Framework has been updated to require the most efficient use of land. Paragraph 124 (Achieving 
appropriate densities) states that “Planning policies and decisions should support development that 
makes efficient use of land”. Policy DM1, or other policies of the Plan, do not include any 
requirements regarding the efficient use of land and so on this basis the Kent Minerals and Waste 
Local Plan is not consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 
The National Planning Policy Framework has been revised to address and mitigate the issue of 
climate change. A target to reduce greenhouse gas emissions to 78% by 2035 compared to 1990 
levels has been adopted by Government and is expected inform local planning policy.  
 
In addition, the National Planning Policy Framework expects all development to ‘incorporate 
sustainable urban drainage systems unless there is clear evidence that this would be inappropriate’ 
whereas Policy DM1 expects sustainable drainage systems to be utilised wherever practicable.  
 
The supporting text to Policy DM1 references the publication ‘Growing the Garden of England: A 
Strategy for Environment and Economy in Kent’ as the County Council’s environmental strategy, 
however this has been superseded by the 2016 Kent Environment Strategy.  
 
Furthermore, in 2019, KCC has adopted a climate emergency statement which anticipates an Energy 
and Low Emission Strategy target of net zero carbon emissions by 2050.  On this basis it is 
considered that all applications for mineral and waste development that come for determination 
should set out how they will be consistent with this target.  
 
The supporting text and policy should be updated to reflect the above matters. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 

Sustainable Design  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate that they have 

been designed to:  

1. minimise greenhouse gas emissions and other emissions  

2. minimise energy and water consumption and incorporate measures for water recycling and 

renewable energy technology and design in new facilities where possible  

3. maximise the re-use or recycling of materials  

4. utilise sustainable drainage systems wherever practicable  

5. protect and enhance the character and quality of the site's setting and its biodiversity 

interests or mitigate and if necessary compensating for any predicted loss  

6. minimise the loss of Best and Most Versatile Agricultural Land. 

RED 

Page 122



Page 105 of 168 

The policy is generally loosely worded using terms such as ‘maximise’ and ‘minimise’.  It is 
considered updates could usefully be made to ensure the policy is clearer in its expectations, for 
example by including specific targets on the use of recycled materials in construction.   

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy DM1 should be updated to reflect more stringent targets and policy relating to mitigation and 
adaptation to climate change and other related updates to national planning policy. 

 
 

 

 

AMBER 
 

RED 

Page 123



Page 106 of 168 

Policy DM 2: Environmental and Landscape Sites of International, 
National and Local Importance   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

Changes to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 

The changes to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 post adoption of the 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan could helpfully be reflected in Policy DM 2. The main 

Environmental and Landscape Sites of International, National and Local Importance 

 

Proposals for minerals and/or waste development will be required to ensure that there is no 

unacceptable adverse impact on the integrity, character, appearance and function, biodiversity interests, 

or geological interests of sites of international, national and local importance.  

 

1. International Sites  

Minerals and/or waste proposals located within or considered likely to have any unacceptable adverse 

impact on international designated sites, including Ramsar, Special Protection Areas and Special Areas 

of Conservation (European Sites), will need to be evaluated in combination with other projects and 

plans. Before any such proposal will be granted planning permission or identified in the Minerals and 

Waste Sites Plans, it will need to be demonstrated that:  

a. there are no alternatives  

b. there is a robust case established as to why there are imperative reasons of overriding public interest  

c. there is sufficient provision for adequate timely compensation  

 

2. National Sites  

 

2.1 Designated Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)(101) have the highest status of protection 

in relation to landscape and scenic beauty. Regard must be had to the purpose of the designation when 

exercising or performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect land, in an AONB. For the 

purposes of this policy, such functions include the determination of planning applications and the 

allocation of sites in a development plan.  

Planning permission for major minerals and waste development in a designated AONB will be refused 

except in exceptional circumstances and where it can be demonstrated that it is in public interest. In 

relation to other minerals or waste proposals in an AONB, great weight will be given to conserving its 

landscape and scenic beauty. Proposals outside, but within the setting of an AONB will be considered 

having regard to the effect on the purpose of conserving and enhancing the natural beauty of the AONB.  

 

Consideration of such applications will assess; 

a. the need for the development, including in terms of any national considerations and the impact of 

granting, or refusing, the proposal upon the local economy  

b. the cost of, and scope for developing elsewhere outside the designated area, or meeting the need in 

some other way  

c. any detrimental impact on the environment, the landscape and recreational opportunities, and the 

extent to which the impact could be moderated taking account of the relevant AONB Management Plan.  

 

Sites put forward for allocation for minerals or waste development in the Minerals Site Plan or the Waste 

Sites Plan will be considered having regard to the above tests. Those that appear to the Minerals and 

Waste Planning Authority to be unlikely to meet the relevant test(s) will not be allocated. 

Page 124



Page 107 of 168 

changes, resulting from the Conservation of Habitats and Species (Amendment) (EU Exit) 
Regulations 2019, include: The creation of a ‘national site network’ within the UK compromising 
protected sites already designated under Nature Directives and any further site designated under 
these Regulations; establishment of management objectives for national site networks know as 
‘network objectives’; duty for appropriate authorities to manage and where necessary adapt 
national site network as a whole to achieve the network objectives; amended process for the 
designation of Special Areas of Conservation (SACs); arrangements for replacing the European 
Commission’s functions with regard to imperative reasons of overriding public interest (IROPI) 
test where a plan or project affects a priority habitat or species; and, arrangements for amending 
the schedules to the Regulations and the annexes to the Nature Directives that apply to the UK.  

Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) in the UK no longer form 
part of EU’s Natura 2000 ecological network and the 2019 Regulations have created a national 
site network on land and at sea which includes existing Special Areas of Conservation and 
Special Protection Areas and those newly designated under 2019 Regulations (any ref to Natura 
2000 in the 2017 Regs and in guidance now refers to new national site network) 

Ramsar sites do not form part of the national site network - many Ramsar sites overlap with 
Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas and may be designated for the same 
or different species and habitats. All Ramsar sites remain protected in same way as Special 
Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas. 

2019 Regulations establish management objectives for the national site network called ‘network 
objectives’. Any references in the 2017 Regs to meeting ‘requirements of the Directives’ include 
achieving the network objectives. They are to: 

 Maintain or where appropriate restore habitats and species listed in Annexes I and II of 
Habitats Directive to a favourable conservation status; and, 

 contribute to ensuring, in their area of distribution, the survival and reproduction of wild 
birds and securing compliance with overarching aims of the Wild Birds Directive. 

Appropriate Authorities must also have regard to the: 

 Importance of protected sites; 

 Coherence of the national site network; and, 

 threats of degradation or destruction (including deterioration and disturbance of protected 
features) on Special Areas of Conservation and Special Protection Areas. 

Network objectives contribute to the conservation of UK habitats and species that are also of pan-
European importance and to the achievement of their favourable conservation status (FCS) 
within the UK. 

Updates to policy DM2 and supporting text are required to reflect these changes.  
 

Environment Bill 

The Environment Bill proposes the preparation of Local Nature Recovery Strategies (LNRSs) by 
local councils. This is a system of spatial strategies for nature that will map the most valuable 
existing habitat; map specific proposals for creating and improving habitat and wider environment 
goals; and set priorities for nature recovery. LNRSs will be mandatory and locally led, identifying 
opportunities and priorities for enhancing biodiversity and supporting wider objectives such as 
mitigating or adapting to climate change in an area. 

Page 125



Page 108 of 168 

It is anticipated that the Environment Bill will receive Royal assent later in 2021 and it will be 
necessary to monitor this closely to ensure that revisions to Policy DM2 reflect the Environment 
Bill once it becomes law. 

Kent State of Environment Report 2015 

The supporting text of Policy DM2 could also usefully be updated to refer to the KCC document -
‘Kent State of the Environment Report 2015’, which outlines the nationally and internationally 
important habitats that are within the county. The document includes reference to the Kent 
Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) and High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty which together cover 32% of the county, each of which have a management plan through 
which the condition of those unique landscapes are monitored by specialist teams within the 
‘Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty units’. 

Kent Environment Strategy 2016 

The supporting text of Policy DM2 could also usefully be updated to refer to the KCC document – 
‘The Kent Environment Strategy 2016’, which sets out a strategy for the environment, health and 
economy. The document outlines the requirement for the continued protection and enhancement 
of the county’s environmental assets and supporting plans, such as the statutory Area of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plans.  

National Planning Policy Framework 

Revisions to the National Planning Policy Framework in 2018 included a new requirement (at 
paragraph 172 (now 176) for Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty to be enhanced (as well as 
conserved) making the policy consistent with the requirements of the Countryside and Rights of 
Way Act 2000. Revisions also included a requirement for plans to enhance, as well as protect, 
biodiversity and geodiversity. 
 
Updates to policy DM2 and supporting text along with the background text (including paragraph 
7.2.1) are required to reflect these changes.  
 
Furthermore, recent changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (July 2021) have 
included a change to policy on the protection of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty relating to 
the need for development within their settings to be ‘sensitively located and designed to avoid 
adverse impacts on the designated landscape’. 
 
Revisions to policy DM2 will be needed to reflect the latest version of the National Planning 
Policy Framework. 

 

Other observations 
 
During early engagement on the review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan, the Kent 
Downs AONB Unit commented that the Third Revision to the Kent Downs AONB Management 
Plan is in the process of being approved by the various Councils within the AONB and should be 
adopted by July 2021. This will replace the current Management Plan and should form part of the 
evidence base for the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review.  As part of the Management 
Plan Review, an update to the Landscape Character Assessment of the Kent Downs has also 
been undertaken and forms an integral part of the new Management Plan. The Kent Downs AONB 
Unit recommend that this is referred to in assessing any proposed new allocations within or 

affecting the Kent Downs. Some update to the supporting text may therefore be required. The High 

RED 

Page 126



Page 109 of 168 

Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan 2019-2024 should also inform the 
emerging local plan.  
 
Natural England were consulted on the need for changes to Policy DM2 but at the time of 
completing this report no response had been received. 

 
 
Recommendation 
 

Policy DM2 should be updated to reflect changes to the National Planning Policy Framework 
which expect geodiversity to be enhanced as well as protected as well as changes concerning 
protection of Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

The supporting text of Policy DM2 should be updated to refer to the County Council environment 
documents; Kent Environment Strategy 2016 and Kent State of the Environment Report 2015. 

Depending on when the Environment Bill receives Royal Assent the supporting text should be 
updated to reflect the requirements concerning biodiversity net gain and include reference to 
Local Nature Recovery Strategies. 

Policy DM2 and/or the supporting text, should also be updated to ensure it is consistent with 
changes in the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty Management Plan that is 
expected to be published in September 2021 and the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural 
Beauty Management Plan 2019-2024. 

 

AMBER 
 

RED 
 

Page 127



Page 110 of 168 

Policy DM 3: Ecological Impact Assessment  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

Environment Bill 

The Environment Bill outlines that it will be mandatory for developers to provide a minimum of 
10% ‘biodiversity net gain’ in respect of any new development. The Bill sets out a formal 
requirement for biodiversity net gain as a new condition to be applied to all planning permissions 
in England. The condition requires that before commencing development, the developer will need 
to submit a biodiversity net gain plan to the Local Planning Authority (LPA) for its approval. The 
biodiversity gain objective will be met if the “biodiversity value attributable to the development” 
exceeds the pre-development biodiversity value of the onsite habitat by at least 10%. 

The Bill proposes that the pre- and post-development biodiversity value of the development site, 
and any registered offsite biodiversity gains, are calculated by reference to the “biodiversity 
metric”. The biodiversity metric was developed by Defra and updated by Natural England in 2019. 

Once the Bill receives Royal Assent, updates to Policy DM3 and supporting text will be required 
to reflect these changes. Criterion 5 of Policy DM 3 may need to be strengthened to reflect the 
net-gain objective rather than making a ‘positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, 
creation and management of biodiversity’. 
 

Habitats Regulations Assessments 

Following changes to the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017, Special 
Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) in the UK no longer form 
part of the EUs Natura 2000 ecological network. The 2019 Regulations have created a ‘national 

Ecological Impact Assessment  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste developments will be required to ensure that they result in no 

unacceptable adverse impacts on Kent’s important biodiversity assets. These include internationally, 

nationally and locally designated sites, European and nationally protected species, and habitats and 

species of principal importance for the conservation of biodiversity / Biodiversity Action Plan habitats and 

species.  

 

Proposals that are likely to have unacceptable adverse impacts upon important biodiversity assets will need 

to demonstrate that an adequate level of ecological assessment has been undertaken and will only be 

granted planning permission following:  

1. an ecological assessment of the site, including preliminary ecological appraisal and, where likely 

presence is identified, specific protected species surveys  

2. consideration of the need for, and benefits of, the development and the reasons for locating the 

development in its proposed location  

3. the identification and securing of measures to mitigate any adverse impacts (direct, indirect and 

cumulative)  

4. the identification and securing of compensatory measures where adverse impacts cannot be avoided or 

mitigated for  

5. the identification and securing of opportunities to make a positive contribution to the protection, 

enhancement, creation and management of biodiversity 

Page 128



Page 111 of 168 

site network’ that includes existing Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special 
Protection Areas (SPAs) and any new such designations made under the new Regulations. Any 
references to Natura 2000 in the 2017 Regulations and in guidance now refers to the new 
‘national site network’. Ramsar sites do not form part of the national site network and remain 
protected in the same way as Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection 
Areas (SPAs).  
 
The Habitat Regulation Assessment guidance has been updated to reflect the changes to the 
Habitat Regulations 2017. 
 
Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) are European sites 
protected by the Habitats Regulations and any proposals that affect them require a Habitats 
Regulations Assessment. Similarly, proposed Special Areas of Conservation (SACs) and 
Special Protection Areas (SPAs), Ramsar sites and areas secured as sites compensating for 
damage to a European site are protected by government policy and would therefore also require 
a Habitats Regulation Assessment.  
 
Habitats Regulations Assessment should now refer to the network of Special Areas of 
Conservation (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs) in Europe (rather than ‘Natura 
2000’), and the ‘national site network’ for European sites in the UK. 
 
Updates to Policy DM3 and supporting text are required to reflect these changes. 
 
National Planning Policy Framework 

 
European Sites identified under the Conservation of Habitat and Species Regulations are 
referred to as ‘habitats sites’ in the National Planning Policy Framework. Habitats sites are 
defined as – ‘Any site which would be included within the definition at regulation 8 of the 
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 for the purpose of those regulations, 
including candidate Special Areas of Conservation, Sites of Community Importance, Special 
Areas of Conservation, Special Protection Areas and any relevant Marine Sites’. 
 
Updates to Policy DM3 and supporting text are required to reflect this. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
KCC Ecology officers have confirmed that there is work is being carried out to consider an 
approach to Biodiversity Net Gain in Kent and it is possible that proposals for development within 
Kent will need to demonstrate how a minimum 20% net gain can be achieved. Where the net gain 
exceeds the minimum requirement, the ‘excess’ may be traded as a net gain for appropriate other 
unrelated development, but this needs to be reflected in preparation of restoration plans for 
planning approval and needs to be in line with National/Local Policy and be part of national data 
base. 
 
Natural England were consulted on the need for changes to Policy DM2 but at the time of 
completing this report no response had been received. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 

RED 

AMBER 
 

Page 129



Page 112 of 168 

Depending on when the Environment Bill receives Royal Assent, the policy wording and 
supporting text should be updated to reflect the requirements concerning biodiversity net gain. 
Criterion 5 in particular may need to be strengthened to reflect the net-gain objective rather than 
making a ‘positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation and management of 
biodiversity’.  

Policy DM3 and the supporting text should be updated to reflect changes to the National Planning 
Policy Framework which refers to ‘European Sites’ as ‘habitats sites’ and a definition of this is 
required. 

Policy DM3 and the supporting text should be updated to reflect changes to the Conservation of 
Habitat and Species Regulations, specifically the language of ‘European Sites’ following the exit 
from the EU. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

RED 

Page 130



Page 113 of 168 

Policy DM 4: Green Belt    
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

The policy remains consistent with national policy. Changes to the National Planning Policy 
Framework have occurred since Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan adoption in 2016 but policy on 
Green Belt remains in place. 

 

Other observations 

None. 

Recommendation 
 
Policy DM4 is consistent with national policy and monitoring suggests the policy is being implemented 
effectively and therefore updates to this policy are not considered necessary. 
 

 

Green Belt  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste development within the Green Belt will be considered in light of their 

potential impacts, and shall comply with national policy and the NPPF. 

GREEN 
 

GREEN 
 

Page 131



Page 114 of 168 

Policy DM 5: Heritage Assets     
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

Further publications since 2016 including the ‘Historic England (2015) Historic Environment Good 
Practice Advice in Planning Notes 1 to 3’ could usefully be referred to in the supporting text of 
Policy DM5: 

Planning Note 1: The Historic Environment in Local Plans – Historic Environment Good 
Practice Advice in Planning (July 2015) 

All information requirements and assessment work in support of plan-making and heritage 
protection needs to be proportionate to significance of heritage assets affects & impact on 
significance of those heritage assets.  

The National Planning Policy Framework sets out a number of requirements for Local Plans in 
respect of the historic environment as follows:  

 Be based on adequate, up to date and relevant evidence about the economic, social and 
environmental characteristics and prospects of the area – which would include the historic 
environment – be used to assess significance of heritage assets & contribution they make 
to environment 

 Set out a positive and clear strategy for the conservation, enjoyment and enhancement of 
the historic environment – appropriate protection of assets & make positive contribution to 
local character and distinctiveness 

 Contain strategic policies to deliver the conservation and enhancement of the historic 
environment 

 Identify land where development would be inappropriate because of its (environmental or) 
historic significance 

 Facilitating the sustainable use of minerals – how might impacts of mineral development on 
an area’s heritage asset be controlled to acceptable levels/safeguard potential sources of 
building and roofing stone/improve archaeological knowledge through approved mineral 
operations? (Mineral Extraction and Archaeology: A Practice Guide) 

Heritage Assets  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste developments will be required to ensure that Kent's heritage assets and 

their settings, including locally listed heritage assets, registered historic parks and gardens, Listed 

Buildings, conservation areas, World Heritage Sites, Scheduled Ancient Monuments, archaeological sites 

and features and defined heritage coastline, are conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance.  

 

Proposals should result in no unacceptable adverse impact on Kent's historic environment and, wherever 

possible, opportunities must be sought to maintain or enhance historic assets affected by the proposals. 

Minerals and/or waste proposals that would have an impact on a heritage asset will not be granted 

planning permission unless it can be demonstrated that there is an overriding need for development and 

any impacts can be mitigated or compensated for, such that there is a net planning benefit. 

Page 132



Page 115 of 168 

- Managing Significance in Decision-Taking in the Historic Environment – Historic  

Planning Note 2: Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 

Development proposals should be designed with knowledge and understanding of the significance 
of heritage assets they may affect & contribution of its setting to its significance  

Understand significance of affected asset, impact of proposal on that significance, 
avoid/minimise/mitigate impact to meet objectives of National Planning Policy Framework, look for 
opportunities to enhance significance, justify harmful impacts in terms of sustainable development 
objective of conserving significance and need for change and offset negative impacts by enhancing 
others through recording/disseminating/archiving 

Mineral extraction: archaeological interest often particular importance in proposals for mineral 
extraction, see Mineral Extraction and Archaeology: A Practice Guide (2008) 

Planning Note 3: The Setting of Heritage Assets – Historic Environment Good Practice 
Advice in Planning 

Document emphasises that information required in support of applications should be sufficient to 
reach an informed decision and activities to conserve/invest need to be proportionate to 
significance of heritage asset affected and the impact on the significance of those heritage assets. 

Statutory obligation on decision-makers to have regard to desirability of preserving listed buildings 
and their setting & policy objectives in National Planning Policy Framework  and Planning Practice 
Guidance – when considering impact of proposed development on significance of a designated 
heritage asset, great weight should be given to the heritage asset’s conservation including 
sustaining significance. 

Identify which heritage assets and their settings are affects, assess degree to which settings make 
contribution to significance, assess effects of proposed development, explore ways to maximise 
enhancement and avoid/minimise harm, make and document decision and monitor outcomes. 

 

Other observations 
 
KCC Archaeology confirmed that no issues have arisen from application of the current policy wording.  
 
The final sentence of Policy DM5 states - ‘Minerals and/or waste proposals that would have an 
impact on a heritage asset will not be granted planning permission unless it can be demonstrated 
that there is an overriding need for development and any impacts can be mitigated or 
compensated for, such that there is a net planning benefit’. This should be amended to insert 
‘unacceptable adverse’ before ‘impact’ to be in accordance with the wording of paragraph 211 of 
the National Planning Policy Framework which states that ‘mineral planning authorities should 
ensure that there are no unacceptable adverse impacts on the natural and historic environment’.  
 

 

Recommendation 
 
The supporting text of Policy DM5 should be updated to include reference to the Historic England 
(2015) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Notes. 

AMBER 

 

RED 

Page 133



Page 116 of 168 

 
The final sentence of Policy DM5 should be updated to add ‘unacceptable adverse’ before ‘impact’ 
to be consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework. 
 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

RED 

Page 134



Page 117 of 168 

Policy DM 6: Historic Environment Assessment  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

The supporting text of Policy DM6 could usefully be amended to refer to the ‘Historic England (2015) 
Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Notes 1 to 3’ (as outlined in detail in the 
discussion concerning Policy DM5). 

 

Other observations 
 
KCC Archaeology confirmed that no issues have arisen from the current policy wording.  
 

 

Recommendation 
 
The supporting text of Policy DM5 should be updated to include reference to the Historic England 
(2015) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Notes. 
 

 

 

 
  

 

 

  

Historic Environment Assessment  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste development that are likely to affect important heritage assets will only 

be granted planning permission following: 

  

1. preliminary historic environment assessment, including field archaeological investigation where 

appropriate, to determine the nature and significance of the heritage assets  

2. appropriate provision has been secured for preservation in situ, and/or archaeological excavation and 

recording and/or other historic environment recording as appropriate, including post-excavation analysis 

and reporting, archive deposition and access, and interpretation of the results for the local community, in 

accordance with the significance of the finds  

3. agreement of mitigation of the impacts on the significance of the heritage assets, including their fabric, 

their setting, their amenity value and arrangements for reinstatement 

AMBER 
 

GREEN 

AMBER 

 

Page 135



Page 118 of 168 

Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources:  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the effective 
implementation of Policy DM 7. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers 
(thresholds) for policy review 

1. Decisions resulting in 
incompatible non-minerals 
development permitted in 
mineral safeguarded areas 
(as defined in Policy CSM 5). 

1.  One application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 
with an objection from the 
County Council. 

 

2. Adoption of a Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD) 
setting out further information 
about the approach to 
Minerals Safeguarding 

2. Failure to adopt SPD by end 
of 2016. 

Safeguarding Mineral Resources  

 

Planning permission will only be granted for non-mineral development that is incompatible 

with minerals safeguarding, where it is demonstrated that either:  

 

1. the mineral is not of economic value or does not exist; or  

2. that extraction of the mineral would not be viable or practicable; or  

3. the mineral can be extracted satisfactorily, having regard to Policy DM9, prior to the non-

minerals development taking place without adversely affecting the viability or deliverability of 

the non-minerals development; or  

4. the incompatible development is of a temporary nature that can be completed and the site 

returned to a condition that does not prevent mineral extraction within the timescale that the 

mineral is likely to be needed; or  

5. material considerations indicate that the need for the development overrides the 

presumption for mineral safeguarding such that sterilisation of the mineral can be permitted 

following the exploration of opportunities for prior extraction; or  

6. it constitutes development that is exempt from mineral safeguarding policy, namely 

householder applications, infill development of a minor nature in existing built up areas, 

advertisement applications, reserved matters applications, minor extensions and changes of 

use of buildings, minor works, non-material amendments to current planning permissions; or  

7. it constitutes development on a site allocated in the adopted development plan where 

consideration of the above factors (1-6) concluded that mineral resources will not be 

needlessly sterilised.  

 

Further guidance on the application of this policy is included in a Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

Page 136



Page 119 of 168 

3. Allocations in adopted Local 
Plans for development 
incompatible with the 
presumption to safeguard 
minerals within mineral 
safeguarding areas (as 
defined by CSM 5). 

3.  An allocation in a local Plan 
that does not meet all the 
criteria with an objection from 
the County Council. 

 
No planning applications have been submitted that have resulted in decisions to grant permission to 

development potentially affecting access to mineral resources which have not satisfied the policy 

criteria to safeguard the resource. Similarly, there have there been no allocations adopted in District 

Local Plans where safeguarding matters have not been addressed, either by meeting the exemption 

criteria, a Statement of Common Ground or satisfying the Planning Inspector at the District Local Plan 

examination.   

 
The Mineral and Waste Safeguarding Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) was adopted in early 

2017, and revised in 2020 in light of the Early Partial Review. The update in light of the Early Partial 

Review supersedes this monitoring trigger and therefore the trigger should have been updated. 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) requires land-won minerals to be safeguarded, and 
that this be addressed in the planning policies of the area. However, in doing so this should not create 
a presumption that the resources identified as safeguarded will be worked (Section 17, Paragraph 
210, Sub-section c)). Therefore, Policy DM 7: Safeguarding Mineral Resources enables justified 
exemptions from the safeguarded status of the mineral resources to be applied. The policy is in 
accordance with national planning policy. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
This policy was updated in 2020 and there is no need for it be reviewed in accordance with the 
requirement of 5 yearly reviews of Plans however it has been included for completeness. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy DM7 was the subject of an early partial review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
2013-30, the modifications clarified when an allocation in an adopted local plan could afford an 
exemption to land-won mineral safeguarding requirements of Policy CSM 5: Land-won Mineral 
Safeguarding. These changes were found sound by Independent Examination and the partially 
reviewed plan was adopted in 2020. The policy remains fully effective and does not require updating. 
 

 

GREEN 

GREEN 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 137



Page 120 of 168 

Policy DM 8: Safeguarding Minerals Management, 

Transportation Production & Waste Management Facilities 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds for policy review 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the effective 
implementation of Policy DM 8. 
 

Safeguarding Minerals Management, Transportation Production & Waste Management Facilities  

 

Planning permission will only be granted for development that is incompatible with safeguarded 

minerals management, transportation or waste management facilities, where it is demonstrated that 

either:  

1. it constitutes development of the following nature: advertisement applications; reserved matters 

applications; minor extensions and changes of use and buildings; minor works; and non-material 

amendments to current planning permissions; or  

2. it constitutes development on the site that has been allocated in the adopted development plan 

where consideration of the other criteria (1, 3-7) can be demonstrated to have taken place in 

formulation of the plan and allocation of the site which concluded that the safeguarding of minerals 

management, transportation production and waste management facilities has been fully considered 

and it was concluded that certain types non-mineral and waste development in those locations would 

be acceptable; or  

3. replacement capacity, of the similar type, is available at a suitable alternative site, which is at least 

equivalent or better than to that offered by the facility that it is replacing; or  

4. it is for a temporary period and will not compromise its potential in the future for minerals 

transportation; or  

5. the facility is not viable or capable of being made viable; or  

6. material considerations indicate that the need for development overrides the presumption for 

safeguarding; or  

7. It has been demonstrated that the capacity of the facility to be lost is not required.  

 

Replacement capacity must be at least equivalent in terms of tonnage, accessibility, location in relation 

to the market, suitability, availability of land for processing and stockpiling of waste (and 

materials/residues resulting from waste management processes) and minerals, and:  

in the case of wharves, the size of the berth for dredgers, barges or ships  

in the case of waste facilities, replacement capacity must be at least at an equivalent level of the waste 

hierarchy and capacity may be less if the development is at a higher level of the hierarchy  

There must also be no existing, planned or proposed developments that could constrain the operation 

of the replacement site at the required capacity.  

Planning applications for development within 250m of safeguarded facilities need to demonstrate that 

impacts, e.g. noise, dust, light and air emissions, that may legitimately arise from the activities taking 

place at the safeguarded sites would not be experienced to an unacceptable level by occupants of the 

proposed development and that vehicle access to and from the facility would not be constrained by the 

development proposed.  

 

Further guidance on the application of this policy will be included in a Supplementary Planning 

Document. 

Page 138



Page 121 of 168 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers 
(thresholds) for policy review 

1. Decisions resulting in incompatible 
non-minerals or waste development 
permitted within, or in the vicinity of, 
existing safeguarded minerals 
management, transportation or waste 
management facilities. 

 

1.  One application permitted that does not 
meet all policy criteria with an objection 
from the County Council. 

 

2. Allocations in adopted Local Plans 
considered incompatible within the 
presumption to safeguard minerals 
and waste facilities from direct loss 
and/or within 250m of a safeguarded 
facility where there will be the high 
probability of incompatibility that may 
lead to the lawful operation of the 
safeguarded facility to cease or be 
compromised such that will affect its 
lawful operational viability. 

2. An allocation in a Local Plan that does 
not meet all policy criteria (except 
criterion 2) with an objection from the 
County Council. 

 

 
No planning applications have been submitted that have resulted in decisions to grant permission to 

development potentially affecting the operation of minerals and waste infrastructure which have not 

met the policy criteria which overcome the presumption to safeguard the infrastructure. 

 

No local plan allocations for development have been proposed that would result in the loss of a 

safeguarded facility. Where applications have come forward for development within 250m of a 

safeguarded facility the County Council has engaged with the local planning authority resulting in a 

modification of the proposals to ensure that they are acceptable under the terms of the policy.   

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) requires existing, planned and potential sites for: 
the bulk transport, handing and processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and concrete 
products; and the handling, processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and secondary 
aggregate material to be safeguarded, (Section 17,  Paragraph 210, Sub-section e) and that this be 
addressed in the planning policies of the area.  
 
Therefore, Policy DM 8 is in accordance with national planning policy as set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework (2021) for safeguarding mineral supply related infrastructure, as it 
identifies the criteria when this presumption can be set aside  Thus strengthening the primary 
safeguarding function of the Plan.   
 
The National Planning Policy for Waste (2014) does not specifically require planning policies to 
safeguard waste management facilities. However, it does expect waste planning authorities to 
ensure that the impact of proposals for non-waste development on sites and areas allocated for 

GREEN 

Page 139



Page 122 of 168 

waste management, is acceptable and does not prejudice the implementation of the waste hierarchy 
and/or the efficient operation of such facilities. 
 
In addition, given that there is substantial overlap between waste management and aggregate 
supply with recycled and secondary aggregate manufacture as identified by the National Planning 
Policy Framework, it is reasonable that other types of waste management infrastructure should be 
safeguarded by the Plan (as it underpins sustainable development) and that any exemption to this 
presumption has to be applied objectively as set out in Policy DM 8.   
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
This policy was updated in 2020 and there is no need for it be reviewed in accordance with the 
requirement of 5 yearly reviews of Plans however it has been included for completeness. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy DM8 was the subject of an early partial review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 
2013-30. The modifications to the policy clarified when an allocation in an adopted local plan or 
when a planning application that potentially affect safeguarded facilities could be afforded an 
exemption to the safeguarding requirements of Policies CSM 6: Safeguarded Wharves and Rail 
Depots, CSM 7: Safeguarded Other Mineral Plant Infrastructure and CSW 16: Safeguarding of 
Existing Waste Management Facilities. These changes were found sound by Independent 
Examination and the partially reviewed plan was adopted in 2020. The policy remains fully effective 
and does not require modification. 
 

 
 

 

 

  

GREEN 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 140



Page 123 of 168 

Policy DM 9: Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of 

Surface Development   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Monitoring indicators and thresholds 

 
The following table sets out the monitoring indicators and thresholds used to monitor the effective 
implementation of Policy DM 9. 

 

Monitoring indicator(s) 

 

Monitoring triggers (thresholds) for 
policy review 

1. Planning applications 
granted/decisions resulting in, or 
incorporating, mineral extraction in 
advance of built development where 
the resources would otherwise be 
permanently sterilised. 

 

1. One application permitted that 
does not meet all policy criteria 
(with an objection from the County 
Council in the case of District 
decisions).  

 

 
No planning applications for non-mineral development that have incorporated mineral extraction in 
advance of development where safeguarded minerals would otherwise have been sterilised have 
been submitted to the County Council for determination. Policy therefore remains untested in terms of 
its effectiveness in managing proposals which incorporate prior extraction.  
 

 
 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable use of 
minerals, Paragraph 209 states:   
 

It is essential that there is a sufficient supply of minerals to provide the infrastructure, 
buildings, energy and goods that the country needs. Since minerals are a finite natural 
resource, and can only be worked where they are found, best use needs to be made of 
them to secure their long-term conservation.  

Prior Extraction of Minerals in Advance of Surface Development  

 

Planning permission for, or incorporating, mineral extraction in advance of development will be 

granted where the resources would otherwise be permanently sterilised provided that:  

1. the mineral extraction operations are only for a temporary period; and,  

2. the proposal will not cause unacceptable adverse impacts to the environment or communities  

 

Where planning permission is granted for the prior extraction of minerals, conditions will be 

imposed to ensure that the site can be adequately restored to a satisfactory after-use should the 

main development be delayed or not implemented. 

NEUTRAL 

Page 141



Page 124 of 168 

 
By facilitating the prior extraction of minerals, the policy ensure that the best use is made of them. In 
addition, at Part 15, Paragraph 174 sub-section e), the National Planning Policy Framework requires 
new and existing development to avoid adverse impacts on the environment. The policy is designed 
to prevent any mineral prior extraction operations from causing unacceptable impacts to the 
environment or communities in the pursuit of ensuring finite mineral resources are conserved.  
 
The policy is therefore in accordance with national policy. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Criterion 1 refers to temporary mineral extraction..  All mineral extraction is temporary and so it is 
unclear what this criterion adds to aid decision making. It is considered that his reference is 
concerned with ensuring that mineral extraction is completed in a timely manner ahead of the main 
development and so an amendment to the text is needed to clarify the intention of the policy. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy DM9 is consistent with national policy however the wording of criterion 1 is unclear and does 
not adequately express the intention of the policy. In light of this it is proposed that the text be 
updated to ensure its effectiveness.   

 

 
  

GREEN 

RED 

RED 

Page 142



Page 125 of 168 

Policy DM 10: Water Environment  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) sets out that the purpose of the planning system is to 
contribute to the achievement of sustainable development. Part 2. Achieving sustainable development 
Paragraph 8 c) makes clear that this process includes improving biodiversity, using natural resources 
prudently (this would include water resources), minimising waste and pollution, mitigating and 
adapting to climate change including moving to a low carbon economy. The policy’s objective is to 
ensure that the water resources are not compromised nor that the water environment is damaged by 
either waste or minerals development. Therefore, the policy is consistent with the National Planning 
Policy Framework’s stated position on how the planning system should contribute to sustainable 
development. 
 
Furthermore, Part 15. Conserving and enhancing the natural environment, Paragraph 174 states: 
 
Planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local environment 
by:  
 

(e) preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put at unacceptable 
risk from, or being adversely affected by, unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise 
pollution or land instability. Development should, wherever possible, help to improve local 
environmental conditions such as air and water quality, taking into account relevant 
information such as river basin management plans; and 
 

The policy directly contributes to this national policy objective.  
 
With regard to waste development, the National Planning Policy for Waste 2014, Appendix B. 
Locational Criteria sub section a. specifically identifies that potential impacts on the water 
environment are matters when locating waste management development. Within the criteria includes 
the following:   
 

Water Environment  

 

Planning permission will be granted for minerals or waste development where it does not:  

1. result in the deterioration of physical state, water quality or ecological status of any water 

resource and waterbody, including rivers, streams, lakes and ponds  

2. have an unacceptable impact on groundwater Source Protection Zones (as shown in Figure 

15)  

3. exacerbate flood risk in areas prone to flooding (as shown in Figure 15) and elsewhere, both 

now and in the future  

 

All minerals and waste proposals must include measures to ensure the achievement of both no 

deterioration and improved ecological status of all waterbodies within the site and/or 

hydrologically connected to the site. A hydrogeological assessment may be required to 

demonstrate the effects of the proposed development on the water environment and how these 

may be mitigated to an acceptable level. 

Page 143



Page 126 of 168 

a. protection of water quality and resources and flood risk management. Considerations will 
include the proximity of vulnerable surface and groundwater or aquifers. For landfill or land-
raising, geological conditions and the behaviour of surface water and groundwater should be 
assessed both for the site under consideration and the surrounding area. The suitability of 
locations subject to flooding, with consequent issues relating to the management of potential 
risk posed to water quality from waste contamination, will also need particular care. 
 

The policy is therefore consistent with this part of the National Planning Policy for Waste. 
 
Planning Practice Guidance26 (PPG) provides advice on the environmental issues of minerals working 
that should be addressed by mineral planning authorities and states: 
 

The principal issues that mineral planning authorities should address, bearing in mind that not 
all issues will be relevant at every site to the same degree, include:…. 
 

• flood risk;…. 
• surface and, in some cases, ground water issues; 
• water abstraction. 

 
The need to ensure the protection of the water environment is addressed by Mineral Planning 
Authorities (in their policies and decision making) is reflected in the policy.     

 
The National Planning Policy includes the need for sustainable urban drainage in development 
proposals,  This requirement is not reflected in the current policy and an update is required.  
 

 
 
Other observations 
 

The Environment Agency have requested updates to the policy to ensure that the risks of unacceptable 
impacts to groundwater in Kent are minimised. This is considered especially important in light of the 
increasing stresses on water resources in Kent. 
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
Updates are recommended to strengthen the requirement for risk assessments to consider impacts to 
groundwater from minerals and waste development. 
 

 
 

 

 

  

                                                 
26 Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 27-013-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014 

RED 

 

RED 

 

RED 

 

Page 144



Page 127 of 168 

Policy DM 11: Health and Amenity   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

Publications such as the Clean Growth Strategy 2017, Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) in 
UK 2017 and Clean Air Strategy 2019 all recognise the risk to public health associated with vehicle 
emissions. The policy already makes reference to this where it states:  
 
“This may include production of an air quality assessment of the impact of the proposed 
development and its associated traffic movements and necessary mitigation measures required 
through planning condition and/or planning obligation. This will be a particular requirement where a 
proposal might adversely affect the air quality in an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).”  
 
However, this wording could be strengthened and the supporting text to the policy be updated to 
refer to publications such as those above.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework 2021 makes reference to Clean Air Zones (alongside an 
Air Quality Management Areas), however none currently exist or are proposed in Kent, though this 
should be monitored.  
 
The National Planning Policy Framework also makes reference to minimising amenity impacts 
associated with blasting operations in paragraph 211 (c): 
 

“c) ensure that any unavoidable noise, dust and particle emissions and any blasting 
vibrations are controlled, mitigated or removed at source” 

 
The policy should be updated to reference impacts associated with blasting. 
 
The remainder of the policy reflects the requirements set out in the National Planning Policy 
Framework and the Planning Practice Guidance with regards to assessing the health and amenity 
impacts of planning applications, including dust management measures for mineral sites referred to 
in the Planning Practice Guidance. 
 

 
 

Health and Amenity  

 

Minerals and waste development will be permitted if it can be demonstrated that they are unlikely to 

generate unacceptable adverse impacts from noise, dust, vibration, odour, emissions, bioaerosols, 

illumination, visual intrusion, traffic or exposure to health risks and associated damage to the qualities of 

life and wellbeing to communities and the environment. This may include production of an air quality 

assessment of the impact of the proposed development and its associated traffic movements and 

necessary mitigation measures required through planning condition and/or planning obligation. This will be 

a particular requirement where a proposal might adversely affect the air quality in an AQMA. (See Figure 

15)  

 

Proposals for minerals and waste development will also be required to ensure that there is no 

unacceptable adverse impact on the use of other land for other purposes. 

RED 

 

Page 145



Page 128 of 168 

Other Observations 
 
Planning Practice Guidance provides advice on the environmental issues of minerals working that 
should be addressed by mineral planning authorities and states: 

The principal issues that mineral planning authorities should address, bearing in mind that not all 
issues will be relevant at every site to the same degree, include: 

 noise associated with the operation 
 dust; 
 air quality; 
 lighting; 
 visual impact on the local and wider landscape; 

 landscape character; 

 archaeological and heritage features (further guidance can be found under the Minerals 
and Historic Environment Forum’s Practice Guide on mineral extraction and 
archaeology; 

 traffic; 
 risk of contamination to land; 
 soil resources; 

 geological structure; 

 impact on best and most versatile agricultural land; 
 blast vibration; 

 flood risk; 
 land stability/subsidence; 
 internationally, nationally or locally designated wildlife sites, protected habitats and 

species, and ecological networks; 

 impacts on nationally protected landscapes (National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty); 

 nationally protected geological and geo-morphological sites and features; 

 site restoration and aftercare; 
 surface and, in some cases, ground water issues; 

 water abstraction. 

Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 27-013-20140306, Revision date: 06 03 2014 

In light of the Planning Practice Guidance there is a need for the policy to refer to health and 
amenity impacts associated with blasting operations.  
 
The final sentence of the policy is loosely worded and needs clarification to be effective. 
 

 
 
Recommendations 

 
Policy requires review with regard to referencing blasting, and possible strengthening of wording 
regarding health impacts through vehicle emissions to increase its effectiveness. 
 
The final sentence of the policy requires clarification. 
 
Note that Air Quality Management Areas may need updating in Figure 15. 

RED 

 

Page 146

https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Noise-emissions&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681047623%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=Ub2xfwcy4bbu5yMgKQixd1YQlvEMDNo73HRSs1zCRxQ%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Dust-emissions&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681057615%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=xh1CKby5Iy0FPjVEepXiPsLEdhy8FWUL3MT1UJs6k%2Fc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fair-quality--3&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681057615%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=jUt6A03qqCbwbfF2aZCs8aSH6yjZYjfFL81FycvMOJM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Flight-pollution&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681067608%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=9kCfwqLHudztgP8J9VbPNDN99MEmmR7WXt%2BYzMA6fMY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fconserving-and-enhancing-the-historic-environment&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681067608%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=29kah%2BXu7LBY%2FdgehHnJ19P7vGLIT2m9fgg0ooOr70w%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.historicengland.org.uk%2Fimages-books%2Fpublications%2Fmineral-extraction-and-archaeology%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681077604%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zHLmcR6BwqAjN3ggFCQg17YewsNLu%2FPp2UTdvxm5upY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.historicengland.org.uk%2Fimages-books%2Fpublications%2Fmineral-extraction-and-archaeology%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681077604%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zHLmcR6BwqAjN3ggFCQg17YewsNLu%2FPp2UTdvxm5upY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.historicengland.org.uk%2Fimages-books%2Fpublications%2Fmineral-extraction-and-archaeology%2F&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681077604%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=zHLmcR6BwqAjN3ggFCQg17YewsNLu%2FPp2UTdvxm5upY%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Ftravel-plans-transport-assessments-and-statements&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681077604%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=%2BEVaT7sVG43SW3vcx8xuAdL7d6LryswZ2ZMRP6GDpXo%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fland-affected-by-contamination&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681077604%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=qhloWGUY1x%2FdFvG3sK76zcVDfVDD7zR79lwIMHXXDfM%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Definitions-in-minerals-guidance&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681087596%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=PFCeAKSJWduDIqZzXVI2TnopK1GGzWsFelK2mQTZoBI%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fflood-risk-and-coastal-change&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681087596%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=g5ZYQV%2FMVrgwzEb7e95Vy9Y32XhnieJWNSKwF4x71N8%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23factors-in-quarry-slope-stability&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681097589%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=977Qa5wFxXVX15GNeueOVDnMRXozDoi1Gg58jYszoFc%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.gov.uk%2Fguidance%2Fminerals%23Restoration-and-aftercare-of-minerals&data=04%7C01%7Cbryan.geake%40kent.gov.uk%7C03d4df22526a4ee6860e08d93d615e9b%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637608310681097589%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=P1FwfWTnfJkUar6UTA1jq9kA2SgCjv0RyqMVo6JMDgo%3D&reserved=0


Page 129 of 168 

 

 
 
 
 

 

  

RED 

 

Page 147



Page 130 of 168 

Policy DM 12: Cumulative Impact  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

Publications such as the Clean Growth Strategy 2017, Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) in 
UK 2017 and Clean Air Strategy 2019 all recognise the risk to public health associated with vehicle 
emissions. Supporting text could be updated to include reference to cumulative impacts in Air 
Quality Management Areas. 
 

 
 
Other observations 

 
None. 
 
Recommendations 
 
Supporting text to the policy should be updated to ensure that the policy is effective given the 
changes to air quality legislation since the Plan’s adoption in 2016. 
 

 
 

 

 

  

Cumulative Impact 

 

Planning permission will be granted for minerals and waste development where it does not result in an 

unacceptable adverse, cumulative impact on the environment or communities. This is in relation to the 

collective effect of different impacts of an individual proposal, or in relation to the effects of a number of 

developments occurring concurrently and/or successively. 

AMBER 

 

RED 

 

Page 148



Page 131 of 168 

Policy DM 13: Transportation of Minerals and Waste   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

Policy is in line with new publications on vehicular emissions such as Clean Growth Strategy 2017, 
Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) in UK 2017 and Clean Air Strategy 2019, as the policy 
already references emission control and reduction measures.  

 
The supporting text to the policy references European sites, this is outdated since the UK has left 
the European Union and should be amended to reflect the updated Habitat Regulations. 

 
Supporting text may also usefully be amended to emphasise the connection between vehicle 
movements and contribution to climate change to better align with the Paris Agreement 2016 and 
subsequent publications/policy documents.  

 
Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (Part 9. Promoting sustainable transport, 
para.104).  As the process of updating the policies in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan takes 
place it will be necessary to monitor Government’s publication of any updates to national planning 
policy with regards to promoting sustainable transport, make reference to the need to realise 
opportunities from changing transport technology, in both local plans and considered by 
development proposals, both in their earliest stages. This, and the drive for greater sustainability 
and environmental net-gain indicates that the policy should be reviewed. 
 
Changes to the National Planning Policy Framework (Paras 107 and 112) also expect development 
to come forward in a manner which allows for the charging of electric vehicles which may be 
associated with the use of the development. 
 

 
 
Other observations 

 
None 
 

Transportation of Minerals and Waste 

 

Minerals and waste development will be required to demonstrate that emissions associated with road 

transport movements are minimised as far as practicable and by preference being given to non-road 

modes of transport. Where development requires road transport, proposals will be required to 

demonstrate that:  

1. the proposed access arrangements are safe and appropriate to the scale and nature of movements 

associated with the proposed development such that the impact of traffic generated is not detrimental 

to road safety  

2. the highway network is able to accommodate the traffic flows that would be generated, as 

demonstrated through a transport assessment, and the impact of traffic generated does not have an 

unacceptable adverse impact on the environment or local community.  

3. emission control and reduction measures, such as deployment of low emission vehicles and vehicle 

scheduling to avoid movements in peak hours. Particular emphasis will be given to such measures 

where development is proposed within an AQMA. (Figure 15) 

RED 

 

Page 149



Page 132 of 168 

Recommendations 
 
The policy and supporting text should be updated to ensure effectiveness and consistency 
with national policy, with regards to the connection between vehicle movements and climate 
change and sustainable transport initiatives in the National Planning Policy Framework 
such as the provision of charging for electric vehicles. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  

RED 

 

Page 150



Page 133 of 168 

Policy DM 14: Public Rights of Way:  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

 

No national policy changes have occurred which need to be reflected in updates to the wording of 

Policy DM14. 

 

 

Other observations 
 
KCC Public Rights of Way team have confirmed that no issues have arisen from application of the 
current policy wording. 
 

 

Recommendation 
 
Policy is consistent with national policy and remains effective and therefore does not require 
modification. 

 
 

 

  

Public Rights of Way  

 

Planning permission will only be granted for minerals and waste development that adversely affect a 

Public Right of Way, if:  

1. satisfactory prior provisions for its diversion are made which are both convenient and safe for users of 

the Public Rights of Way  

2. provision is created for an acceptable alternative route both during operations and following restoration 

of the site  

3. opportunities are taken wherever possible to secure appropriate, improved access into the countryside 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

Page 151



Page 134 of 168 

Policy DM 15: Safeguarding of Transport Infrastructure  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (2021) Part 17. Facilitating the sustainable use of 

minerals, Paragraph 210 and subsection e) states:   

 

Planning Policies should 
 

e) safeguard existing, planned and potential sites for: the bulk transport, handling and 
processing of minerals; the manufacture of concrete and concrete products; and the handling, 
processing and distribution of substitute, recycled and secondary aggregate material; 
 

The policy is consistent with this requirement of the National Planning Policy Framework (2021).  

 

Other observations 

None. 

 
Recommendation 

Policy is consistent with national policy and remains effective and therefore does not require modification. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Safeguarding of Transport Infrastructure  

 

Minerals and waste proposals will be granted planning permission where development would not give 

rise to unacceptable impacts on aviation, rail, river, sea, other waterways or road transport or where 

these impacts are mitigated. 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

Page 152



Page 135 of 168 

Policy DM 16: Information Required In Support of an Application  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

The supporting text to the policy references European sites, this is outdated since the UK 
has left the European Union and should be amended to reflect the updated Habitat 
Regulations. 
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Policy is not justified as the information required is dealt with through validation of a 
planning application. Policy should be removed but text retained elsewhere.  
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
Policy should be removed as it is not justified. The text should be retained elsewhere in the 
Plan as information but updated to reflect the Habitat Regulations. 
 

 
 
 

  

Information Required In Support of an Application 

 

Planning applications for minerals or waste management development must be supported by 

sufficient, relevant drawings, plans and information, including the information specified in the County 

Council's guidance notes for minerals and waste applications. 

AMBER 

 

RED 

RED 

Page 153



Page 136 of 168 

Policy DM 17: Planning Obligations   
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

 

Planning policies should assist the decision maker and those involved in the development process in 

assessing whether proposals for  development may be acceptable, whereas this policy provides 

administrative information concerning the use of planning obligations. The policy is not considered 

consistent with National Planning Policy Framework expectations concerning the content of a local 

plan. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
Policy DM 17 provides information rather than set outs criteria against which the acceptability 
of a proposal can be assessed. For this reason the policy is not justified and should be 

Planning Obligations  

Planning obligations will be sought where appropriate, to achieve suitable control over, and to 

mitigate and/or compensate for, the effects of minerals and waste development where such 

objectives cannot be achieved by planning conditions. Matters to be covered by such planning 

obligations may include those listed below as appropriate to the proposed development:  

 

1. revocation and consolidation of planning permissions  

2. highways and access improvements 

3. traffic management measures including the regulation of lorry traffic  

4. provision and management of off-site or advance tree planting and screening  

5. extraction in advance of future development  

6. environmental enhancement and the delivery of Local Biodiversity Action Plan Targets  

7. protection and enhancement of internationally, nationally and locally important sites  

8. landscape enhancement  

9. protection of internationally, nationally and locally notable and protected species 

10. long term management and monitoring of mitigation or compensation sites and their protection 

from further development  

11. provision and long term maintenance of an alternative water supply should existing supplies be 

affected  

12. archaeological investigation, analysis, reporting, publication and archive deposition  

13. establishment of a liaison committee  

14. long-term site management provision to establish and/or maintain beneficial after-use  

15. improvement to the public rights of way network  

16. financial guarantees to ensure restoration and long term maintenance is undertaken  

17. measures for environmental, recreational, economic and community gain in mitigation or 

compensation for the effects of minerals and waste development  

18. codes of construction practice for large waste developments that incorporate the requirement for 

the majority of the construction workforce to be recruited locally. Opportunities for modern 

apprenticeships to be made available for a proportion of the construction workforce  

19. the majority of the operational staff at large waste developments to be sourced from the local 

area and opportunities for modern apprenticeships and other nationally recognised training schemes 

to be available for a proportion of the workforce 

RED 

Page 154



Page 137 of 168 

removed. Information set out in the policy should be retained in the Plan perhaps in an 
appendix. 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
Policy not justified and so should be removed from the Plan, however the text provides useful 
information and could be retained. 
 

 
 
 

 

 

  

RED 

RED 

Page 155



Page 138 of 168 

Policy DM 18: Land Stability   

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

Policy DM18 is consistent with the National Planning Policy Framework which states that 
planning policies and decisions should contribute to and enhance the natural and local 
environment by preventing new and existing development from contributing to, being put an 
unacceptable risk from, or being adversely affected by land instability. The National Planning 
Policy Framework outlines that planning policies and decisions should ensure that a site is 
suitable for its proposed use taking account of ground conditions and any risks arising from land 
instability and contamination, and that where a site is affect by contamination or land stability 
issues, responsibility for securing a safe development rests with the developer and/or landowner. 

 
 
Other observations 
 
The second sentence of Policy DM18 is considered to be loosely worded such that it is not clear 
when minerals and waste development might result in unstable land or be affected by it.  
 

 
 
Recommendation 
 
The second sentence of Policy DM18 should be expanded upon to provide additional precision as 
well as more information in the supporting text as to why land stability might be an issue for waste 
and minerals development. Alternatively, the second sentence of the Policy could be deleted, and 
more information added into the supporting text to explain why land stability might be an issue for 
waste and minerals development e.g. quarries and landfill. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Land Stability  

 

Planning permission will be granted for minerals or waste development where it is demonstrated that it 

will not result in land instability. All minerals and waste proposals that could give rise to land instability 

must include a stability report and measures to ensure land stability. 

GREEN 

 
 
 
 

RED 

RED 

Page 156



Page 139 of 168 

Policy DM 19: Restoration, Aftercare and After-use  

 
Policy wording 
 

 

Consistency with National Policy 

The National Planning Policy Framework (2021) at Part 17 Facilitating the sustainable use of 
minerals para. 211 e) states: 

Restoration, Aftercare and After-use  

 

Planning permission for minerals extraction and temporary waste management development will be granted 

where satisfactory provision has been made for high standards of restoration and aftercare such that the 

intended after-use of the site is achieved in a timely manner, including where necessary for its long-term 

management.  

 

Restoration plans should be submitted with the planning application which reflect the proposed after-use and, 

where appropriate, include the details set out below:  

1. a site-based landscape strategy for the restoration scheme  

2. the key landscape and biodiversity opportunities and constraints ensuring connectivity with surrounding 

landscape and habitats  

3. the geological, archaeological and historic heritage and landscape features and their settings  

4. the site boundaries and areas identified for soil and overburden storage  

5. an assessment of soil resources and their removal, handling and storage  

6. an assessment of the overburden to be removed and stored  

7. the type and depth of workings and information relating to the water table 

8. storage locations and quantities of waste/fill materials and quantities and types of waste/fill involved  

9. proposed infilling operations, sources and types of fill material  

10. the arrangements for monitoring and the control and management of landfill gas  

11. consideration of land stability after restoration  

12. directions and phasing of working and restoration and how they are integrated into the working scheme  

13. the need for and provision of additional screening taking account of degrees of visual exposure 14. details 

of the proposed final landform including pre and post settlement levels  

15. types, quantities and source of soils or soil making materials to be used  

16. a methodology for management of soils to ensure that the pre-development soil quality is maintained  

17. proposals for meeting targets or biodiversity gain in relation to the Kent Priority Habitats (or its 

replacement), the Kent Biodiversity Opportunity Areas and the Greater Thames Marshes Nature Improvement 

area  

18. removal of all buildings, plant, structures, accesses and hardstanding not required for long term 

management of the site  

19. planting of new native woodlands  

20. installation of drainage to enable high quality restoration and after-use  

21. measures to incorporate flood risk mitigation opportunities  

22. details of the seeding of grass or other crops and planting of trees, shrubs and hedges  

23. a programme of aftercare to include details of vegetation establishment, vegetation management, 

biodiversity habitat management, field drainage, irrigation and watering facilities  

24. the restoration of the majority of the site back to agriculture, if the site consists of the best and most 

versatile agricultural land  

 

Aftercare schemes should incorporate an aftercare period of at least five years. Where appropriate, voluntary 

longer periods for certain uses will be sought through agreement between the applicant and minerals 

planning authority 

Page 157



Page 140 of 168 

 

 When determining planning applications, great weight should be given to the benefits of 
mineral extraction, including to the economy. In considering proposals for mineral 
extraction, minerals planning authorities should:….. 

 e) provide for restoration and aftercare at the earliest opportunity, to be carried out to 
high environmental standards, through the application of appropriate conditions. Bonds 
or other financial guarantees to underpin planning conditions should only be sought in 
exceptional circumstances; 

The policy does not have any criteria reflecting the potential for financial guarantees such as bonds. 
 

Para 7.17.2 states that “Wherever possible, restoration schemes should include measures to 
improve biodiversity interests whatever the proposed after-use of the site.” This appears potentially 
inconsistent with the requirement for biodiversity net gain and the text therefore needs updating. The 
potential for restored mineral sites to offer biodiversity net gain opportunities could usefully be 
referenced.  

 

Other observations 
 
The 24 criteria included in Policy DM19 are considered to make the policy inflexible and therefore it 
would be helpful for the detail to be moved to the preamble. 
 
It should also be noted of the requirement to ensure that interim restoration arrangements are 
satisfactory prior to final after-use (e.g. housing) being implemented.  
 

 

Recommendation 
 
Policy DM 19 requires rewording to make the text more precise and informative including the 
possible need to secure financial instruments to secure restoration. Much of the detail can, however 
be moved to the policy’s supporting text. 

 
 

 

  

RED 
 

RED 
 

RED 
 

Page 158



Page 141 of 168 

Policy DM 20: Ancillary Development    
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The National Planning Policy Framework  (2021) Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) are silent on this 
policy’s objective to control ancillary waste and minerals development. However, it can be stated that 
the need to ensure that such development is assessed for its acceptability and its impact on the 
environment and communities is controlled/mitigated to an acceptable degree is consistent with 
Section 4 of the National Planning Policy Framework on Decision Making and Section 7 of the 
National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (2014). Determining planning applications to ensure 
planning applications are properly assessed and the PPG (Paragraph: 011 Reference ID: 27-011-
20140306) to assess the environment impacts of development.  To this extent the Policy DM20 is not 
consistent with national policy as it does not have regard to potential impacts on communities that 
may occur as a result of ancillary development. 
 

 
 

Other observations 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy DM20 is not consistent with national policy as it does not have regard to potential impacts on 
communities that may occur as a result of ancillary development. Policy DM20 should be updated to 
reference impacts on communities. 

 

 
 
 

  

Ancillary Development 

 

Proposals for ancillary development within or in close proximity to mineral and waste development will 

be granted planning permission provided that:  

 

1. the proposal is necessary to enable the main development to proceed  

2. it has been demonstrated that there are environmental benefits in providing a close link with the 

existing site that outweigh the environmental impacts.  

Where permission is granted, the operation and retention of the associated development will be limited 

to the life of the linked mineral or waste facility. 

RED 

RED 

Page 159



Page 142 of 168 

Policy DM 21: Incidental Mineral Extraction 

 
Policy wording 
 

 

 

Consistency with National and Local Policy 

 
The policy’s objective is to prevent adverse impacts on communities and the environment from 
incidental mineral extraction, the relevant governmental Planning Practice Guidance states:  
 
What are the environmental issues of minerals working that should be addressed by mineral 
planning authorities? 
 
The principal issues that mineral planning authorities should address, bearing in mind that not all 
issues will be relevant at every site to the same degree, include: 
 

• noise associated with the operation 
• dust; 
• air quality; 
• lighting; 
• visual impact on the local and wider landscape; 
• landscape character; 
•     archaeological and heritage features (further guidance can be found under the Minerals 

and Historic Environment Forum’s Practice Guide on mineral extraction and 
archaeology; 

• traffic; 
• risk of contamination to land; 
• soil resources; 
• geological structure; 
• impact on best and most versatile agricultural land; 
• blast vibration; 
• flood risk; 
• land stability/subsidence; 
•     internationally, nationally or locally designated wildlife sites, protected habitats and 

species, and ecological networks; 
•     impacts on nationally protected landscapes (National Parks, the Broads and Areas of 

Outstanding Natural Beauty); 
• nationally protected geological and geo-morphological sites and features; 
• site restoration and aftercare; 
• surface and, in some cases, ground water issues; 
• water abstraction. 
 

Paragraph: 013 Reference ID: 27-013-20140306 
 
Revision date: 06 03 2014 
 

Incidental Mineral Extraction  

 

Planning permission for mineral extraction that forms a subordinate and ancillary element of other 

development will be granted provided that operations are only for a temporary period. Where 

planning permission is granted, conditions will be imposed to ensure that the site can be restored to 

an alternative after-use in accordance with Policy DM 19 should the main development be delayed 

or not implemented. 

Page 160



Page 143 of 168 

All of which are essentially the same as the policy’s monitoring Strategic Objective triggers. The policy 
is in accord with national planning policy and guidance.  
 

 
 
Other observations 
 
None. 
 
Recommendation 
 
Policy is consistent with national policy and remains effective and therefore does not require 
modification. 
 

 
 

 

 

 

GREEN 

GREEN 

Page 161



Page 144 of 168 

Policy DM 22: Enforcement  
 
Policy wording 
 

 

 
Consistency with National Policy 

 
No significant change within the National Planning Policy Framework regarding the 
requirement for enforcement since the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan.  
 

 
 
Other considerations 
 
The reference to the EU directive is required to be removed from the Policy wording since 
the UK has left the European Union. 
 
The wording of the monitoring trigger may also be misleading, as it suggests there is a 
requirement for a policy review if cases are resolved within 6 months. 
 

 
 
Recommendations 
 
The Policy should be amended to remove reference to the EU Directive to reflect the UK exit 
from the European Union.  
 

 
 

 

 

 

  

Enforcement  

 

The County Council will carry out its planning enforcement functions within the terms of its own 

Enforcement Plan/Protocols (and any subsequent variations) and specifically for waste-related matters, 

in light of the European Union Waste Framework Directive 2008/98/EC. 

GREEN 

RED 

RED 

Page 162



Page 145 of 168 

 

3. Conclusions 

 
3.1 The Vision, Strategic Objectives and Policies of the Plan have been reviewed and 

recommendations provided concerning the need for updates to ensure the Plan’s legality, 

consistency with national policy and effectiveness. 

 

3.2 As the Plan covers the period to 2030 consideration has been given to extend its end date 

to 2035, however this would likely require more extensive updates and, as significant 

changes to the way in which local plans are to be prepared27 are expected as a result of the 

current Planning Bill, which may require preparation of a new plan, an extension to the plan 

period is not recommended. 

 
3.3 The review of the Vision and Strategic Objectives found that while much of the text is still 

relevant, some needs updating to reflect recent Government policy and legislation 

particularly concerning climate change, circular economy and biodiversity. 

 
3.4 Recommendations for changes to Plan’s policies are set out in the tables below. 

Strategic Minerals Policies 

 

Policy Recommendation 

Policy CSM 1: 
Sustainable 
development  

Policy and supporting text require updating to ensure consistency with 
national policy and to ensure that the wording of the policy is effective. 
Reference to ‘associated Planning Practice Guidance’ should be 
deleted. 

Policy CSM  228: 
Supply of Land-won 
Minerals in Kent 

Policy CSM2 is consistent with national policy and monitoring suggests 
the policy is being implemented effectively and therefore updates to this 
policy are not considered necessary. Specific reference to the ‘Mineral 
Sites Plan’ should be deleted in the sub-title and the first sentence of 
the policy prior to the criteria that will be used to screen sites for 
suitability for identification as future allocations.  
 

Policy CSM 8: 
Secondary and 
Recycled Aggregates  

Policy remains effective, though modification is required to remove 
reference to sites being identified in a Mineral Sites Plan and an 
increase to the minimum capacity of such facilities to be maintained 
over the remainder of the plan period needs to be increased from 
2.7mtpa29 to 4.5mtpa. 

Policy CSM 9: 
Building Stone in Kent  

The policy is no longer consistent with national policy and needs to be 
updated due to a change in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) involving deletion of the term ‘small scale’. The policy should 
also be updated to reflect the fact that stone is extracted in Kent to 
main historic buildings beyond the County.  

Policy CSM 10: Oil, 
Gas and 

Policy remains effective and is currently consistent with national policy.  
The supporting text should be updated to reflect the changes to the 

                                                 
27

 See Planning for The Future, MHCLG, August 2020 
28

 The  County Council has very recently received (August 2021) a representation from one of the mineral operators asserting 
that policy CSM2 - Supply of Land-won Minerals in Kent requires a review to satisfy landbank requirements for ragstone.  Further 
assessment is required to satisfy whether this is the case or not.   For the purpose of the 5 year Review, it has been concluded 
that no change is required, The further assessment work is however being undertaken and if changes are necessary then public 
consultation on a revised policy CSM2 will be postponed until a later date. 
29

 Million tonnes per annum  

Page 163



Page 146 of 168 

Unconventional 
Hydrocarbons  

national planning policy on unconventional hydrocarbons. 

Policy CSM 11: 
Prospecting for 
Carboniferous 
Limestone  

Policy remains effective and consistent with national policy, though 
supporting text requires additional text to reflect the Environmental 
Impact Assessment process. 
 

Policy CSM 12: 
Sustainable Transport 
of Minerals  

Policy and supporting text require updating to ensure consistency with 
national policy and to ensure that the wording of the policy is effective. 
 

 

Strategic Waste Policies 

 

Policy Recommendation 

Policy CSW 1: 
Sustainable 
Development  

Policy and supporting text require updating to ensure consistency with 
national policy and to ensure that the wording in the policy is effective. 
Reference to ‘associated Planning Practice Guidance’ should be 
deleted. 

Policy CSW 2: Waste 
Hierarchy and Policy  

An update to the policy is recommended to avoid confusion when 
assessing whether waste management proposals are sustainable and 
consistent with the waste hierarchy. 

Policy CSW 3: Waste 
Reduction 

Updates to the policy and supporting text are necessary to ensure 
development comes forward in a way which is consistent with circular 
economy principles. 

The supporting text should be updated to confirm how developers may 
be required to make financial contributions for the provision of capacity 
required to manage the additional household waste arising. 

Policy CSW 4: Strategy 
for Waste Management 
Capacity  

Updates to the supporting text which set out issues concerning the 
management of waste in Kent are recommended to cover the need for 
the development of additional Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW 
transfer capacity. 

 In addition, an amendment to the target for non-inert C, D & E waste 
such that it is expressed as % of the non-inert fraction only is required. 

 

Policy CSW 6: Location 
of Built Waste 
Management Facilities  

Updates to the policy are required to ensure consistency with other 
policies in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan and with national 
policy. Updates are recommended to ensure the Plan is effective with 
regard to how the location of facilities takes account of the water 
environment and flood risk. 

Policy CSW 7: Waste 
Management for Non-
hazardous Waste  

Policy CSW7 should be updated to avoid duplication with policies 
CSW2 and CSW8. 

Other updates to Policy CSW7 are considered necessary to ensure it 
is effective. 

Policy CSW 8: 
Recovery Facilities for 
Non-Hazardous Waste  

Policy CSW8 and supporting text should be updated to strengthen the 
need for energy recovery facilities to utilise heat and to ensure Carbon 
Capture Utilisation and Storage is included in proposals. 

The supporting text should be updated to include a cross reference to 
CSW2 and the Policy title should be amended to ensure consistent 
use of the term ‘recovery’.  

The monitoring framework for Policy CSW8 includes a duplicate 
indicator and trigger and so updates are needed to address this 
matter.  

Policy CSW 9: Non 
inert Waste Landfill in 

The policy should be strengthened to ensure proposals consider how 
methane will be captured and utilised while a non-inert landfill site is 

Page 164



Page 147 of 168 

Kent  operational. 

The policy should be reworded to ensure it can be implemented 
effectively and its meaning is clear.  

Policy CSW 10: 
Development at Closed 
Landfill Sites  

A minor update to the text of criterion 1 is required to ensure it is clear 
and effective. Updates to criteria 2 and 3 are needed to avoid 
duplication and ensure the most effective use of methane gas is 
promoted.  

Policy CSW 11: 
Permanent Deposit of 
Inert Waste  

Changes to the supporting text and policy are needed to ensure that 
the policy provides more flexibility for deposit to land options for inert 
waste, and to ensure disposal of inert waste by landfill is not 
promoted. 

Some changes to the monitoring framework are needed to ensure that 
the implementation of this policy can be effectively monitored. 

Policy CSW 12: 
Identifying Sites for 
Hazardous Waste  

It is considered that the assessment of proposals for the management 
of hazardous waste on the basis of achieving net self-sufficiency is not 
consistent with national policy and could lead to confused decisions on 
the acceptability of such proposals. In addition, the policy ought to 
allow consideration of provision of replacement hazardous waste 
landfill capacity. In light of these matters the policy should be updated. 

Policy CSW 14: 

Disposal of Dredgings 

Policy CSW14 and its supporting text remain fit for purpose, however 
updates may be required in light of the outcome of the Port of 
London’s review of its ‘Vision for the Tidal Thames (The Thames 
Vision)’.   

Policy CSW 15: 
Wastewater 
Development  

Policy CSW 15 requires updating to recognise that the general 
locational criteria for waste management facilities including in Policy 
CSW6 does not cover the specific locational requirements of 
wastewater treatment facilities.  

The supporting text could also be updated to reflect Ofwat’s current 
position on the sustainable management of sludge. 

 

Policy CSW 16: 
Safeguarding of 
Existing Waste 
Management Facilities  

The text of Policy CSW16 should be updated to remove the reference 
to the Waste Sites Plan and to expand the scope of safeguarded sites. 

 

Policy CSW 17: 
Nuclear Waste 
Treatment and Storage 
Dungeness 

Updates are recommended to address the issue that Policy CSW17 is 
not, as currently worded, sufficiently flexible in overall radioactive 
waste management terms, as it does not allow for Low Level Waste 
derived from the Dungeness Nuclear Estate to be flexibly manged, in 
that it precludes disposal of this material within the nuclear facility site 
area. 

 

Policy CSW 18: Non-
nuclear Radioactive 
Low-Level Waste 
(LLW) Management 
Facilities  

Updates are recommended to address the issue that Policy CSW18 is 
not, as currently worded, sufficiently flexible in overall waste 
management terms, as it does not allow for Low Level Waste derived 
from locations other than Kent to be managed in Kent. This is 
inconsistent with national policy. 

 

 

Development Management Policies 

 

Policy Recommendation 

Page 165



Page 148 of 168 

Policy DM 1: 
Sustainable Design  

Policy DM1 should be updated to reflect more stringent targets and policy 
relating to mitigation of and adaptation to climate change. 

Policy DM 2: 
Environmental and 
Landscape Sites of 
International 
National and Local 
Importance 

Policy DM2 should be updated to reflect changes to the National 
Planning Policy Framework which expect geodiversity to be enhanced as 
well as protected as well as changes concerning protection of Areas of 
Outstanding Natural Beauty. 

 

The supporting text of Policy DM2 should be updated to refer to the 
County Council environment documents; Kent Environment Strategy 
2016 and Kent State of the Environment Report 2015. 

Depending on when the Environment Bill receives Royal Assent the 
supporting text should be updated to reflect the requirements concerning 
biodiversity net gain. 

  

Policy DM2 and/or the supporting text, should also be updated to ensure 
it is consistent with changes in the Kent Downs Area of Outstanding 
Natural Beauty Management Plan that is expected to be published in 
September 2021 and the High Weald Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty 
Management Plan 2019-2024. 

 

Policy DM 3: 
Ecological Impact 
Assessment  

Depending on when the Environment Bill receives Royal Assent, the 
policy wording and supporting text should be updated to reflect 
requirements concerning biodiversity net gain. Criterion 5 in particular 
may need to be strengthened to reflect the net-gain objective rather than 
making a ‘positive contribution to the protection, enhancement, creation 
and management of biodiversity’.  

The policy and supporting text should be updated to reflect changes to 
the National Planning Policy Framework which refers to ‘European Sites’ 
as ‘habitats sites’, including the addition of a definition. Updates are also 
needed to reflect changes to the Conservation of Habitat and Species 
Regulations, specifically the language of ‘European Sites’ following the 
exit from the EU. 

Policy DM 5: 
Heritage Assets 

The supporting text should be updated to include reference to the Historic 
England (2015) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 
Notes. 

 

The final sentence of Policy DM5 should be updated to add 
‘unacceptable adverse’ before ‘impact’ to be consistent with the National 
Planning Policy Framework. 

Policy DM 6: Historic 
Environment 
Assessment  

The supporting text should be updated to include reference to the Historic 
England (2015) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning 
Notes. 

Policy DM 9: Prior 
Extraction of 
Minerals in Advance 
of Surface 
Development  

Policy DM9 is consistent with national policy however the wording of 
criterion 1 is unclear and does not adequately express the intention of the 
policy, in light of this it is proposed that it be updated to ensure its 
effectiveness.   

 

Policy DM10: Water 
Environment 

The policy should be updated to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework on water resources and the need to include sustainable 
urban drainage in development proposals.  Following consultation with 
the Environment Agency, updates are also recommended to strengthen 
the requirement for risk assessments to consider impacts to groundwater 
from minerals and waste development.   

Page 166



Page 149 of 168 

Policy DM 11: 
Health and Amenity  

Policy requires review with regard to referencing blasting, and possible 
strengthening of wording regarding health impacts through vehicle 
emissions to increase its effectiveness. The final sentence of the policy 
requires clarification. 

Policy DM 12: 
Cumulative Impact  

Supporting text to the policy should be updated to ensure that the policy 
is effective given the changes to air quality legislation since the Plan’s 
adoption in 2016. 

Policy DM 13: 
Transportation of 
Minerals and Waste  

The policy and supporting text should be updated to ensure effectiveness 
and consistency with national policy, with regards to the connection 
between vehicle movements and climate change and sustainable 
transport initiatives in the National Planning Policy Framework such as 
the provision of charging points for electric vehicles. 

Policy DM 16: 
Information 
Required in Support 
of an Application  

Policy should be removed as it is not justified. The text should be 
retained elsewhere in the Plan as information but updated to reflect the 
Habitat Regulations. 

Policy DM 17: 
Planning Obligations  

The policy not justified and so should be removed from the Plan, however 
the text provides useful information and should be retained elsewhere in 
the Plan. 

Policy DM 18: Land 
Stability  

The second sentence of Policy DM18 should be expanded upon to 
provide additional precision as well as more information in the supporting 
text as to why land stability might be an issue for waste and minerals 
development. Alternatively, the second sentence of the Policy could be 
deleted, and more information added into the supporting text to explain 
why land stability might be an issue for waste and minerals development 
e.g. quarries and landfill. 

Policy DM 19: 
Restoration, 
Aftercare and After-
use  

Policy DM 19 requires rewording to make the text more precise and 
informative including the possible need to secure financial instruments to 
secure restoration. Much of the detail should be included as supporting 
text. 

Policy DM 20: 
Ancillary 
Development 

Policy DM20 is not consistent with national policy as it does not have 
regard to potential impacts on communities that may occur as a result of 
ancillary development. Policy DM20 should be updated to reference 
impacts on communities. 

Policy DM 22: 
Enforcement 

Policy requires amending to remove reference to the EU directive to 
reflect the UK exit from the European Union. 

 
 
  

Page 167



Page 150 of 168 

 

Glossary 
 

A 

Aftercare Measures to bring land up to the required standard following 
restoration which enables it to be used for the intended after-use. 
The aftercare period normally extends for 5 years following 
compliance with restoration conditions but may be extended where 
agreed between the applicant and the minerals planning authority. 

After-use The use to which a quarry or landfill site is put following its 
restoration, such as forestry, agriculture, recreation or biodiversity. 

Aggregate Inert particulate matter that is suitable for use (on its own or with the 
addition of cement or bituminous material) in construction as 
concrete, mortar, finishes, road stone, asphalt, or drainage course, 
or for use as constructional fill or railway ballast. 

Aggregates and 
soils recycling 

Rubble, hardcore and soil from construction and demolition projects 
can often be re-used on-site. Alternatively it can be taken to 
purpose-built facilities for crushing, screening and re-sale. 
There are also temporary facilities at some quarries and landfill sites 
where material can be recovered for re-sale or use on-site. 

Agricultural waste This mostly covers animal slurry/by products and organic waste, but 
also scrap metals, plastics, batteries, oils, tyres, etc. The regulations 
for this waste stream have been altered meaning farmers can no 
longer manage all of their own waste within the farm. The 
agricultural waste regulations affect whether or not waste can be 
burnt, buried, stored, used on the farm or sent elsewhere. 

Amenity Amenity is a broad concept and is not specifically defined in 
Planning legislation. It is a matter of interpretation by the local 
planning authority and is usually understood to be the pleasant 
or normally satisfactory aspects of a location which contribute to its 
overall character and the enjoyment of residents, business users 
and visitors. A land-use that is not productive agriculture, forestry or 
industrial development. This can include formal and informal 
recreation and nature conservation. 

Anaerobic 
Digestion (AD) 

A natural process comprising the breakdown of organic material in 
the absence of air. It is carried out in an enclosed vessel and 
produces methane that powers an engine used to produce 
electricity. The useful outcomes of AD are electricity, heat, and the 
solid material left over called the digestate. Both the heat and the 
electricity can be sold if there is a market and the digestate can 
either be sold or used for agricultural purposes (landspread). 
Its use is currently small-scale and it can only be used for part 
of the waste stream e.g. sewage sludge, agricultural waste and 
some organic municipal and industrial waste. 

Annual Monitoring 
Report (AMR) 

The AMR documents progress in meeting the milestones of the 
adopted Minerals and Waste Development Scheme and will monitor 
the impact of policies when the plans are adopted. 
 
 

B 

Page 168



Page 151 of 168 

Biodegradabl

e waste 

Any waste that is capable of undergoing natural decomposition, 

such as food and garden waste, paper and cardboard. 

Biodiversity The variety of all life on earth (mammals, birds, fish, invertebrates, 

plants, etc). 

Biodiversity Action 

Plan (BAP) 

A plan that sets objectives and actions for the conservation of 

biodiversity, with measurable targets. 

Brownfield site Site previously used for or affected by development. It may be 

abandoned or in a derelict condition. 

Buffer zone A zone or area that separates minerals and/or waste management 

facilities from other land-uses to safeguard local amenity. 

Building sand or 
soft sand 

A naturally formed deposit where the sand grains are rounded in 

shape. The individual grains tend towards being 

equidimensional and the particle size variation is low. When soft 

sands are mixed with cement the mixture (called mortar) can be 

easily smoothed by hand to facilitate brick and block laying in 

construction. 

C 

Certificate 

of Lawful 

Use 

This is also known as a Lawful Development Certificate. These 

certificates exist in two forms: 

1. a determination by a local planning authority as to whether an 

unauthorised development or use has become lawful through 

the passage of time, and can be continued without the need 

for planning permission 

 

2. a determination by a local planning authority as to whether a 

proposed use or building can occur or be built without the 

need for planning permission 

Combined 

Heat and 

Power 

A technology producing power (electricity) while capturing the 

usable heat produced in the process. 

Commercial waste Waste from premises used mainly for trade, business, sport, 

recreation or entertainment, as defined under Section 5.75(7) of the 

Environmental Protection Act 1990. For example, it is likely to 

include timber, metal, paints, textiles, chemicals, oils and food 

waste, as well as paper, card, plastic and glass. 

Composting The breakdown of plant matter by the action of micro-organisms 

and other organisms into usable end-products. It is an important 

method of processing organic waste because it reduces the 

amount of potentially polluting waste going to landfill or 

incineration. 

Construction 
waste (also see 
demolition waste) 

Unwanted material arising from construction projects. It includes 
vegetation and soils from land clearance, discarded materials 

and off-cuts from building sites, road schemes and landscaping 
projects. It is mostly made up of stone, concrete, rubble and soils 
but may include timber, metal and glass. 

Page 169



Page 152 of 168 

D 

Degradable or 

putrescible 

waste 

This is also called non-hazardous waste. This is a waste that will 

biodegrade or decompose, releasing environmental pollutants. For 

example this includes wood and wood products, paper, 

plasterboard, cardboard, vegetable matter, food processing 

wastes and vegetation. 

Demolition waste This is also called construction waste. This is a waste arising from 

any development, redevelopment, or demolition of existing 

schemes. It includes vegetation and soils from land clearance, 

discarded materials and off-cuts from building sites, road schemes 

and landscaping projects. It is mostly made up of stone, concrete, 

rubble and soils but may include timber, metal and glass. 

Development Plan The Kent MWLP forms part of the statutory Development Plan for 

Kent together with the adopted local plans prepared by the Kent 

district planning authorities. The development plan has statutory 

status as the starting point for decision making. Section 38(6) of the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 and Section 70(2) of 

the TCPA 1990 require that planning applications should be 

determined in accordance with the development plan unless 

material considerations indicate otherwise. 

E 

Energy from 

Waste (EfW) 

The use of waste to generate energy (power and/or heat) or 

produce a gas that can be used as a fuel including the processing of 

waste to produce a fuel suitable for use in such plants. 

Environment

al Impact 

Assessment (EIA) 

The process by which the impact on the environment of a 

proposed development can be assessed. Certain types and scale of 

waste proposals will require an Environmental Statement (ES) to be 

prepared. The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 

Assessment) Regulations 2011 (as amended) and the 

Planning Practice Guidance on Environmental Impact Assessment 

set out the circumstances when planning 

applications will be required to be accompanied by an EIA. The 

information contained in the EIA will be taken into account when 

local planning authorities determine such proposals. 

European 

Sites 

These are defined by Regulation 8 of the Habitat Regulations 

2010 and originate from a list of designated areas produced by the 

European Community which can be amended. These include fully 

designated Special Areas of Conservation (SAC) and Sites of 

Community Importance (SCIs). Also included in the list of such 

sites are: sites hosting a priority habitat or species during the 

period in which the EC is consulting the UK Government as to 

its inclusion in the list of SCIs and pending a decision of the 

Council of the EU as to its inclusion, classified Special Protection 

Areas (SPAs), sites submitted by the UK government or the EC as 

eligible for identification as an SCI until such time as it is placed on 

the list of SCIs (usually referred to as candidate SACs). 

In England, as a matter of Government policy, the following sites 

should be given the same protection as statutory European Sites: 

Page 170



Page 153 of 168 

a potential SPA, a possible or proposed SAC, a listed or a 

proposed Ramsar site, and sites identified or required as 

compensatory measures for adverse effects on (statutory) 

European Sites, SPAs, SAC and listed or proposed Ramsar sites. 

Exempt sites Sites of small-scale waste management activities that do not 

require a licence or permit from the Environment Agency. They still 

require planning permission before they can operate and are 

subject to general rules (e.g. types and quantities of waste). 

G 

Geodiversity The variety of rocks, minerals, fossils, soils and landforms, 

together with the natural processes that shape the landscape. 

Greenhouse 

gas 

Gases such as carbon dioxide and methane which when their 

atmospheric concentrations exceed certain levels can contribute to 

climate change by forming a barrier in the earth’s atmosphere that 

traps the sun’s heat. 

Groundwater Water contained within underground strata (aquifers) of various 

types across the country. Groundwater is usually of high quality 

and often requires little treatment prior to use. It is however 

vulnerable to contamination from pollutants. Aquifer remediation is 

difficult, prolonged and expensive and therefore the prevention of 

pollution is important. 

H 

Hazardous waste Controlled waste that is dangerous or difficult to treat, keep, store or 

dispose of, so that special provision is required for dealing 

with it. Hazardous wastes are the more dangerous wastes and 

include toxic wastes, acids, alkaline solutions, asbestos, 

fluorescent tubes, batteries, oil, fly ash (flue ash), industrial 

solvents, oily sludges, pesticides, pharmaceutical compounds, 

photographic chemicals, waste oils, wood preservatives. If 

improperly handled, treated or disposed of, a waste that, by virtue of 

its composition, carries the risk of death, injury or impairment of 

health, to humans or animals, the pollution of waters, or could have 

an unacceptable environmental impact. It should be used only to 

describe wastes that contain sufficient of these materials to render 

the waste as a whole hazardous within the definition given above. 

Heritage assets A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified as 

having a degree of significance meriting consideration in 

planning decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset 

includes designated heritage assets and assets identified by the 

local planning authority (including local listing). 

Heritage Coast Areas of undeveloped coastline that are managed to conserve 

their natural beauty and, where appropriate, to improve 

accessibility for visitors. 

Page 171



Page 154 of 168 

High Level Wastes 
(HLW) 

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste, HLW are 

wastes in which the temperature may rise significantly as a result 

of their radioactivity, so that this factor has to be considered in 

designing storage and disposal facilities. 

Household waste This is also known as Municipal Solid Waste (MSW). This is a 

waste from a domestic property, caravan, residential home or from 

premises forming part of a university or school or other educational 

establishment and premises forming part of a hospital or nursing 

home. 

I 

Impact pathways In carrying out a Habitat Regulations Assessment it is important to 

determine the various ways in which land-use plans can impact on 

European Sites by following the pathways along which 

development can be connected with European Sites. Impact 

pathways are routes by which a change in activity associated 

with a development can lead to an effect upon a European Site. 

Imported minerals Minerals imported through wharves and rail depots. In Kent this 

includes Marine Dredged Aggregates, crushed rock, sand and 

gravel, secondary aggregates and cement. 

Industrial waste Waste from any of the following premises: factory, provision of 

transport services (land, water and air), purpose of connection of 

the supply of gas, water, electricity, provision of sewerage 

services, provision of postal or telecommunication services. 

Inert waste Waste that will not biodegrade or decompose (or will only do so at 

a very slow rate). Types of materials include uncontaminated 

topsoil, subsoil, clay, sand, brickwork, stone, silica and glass. 

Intermediate Level 

Wastes (ILW) 

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste, ILW are wastes 

with radioactivity levels exceeding the upper boundaries of LLW 

that are retrieved and processed to make them passively safe 

and then stored pending the availability of the GDF. 

L 

Landbank A stock of mineral reserves with planning permission for their 

winning and working. 

Landfill The deposition of waste onto hollow or void space in the land, 

usually below the level of the surrounding land or original ground 

level in such a way that pollution or harm to the environment is 

prevented. Former mineral workings have historically been used for 

this purpose. 

Landfill gas A by-product from the digestion by anaerobic bacteria (rotting) of 

biodegradable matter present in waste deposited on landfilled 

sites. The gas is predominantly methane together with carbon 

dioxide and trace concentrations of a range of other vapours and 

gases. 

Land-won 
minerals 

Mineral extracted from a quarry situated on the mainland, as 

opposed to off-shore mineral supplies such as MDAs. 

Page 172



Page 155 of 168 

Local Aggregate 
Assessment (LAA) 

A public report prepared annually by MPAs to gather together up-

to-date information on aggregate sales and reserves from land-

won sources together with data on secondary and recycled 

aggregates and mineral imports. 

Local 
Development 
Scheme 

The timetable for the preparation of the local plans. 

Local Geological 
Sites 

Any geological or geomophological sites, excluding SSSIs, that 

are considered worthy of protection for their educational, research, 

historical or aesthetic importance. They are broadly 

analogous to non-statutory wildlife sites and are often referred to 

locally by the same name. They can include important teaching 

sites, wildlife trust reserves, LNRs and a wide range of other sites. 

They are not regarded as inferior to SSSIs but as sites of regional 

importance in their own right. 

Local Plan The Kent MWLP comprises all adopted local plans that will include 

the Kent MWLP, the Minerals Sites Plan, the Waste Sites Plan and 

the district local plan. 

Low-carbon 

Economy (LCE) or 
low-fossil-fuel 
economy 

An economy that has a minimal output of greenhouse gas 

emissions into the biosphere, but specifically refers to the 

greenhouse gas carbon dioxide. 

Low Level 
Radioactive Waste 
(LLW) 

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste that reflect the 

degree of radioactivity and hazard. LLW does not normally require 

shielding during handling or transport. It consists largely of paper, 

plastics and scrap metal items that have been used in hospitals, 

research establishments and the nuclear industry. 

M 

Marine Dredged 

Aggregates (MDA) 

Aggregates excavated from the seabed, as opposed to aggregate 

minerals extracted from the earth on the mainland. 

Materials 

Recovery 

Facility (MRF) 

A facility where waste can be taken in bulk for separation, 

recycling or recovery of waste materials. This is usually Municipal 

Solid Waste, but some sites take Commercial & Industrial waste. 

Some may also take Construction and Demolition waste to be 

crushed and screened. 

Methane A colourless, odourless, flammable gas, formed during the 

decomposition of biodegradable waste. Methane has high 

potential as a greenhouse gas.  

Mineral 

Consultation 

Area (MCA) 

An area identified in order to ensure consultation between the 

relevant local planning authority and the MPA before certain non-

mineral planning applications made within the area are 

determined. 

Mineral 

resources 

Natural concentrations of minerals or bodies of rock that are, or 

may become, of potential economic interest due to their inherent 

properties. 

Page 173



Page 156 of 168 

Mineral 

Safeguarded 

Area (MSA) 

Known areas of mineral resources that are of sufficient economic 

value to warrant protection for generations to come. There is no 

presumption that any areas within an MSA will ultimately be 

environmentally acceptable for mineral extraction. The purpose of 

MSAs is not to automatically preclude other forms of development, 

but to make sure that mineral reserves are considered in land-use 

planning decisions. 

Municipal Solid 

Waste (MSW) 

Waste collected and disposed of by or on behalf of a local 

authority. It will generally consist of household waste, some 

commercial waste, and waste taken to Household Waste 

Recycling Centres (HWRCs) by the general public. In addition, it 

may include road and pavement sweepings, gully emptying 

wastes, and some construction and demolition waste arising from 

local authority activities. It is typically made up of card, paper, 

plastic, glass, kitchen and garden waste. 

N 

Natura 2000 Sites All EU member states are required to create a network of protected 

wildlife areas, known as Natura 2000 Sites, consisting of Special 

Conservation Areas (SACs) and Special Protection Areas (SPAs), 

established to protect wild birds under the European Birds 

Directive. These sites are part of a range of measures aimed at 

conserving important or threatened habitats and species. In the UK 

they are also known as European Sites. 

Natural 

Improveme

nt Areas 

(NIAs) 

Areas designated for creating more and better-connected habitats, 

recreational opportunities, flood protection, cleaner 

water and carbon storage as well as uniting local stakeholders. 

Non-

hazardous 

Waste 

 
(Non-inert Waste) 

This is also called non-inert waste. This is a waste that will 

biodegrade or decompose, releasing environmental pollutants. 

Examples include wood and wood products, paper and cardboard, 

vegetation and vegetable matter, leather, rubber and food 

processing wastes. 

O 

Other Recovery ‘Other recovery’ is a category of waste management identified 

within the Waste Hierarchy that diverts waste from landfill by 

means lower down the waste hierarchy than recycling and 

composting. Other recovery capacity is generally provided in the 

form of energy from waste facilities 

P 

Permitted 
reserves 

Saleable minerals in the ground with planning permission for 

winning and working. Usually expressed in million tonnes. 

Planning 

condition

s 

Conditions attached to a planning permission for the purpose of 

regulating and controlling the development. 

Primary 

aggregate

s 

Naturally occurring sand, gravel and crushed rock used for 

construction purposes, which have either been extracted from the 

sea bed or the earth's crust. 

Page 174



Page 157 of 168 

Prospecting Prospecting is the first stage of the geological analysis of a 

territory or area. It includes the physical search for minerals, 

fossils, precious metals or mineral specimens. Prospecting can be 

a small-scale form of mineral exploration that can extend to an 

organised, large scale effort undertaken by commercial mineral 

companies to find economically viable materials such as ores, gas, 

oil, coal and aggregates. 

R 

Ramsar sites Sites of international importance to birds that inhabit wetlands. 

Ramsar is the name of the place where the Wetlands Convention 

was signed. 

Reclamation of 

mineral 

workings 

The combined processes of restoration and aftercare following 

completion of mineral working. 

Recovery The collection, reclamation and separation of materials from the 

waste stream. 

Recovery facilities A facility that recovers value, such as resources and energy, from 

waste prior to disposal, includes recycling, thermal treatment, 

biological treatment and composting facilities. 

Recycled 
aggregates 

Aggregates produced from recycled CD waste such as crushed 

concrete and planings from road surfacing. 

Recycling The collection and separation of materials from waste and 

subsequent processing to produce new marketable products. 

Reduction The use of technology requiring less waste generation from 

production, or the production of longer lasting products with lower 

pollution potential, or the removal of material from the waste 

stream, e.g. paper being taken straight from a waste producer to a 

paper re-processing facility, avoiding it being handled at any waste 

management operation. 

Reserve The remaining concentration or occurrence of workable material of 

intrinsic economic interest. Generally used for those economic 

mineral deposits that have the benefit of planning permission. 

Resource A concentration or occurrence of material of intrinsic economic 

interest in or on the Earth's crust in such a form, quality and 

quantity that they are reasonable prospects for eventual economic 

extraction. 

Residual waste The elements of the waste streams that remain following recovery, 

recycling or composting operations. 

Resource 
recovery 

The extraction of useful materials or energy from solid waste. 

Restoration Operations designed to return an area to an acceptable 

environmental state, whether for the resumption of the former land-

use or for a new use following mineral working. Involves the 

reinstatement of land by contouring, the spreading of soils or soil 

making materials, etc. 

Page 175



Page 158 of 168 

Reuse Reuse of waste is encouraged by the Government’s national waste 

policy requirements. Typically it involves re-using materials so that 

they can be used again without further processing. 

S 

Safeguarding The process of protecting sites and areas that have potential for 

relevant development (minerals and waste ) from other forms of 

development. 

Scheduled Ancient 
Monument 

Nationally important monuments and archaeological areas that are 

protected under the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological Areas 

Act 1979. 

Secondary 
aggregates 

Construction materials that are produced as by-products of other 

processes and used instead of primary aggregates. Secondary 

aggregates include boiler ashes, colliery shale, burned clay, 

pulverised fuel ash, chalk and shale. 

Self-sufficiency A key aim of sustainable waste management is self-sufficiency 

in waste disposal, i.e. the waste generated within the region can be 

disposed or managed within the same region. 

Sharp sand and 
gravel 

A naturally occurring mineral deposit found in Kent and elsewhere. 

When extracted it is mainly used in the production of concrete 

products. 

Silica sand or 
industrial sand 

A naturally occurring mineral deposit that is extracted and used in 

industrial processes including glass manufacture and the 

production of foundry castings. It is also used in horticulture and for 

sports surfaces including horse menages and golf course bunker 

sand. It is also known as industrial sand. It is a mineral of national 

importance. 

Sites of Special 

Scientific Interest 
(SSSIs) 

These sites are notified under Section 28 of the Wildlife and 

Countryside Act 1981 by Natural England whose responsibility is to 

protect these areas. These are important areas for nature 

conservation i.e. valuable flora, fauna or geological strata. Natural 

England needs to be notified of planning proposals in or adjacent to 

the designated areas. 

National Nature Reserves, terrestrial Ramsar sites, SPAs and 

SACs are also SSSIs under national legislation. 

Soft sand See Building sand. 

Sterilisation When a change of use or the development of land on or near a 

minerals or waste facility prevents possible mineral extraction or 

continued use of a wharf, rail depot or other facility in the 

foreseeable future. 

Surrounding 
environment 

Aspects of the surrounding environment include such features as 

water resources including surface water, groundwater and rivers 

and their settings, heritage interests including listed buildings, 

conservation areas and their settings, and World Heritage Sites, 

nature reserves, local sites designated for biodiversity and 

geodiversity, species and habitats of importance for conservation 

Page 176



Page 159 of 168 

and biodiversity, nationally designated areas including SSSIs and 

AONBs and their setting, internationally designated sites including 

SPAs, SACs, Ramsar sites, Heritage Coast and NIAs. The 

surrounding environment also includes those areas that are non 

designated but contribute to the whole environment. 

Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) 

An evaluation process for assessing the environmental, social, 

economic and other sustainability effects of plans and programmes 

from the outset of the preparation process. This is a statutory 

requirement. 

Sustainable 
development 

Development that meets the needs of the present without 

compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 

needs. The definition also encompasses the efficient use of natural 

resources. 

T 

Transfer stations Facilities that receive waste (normally from a local area), where the 

waste is bulked up and transported further afield in larger lorries 

for disposal or recovery. Some transfer stations sort out the 

recoverable wastes, such as CD waste and scrap metal prior to 

onward transportation for disposal or processing. 

V 

Very Low Level 

Radioactive 

Waste (VLLW) 

One of four broad categories of radioactive waste that reflect the 

degree of radioactivity and hazard. The radioactive concentration of 

VLLW is similar to the natural activity of soils and is well within the 

normal range of natural radioactivity in the Earth's crust. 

Void space A hole created by mineral working or nature that may have 

potential for landfilling with waste. 

W 

Waste The TCPA 1990 has been amended so there is no dispute over 

whether waste, in terms of the planning regime, is defined in 

accordance with European law. It states that: Waste includes 

anything that is waste for the purposes of Directive 2006/12/EC of 

the European Parliament and of the Council on waste, and that is 

not excluded from the scope of that Directive by Article 2(1) of that 

Directive. 

 
Waste is therefore defined as any substance or object that the 

holder or the possessor either discards or intends or is required to 

discard. (132) 

Waste arisings The amount of waste generated in a given locality over a given 

period of time. 

Page 177



Page 160 of 168 

Waste Disposal 

Authority 

A local authority that is legally responsible for the safe disposal of 

household waste collected by the WCAs. Long-term contracts are 

let to private sector companies who provide the facilities to handle 

this waste. These contracts are awarded on the basis of detailed 

cost and environmental criteria as well specific targets for recycling 

and reducing landfill. 

 
  

Page 178



Page 161 of 168 

Appendix 1 Summary of Policy Drivers Since 2015 
 

International 
 
UN Sustainable Development Goals 2015  
The goals set out in the UN sustainable development goals are the blueprint to achieve a better 
and more sustainable future for everyone by addressing the global challenges we face. This 
includes, poverty, inequality, climate change, environmental degradation, peace and justice.  
 
UNFCCC (2016) The Paris Agreement  
The Paris Agreement is a legally binding international treaty on climate change signed by 196 
countries in Paris on the 12th December 2015 and put into force on the 4th November 2016. It 
aims to limit global warming by at least 2 degrees Celsius compared to pre-industrial levels. All 
parties are required to transform economically and socially to reach global peaking of greenhouse 
gas emissions as soon as possible and to achieve a climate neutral world by the mid-century.  

 

Government Policy/Strategy 
 
Industrial Strategy, 2017 
 
This report sets how a framework to build a Britain fit for the future and to boost productivity in the 
UK. Five foundations of productivity will help transform the UK economy, the vision set out in the 
report include: 
 
* Ideas – Becoming the world’s most innovative economy 
* People - Good jobs and greater earning power for all 
* Infrastructure - A major upgrade to the UK’s infrastructure  
* Business environment - Making the UK the best place to start and grow a business  
* Places – enabling prosperous communities across the UK 
Government has indicated in the 2020 Infrastructure Strategy (see below) that this strategy is to 
be refreshed. 
 
Clean Growth Strategy, 2017 
 
In the context of the UK’s legal requirements under the Climate Change Act, the government’s 
approach to reducing emissions has two guiding objectives:  
 
1. To meet our domestic commitments at the lowest possible net cost to UK taxpayers, 
consumers and businesses. 
2. To maximise the social and economic benefits for the UK from this transition.  
 
Air Quality Plan for Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2) in UK, 2017  
 
This plan sets out how the Government will improve air quality in the UK by reducing nitrogen 
dioxide emissions in towns and cities. The air quality plans set out targeted local, regional and 
national measures across 37 zone plans (areas which have identified air quality issues with 
nitrogen dioxide), a UK overview document and a national list of measures. Measures relate to 
freight, rail, sustainable travel, low emission vehicles and cleaner transport fuels, among others.  
 
UK Climate Change Risk Assessment 2017 
 
This report reaffirms the UK Government’s need to continue to consider climate change a threat 
to the UK and forms a basis for the regions of the UK to create a climate change risk 
assessment. It identifies the following likely effects of climate change on the UK: Increased 
flooding, rise in milder winters and hotter summers which could have wider health impacts, water 
supply issues, loss of biodiversity and ecosystems especially in coastal areas and loss in 
business productivity.  

Page 179

https://www.un.org/sustainabledevelopment/sustainable-development-goals/
https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/the-paris-agreement/the-paris-agreement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/industrial-strategy-building-a-britain-fit-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/air-quality-plan-for-nitrogen-dioxide-no2-in-uk-2017
file:///C:/Users/ianblake/Library/Mobile%20Documents/com~apple~CloudDocs/01%20CURRENT%20PROJECTS/01%20Kent%20CC/KMWLP%20REVIEW/01%20Evidence%20Gathering/Changes%20to%20policy%20and%20legislation/-%09https:/www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-climate-change-risk-assessment-2017


Page 162 of 168 

 
Resources and Waste Strategy, December 2018 
 
The strategy sets out how Government intends to preserve resource stocks through minimising 
waste, promoting resource efficiency and moving towards a circular economy. The strategy also 
sets out how the government will minimise harm to the environment through sustainable, effective 
waste management, waste reduction and tackling waste crime. Government has committed to 
refresh every five years. 
 
National Infrastructure Delivery Plan (NIDP) 2016 to 2021  
 
The NIDP sets out key infrastructure projects and programmes, and policy milestones, for each of 
the infrastructure sectors. It includes details of the government’s work to improve the 
prioritisation, performance and delivery of infrastructure.  
 
Historic England (2015) Historic Environment Good Practice Advice in Planning Notes 1 to 
3  
 
The purpose of these Good Practice Advice notes is to provide information on good practice to 
assist local authorities, planning and other consultants, owners, applicants and other interested 
parties in implementing historic environment policy in the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF) and the related guidance given in the National Planning Practice Guide (PPG).  
 
25 Year Environment Plan, 2018 
 
This report outlines the following aims that the UK Government hopes to achieve in the next 25 
years: 
1. Clean air. 
2. Clean and plentiful water. 
3. Thriving plants and wildlife. 
4. A reduced risk of harm from environmental hazards such as flooding and drought. 
5. Using resources from nature more sustainably and efficiently. 
6. Enhanced beauty, heritage and engagement with the natural environment. 
7. Mitigating and adapting to climate change. 
8. Minimising waste. 
9. Managing exposure to chemicals.  
10. Enhancing biosecurity.  
 
Integrated Radioactive Waste Strategy, 2019 
 
The strategy applies to all radioactive waste generated within the NDA estate and ensures the 
UK’s radioactive waste is handled safely and disposed of where possible, in a safe, suitable and 
secure storage that protects people and the environment.  
 
Written Ministerial Statement on Hydraulic Fracturing, 2019 
 
The government recognises the importance of natural gas as a secure affordable energy. Future 
predictions estimate 70% of the gas consumed today will be consumed in 2050 and as a result, it 
is critical for the UK to have continued access to natural gas. Hydraulic fracking has the potential 
to provide a new source of domestic energy that will produce jobs and economic benefit. The 
government has always been clear any development will be safe and sustainable for the 
environment and for local people. However, from 2019 the government is to take a presumption 
against issuing any further Hydraulic Fracturing Consents until new evidence address concerns 
around the prediction and management of induced seismicity.  
 
 
 
 

Page 180

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/resources-and-waste-strategy-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-delivery-plan-2016-to-2021
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa1-historic-environment-local-plans/
https://historicengland.org.uk/images-books/publications/gpa1-historic-environment-local-plans/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/25-year-environment-plan
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/831727/Radioactive_Waste_Management_Strategy_September_2019.pdf
https://questions-statements.parliament.uk/written-statements/detail/2019-11-04/HCWS68


Page 163 of 168 

National Planning Policy Framework 2021 and Planning Practice Guidance 
 
Updates to National Planning Policy Framework  in particular introduction of biodiversity net gain. 
No major change to minerals policy. Waste policy included in NPPW. Government is to update 
NPPW and this will need to take account of wider planning reforms. 
 
Clean Air Strategy 2019  
 
The strategy sets out how air pollution will be tackled in the UK in order to protect nature, boost 
the economy and ensure the air is healthier to breathe. The strategy indicated how devolved 
administrations intend to make their share of emissions reductions.  
 
Meeting our future water needs: a national framework for water resources 
 
The strategy explores England’s long-term water needs. It sets outs:  
*the scale of action needed to ensure resilient water supplies are available to meet the needs of 
all users in the future. 
*A greater ambition to restore, protect and improve the environment that is the source of all our 
supplies.  
 
Waste Management Plan for England, 2021 
 
The plan provides an overview to the waste management in England. Its core aim is to bring 
current waste management policies under the umbrella of a single national plan. Several different 
documents contribute to the Waste Management Plan for England.  
 
The Circular Economy Package, 2020 
 

The plan sets out targets to recycle 65% of municipal waste by 2035 and to have no more than 
10% municipal waste going to landfill by 2035. This is achieved through restricting materials that 
can be landfilled or incinerated and requires recycled waste to not be incinerated or sent to 
landfill. The Circular Economy Package ensure we go further and faster to reduce, reuse and 
recycle.  
 
Planning for the Future, August 2020 
 

Consultation on White Paper that “proposes reforms of the planning system to streamline and 
modernise the planning process, bring a new focus to design and sustainability, improve the 
system of developer contributions to infrastructure, and ensure more land is available for 
development where it is needed.” No specific mention of waste management or minerals supply. 
 
National Infrastructure Strategy, November 2020 
 

The strategy sets out the government’s plans to transform the UK’s infrastructure networks. It is 
based around three central objectives: economic recovery; levelling up and strengthening the 
Union; and meeting the UK’s net zero emissions target by 2050. Published alongside this is the 
Government response to the NIC’s National Infrastructure Assessment  
 
Energy white paper: Powering our net zero future, November 2020 
 

The white paper addresses the transformation of our energy system, promoting high-skilled jobs 
and clean, resilient economic growth as the UK delivers net-zero emissions by 2050.  
 

 
  

Page 181

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-air-strategy-2019
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/873100/National_Framework_for_water_resources_summary.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/waste-management-plan-for-england
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/circular-economy-measures-drive-forward-ambitious-plans-for-waste
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/planning-for-the-future
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/national-infrastructure-strategy
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/937949/Response_to_the_NIA_final.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/energy-white-paper-powering-our-net-zero-future


Page 164 of 168 

Legislation 
 

The Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 
 
Transpose the land and marine aspects of the Habitats Directive (Council Directive 92/43/EEC) 
and certain elements of the Wild Birds Directive (Directive 2009/147/EC) (known as the Nature 
Directives) into UK law. Most changes involved transferring functions from the European 
Commission to the appropriate authorities in England and Wales. SACs and SPAs in the UK no 
longer form part of the EU’s Natura 2000 ecological network. The 2019 Regulations have created 
a national site network on land and at sea and established management objectives for the 
national site network to: 
 maintain or, where appropriate, restore habitats and species listed in Annexes I and II of the 

Habitats Directive to a favourable conservation status (FCS) 
 contribute to ensuring, in their area of distribution, the survival and reproduction of wild birds 

and securing compliance with the overarching aims of the Wild Birds Directive 
 
Environment Bill 
 
The Environment Bill will: Mandate all local authorities in England to collect the same core set of 
dry recyclable materials from households and provide a weekly separate household food waste 
collection; require all businesses to separate recyclable materials and food waste from residual 
waste for collection; require labelling on recyclability of goods; make producers responsible for 
the full net costs of managing packaging when it becomes waste; includes powers to mandate 
businesses to use a new digital waste tracking service; allow expansion of the use of charges on 
single use plastics. 
Requirement for a biodiversity gain plan to be submitted with planning applications and agreed 
with the LPA showing 10% gain. Councils will also have to produce a spatial “local nature 
recovery strategy” 
Sets up Office for Environmental Protection. 
 
The Climate Change Act 2008 (2050 Target Amendment) Order 2019 

 
The order amends the legally binding target to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions set in 
section 1 of the Climate Change Act 2008 (CCA 2008) from 80% to 100%, or net zero. 

 
Local Policy and Strategy 
 

Kent County Council 

 KCC (2015) Kent State of the Environment Report 

 Air Quality Update July 2020 

 Water Quality Update, July 2020 

 Waste Update, July 2020 

 CO2 Emissions Update, July 2020 

 Low Carbon Business Update, July 2020 

 Travel and Transport Update, July 2020 

 Kent ‘Post Covid’ Vision 

 KCC (2016) Kent Environment Strategy  

 KCC (2017) Environment Strategy: a strategy for Environment, Health and Economy 
Implementation Plan 2017  

 Kent Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (KJMWMS) 2018/19 to 2020/21 

 Kent Local Transport Plan 2016 - 2031 

 Kent Growth and Infrastructure Framework (GIF) 

 KCC Climate Emergency Statement, 2019 

 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, June 2020 

 The strategy identifies 10 priority actions to: 

 promote the development of an affordable, clean and secure energy supply for the county 

 reduce greenhouse gas emissions 

Page 182

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/changes-to-the-habitats-regulations-2017/changes-to-the-habitats-regulations-2017#what-has-changed
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/environment-bill-2020
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/102147/Air-quality-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0004/111397/Water-quality-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0016/102157/Waste-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0009/102150/CO2-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0017/102149/Business-environmental-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0015/102156/Travel-and-transport-environmental-statistics.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/waste-strategies
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/72668/Local-transport-plan-4.pdf
file:///C:/Users/ianblake/Library/Mobile%20Documents/com~apple~CloudDocs/01%20CURRENT%20PROJECTS/01%20Kent%20CC/KMWLP%20REVIEW/01%20Evidence%20Gathering/Changes%20to%20policy%20and%20legislation/-%09https:/www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0018/80145/GIF-Framework-full-document.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/environment-waste-and-planning/climate-change/climate-emergency-statement
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy


Page 165 of 168 

 eliminate poor air quality  

 reduce fuel poverty 
 

 

Other Local Policy 
 
Kent Downs AONB Management Plan 
 
The Third Revision to the Kent Downs AONB Management Plan is in the process of being 
approved by the various Councils within the AONB and should be adopted by July this year.  This 
will replace the current Management Plan.  
 
Southern Water ‘Bioresources Treatment and Growth Strategy’  
 
Southern Water ‘Bioresources Treatment and Growth Strategy’ reports that: "Bioresources will be 
subject to changing and intensifying pressures over the next 25 years, at the same time as 
opportunities will develop through the opening of the sludge market and growth in the circular 
economy."  With regard to the envisaged pressures it states: "Our current projections show Kent 
will experience capacity shortfalls during the period 2020-2034 (Asset Management Period 8). 
From 2020 we will explore cost-effective, collaborative market interventions to secure additional 
capacity. If delivered internally, in addition to extra treatment capacity our solution would likely 
involve developing new strategic reception facilities, the release of key operational constraints 
and seeking a change in planning consent. 

 

  

Page 183



Page 166 of 168 

 

Appendix 2 – Results of Early Engagement With Key 
Stakeholders 

 
In March 2021, a number of stakeholders were invited to submit comments on the effectiveness of 
policies within the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan. This included all Kent District/Borough 
Councils, neighbouring minerals and waste planning authorities, minerals and waste operators in 
Kent, and specialist interest groups/organisations. 9 responses were received, which are 
summarised in the table below. 

 
Organisation Relevant Policy Comment 

The Coal 
Authority 

CSM 10 – Oil, Gas 
and 
Unconventional 
Hydrocarbons 

The Coal Authority will no longer be commenting on the 
effectiveness of policies related to unconventional 
hydrocarbons. The decisions relating to such policies shall 
lie with the relevant responsible authority (in this case Kent 
County Council) 

Hampshire 
County 
Council 

CSM 2 – Supply of 
Land-won Minerals 
in Kent 

Any wider movements of minerals from the Kent area will 
be reflected in sales data. There is an issue emerging in 
the south east with regards to movement and supply of 
minerals. 
 
With regards to waste, Hampshire have found the 
implementation of the waste hierarchy in practice to be 
challenging. Supportive of the recycling target based 
approach Kent have used which has been shown as 
effective in challenging waste development lower down on 
the waste hierarchy. 

Kent Downs 
AONB Unit 

General comments 
and Policy DM 2 – 
Environmental and 
Landscape Sites 
of International, 
National and Local 
Importance. 

The Third Revision to the Kent Downs AONB Management 
Plan should be adopted by July 2021. This document 
should form part of the evidence base for the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review and should be 
referred to when assessing new allocations which impact 
the Kent Downs.  
 
The updated National Planning Policy Framework requires 
that Areas of Outstanding Natural Beauty should be 
enhanced as well as conserved, policy DM 2 and the 
supporting text should be updated to reflect this.  

Medway 
Council 

General comments Since the adoption of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local 
Plan, no undue pressure has been placed on Medway 
Council for minerals and waste development, therefore the 
authority does not have any concerns over how the Kent 
Minerals and Waste Local Plan is performing. Kent County 
Council and Medway Council also benefit from a 
Statement of Common ground (SOCG) on minerals and 
waste planning.  
 
There is some concern over the provision of non-
hazardous waste capacity, in that the need for this capacity 
is expected to continue and is limited across the south 
east. Kent may wish to consider the need to make 
continued provision for this capacity as Shelford Landfill 
comes to the end of its life.  
 
The Statement of Common Ground between the two 
authorities may benefit from updating to reflect the 

Page 184



Page 167 of 168 

data/evidence gathering being undertaken as part of the 
Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan Review process.  

Port of 
London 
Authority 

CSM 6 – 
Safeguarded 
Wharves and Rail 
Depots 
 
CSM 12 – 
Sustainable 
Transport of 
Minerals 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Policy CSW 14: 
Disposal of 
Dredgings 
 
 
 
 
 
General 
Comments 

Strongly supports the retention of this policy and the list of 
safeguarded sites 
 
 
 
Support the retention of this policy in principle, however 
consider that it should be better linked to Policy CSM 6 and 
the list of safeguarded wharves that must be promoted for 
the maximisation of use for water-borne transport or 
reactivation as a safeguarded wharf. The second bullet 
point of the policy should be amended to not directly refer 
to the “Development Plan”. Instead it should ensure that 
operations can be controlled so that there are no 
unacceptable adverse impacts to the local environment or 
communities. This will ensure that the impacts of a new or 
reactivated wharf are properly considered. 
 
This policy should be kept under review, specifically the 
potential need to allocate a site for the disposal of 
dredgings. It is difficult to estimate potential amounts of 
dredging material and therefore substantiate evidence to 
support the need for such a site to be allocated, however 
the need for such a site with river access may arise over 
the lifetime of the Plan. 
 
A number of items contained in the Safeguarding 
Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) should be 
included in the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan itself, 
particularly with regard to the Agent of Change principle. 
This would ensure that new development proposed in the 
vicinity of safeguarded wharves utilise certain layouts, 
orientations and materials to minimise conflicts between 
differing types of development. It should also be made 
clear that the Agent of Change Principle applies to vacant 
safeguarded sites. 
 
Consideration should be given to the Marine Management 
Organisations’ South East Marine Plan (due to be adopted 
in 2021) within the evidence base for the Kent Minerals 
and Waste Local Plan Review, as well as the PLA’s Vision 
for the Tidal Thames which is being reviewed in 2021. 

Southern 
Water 

Whole document Confirm that they have no comments to make at this stage. 

Southern 
Gas 
Networks 
(SGN) 

CSM 8 – 
Secondary and 
Recycled 
Aggregates 
 
CSW 2 – Waste 
Hierarchy and 
Policy 
 
 
 
 
CSW 4 – Strategy 

Policy should consider new technology and processes to 
rework aggregates. Consideration should be given to allow 
small scale trials of such processes without the need for 
full planning permission. 
 
Waste hierarchy should include the principles of circular 
economy and energy recovery from waste. 
 
It is unclear why reductions in waste to landfill over the 
next ten years is not expected. 
 
 
It is presumed that Environmental Impact Assessment 

Page 185



Page 168 of 168 

for Waste 
Management 
Capacity 
 
 
 
 
 
CSW 5 – Strategic 
Site for Waste 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CSW 6 – Location 
of Built Waste 
Management 
Facilities 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CSW 10 – 
Development at 
Closed Landfill 
Sites 
 
 
 
DM 20 – Ancillary 
Development 

would be required for development at this site. The 
applicant should be required to outline (and demonstrate 
consideration of the financial requirements for) closure and 
aftercare of the site, including, but not limited to, post 
closure uses of the site where appropriate and ongoing 
monitoring that may be required.  
 
Assumed that the site selection process has taken into 
account location of gas network infrastructure (as with 
other utility infrastructure). This includes safe access to 
infrastructure by the gas distribution networks for 
emergency and planned repairs and maintenance 
activities. 
 
General requirements for siting waste management 
facilities should take into account the location of gas 
network infrastructure, including SGN’s gas distribution 
network and nationally significant gas sites. This includes 
safe access to infrastructure by the gas distribution 
networks for emergency and planned repairs and 
maintenance.  
 
Consideration should also be given to incorporating the 
principles of circular economy in waste management; 
applicants should be required to demonstrate how this 
would be achieved.  
 
Applicants should consider improvements to the 
environment and local community, in addition to simply 
demonstrating there will be “no adverse impacts”. 
 
Post closure development applications should consider 
ongoing monitoring that may be required, including but not 
limited to, greenhouse gas emissions and leachate as the 
waste decays and where environmental improvements are 
made, such as biodiversity, monitoring may be required to 
confirm the benefits are achieved.  
 
Consideration should be given to include a requirement for 
the applicant to assess cumulative impacts of ancillary 
development on sensitive environmental areas.  
 
Refer to comments / assumptions made above in relation 
to gas infrastructure. 

Swale 
Borough 
Council 

General 
Comments 

Swale’s commitment to be net zero by 2030 is in conflict 
with KCC’s later target of 2050. Concern also raised 
regarding the ability of waste infrastructure to meet future 
demand. 

West Sussex 
County 
Council 

Whole document Confirm they have no comments to make at this stage but 
will continue to engage as the review process continues. 

 

 

Page 186



From:   Susan Carey, Cabinet Member for Environment  
    
   Simon Jones, Director of Growth, Environment and Transport 
        
To:   Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – 8 September 

2021 

Subject:  Kent County Council Approach to Monitoring the Net Zero Target 

Date:   10 September 2021 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Past Pathway of Paper:  n/a 

Future Pathway of Paper: n/a 

Electoral Division:   All 

Summary: In September 2020, the Cabinet Member for Environment took the decision 
for the Council to achieve net-zero emissions by 2030. This target includes the Council’s 
own estate (excluding schools), operations and those of its traded companies.  
 
This paper provides an update on the approach to measuring emissions to achieve the 
target, outlining the changes in emissions scope and calculations compared to the 
previous greenhouse gas emissions target monitoring, previously reported in Kent 
County Council’s Quarterly Performance Report and which ended on 31st March 2021. 
 
Recommendation(s):  
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to note the changes to 
measuring carbon emissions.  

1. Introduction  

1.1  In response to emerging evidence, the UK government revised the Climate 
Change Act 2008 in 2019. This introduced into law the UK target of Net Zero 
carbon emissions by 2050. Alongside the 2050 Net Zero target, the Act also 
requires the government to set 5-yearly carbon budgets1, to ensure the country 
remains on track to reach Net Zero. The Carbon Budget Order 2021 set the sixth 
carbon budget for 2033-2037, equivalent to a 78% reduction in UK emissions by 
2035 compared to 1990 levels. 

1.2 Kent County Council has set an accelerated target of net-zero emissions by 2030 
for its corporate estate and traded companies.  

1.3    Since 2005, Kent County Council has measured its own contribution to global 
climate change by calculating the carbon dioxide emissions arising from its own 
estate and operational activities, setting successive five-year targets, and 

                                            
1
 A carbon budget places a restriction on the amount of greenhouse gases the UK can emit over a 5-year 

period. Under a system of carbon budgets, every tonne of greenhouse gas emitted between now and 
2050 will count. Where emissions rise in one sector, the UK will have to achieve corresponding falls in 
another. Page 187

Agenda Item 7



successfully delivering carbon reduction actions, which have reduced emissions by 
73% in the last 10 years.  

1.4 During this time, the methodology for calculating emissions has also evolved 
internationally, with the most recent target period 2016-2021 being measured as 
total greenhouse gas emissions, also known as carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e), 
which recognises that other gases such as nitrous oxide, methane and ozone also 
contribute to climate change. Prior to 2016 only carbon dioxide emissions were 
measured. 

1.5 This report describes the changes to the emissions monitoring approach planned 
to achieve the Net Zero target, detailing the scope of emissions counted and the 
calculation methodology used. This report seeks to make clear the differences 
between previous greenhouse gas emissions target measurement and the new 
emissions measurement for Net Zero target, which commences from 1st April 
2021.  The rationale for the changes is set out below and include a wider source of 
emissions collected compared to previous years.  

2.  Kent County Council Net Zero by 2030 – establishing a new baseline  

2.1 In order to set the Net Zero target, a comprehensive piece of modelling work was 
completed by LASER Energy Management (part of the Commercial Services 
Group) on behalf of Kent County Council. Data was collected to use as a baseline 
for the model and was an expansion on data collected previously to measure 
greenhouse gas emissions (see 2.3) and defines the scope of emissions that will 
be measured to track progress against the Net Zero target from 1st April 2021.  

2.2 We follow the methodology established by the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, which is 
the internationally recognised standard carbon accounting framework for 
measuring greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions, used by the majority of private and 
public sector organisations. In line with this protocol KCC collect Scope 1 and 2 
emissions and some Scope 3 emissions, where this data is already readily 
available and under our direct control (See Figure 1).   

Figure 1 Carbon emissions scopes 

 

2.3 The KCC Net Zero target baseline includes all data collected for the previous 
greenhouse gas emissions monitoring period April 2016 - March 2021: 

 Electricity used for streetlighting and other highways assets (Scope 2), 
Page 188



 Energy used in all corporate estate buildings, including buildings occupied 
by Commercial Services Group (Scope 1 and 2), 

 Fleet vehicle fuel (Scope 1), 

 Business mileage claims by staff using their own cars (Scope 3), 

 Plus, additional data: 

 Building energy use, fleet fuel and business miles from all of Kent County 
Council’s traded companies (Scope 1, 2 and some scope 3), 

 Office type wastes collected from and disposed of from corporate estate 
buildings (Scope 3), 

 Leaks of refrigerant gases from air conditioning/chiller plant and equipment 
(Scope 3).  

2.4  To calculate the total emissions from these raw data sets, emissions factors2 
published annually by the government department for Business, Energy, and 
industrial Strategy (BEIS) are used. 

2.5 In addition to the data already being collected, there are plans to capture water 
consumption data once a new water supply contract is agreed, as this is within the 
Council’s direct control.   

2.6 Understanding the emissions generated from procured goods and services is also 
being reviewed and will be used to influence commissioning and procurement 
activities. These Scope 3 emissions are not included in the KCC Net Zero target 
commitment as they are not directly within our control. The calculation of Scope 3 
emissions will be undertaken and used when updating contract requirements with 
the aim to secure commitment from contracted third parties towards achieving Net 
Zero for Kent by 2050.  

3  Kent County Council Net Zero by 2030 – changes to method of calculation  

3.1 For the period April 2016 – March 2021, greenhouse gas emissions were 
measured and reported through the Kent County Council quarterly performance 
report using a fixed factor basis, applying the 2015 baseline factors to all 
calculations throughout this five-year period.  

3.2 This enabled the measurement of progress directly attributed to actions taken by 
Kent County Council services. By March 2021, emissions were down to 24,180 
tonnes CO2e (a reduction of 21087 tonnes CO2e or 47% reduction compared to 
2015), exceeding the 38% reduction target (having been revised upwards from the 
original 32% reduction target set in 2016). In the final year of the five-year period, 
reductions were also influenced by the pandemic, in particular significant 
reductions in emissions from reduced business travel.  

3.3  By fixing the emissions factors used at the 2015 baseline year, allowed KCC to 
exclude the emissions reductions delivered through UK grid energy supplies, such 
as the increase in the proportion of UK electricity derived from renewable and 
nuclear energy sources. This measurement approach specifically accounts for the 
impact of KCC carbon reduction actions and investments alone, which as shown 
has delivered a significant 47% reduction over the last five-year period.  

                                            
2
 Emissions factors are unique values for determining an amount of a greenhouse gas emitted for a given 

quantity of activity (e.g., metric tons of carbon dioxide emitted per litre of diesel burned) Page 189



3.4  When the additional emissions reduction of grid energy supplies is also taken into 
account by applying the updated emissions factors each year, the actual 
greenhouse gas emissions for the 12 months to March 2021 was 15,677 tonnes 
CO2e (a reduction of 29,590 tonnes CO2e or 65% reduction compared to 2015).  

3.5  This confirms that Kent County Council achieved a greater proportion of reductions 
through its own actions and investments over this period, most significantly due to 
the £40 million upgrade of streetlighting and other highways assets to light emitting 
diode (LED) lamps. Figure 2 shows the comparison of trends over the five-year 
target period using the fixed factor (current methodology) and updated factors 
(proposed methodology). 

Figure 2 Comparison of methodologies for calculating greenhouse gas emissions 

 

3.6 The KCC Net Zero target will be measured using 2019-20 year as the new 
baseline year (21,056 tonnes). This baseline includes the expanded set of data 
(Table 1) and  takes account of the changes in emissions from the UK energy 
supplies, by applying emission factors updated annually by the Department for 
Businesses, Energy, and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) (equivalent to red line in Figure 
2). Interim annual targets up to 2030 will also be set, informed by the Net Zero 
forecast model, instead of a five-year target period as used previously. This 
approach provides a more comprehensive measurement of actual emissions in line 
with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the internationally recognised standard carbon 
accounting framework. 

 TABLE 1 New baseline emissions sources  

Emissions Source 2019-20 emissions (Tonnes CO2e) 

Electricity 10972 

Gas 4516 

Heating oil 594 

Fleet vehicle fuel 1750 

Business miles 3108 

Traded companies, waste, fugitive gases 
(additional data collected) 

116 

Total 21056 

 

 -

 10,000.00

 20,000.00

 30,000.00

 40,000.00

 50,000.00

Apr15 -
Mar16

Apr16 -
Mar17

Apr17 -
Mar18

Apr18 -
Mar19

Apr19 -
Mar20

Apr20 -
Mar21

G
re

en
h

o
u

se
 g

as
 e

m
is

si
o

n
s 

To
n

n
es

 C
O

2e
 

Reporting Year 

Comparison of fixed vs updated factor methodology 

TOTAL (Fixed 2015 factor) TOTAL (Annual updated factors)

Page 190



4  Tracking progress towards Net Zero  

4.1 The current greenhouse gas emissions performance indicator published in the 
council’s quarterly performance report is visually measured using a simple bar 
chart – line chart method which tracks overall emissions in period vs target. Figure 
3 shows the latest quarterly data to March 2021 and is the last quarterly report to 
be published using the fixed factor methodology.  The next report period April – 
June 2021 will mark the start of tracking the Net Zero target progress. 

Figure 3 

Greenhouse Gas emissions from KCC estate (excluding schools) in tonnes – rolling 

12 months 

GREEN 

 

 

Current: 24,180 Target: 28,100 Previous: 25,187 

This data was calculated using a fixed emission factor from 2015 and does not reflect emissions 
reductions from grid energy supplies. 

4.2 As there is significant public interest and attention to this agenda, it is recognised 
that a simple method of tracking progress visually should be provided on the KCC 
website, which also takes account of past progress. Officers are evaluating 
alternative methods of displaying the data. 

5. Financial Implications  

5.1  There are no cost implications to make changes to the way emissions are 
calculated and reported. The financial implications of the actions necessary to 
achieve the Net Zero target were previously estimated at £27 million through the 
net-zero modelling work presented to County Council and the Environment & 
Transport Cabinet Committee in 2020.  

 
6. Policy Framework  
 
6.1 This paper and the activity within it are directly linked to the Interim Strategic Plan, 

in particular, the priority to tackle the climate emergency and protect and enhance 
our natural environment. It is also relevant to the Kent and Medway Growth and 
Infrastructure Framework, Kent and Medway Economic Renewal and 
Resilience Plan, Kent and Medway Infrastructure Proposition, Kent Waste Disposal 
Strategy, Kent Health and Wellbeing Strategy and informs the emerging Local 
Transport Plan 5.   

 
6.2 Developing this approach is in line with KCC’s Environmental Policy, and the Kent 

and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, which forms part of the Kent 
Environment Strategy and its Implementation Plan. 

15k

20k

25k

30k

35k

Dec-19 Mar-20 Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21

Actual Target

Page 191



7. Equalities Impact Assessment 

7.1  An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken for the KCC net-zero plan 
(Appendix 1), there were no significant adverse findings. Individual projects to 
deliver Net Zero will have their own Equalities Impact Assessment completed as 
needed.  

8.  General Data Protection Regulation Considerations 

8.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessment is not needed as the monitoring approach 
does not require the processing of personal data.   

9. Conclusion 

9.1 The proposed change in calculating emissions provides a more comprehensive 
measurement of emissions arising from Kent County Council estate and activities 
and aligns with the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, the internationally recognised 
standard carbon accounting framework. 

10. Next Steps and Timescales 

10.1   Monitoring of progress towards Net Zero will be included in the Council’s quarterly 
performance report, complemented by a simple visual tracker on the KCC website.  

11. Recommendation(s) 

Recommendation(s):  
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to note the changes to 
measuring carbon emissions. 
 

12. Background Documents 

 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy  – Kent and Medway 
Energy and Low Emissions Strategy - Kent County Council 

 

 Greenhouse Gas Protocol - Corporate Standard | Greenhouse Gas Protocol 
(ghgprotocol.org) 
 

 Appendix 1: Equality Impact Assessment: 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105516/Appendix1Approachto
monitoringKCCNetZero.docx.pdf 

13. Contact details 

Deborah Kapaj, Sustainable Estates Programme Manager 
Deborah.kapaj@kent.gov.uk 03000 410237 
 
Relevant Director: Stephanie Holt-Castle, Director Growth and Communities 
Stephanie.Holt-Castle@kent.gov.uk 03000 412064 
 
 
                                              

Page 192

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy
https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard
https://ghgprotocol.org/corporate-standard
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.kent.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs105516%2FAppendix1ApproachtomonitoringKCCNetZero.docx.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7C15182fe4394544cdb30308d968695800%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637655623914087120%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=W1PmFkMEgScZCNcD1O4Sw3hjRVEkue22blOjzZjPBvA%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.kent.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs105516%2FAppendix1ApproachtomonitoringKCCNetZero.docx.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7C15182fe4394544cdb30308d968695800%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637655623914087120%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=W1PmFkMEgScZCNcD1O4Sw3hjRVEkue22blOjzZjPBvA%3D&reserved=0
mailto:Deborah.kapaj@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Stephanie.Holt-Castle@kent.gov.uk


From:   Susan Carey, Cabinet Member for Environment  

    

   Simon Jones, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 

Transport 

     

To:   Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee – 8 September 

2020 

Subject:  Kent & Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy – Progress 

Update 

Decision No:  NA 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Past pathway of paper: NA 

Future pathway of paper: NA  

Electoral Division:   All 

Summary: The report presents an update of KCC’s progress with the Kent and 
Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy (ELES), which was formally approved 
and adopted by the Cabinet Member for Environment in July 2020. 
 
Recommendation(s) 
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to note KCC’s progress 
with the Strategy and advise on on-going delivery and future monitoring. 

1. Introduction  

1.1 The purpose of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy is to 
identify an evidence-based pathway to deliver clean growth, and specifically, 
strategies and actions to eliminate poor air quality, reduce fuel poverty and 
deliver an affordable, clean, and secure energy supply for Kent and Medway.  

1.2 The Strategy includes the commitment to meet the UK Government’s target to 
achieve net-zero emissions by 2050 for the country from a baseline of 8,958.2 
kilo tonnes of CO2 (2017). 

1.3 The Strategy was adopted by Kent County Council in July 2021. Partner 
organisations across Kent and Medway then undertook local governance 
processes to support, endorse or adopt the Strategy over the Autumn and 
Winter of 2020. 

Page 193

Agenda Item 8



1.4 A three-year Implementation Plan for the Strategy was developed, consulted 
on, and published in Spring 2021. 

1.5  In alignment with other Kent strategies, the Kent and Medway Energy and Low 
Emissions Strategy will now be known as ‘Plan Z.’ 

2.  The Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 

2.1 The objective of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy is 
to outline the Kent and Medway approach to achieving a reduction in carbon 
emissions and improvements in air quality, with an agreed Kent and Medway 
target of net-zero emissions by 2050. The aims of the strategy are:  

1. EVIDENCE: Provide an ongoing evidence and intelligence base; linking 

data sets to identify hot spots and opportunities, and to build the 

business case for action across Kent and Medway. 

2. POLICY AND STRATEGY: Facilitate the development of evidence-

based policy and strategy to future proof growth, tackle emerging issues 

and realise opportunities. 

3. LEADERSHIP: Support the public sector across Kent and Medway to 

play a strong leadership role with regards to challenges and 

opportunities. 

4. ACTION: Facilitate increased and accelerated action and 

implementation across Kent and Medway. 

2.2 The Strategy is a key element of the County Council’s and Kent and Medway 
public sector partners’ approach to tackling the climate emergency. It provides 
evidence-based pathways to deliver clean growth, and additionally, specific 
strategies and actions to eliminate poor air quality, reduce fuel poverty and 
deliver an affordable, clean, and secure energy supply for Kent and Medway. It 
also supports green recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

2.3 The Strategy identifies 10 priority actions summarised in Table 1 below. Full 
details of these priorities can be found on pages 15 to 28 of the Strategy. 

 

Table 1: Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy 10 Priority Actions 

PRIORITY 1:  EMISSION REDUCTION PATHWAYS TO 2050  
Set area and organisational five-year carbon budgets and emission reduction pathways to 
2050, with significant reduction by 2030. 

PRIORITY 2:  PUBLIC SECTOR DECISION MAKING  
Develop a consistent approach across Kent and Medway, to assess, manage and mitigate 
environmental impacts (both positive and negative), resulting from public sector policies, 
strategies, service delivery, commissioning, and procurement. 

PRIORITY 3:  PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
Ensure climate change, energy, air quality and environmental considerations are integrated 
into Local Plans, policies, and developments, by developing a clean growth strategic 
planning policy and guidance framework for Kent and Medway, to drive down emissions 
and mainstream climate resilience. 

Page 194



PRIORITY 4:  CLIMATE EMERGENCY INVESTMENT FUND 
Establish a trusted Kent and Medway 'Climate Emergency’ carbon sequestration, offset and 
renewable energy investment scheme and fund. 

PRIORITY 5:  BUILDING RETROFIT PROGRAMME 
Set up a Kent and Medway net-zero buildings retrofit plan and programme for public sector, 
domestic and businesses. 

PRIORITY 6:  TRANSPORT, TRAVEL AND DIGITAL CONNECTIVITY 
Set up a smart connectivity and mobility modal shift programme – linking sustainable 
transport, transport innovations, active travel, virtual working, broadband, digital services, 
artificial intelligence, and behaviour change. 

PRIORITY 7:  RENEWABLE ENERGY GENERATION 
Set up an opportunities and investment programme for renewable electricity and heat 
energy generation  

PRIORITY 8:  GREEN INFRASTRUCTURE 
Develop a multi-functional, natural capital opportunity and investment programme – 
focusing on environmental projects that store carbon, increase climate change resilience, 
improve air quality, and increase biodiversity. 

PRIORITY 9:  SUPPORTING LOW CARBON BUSINESS 
Develop a support programme for Kent and Medway’s Low Carbon Environmental Goods 
and Services sector. 

PRIORITY 10: COMMUNICATIONS 
Develop a comprehensive communications, engagement and behaviour change 
programme targeted at residents, employees, businesses, and visitors. 

3. Governance Progress Update 

3.1 Since the Energy and Low Emission Strategy was published, 14 
organisations/groups have endorsed or adopted the Strategy. This includes 
Kent County Council, Thanet District Council, Dover District Council, Maidstone 
Borough Council, Medway Council, Ashford Borough Council, Canterbury City 
Council, Sevenoaks District Council, Tonbridge and Malling Borough Council, 
Dartford Borough Council, Folkestone & Hythe District Council, and Kent 
Leaders, the Kent and Medway Environment Board, and Kent Joint Chief 
Executives.  

 
3.2  Gravesham Borough Council and Swale Borough Council declined to endorse 

or adopt the strategy as both Local Authorities are working toward 2030 net-
zero targets for their boroughs and determined the ELES’s 2050 target was 
therefore too late. However, both agreed to support the Strategy and its 
implementation. Tunbridge Wells Borough Council’s decision to adopt or 
endorse the Strategy is still pending.  

 
3.3 The Energy and Low Emissions Strategy Implementation Plan was drafted, 

consulted on, and published in Spring 2021. The Implementation Plan is 
delivered by partners, coordinated by Kent County Council, and overseen by 
the Kent and Medway Environment Group, chaired by Colin Carmichael. It 
consists of over 80 actions, which are defined, timed, and costed, across the 10 
priorities of the Strategy. The baseline data for ELES is detailed on page 30 of 
the strategy. 

 

Page 195



3.5  The Implementation Plan will be responsive to policy and evidence changes 
and inform both Business as Usual as well as projects. The Implementation 
Plan will be formally monitored on an annual basis at financial year end and 
reported to the Kent and Medway Environment Group, the Kent Environment 
Board and Kent Leaders. 

4.  Actions Progress Update 

4.1  Progress is already being made against the delivery of the Energy and Low 
Emissions Strategy. A summary of key actions which have already been 
delivered is in Table 2 below. 

Table 2: Summary of Key Successes and Progress 

ELES Priority Description of Progress Result/Next Step 

PRIORITY 1:  
EMISSION 
REDUCTION 
PATHWAYS TO 
2050  

Delivered in December 2020, 
the Kent and Medway 
Emissions Analysis and 
Pathways to Net Zero 2050 
report was commissioned to 
understand the optimum 
pathway for achieving the Kent 
and Medway Energy and Low 
Emissions Strategy’s target of 
Net Zero by 2050. It 
recommends an evidence-
based carbon budget for Kent 
and Medway; future emissions 
pathways defined by a range of 
interventions; and highlights the 
scale and speed of 
implementation needed.  

This report will help Local 
Authorities set area and 
organisational five-year 
carbon budgets and 
emission reduction 
pathways to 2050. It also 
helps identify which sectors 
are the largest emitters and 
what key action is needed 
to be able to reach Net 
Zero. 

PRIORITY 2:  
PUBLIC SECTOR 
DECISION MAKING  
 

KCC is leading on the 
development, testing and 
rollout of a comprehensive 
climate change impact 
assessment and social value 
framework for public sector 
decision making, with 
associated policies, guidance, 
training, and support. 

The final product is due at 
the end of 2021 for roll out 
in 2022. 

PRIORITY 3:  
PLANNING AND 
DEVELOPMENT 

A refreshed Kent Design Guide 
in digital format is in 
development to replace the 
2005 printed version. The 
refreshed guide aims to ensure 
there is a county level 
framework for design quality in 
building development, including 
sustainability and renewable 
energy. This framework directly 

The aim is to have the web 
site publicly available and 
ready for use by Spring 
2022. Once the 
engagement process 
concludes, responses will 
be collated, and work will 
get underway to further 
amend the web site early in 
the New Year. 

Page 196



follows the ten characteristics 
of well-designed places 
outlined in the National Design 
Guide published by MHCLG. 

PRIORITY 4:  
CLIMATE 
EMERGENCY 
INVESTMENT FUND 

Research is underway 
reviewing options for delivering 
green investment through Local 
Authority Pension Schemes. 

A review of findings is due 
in late 2021. 

PRIORITY 5:  
BUILDING 
RETROFIT 
PROGRAMME 

KCC has committed to an 
accelerated target of Net Zero 
by 2030 for its own estate and 
services and has secured grant 
funding of £20.6m from the 
Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Scheme. This funding will 
support significant retrofit of our 
estate. 

The Public Sector 
Decarbonisation fund 
projects will deliver a further 
reduction of 40% in KCC’s 
carbon emissions by March 
2022.  (A report on the 
PSDS schemes came to 
Environment & Transport 
Cabinet Committee in 29 
June 2021.) 

PRIORITY 6:  
TRANSPORT, 
TRAVEL AND 
DIGITAL 
CONNECTIVITY 

KCC is facilitating a District / 
Borough wide EV charger 
network project. This could 
provide hundreds of charging 
points across Kent and 
Medway and will operate as a 
Supplier funded model with 
revenue share back to the local 
authorities.  

KCC is keen to ensure our 
smaller communities don’t miss 
out and as such are offering 
chargers to Parishes who wish 
to serve their local residents. 
Parish offices, village halls and 
community centres are all 
possible locations for EV 
chargers 

Currently 150 locations 
have been put forward 
across the county. This 
project will provide charging 
from 7 to 50kwh.  

Installations within Parishes 
are beginning shortly on the 
first 20 locations with the 
reserve list growing all the 
time. This project will 
provide charging from 7-
22kwh with funding 
provided by the 
Government Office for Zero 
Emission Vehicles (OZEV), 
Kent Lane Rental Fund and 
the Department for 
Transport. 

PRIORITY 7:  
RENEWABLE 
ENERGY 
GENERATION 

Solar Together Kent is a 
collective solar PV buying 
scheme that helps households 
get a reduced-price installation 
of solar panels. It was run in 
partnership with iChoosr (the 
collective buying provider) and 
coordinated by KCC together 
with Medway Council and nine 
District/Borough Councils. The 
scheme has run from 
September 2020 and will 
complete in September 2021. 

Solar Together Kent is 
moving forward 
opportunities and 
investment in renewable 
electricity and heat energy 
generation. Installations will 
continue until the end of 
September 2021 with a total 
of 450 installs expected 
providing an annual CO2 
reduction of 450 tonnes. 

Page 197



PRIORITY 8:  
GREEN 
INFRASTRUCTURE 

Delivered in June 2021, report, 
Natural Solutions to Climate 
Change in Kent, was 
commissioned that summarises 
the findings of an overarching 
assessment of opportunities for 
nature-based solutions in Kent 
and the potential benefits these 
present the county. It also 
notes the next steps in 
developing a countywide 
approach for nature-based 
solutions to climate change in 
Kent 

Nature-based solutions 
present an opportunity for 
us to tackle some of the 
county’s climate change 
and ecological challenges, 
whilst delivering wider 
socioeconomic benefits.  

As a result of the 
commission, we now have 
a better understanding of 
the potential for nature-
based solutions in the 
county. Whilst the Council’s 
estate presents 
opportunities, wider joined 
up thinking and partnership 
working will enable bigger 
and better gains for the 
county. 

PRIORITY 9:  
SUPPORTING LOW 
CARBON 
BUSINESS 

Low Carbon Across the South 
and East (LoCASE), led by 
KCC, is a programme of 
integrated measures, 
consisting of financial 
assistance and business 
support, to increase demand 
for clean technology, increase 
energy efficiency of 
businesses, and increase 
growth of the low carbon 
environmental goods and 
services sector. The 
programme was extended to 
June 2023 with an additional 
£14m grant from MHCLG. 

Since LoCASE was 
extended, there have been 
1,436 enquiry forms 
submitted across the 
SELEP. These have already 
been turned in to 105 
approved projects totalling 
£617,806.  
 
This is in addition to the 
initial programme which ran 
from February 2016 and 
supported 1,278 Small and 
Medium Enterprises, 
through £5m of grant 
funding, totalling 
investments of £12.5m. 
 
In May, Low Carbon Kent 
Network won the category 
Delivering Clean Growth in 
the ADEPT President's 
Award  

PRIORITY 10: 
COMMS 

A comprehensive Kent 
Environmental 
Communications and 
Engagement strategy has been 
developed and agreed with 
partners. It is designed to 
ensure a collaborative 

Supporting a partnership 
approach to communication 
and engagement through 
Kent Green Action means 
maximised efficiencies and 
resources, but also creates 
material that is more 

Page 198



approach to communications, 
under the banner Kent Green 
Action, across Kent and 
Medway. The action plan 
includes creating a social 
media calendar, engaging our 
staff, sharing our stories via 
press releases and awards 
submissions, and engaging 
with the local community. 
  

impactful and far-reaching. 

The aim is to unite work 
and inspire and encourage 
everyone to connect with 
nature and take action to 
improve Kent’s 
environment. 

KCC will once again be 
running the annual KES 
conference, based around 
the themes of COP26, to 
raise the profile of our work, 
showcase exemplars, and 
further the local 
partnerships and 
collaborative working that is 
already underway. Last 
year’s online conference 
was a huge success with 
over 350 attendees and 
presentations from Lord 
Debben and Greg Clark 
MP. 

4.2  The Energy and Low Emissions Strategy was also a key part of Kent County 
Council’s entry for the Local Government Chronical Awards in the 'climate 
response' category. KCC were shortlisted and winners will be announced in 
November. 

5.  Financial Implications 

5.1  This report relates to the Strategy itself and not individual costed actions. Every 
partner in ELES is responsible for its own budget in delivering our joint 
objectives and individual areas of responsibility. As projects that Kent County 
Council are involved in are developed, the supporting evidence and any cost 
implications will be identified, and the business case developed through the 
appropriate governance processes.  

5.2 Coordination of the delivery of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low 
Emissions Strategy falls within the remit of the existing Sustainable Business 
and Communities team.  

5.3 Kent County Council has committed to an accelerated target of Net Zero by 
2030 for its own estate and services and has secured grant funding of £20.6m 
from the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme for projects that will deliver a 
further reduction of 40% in KCC’s carbon emissions by March 2022.  (A report 
on the PSDS schemes came to Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee in 
29 June 2021.) 

Page 199



6. Policy Framework  

6.1  This paper and the activity within it are directly linked to the Kent County 
Council’s commitment to “A Cleaner and Greener Kent” and directly supports 
the COVID-19 Economic Recovery Plan. 

 
6.2 The Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy forms part of the 

Kent Environment Strategy and its Implementation Plan. The Kent and Medway 
Energy and Low Emissions Strategy is also relevant to the Kent and Medway 
Growth and Infrastructure Framework, Local Transport Plan 4 (and will inform 
LTP5) and the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and Kent’s Public Health 
Outcomes.  

6.2  Any changes required to KCC policies to implement the Energy and Low 
Emission Strategy will need to be assessed as part of the policy change 
process. 

7. Equalities Impact Assessment 

7.1  An Equalities Impact Assessment has been undertaken for the Kent and 
Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, which has been updated as a 
result of the public consultation.  There are no significant negative impacts. As 
this Strategy is aimed at improving health outcomes, there are likely to be more 
positive equality impacts than negative, particularly for Age, Maternity, Carers 
and Disability.  

8.  General Data Protection Regulation Considerations 

8.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessment is not needed as this Strategy does not 
require the processing of personal data.   

9. Conclusion 

9.1 The intention of the Strategy is to recognise the climate emergency and the 
need to take significant action in the next 10 years in order to be able to 
achieve net zero emissions for the county by 2050.  

9.2   Significant support has been gained for the Strategy from Local Authorities 
across Kent and Medway and progress is already being made across a number 
of priorities. 

10. Next Steps and Timescales 

10.1 The Implementation Plan will be formally monitored on an annual basis at 
financial year end and reported to the Kent and Medway Environment Group, 
the Kent Environment Board and Kent Leaders. 

 
 
 

Page 200



11. Recommendation(s) 

Recommendation(s):  
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to note KCC’s progress 
with the Strategy and advise on on-going delivery and future monitoring. 

10. Appendices and Background Documents 

 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy and Implementation 

Plan – https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-

policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-

and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy 

 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy EQIA --  

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/120431/Kent-and-

Medway-Energy-and-Low-Emissions-Strategy-EqIA.pdf 

 Kent Environment Strategy – www.kent.gov.uk/environmentstrategy   

 Kent Green Action – www.kent.gov.uk/environment-waste-and-planning/kent-

green-action 

 Papers presented to Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee Jan 2018, 

September 2018, November 2018 , May 2019 and November 2019. 

11. Contact details 

Christine Wissink – Interim Head of Sustainable Business & Communities  
Christine.wissink@kent.gov.uk 03000 413482 
 
Relevant Director: Stephanie Holt-Castle, Director Growth and Communities 03000 
412064 

Page 201

https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/about-the-council/strategies-and-policies/environment-waste-and-planning-policies/environmental-policies/kent-and-medway-energy-and-low-emissions-strategy
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/120431/Kent-and-Medway-Energy-and-Low-Emissions-Strategy-EqIA.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/120431/Kent-and-Medway-Energy-and-Low-Emissions-Strategy-EqIA.pdf
http://www.kent.gov.uk/environmentstrategy
http://www.kent.gov.uk/environment-waste-and-planning/kent-green-action
http://www.kent.gov.uk/environment-waste-and-planning/kent-green-action
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=7548&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=7976&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=7977&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=8244&Ver=4
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=831&MId=8248&Ver=4
mailto:Christine.wissink@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



From:  Susan Carey, Cabinet Member for Environment  
    
   Simon Jones, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 

Transport 
 

To:   Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee 8 September 
2021  
 

Subject:  Heritage Conservation Strategy - consultation draft 
                          
Classification: Unrestricted 
 
Past Pathway of report:   N/A 
 
Future Pathway of report:  N/A 
 

Electoral Division:  All 
 

Summary: This report sets out a draft Heritage Conservation Strategy further to the 
update presented to the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee in January 
2021.  It is proposed that the draft Strategy will be subject to public consultation 
during autumn 2021 and following consideration of the responses received, a final 
strategy will be presented to Cabinet Committee in March 2022 ahead of its adoption. 
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and 
endorse the draft content of the Heritage Conservation Strategy for public 
consultation. 
 

 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 This report presents the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee with a 

draft Heritage Conservation Strategy ahead of a proposed public consultation.  
The draft Strategy follows a report to Cabinet Committee in January 2021 where 
a draft vision, strategic aims and objectives were all endorsed.   
 

1.2 The draft Heritage Conservation Strategy is included as part of the Background 
Documents (Section 7) and has been informed and reviewed by a Member 
Working Group.  It reflects the same vision and four strategic aims endorsed 
previously by the Cabinet Committee, and the objectives have been refined in 
the final drafting. 

 
2.    Heritage Conservation Strategy 

 
2.1 In October 2019, the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee was 

presented with a report setting out the priorities and future direction of the 
Heritage Conservation Service at Kent County Council, with an opportunity for 
Members to make comments to the Cabinet Member on priorities and strategic 
direction.  It was resolved that a Member Working Group be established to help 
inform the drafting of a Heritage Conservation Strategy. 

Page 203

Agenda Item 9



 
2.2 The Member Working Group initially comprised Susan Carey, Matthew Balfour, 

Tony Hills, Michael Payne, Alan Ridgers (Chair) and Martin Whybrow.  The 
Working Group met on three occasions and agreed the scope and structure of 
the Heritage Conservation Strategy whilst commenting on its emerging content.  
The draft vision and strategic aims were presented to Cabinet Committee in 
January 2021 and endorsed.   

 
2.3 The vision is to: 

 
Realise the substantial benefits and opportunities of Kent’s rich heritage 
through its conservation, enhancement, and enjoyment 
 

2.4 The strategic aims are: 
 
1. Continue to improve the high quality and timely historic environment advice 

provided to KCC, local authorities and other bodies involved in growth and 
change based on accessible and up to date information and understanding; 

2. Ensure, working with new and existing partners, that KCC’s historic assets 
are conserved, enhanced, enjoyed and valued by Kent’s residents and 
visitors. 

3. Increase awareness, knowledge and understanding of Kent’s rich heritage 
and increase involvement in heritage activities amongst its local 
communities; and 

4. Work towards the service becoming financially self-sustaining. 
 
2.5 The full drafting of the Heritage Conservation Strategy has now been completed 

and is included as part of the Background Documents.  It retains the same 
vision and four strategic aims which were endorsed by Cabinet Committee 
earlier this year.  These remain supported by a set of twenty objectives which 
have been subject to a degree of refinement in the final drafting. 
 

2.6 The draft Heritage Conservation Strategy has been informed and reviewed by a 
Member Working Group now comprising Susan Carey, Alan Ridgers (Chair), 
Tony Hills, Neil Baker, Mike Baldock, Cameron Beart and Mike Dendor. 

 
2.7 It is proposed that subject to endorsement from the Cabinet Committee, the 

draft Strategy be designed and printed ready for public consultation during 
autumn 2021.  The feedback from the consultation would inform the final 
Heritage Conservation Strategy which would be presented to Cabinet 
Committee in March 2022 ahead of its adoption. 

 
3. Financial Implications 

 
3.1 The Kent County Council Heritage Conservation Service has a base revenue 

budget of £223,500 for the current 2021/22 financial year.  It also has a capital 
allocation for windmill weatherproofing of £584,000 for 2021/22 - 2023/24. 
 

3.2 The Service generates an income of approximately £192,000 in a typical year to 
deliver a wide range of activities relating to the historic environment.   

 

Page 204



3.3 One of the objectives (no. 20) supporting the strategic aims is to develop a 
strategy to systematically review and monitor progress towards financial 
sustainability. 
 

4.    Equalities implications  
 

4.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has informed the preparation of the draft 
Strategy and is included as part of the Background Documents.  
 

5. Conclusions 
 
5.1 Kent has a rich and varied historic environment and the draft Heritage 

Conservation Strategy has been prepared to create a clear and measurable 
approach to how Kent County Council will protect, sustain and celebrate this.  
 

5.2 The draft Strategy has been prepared with the engagement of the Environment 
and Transport Cabinet Committee and support of the Member Working Group.  
The draft is now considered to be ready for a period of public consultation and 
would be presented to Cabinet Committee in March 2022 ahead of its adoption. 

 
6.    Recommendation(s) 
 

Recommendation(s):   
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse the draft content of the 
Heritage Conservation Strategy for public consultation. 
 

 
7. Background Documents 

 
7.1 Appendix 1: draft Heritage Conservation Strategy 
 
8. Contact details 
 
Report Author:  
 
Tom Marchant 
Head of Strategic Planning and Policy 
03000 413412 
tom.marchant@kent.gov.uk  

Relevant Director: 
 
Stephanie Holt-Castle  
Director of Growth and Communities 
03000 412064  
stephanie.holt-castle@kent.gov.uk 
 

 

Page 205



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

Heritage Conservation Strategy  

Contents 
 

1 Introduction ........................................................................................................................................ 1 

Legislative and policy background ................................................................................................. 3 

Proposed Vision and Strategic Aims ............................................................................................. 5 

2 Our Heritage Achievements ............................................................................................................ 5 

3 Our Opportunities .............................................................................................................................. 6 

4 Our Challenges ................................................................................................................................. 9 

5 Strategic Aim 1 – Continue to improve the high quality and timely historic environment 

advice provided to KCC, local authorities and other bodies involved in growth and change 

based on accessible and up to date information and understanding. ........................................ 11 

Archaeology and development ................................................................................................ 11 

Historic built environment advice ............................................................................................ 11 

The Kent Historic Environment Record ................................................................................. 12 

6 Strategic Aim 2 - Ensure, working with new and existing partners, that KCC’s historic 

assets are conserved, enhanced, enjoyed and valued by Kent’s residents and visitors. ....... 13 

KCC-owned heritage assets ...................................................................................................... 13 

Windmills ........................................................................................................................................ 13 

Archaeological archives ............................................................................................................. 16 

7 Strategic Aim 3 - Increase awareness, knowledge and understanding of Kent’s rich 

heritage and increase involvement in heritage activities amongst its local communities. ...... 17 

Community archaeology ............................................................................................................ 17 

Metal detecting searching and chance discoveries ........................................................... 19 

Supporting the development of robust heritage strategies ............................................. 20 

8 Strategic Aim 4 - Work towards the service becoming financially self-sustaining. ....... Error! 

Bookmark not defined. 

Benchmarking and resourcing ................................................................................................. 21 

9 Our objectives at a glance ............................................................................................................. 23 

10 How we will deliver this strategy – our medium-term plan ..................................................... 25 

Page 207



1 
 

Figure 1 Canterbury World Heritage Site 

1 Introduction 
 

1.1 This strategy sets out a vision for the future direction of Kent County Council’s 

approach to heritage conservation as implemented by the Heritage Conservation 

Service. It presents the context within which KCC operates, our strategic aims and 

objectives for the service, and the means by which we propose these will be 

delivered.   

1.2 Our heritage can be defined as “all that has been passed to us by previous 

generations. It is all around us. It is in the houses we live in, our places of work, the 

transport we use, our places of worship, our parks and gardens, the places we go to 

for our sport and social life, in the ground beneath our feet, in the shape of our 

landscape and in the placing and arrangement of our fields, villages, towns and 

cities. Heritage is also found in our moveable possessions, from our national 

treasures in our museums, to our own family heirlooms, and in the intangible such as 

our history, traditions, legends and language.” (Historic England 

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/generalintro/heritage-conservation-

defined/). The aspect of heritage primarily dealt with by the County Council’s 

Heritage Conservation Service 

is the historic environment 

which is defined in the National 

Planning Policy Framework 

(NPPF) as “All aspects of the 

environment resulting from the 

interaction between people 

and places through time, 

including all surviving physical 

remains of past human activity, 

whether visible, buried or 

submerged, and landscaped 

and planted or managed flora”. 

In order to manage our 

heritage effectively and 

pragmatically we need to 

understand its significance and 

agree policies to guide 

decision-making. 

 
1.3 Kent, named after the 

Roman term for its Iron Age 

inhabitants “the Cantiaci”, has 

an extremely rich and varied 

heritage (also known as the 

historic environment). In such a lowland county the physical environment is 

substantially the product of human activity, shaped by agriculture, industry, and 

Page 208

https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/generalintro/heritage-conservation-defined/
https://historicengland.org.uk/advice/hpg/generalintro/heritage-conservation-defined/


2 
 

settlement over the millennia, including reclaimed marshland, grazed downs, and 

managed woodland. Kent has featured prominently in the history of England and its 

close proximity to the continental mainland has resulted in it having a special place in 

our understanding of how England has related to Europe since prehistoric times, 

which continues to the present day. Heritage assets within the county range from the 

internationally important, such as the Swanscombe Skull site (the oldest such 

remains found in Britain), Canterbury Cathedral and St Augustine’s Abbey World 

Heritage Site and Dover Castle (known as the ‘key to the kingdom’), to undesignated 

milestones or historic lamp posts. All of these assets whether designated or not add 

character to our landscapes and towns and reveal the lived experiences of former 

residents of Kent. For some periods of our past, before written records were routinely 

kept, and for people who are underrepresented in recorded history, material culture 

is the only means of understanding how people lived and changed the environment 

around them. 

1.4 Natural erosion and ploughing and other agricultural processes can harm 

archaeological sites and historic landscapes, but conservation is possible through 

sensitive management, often delivered through environmental stewardship 

agreements. Kent’s growth agenda gives rise to major development pressure but 

also fantastic archaeological discoveries and opportunities to conserve outstanding 

historic buildings. Careful management of this often fragile and vulnerable resource 

is needed and opportunities for heritage-led regeneration and development-related 

benefits for heritage assets must be seized. The character of Kent’s historic 

environment can contribute greatly to the development of Kent’s sense of place and 

identity to underpin successful growth, and forms an important resource for 

education, leisure, and tourism. KCC’s Heritage Conservation Service has a key 

strategic role in helping to safeguard, manage and make accessible this heritage for 

present and future generations. 

 

World Heritage Site 1 

Scheduled Monuments 352 

Listed Buildings 17,342 

Registered Park and Gardens 61 

Conservation Areas 503 

Historic Parks and Gardens 407 

Historic Environment Record monuments 87,612 

Table 1 Table showing designated and non-designated heritage assets in Kent. 

 

1.5 KCC has a key role to play in the conservation of Kent’s heritage but we are far 

from the only actor. Historic England is the government’s statutory advisor on the 

historic environment; it is responsible for identifying and designating heritage assets 

Page 209



3 
 

of national significance and manages change at such sites.  It also supports local 

partners with specialist advice and guidance. Local authorities are responsible for 

implementing planning law and policy. KCC’s Heritage Conservation Service advises 

Kent local authorities on the impact of development proposals on Kent’s heritage 

(primarily on archaeological and landscape matters). Local planning authorities also 

designate and manage Conservation Areas and develop heritage management 

policies and strategies in their Local Plans. Landowners and householders manage 

their own heritage assets in accordance with national legislation and national and 

local policies. A host of community groups support the conservation of Kent’s 

heritage with projects and initiatives of their own.  

1.6 Within this network of stakeholders and partners, KCC’s main role is to manage 

heritage assets in our ownership, provide an advice service to other stakeholders (in 

particular local planning authorities), manage the Historic Environment Record 

(HER) - the main strategic information resource for Kent’s historic environment and 

help the wider community access and enjoy Kent's heritage through a range of 

community initiatives. 

  

Legislative and policy background 
 

1.7 The Heritage Conservation Service operates within conventions, legislation and 

policy at international, national and local levels. 

 The UK is a signatory of the 1992 Valletta Treaty (European Convention on 
the Protection of the Archaeological Heritage (Revised), which aims to protect 
European archaeological heritage. 

 The work of the service is carried out within the general legislative framework 
of the UK. The main relevant legislation covering the team’s historic 
environment advice and the management of KCC’s own heritage assets is the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning (Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Areas) Act 1990, the Ancient Monuments and Archaeological 
Areas Act 1979, the Protection of Wrecks Act 1973 and the Protection of 
Military Remains Act 1986. Its work in relation to the Treasure process is 
covered by the Treasure Act 1996.  

   Work carried out at the windmills is also covered by the Health and Safety at 
Work Act 1974. 

 The team operates under the National Planning Policy Framework (updated 
2021) and in particular chapter 16 ‘Conserving and enhancing the historic 
environment’ and the Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact 
Assessment) Regulations 2017. 

1.8 At the time of preparing this Strategy, Kent County Council is engaged in a 
Strategic Reset – a re-evaluation of its services in light of the COVID-19 crisis. The 
Reset will connect better what is already going on across KCC, identify priority 
projects that need to be connected to maximize impact, and shape the organisation 
through its people, technology and infrastructure to deliver its ambitions. 

Page 210



4 
 

The Reset includes the following Shared Ambitions which have informed preparation 

and will inform delivery of the Heritage Conservation Strategy: 

Service delivery and improving the experience of residents and service users: 

Serve our residents. We listen to our residents’ feedback and use their insight 
to design, deliver and invest in our services. 
Work together with and for our communities. We are clear about KCC's 
community leadership role, understanding and responding to the diversity and 
needs of our different communities. 
Deliver services to be proud of. We use our services as a combined force to 
face our big challenges and maximise our impact. 
 

How we operate and the tools we need to keep improving: 

Empower our staff and leadership. Everyone is equipped, trusted and 
supported to use their talents and skills to deliver the best outcomes for Kent. 
Make the most of our assets and commercial opportunities. We use our 
assets to their maximum potential, making sure that they work together and 
support us to serve our residents.  
Think digital-first and maximise our data. We use our existing and future 
investment in digital and technology infrastructure to design and create 
solutions that make residents’ lives better and easier. 

 

 

 

Figure 2 Volunteers excavating Randall Manor medieval manor house within Shorne Woods Country Park 

 

Page 211



5 
 

 

Proposed Vision and Strategic Aims 
 

1.9 The proposed Vision for Heritage Conservation is to: 

Realise the substantial benefits and opportunities of Kent’s rich heritage 

through its conservation, enhancement, and enjoyment.   

1.10 Underpinning this are four proposed Strategic Aims: 

Strategic Aim 1 - Continue to improve the high quality and timely historic 
environment advice provided to KCC, local authorities and other bodies 
involved in growth and change based on accessible and up to date information 
and understanding. 
 
Strategic Aim 2 - Ensure, working with new and existing partners, that KCC’s 
historic assets are conserved, enhanced, enjoyed and valued by Kent’s 
residents and visitors. 
 
Strategic Aim 3 - Increase awareness, knowledge and understanding of Kent’s 
rich heritage and increase involvement in heritage activities amongst its local 
communities . 
 
Strategic Aim 4 - Work towards the service becoming financially self-sustaining. 

 

1.11 In order to further the Strategic Aims, each is accompanied by Objectives. In 

several cases the objectives relate to more than one Aim, so they have been placed 

under one aim with cross references to the others where relevant. 

 

2 Our Heritage Achievements 
 

2.1 Achievements of the Heritage Conservation service include: 

Completion of the Dover Heritage Strategy (winner of RTPI South East award 

for Excellence in Planning for Built Heritage), used by DDC to help secure 

£4.27 million NLHF funding,  

Completion of the consultation draft of the Folkestone and Hythe Heritage 

Strategy, 

Dover Urban Archaeological Database and archaeological characterisation 

completed and highly praised as excellent by Historic England,  

An innovative Archaeological Notification Areas project, which will help 

developers and planners by providing information up front and digitally, 

notification area datasets now delivered to seven Local Planning Authorities,  

Page 212



6 
 

Continuing to deliver archaeological advice service to planners and developers 

as construction continues at pace including development of protocols to enable 

site visits during COVID,  

Delivering community archaeology programmes in innovative ways and 

modelling good practice for local groups,  

Substantial capital works undertaken at KCC’s historic windmills, 

Successful recent Historic England audit of the Historic Environment Record 

(HER). 

 

Figure 3 Heritage Conservation officer monitoring Lower Thames Crossing fieldwork during the Covid lockdown 2021 

 

3 Our Opportunities 
 

3.1 The historic environment in Kent offers a great resource for sustaining and 

enhancing the quality of life in the county. Heritage can  inspire the regeneration of 

an area, complementing and supporting economic development. This can help 

produce higher quality and more sustainable development that is successfully 

integrated into the life of the county. The historic environment can also play a key 

role in social regeneration, well-being and in Kent’s arts and cultural scene. 

3.2 Key opportunities offered by Kent’s heritage include: 

Creating a sense of place. Whether in an urban or rural environment, the 

historic environment creates a ‘sense of place’. The buildings, open spaces, 

historic features and patterns of roads and lanes are what ultimately define the 

character of settlements. It is therefore important that any change is sensitive to 

this character, adding to and developing distinctiveness rather than diminishing 

it and creating uniformity or blandness. The historic environment can hold 

Page 213



7 
 

meanings and memories for a community that go beyond the architectural, 

archaeological or historical importance of designated assets. 

Re-use of heritage assets. Re-using existing heritage assets (most commonly 

historic buildings) can provide an effective way to retain historic character while 

conserving building resources and achieving sustainability. Guidance (see 4.2 

below) demonstrates that historic structures, settlements and landscapes can in 

fact be more resilient in the face of climate change, and more energy efficient 

than more modern structures and settlements. This has also been considered 

in the Historic England report ‘There’s no Place Like Old Homes : re-use and 

Recycle to Reduce Carbon’ (Historic England 2019). 

 

Figure 4 Visitors enjoying the Tudor castle at Deal (English Heritage) 

 

Attracting business and commercial activities. Heritage and a historic 

sense of place help to attract investment, businesses and commercial activity. 

Research quoted by Heritage Counts 2016 found that of 100 businesses 

surveyed one in four agreed that the historic environment is an important factor 

in deciding where to locate and was as important as road access. Research by 

the Heritage Lottery Fund in 2013 confirmed that innovative new businesses 

flourish in places that possess a good stock of historic distinctive buildings 

(https://www.heritagefund.org.uk/sites/default/files/media/research/new_ideas_

old_buildings_2013.pdf). It also found that independent retail and leisure 

businesses seek to cluster in historic areas of towns and cities thereby adding 

to the distinctive sense of place and attracting more successful businesses. 

The HLF also found that businesses which occupy listed buildings generate 

£13,000 extra Gross Valued Added per business per year. Creative and cultural 

industries are particularly attracted to historic buildings because they are 

smaller, more flexible and cost-effective: they are 29% more likely to be found 

in a Listed Building than in a non-listed building (Heritage Counts 2016 and 

HLF 2013). 

Page 214



8 
 

Adding value to new development. Heritage-led regeneration adds value to 

development projects. It is striking that in most towns it is the heritage-led 

developments that are among the most prestigious and financially valuable 

(Dover Heritage Strategy 2013). 

In areas that had received investment in the historic environment, 

approximately one in five visitors in a survey of 1,000 stated they spent more in 

an area after investment in the historic environment than they did before. One 

in four businesses stated that the historic environment investment had directly 

led to an increase in business turnover (AMION and Locum Consulting 2010) 

Durability of regeneration. Where new development is effectively integrated 

into existing settlement, by complementing existing character and materials, it 

is likely to prove more economically and socially durable. Retaining existing 

buildings among new build breaks up monotony and can permit a wider range 

of occupiers; retaining historic features helps connect older people with the new 

community by providing reference points in space and memory. 

Heritage contribution to the economy. In the year before the COVID-19 

pandemic the heritage sector directly or indirectly supported more than 89,000 

jobs in the south-east of England. Heritage employment grew almost twice as 

fast as the rest of the economy between 2011 and 2019. England’s heritage 

sector generated a GVA greater than the security industry, defence industry, 

aerospace industry and the arts and culture industry in the UK (Source: Historic 

England). 

The role of tourism in Kent's economy. The tourism industry is an important 

sector providing 67,000 jobs and contributing over £1.4 billion to the Kent 

economy (Kent County Council 2020). 

Heritage tourism generates benefits in the local economy (Historic England 

2016). A TNS study estimates that 32 per cent (£15.3bn) of the average annual 

spend from domestic and international tourism in the UK between 2011 and 

2014 is attributable to activities broadly defined as heritage-related activities 

(TNS 2015). 

 Visiting heritage generates money for the local economy – for every £1 spent 

as part of a heritage visit, 32p is spent on site and the remaining 68p is spent in 

local businesses: restaurants, cafés, hotels and shops (HLF 2010)  

Improved public health and well-being. The link between heritage and well-

being is now well established (e.g. ‘Wellbeing and the Historic Environment, 

Historic England 2018). There is presently an ongoing shift from an acute and 

hospital-centred, illness-based system to a person-centric, health-based 

system that will rely upon individual and community assets. As such, heritage 

can play an important role in the contribution of the arts to person-centred, 

place-based care through means such as arts-on-prescription activities, cultural 

venues and community programmes. The historic environment, archaeology 

and heritage form part of our experience of being human and can provide 

individual as well as collective opportunities to engage with arts and culture 

Page 215



9 
 

whilst having positive effects on our physical and mental health and wellbeing 

in the process. 

 

4 Our Challenges 
 

4.1 Kent’s heritage is vulnerable in a number of different ways. Some of these are a 

result of natural processes but most are due to human action or inaction. The 

vulnerability of an asset is not only related to direct impacts, however, but also to 

actions that affect the setting of the asset.  

4.2 Key challenges facing Kent’s historic environment include: 

 

Figure 5 Chillenden windmill, blown down in 
2003, now re-built 

 

Natural Processes. Heritage 

assets can be highly vulnerable 

to coastal erosion as many were 

specifically located for their 

access to the sea e.g. sea 

defences, military sites or quays 

and ‘hards’ for landing boats. 

The vulnerability can be in the form of direct erosion of the monument or the 

burying of the monument by material deposition. Sea level change leading to 

inundation or salt level changes also threatens heritage assets as do changes 

in hydrology.  

Climate change The effect of humans on the environment can be traced over 

millennia but the unprecedented rate of recent change will inevitably impact on 

Kent’s heritage with increased flash flooding, sea-level rise, rapid soaking and 

drying of waterlogged deposits, wind and lightning strikes impacting our fragile 

historic structures. Historic England has produced guidance (‘Climate Change 

and the Historic Environment’, 2008) that reviews the threats to the historic 

environment posed by climate change. More recent guidance can also be found 

in ‘Climate Change Adaptation Report’ (Historic England, 2016). Assessment of 

the impacts of climate change on Kent’s heritage assets will be needed. 

Rural activities. A range of rural activities have the potential to impact on 

heritage assets including ploughing (especially deep ploughing), machinery 

movement, changes in the local farming regime (e.g. a change from pasture to 

arable cultivation, removal of hedgerows or construction of new infrastructure). 

The increased leisure use of the countryside can also damage heritage sites, 

particularly when this involves increased vehicle access (e.g. mountain biking, 

motorbikes or off-road vehicles). 

Page 216



10 
 

Figure 6 Placed deposits of animal bones, including cattle skulls, in the ditch 
of the Ramsgate causewayed enclosure 

New infrastructure. The increasing population of Kent and the new 

development required to house it requires ever more support in the form of 

pipelines and sewers, roads, rail, power and water infrastructure. The impact of 

this on the historic environment will be assessed and mitigated and a balance 

sought between essential construction and conservation of important assets. 

Development. The greatest impact on Kent’s heritage arises from new 

development. KCC estimates that between 2019 and 2039 approximately 

225,000 new dwellings will be built in Kent and Medway. In addition to this, 

commercial, leisure, minerals and waste and other development must be 

considered. Construction activities can directly affect buried archaeological 

remains through the excavation of new foundations, services, remodelling of 

land, removal of topsoil in advance of development, piling works and from the 

operation of plant. Permitted development rights have the further potential for 

un-noticed impacts on heritage assets. 

Policy weaknesses and 

changes. Currently 

approaches to protecting 

heritage concentrate on 

nationally important 

assets meaning that 

regionally or locally 

important assets can 

remain vulnerable. At the 

time of writing this 

strategy, planning 

reforms have been 

proposed that may leave 

Kent’s heritage more 

vulnerable, due to a 

process of zoning land 

that may not have been 

assessed for its heritage 

potential. It is important 

that local people 

continue to be involved 

in decision-making and 

that a strong evidence 

base informs any zoning 

of land. 

Crime. Heritage assets 

are vulnerable to a range 

of types of criminal 

activity including arson, 

theft by metal detecting 

Page 217



11 
 

(known as ‘night-hawking’), vandalism and graffiti, trespass and anti-social 

activities.  

 

5 Strategic Aim 1 – Continue to improve the high quality and 

timely historic environment advice provided to KCC, local 

authorities and other bodies involved in growth and change 

based on accessible and up to date information and 

understanding. 
 

Archaeology and development 
 

5.1 Through its Archaeology and Development team, Heritage Conservation 

provides archaeological advice services to all of Kent’s Local Planning Authorities 

(LPAs) except Canterbury City Council, but including Medway Council and Ebbsfleet 

Development Corporation, via Service Level Agreements (SLAs). Canterbury City 

Council maintains its own archaeological officer although KCC Heritage 

Conservation provides advice on KCC-determined matters and strategic proposals 

within Canterbury district. 

5.2 The Archaeology and Development team carries out more than 2,000 appraisals 

each year. Most of these are for planning applications and many require ongoing 

archaeological support. In addition, the team provides heritage support to Nationally 

Significant Infrastructure Projects (NSIPs) and ‘Garden Town’ developments. 

Monitoring the standard of archaeological work can be a time-consuming element of 

the process. 

Objective 1. Continue to provide an archaeological service to Kent’s planning 

authorities, developers and householders [also Strategic Aim 3] 

Objective 2. Explore and determine the potential for requiring archaeological 

contractors which undertake archaeological assessments on KCC projects to 

be Registered Archaeological Organisations 

 

Historic built environment advice 

5.3 As most districts have their own Conservation Officer covering built heritage, the 

Heritage Conservation Service provides advice on the historic built environment only 

to the County Council. The KCC Conservation Officer advises on key strategic 

infrastructure projects and developments relating to school buildings to ensure that 

heritage assets are protected and enhanced where possible. This advice is most 

effective when given at an early stage in the design process. 

Page 218



12 
 

Objective 3. Continue to provide a historic built environment advice service on 

County Council and strategic matters in Kent. [also Strategic Aim 3] 

 

The Kent Historic Environment Record 

5.4 The Kent Historic Environment Record (HER) is a database of almost 90,000 

heritage assets and features in Kent linked to a GIS mapping system. It includes 

designated assets such as Listed Buildings and Scheduled Monuments as well as 

non-designated assets such as archaeological sites, historic non-listed buildings, 

parks, and gardens etc. It is used for development management, research, 

education, and tourism purposes. The HER (formerly known as the Sites and 

Monuments Record before historic buildings were added to the record) was formally 

adopted by KCC in 1995.  

5.5 The HER is identified in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) as the 

prime source of heritage information. The Kent HER is the only HER for the whole 

county and is used by all local authorities, Medway Council and Ebbsfleet 

Development Corporation.  

Objective 4: Continue to maintain and enhance the Kent HER, to meet the 

requirements of the NPPF and underpin decision-making in planning and 

development management. [also Strategic Aim 2, Strategic Aim 3] 

 

Case Study: The Kent Historic Environment Record (HER) 

The Kent HER is a database of almost 90,000 historic buildings, 

archaeological sites and discoveries and landscapes across Kent. It 

contains discoveries dating from the Palaeolithic period (up to 1m years 

ago) to the Cold War and is used by researchers, developers, 

community projects and the public to learn more about Kent’s 

outstanding heritage. It is available to view online at 

www.kent.gov.uk/HER where it is accompanied by historic maps and 

aerial photographs as well as pages on different themes in Kent’s past, 

some written by the HER volunteer team. During the COVID 2020 

lockdown period, the website had 176,000 page views – its highest ever 

and another 103,000 via the Heritage Gateway. 

Page 219

http://www.kent.gov.uk/HER


13 
 

 

 

 

6 Strategic Aim 2 - Ensure, working with new and existing 

partners, that KCC’s historic assets are conserved, enhanced, 

enjoyed and valued by Kent’s residents and visitors.  
 

KCC-owned heritage assets 
 

6.1 Kent County Council owns and is responsible for a large number of diverse 

heritage assets including historic school buildings, archaeological monuments, 

milestones, war memorials and historic street paving. These play a vital role in the 

character of Kent. Information about the important heritage assets which KCC owns 

is spread amongst several databases (HER, K2 and Highways service owned) and 

the assets are under day-to-day management of different parts of the County 

Council. Information on the location and significance of heritage assets is not always 

available to relevant KCC officers or contractors and it is possible for heritage assets 

to be accidentally damaged. 

Objective 5: Work across KCC to coordinate information on heritage assets 

and finalise the Kent Highways Heritage protocol. 

 

Windmills 

6.2 Kent County Council owns and is responsible for the preservation of eight 

historic windmills which are exceptional in terms of their high listing grades, their 

historic and regional significance, their architectural and technological excellence, 

and their mechanical completeness. 

Page 220



14 
 

Location, Name Type Constructed Designation Date listed Acquired 

by KCC 

Chillenden Mill Post 1868 (rebuilt 

2005) 

Grade II* 11/10/1963 1958 

Cranbrook, 

Union Mill 

Smock 1814 Grade I 09/06/1952 1960 

Herne Mill Smock Inscribed 

1789 

Grade I 29/09/1951 1984 

Margate, Drapers 

Mill 

Smock 1845 Grade II 22/02/1973 1968 

Meopham Mill 

 

Smock c1819 Grade II* 22/08/1952 1958 

Stelling Minnis, 

Davison’s Mill 

Smock 1866 Grade I 29/12/1966 1970 

West Kingsdown 

Mill 

Smock 1805? 

Moved here 

1880 

Grade II 01/06/1967 1958 

Wittersham, 

Stocks Mill 

Post Inscribed 

1781 

Grade II 04/06/1952 1979 

 

6.3 Kent County Council’s approach to the management of its windmills is set out 

below: 

 To maintain in full working order those mills that are in the best 
condition. 

 To make all eight mills weatherproof and watertight so that those which 
are incomplete can be returned to working order over the long term, as 
funds become available. 

 To keep those that are visually complete in an intact condition for as long 
as possible. 

 To ensure all the windmills and their sites are made safe for the visiting 
public, adjacent residents, passers-by, and the volunteer teams and 
members of staff who use them. 

 

Page 221



15 
 

 

 

6.4 Four of the mills are ‘active’ in that their sweeps and fantails turn regularly, and 

four are ‘static’ with no regularly working parts. The active mills are Union Mill, 

Cranbrook; Drapers Mill, Margate; Chillenden Mill and Stelling Minnis Mill. The static 

mills are Herne; Wittersham; Meopham and West Kingsdown. 

6.5 A management approach of stabilisation has been implemented very 

successfully. Management of the mills is only possible with the help of many 

volunteers in the windmill groups who assist with maintenance tasks and open the 

mills to the public. 

 

Objective 6: Follow a management approach to KCC-owned windmills, so that: 

i) Mills capable of milling flour (Drapers Mill, Margate, and Cranbrook 
Mill) remain able to do so.  

Case Study: Windmills conservation programme 

The Kent Windmills Programme 

was developed in 2019 to 

weatherproof and safeguard the 

eight historic windmills owned by 

Kent County Council. Each 

windmill is managed by a locally 

based team of volunteers who 

ensure the buildings are accessible 

to visitors during the spring and 

summer months. In 2020, KCC’s 

capital works programme funded a 

comprehensive scheme of repairs 

at West Kingsdown Mill which was 

featured on ITV Meridian News in 

March 2021. Repair works in 

progress include the construction 

of a new reefing stage at Meopham 

Green Mill, supported by a £25,000 

grant from Historic England’s 

Heritage at Risk Emergency Fund. 

KCC’s capital programme is 

funding major repairs at 

Cranbrook’s Grade I listed Union 

Windmill (see image), involving the 

construction of a new 8-bladed 

fantail and four new sweeps. The aim is for Cranbrook Mill to be capable of milling 

flour by wind power again by the end of 2021. 

Page 222



16 
 

Figure 7 Archaeological archives: Roman vessels found during A2 widening 

ii) The weatherproofing programme will be continued across the 
timeframe of this Plan. 

iii) Static mills will be returned to visual completeness subject to 
funding 

iv) Static mills will be made active wherever possible.  
[also Strategic Aim 3] 

Objective 7: KCC’s relationship with the windmill volunteer groups will be 

strengthened. [also Strategic Aim 3] 

Objective 8: Explore alternative funding mechanisms for the windmills, 

including setting up a charitable Trust to oversee management. [also SA3] 

 

Archaeological archives 
 

6.6 Archaeological archives are produced during archaeological fieldwork. They 

consist of a small sample of the material that was recovered – the pottery, 

metalwork, stone, bone, environmental samples and so on – and are retained 

permanently to act as a resource for further research. The research may be carried 

out to check the conclusions of the original excavators or to research new aspects of 

archaeology that were not considered during the original project. They include 

important objects which would be displayed in museums or galleries. 

6.7 In Kent, most 

archaeological archives will be 

generated by projects required 

as part of the development 

management process, but they 

will also include community 

excavations. Traditionally, 

archaeological archives are 

deposited in museums but in 

Kent almost all the museums 

are full and will no longer 

accept them. The archives are 

now therefore mostly retained 

by the original excavators. 

6.8 KCC is the owner of more 

than 2,500 boxes of archive 

material deriving primarily from 

the High Speed 1 Channel 

Tunnel Rail Link project and 

has a direct responsibility to find a home for them. KCC is also responsible for the 

long-term deposition of archives from KCC road schemes and other development. 

KCC is keen to continue working with partners to develop a solution for all Kent’s 

Page 223



17 
 

archives, as the retention and deposition of archaeological archives is regarded as 

national good practice and KCC also requires this in its archaeological specifications. 

As the main archaeological curator for Kent, KCC has a responsibility to help find a 

solution to the archives problem and improve access to information. 

 

6.9 An assessment of archaeological archives has been undertaken – in 2020 this 

consists of approximately 23,000 boxes of material from Kent and Medway (based 

on a detailed 2015 assessment with a multiplier applied for time passed). Options for 

storage and display have been considered. The most cost-effective system (at time 

of writing) available for bulk archives is the Deepstore facility in Cheshire. However, 

conditions there are not currently suitable for specialist materials e.g. metalwork, 

textiles etc. so a separate facility would be needed for these materials. Discussions 

will be held with neighbouring authorities and Kent’s museums and archaeological 

contractors to identify an approach to the specialist store. A project will be developed 

to make information on artefacts available on line including a virtual gallery. 

 

Objective 9: Assess options for the display and long-term storage of 

archaeological archives and ensure the KCC-held archives are placed in an 

appropriate repository. [also SA3] 

 

7 Strategic Aim 3 - Increase awareness, knowledge and 

understanding of Kent’s rich heritage and increase involvement 

in heritage activities amongst its local communities. 
 

Community archaeology 
 

7.1 Since 2006 the Heritage Conservation team has employed a community 

archaeologist usually through external funding. Highly successful Heritage Lottery 

projects have been carried out at Shorne Woods Country Park (Shorne Heritage 

Project and Shorne HubCAP) and around Cobham (Cobham Landscape Detectives). 

The Community Archaeologist has been involved in a number of other projects 

across the county, some developed through the Heritage Conservation Service and 

some developed by others with the service providing community archaeology 

expertise. These have included: 

 

 Footsteps of Caesar Project – survey and excavation with the University 
of Leicester at Ebbsfleet (Thanet) and Worth. Focused on a site 
discovered on KCC’s East Kent Access Road that is considered to 
connect with the invasion by Caesar.  

 Command of the Heights – community excavation at Fort Amherst, 
Chatham for Medway Council. 

Page 224



18 
 

 Rose Hill House – excavation of a 18th to 20th century house in 
Sittingbourne that involved direct participation of more than 300 primary 
school children from the adjacent school (as part of the Woodland 
Wildlife Hidden Histories project).  

 Royal Military Canal – survey works to support advance work for a new 
cycle path with Ashford Borough Council.     

 Boxley Warren Heritage project – running archaeology activities for the 
project for the Mid Kent Downs Countryside Partnership. 

 Valley of Visions (Medway Valley), Darent Valley and Fifth Continent 
(Romney Marsh) – providing community archaeology support and 
activities for three landscape partnership schemes. 

 Repton pond project at Cobham Hall – survey and excavation of a 
Reptonian pond feature at Cobham Hall, working on behalf of the 
Cobham Hall Heritage Trust 

7.2 There are enormous benefits from community archaeology for participants in 

terms of well-being and health but there are problems in securing sustainable 

funding to facilitate activities. It is also important to realise the public benefit of 

development-led archaeological work through improved information sharing and 

heritage interpretation, including local display of artefacts and public art. Similarly, 

the online HER, well-managed social media channels and publications allow a wide 

range of people to be aware of and contribute to knowledge of Kent’s heritage. 

 

Case Study: The ‘Fifth Continent’ Landscape Partnership Scheme Project  

Since 2017 KCC has been providing community archaeology activities for the 

‘Fifth Continent’ landscape partnership project, managed by the Kent Wildlife 

Trust and supported by the National Lottery Heritage Fund. Three projects are 

being carried out that involve working with volunteers – studying the original 

location of the port of Romney, researching the history of churches on the 

Marsh, and helping landowners to manage their heritage assets. Over 100 

volunteers have taken part in the heritage activities which include excavation, 

surveys and research. 

  

 

Objective 10: Promote understanding and enjoyment of Kent’s heritage using 

multiple media channels including digital media (the online HER, KCC website 

Page 225



19 
 

and social media), print media (publications and press releases) and through 

direct experience (community archaeology) [also Strategic Aim 2] 

Objective 11: Develop and deliver a community engagement strategy and 

communication plan for the Heritage Conservation team. [also Strategic Aim 2] 

 

Metal detecting searching and chance discoveries 
 

7.3 Since the 1990s, metal detecting has become a widely adopted hobby in 

England. It is covered by the legal requirements of the Treasure Act 1996 

(https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/24/contents) and also a voluntary 

recording scheme, the Portable Antiquities Scheme (https://finds.org.uk/). The 

Portable Antiquities Scheme (PAS) is overseen by the British Museum and run by 

Finds Liaison Officers (FLOs), who are hosted mainly by county councils, or county 

museums where they exist. Funding for this service is provided by a grant from the 

British Museum. The service is discretionary in terms of recording finds on the PAS 

database but there is a statutory role, alongside the Coroners service, in relation to 

reporting finds of Treasure under the Treasure Act.  Additionally, in recent years, two 

other collecting hobbies have gained popularity; ‘mudlarking’, where riverine 

foreshore or estuary areas are searched with or without detecting equipment, and 

magnet fishing where magnets are used to collect mostly iron objects from 

waterways. 

 

Figure 8 Objects discovered in Kent and recorded by the KCC finds Liaison Officer 

7.4 Such hobbies can foster physical health, engagement with heritage, and in some 

cases provide valuable archaeological information. However, they also provide 

challenges that must be considered. All the hobbies mentioned above risk 

inadvertently, and occasionally deliberately, breaching the requirements of the 

Treasure Act and also legal requirements for access to land, particularly where 

members of the public are not aware of restrictions. Many finds of historical interest 

can go unreported and are sometimes sold. There can also be significant safety 

Page 226

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/24/contents
https://finds.org.uk/


20 
 

concerns such as the obstruction of waterways by magnet fishing or the discovery of 

unexploded ordinance (UXO) in the pursuit of artefact recovery. 

7.5 Extensive outreach by archaeologists has taken place over the past three 

decades to help mitigate some of the above, particularly in the fields of best practice 

and recording of objects. The most recent policy document, Code of Practice for 

Responsible Metal Detecting in England and Wales, was published by the PAS in 

2017.  

7.6 For the reasons outlined above it is proposed that metal detecting will only be 

undertaken on KCC owned land as part of an archaeological investigation or to 

search for a specific lost object. KCC should retain ownership of all finds found on its 

property in perpetuity except in certain circumstances (e.g. recent loss of a personal 

possession) which will be set out on the KCC website. 

   Objective 12: Agree and adopt a policy that metal detecting and ‘by eye’ 

searches will only be undertaken on KCC owned land as part of an approved 

project. [also SA2] 

Objective 13: Agree and adopt a policy that KCC should retain ownership of all 

finds found on its property in perpetuity unless special exemptions apply (e.g. 

loss of personal possession). [also SA2] 

Objective 14: Agree and adopt a policy (to be discussed with river and coastal 

authorities) that magnet fishing will not be allowed on KCC owned land. [also 

SA2] 

Objective 15: KCC will work with coastal landowners to consider the benefits of 

a permit system for metal detecting in coastal and riverine foreshore areas. 

 

Supporting the development of robust heritage strategies  
 

7.7 The NPPF guides Local Plans to set out a positive strategy for the conservation 

and enjoyment of the historic environment. The Heritage Conservation Service has 

worked with Dover District Council to produce the Dover District Heritage Strategy, 

which received a Royal Town Planning Institute South East award for planning 

excellence and is recognised by Dover District Council as having brought in millions 

of pounds in investment. A similar draft strategy has been prepared by KCC Heritage 

Conservation for Folkestone and Hythe District Council, and other approaches to 

heritage strategies are being followed by other local authorities such as Swale and 

Tunbridge Wells. Such strategies encourage the use of the historic environment in 

place-making and in seeking opportunities for public benefit and community value in 

development proposals. We will explore with partners whether preparation of a 

county-wide heritage strategy would bring benefits of scale and cost savings. 

 

 

 

Page 227

https://finds.org.uk/documents/file/Code-2017.pdf
https://finds.org.uk/documents/file/Code-2017.pdf


21 
 

 

Objective 16: Explore developing a county level Kent Heritage Strategy to 

assist district authorities who could draw upon it as a framework for their own 

strategies as many issues and themes are commonly held. [also SA1] 

 

 

 

 

 

8 Strategic Aim 4 - Work towards the service becoming 

financially self-sustaining. 
 

Benchmarking and resourcing 
 

8.1 In 2019, KCC Heritage Conservation carried out a benchmarking survey with 

equivalent teams across the south-east of England. This concluded that i) in 

Case Study: Dover Heritage 

Strategy 

In 2013 (updated in 2020) Dover 

District Council published the 

Dover Heritage Strategy, the result 

of a multi-year collaboration with 

KCC. The strategy was 

commissioned by Dover District 

Council and English Heritage to 

ensure that Dover’s outstanding 

heritage plays its full part in life in 

the District in the future. It 

contains recommendations to 

ensure that decisions are taken 

based on a full understanding of 

the significance of Dover’s 

heritage assets and to help shape 

decision-making. The strategy was 

awarded the RTPI South East 

award for Excellence in Planning 

for Built Heritage) and has been 

used by Dover District Council to 

help secure £4.27 million NLHF 

funding. 

 

Page 228



22 
 

comparison with other curatorial services KCC Heritage Conservation is 

comparatively under-resourced for both its development management team and its 

Historic Environment Record team and ii) there is scope for increasing income 

generation, particularly by charging for some aspects of the development 

management service and for Priority Searches for HER information. 

 

Objective 17. Develop a cost recovery strategy for providing archaeological 

advice to developers for major planning applications and NSIP proposals. [also 

SA1] 

Objective 18. Develop a cost recovery strategy for the creation of HER records 

as a result of development related fieldwork. [also SA1, SA3] 

Objective 19: Determine and secure a funded approach to built historic 

environment advice. [also SA1, SA2] 

Objective 20: Develop a strategy to systematically review and monitor 

progress towards financial sustainability. [also SA1, SA2, SA3] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 229



23 
 

9 Our objectives at a glance  
 

 

Strategic Aim 1 – Continue to improve the high quality and timely 

historic environment advice provided to KCC, local authorities 

and other bodies involved in growth and change based on 

accessible and up to date information and understanding. 

Objective 1. Continue to provide an archaeological service to Kent’s 

planning authorities, developers and householders [also SA3] 

Objective 2. Explore and determine the potential for requiring 

archaeological contractors which undertake archaeological 

assessments on KCC projects to be Registered Archaeological 

Organisations 

Objective 3.  Continue to provide a historic built environment advice 

service on County Council and strategic matters in Kent . [also SA3] 

Objective 4: Continue to maintain and enhance the Kent HER, to meet 

the requirements of the NPPF and underpin decision-making in 

planning and development management. [also SA2, SA3] 

 

Strategic Aim 2 - Ensure, working with new and existing partners, 

that KCC’s historic assets are conserved, enhanced, enjoyed and 

valued by Kent’s residents and visitors. 

Objective 5:  Work across KCC to coordinate information on 

heritage assets and finalise the Kent Highways Heritage protocol 

Objective 6: Follow a management approach to KCC-owned 

windmills, so that: i) Mills capable of milling flour remain able to 

do so. ii) The weatherproofing programme will be continued with 

Stelling Minnis Mill as the next key priority within the timeframe 

of this Plan. iii) Static mills will be returned to visual 

completeness as soon as possible iv) Static mills will be made 

active wherever possible [also SA3] 

Objective 7: KCC’s relationship with the windmill volunteer 

groups will be strengthened. [also SA3] 

Objective 8: Explore alternative funding mechanisms for the 

windmills, including setting up a charitable Trust to oversee 

management. [also SA3] 

Objective 9: Assess options for the display and long-term 

storage of archaeological archives and ensure the KCC-held 

archives are placed in an appropriate repository. [also SA3] 

 
 

P
age 230



24 
 

Strategic Aim 3 - Increase awareness, knowledge and 

understanding of Kent’s rich heritage and increase 

involvement in heritage activities amongst its local 

communities. 

 Objective 10: Promote understanding and enjoyment of Kent’s 
heritage using multiple media channels including digital media 
(the online HER, KCC website and social media), print media 
(publications and press releases) and through direct experience 
(community archaeology) [also SA2] 
 
Objective 11: Develop a community engagement strategy and 
communication plan for the Heritage Conservation team. [also 
SA2] 
 
Objective 12: Agree and adopt a policy that metal detecting and 
‘by eye’ searches will only be undertaken on KCC owned land 
as part of an approved project. [also SA2] 
 
Objective 13: Agree and adopt a policy that KCC should retain 
ownership of all finds found on its property in perpetuity unless 
special exemptions apply. [also SA2] 
 
Objective 14: Agree and adopt a policy (to be discussed with 
river and coastal authorities) that magnet fishing will not be 
allowed on KCC owned land. [also SA2] 
 
 

Objective 15: KCC will work with coastal landowners to consider 
the benefits of a permit system for metal detecting in coastal and 
riverine foreshore areas. 
 
Objective 16: Explore developing a county level Kent Heritage 

Strategy to assist district authorities who could draw upon it as a 

framework for their own strategies as many issues and themes 

are commonly held. [also SA1] 

Strategic Aim 4 - Work towards the service becoming 

financially self-sustaining. 

Objective 17. Develop a cost recovery strategy for providing 
archaeological advice to developers for major planning 
applications and NSIP proposals. [also SA1] 
 
Objective 18. Develop a cost recovery strategy for the creation 
of HER records as a result of development related fieldwork. 
[also SA1, SA3] 
 
Objective 19: Determine and secure a funded approach to built 
historic environment advice. [also SA1, SA2] 
 
Objective 20: Develop a strategy to systematically review and 
monitor progress towards financial sustainability. [also SA1, 
SA2, SA3] 

P
age 231



25 
 

10 How we will deliver this strategy – our medium-term plan 
 

 

 What (objective) Why (rationale) By When (timescale) What will success look 
like 

Strategic Aim 1 
– Continue to 
improve the high 
quality and timely 
historic 
environment 
advice provided 
to KCC, local 
authorities and 
other bodies 
involved in 
growth and 
change based on 
accessible and 
up to date 
information and 
understanding 

Objective 1. Continue to provide 
an archaeological service to 
Kent’s planning authorities, 
developers and householders 
[also SA3]  
 
Objective 2. Explore and 
determine the potential for 
requiring archaeological 
contractors which undertake 
archaeological assessments on 
KCC projects to be Registered 
Archaeological Organisations  
 
Objective 3. Continue to provide 
a historic built environment 
advice service on County 
Council and strategic matters in 
Kent. [also SA3]  
 
Objective 4: Continue to 
maintain and enhance the Kent 
HER, to meet the requirements 
of the NPPF and underpin 

Requirement of NPPF 
and other policy (see 1.7-
1.9) 
 
 
 
Improve standards in 
commercial fieldwork and 
reduce time spent 
commenting on WSIs and 
reports. 
 
 
 
Requirement of NPPF 
and other policy (see 1.7-
1.9) 
 
 
 
Requirement of NPPF 
and other policy (see 1.7-
1.9) 
 

Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
Prepare report by 
December 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 

Targets met; heritage 
protected. 
 
 
 
 
Decision taken. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Targets met; heritage 
protected. 
 
 
 
 
2020 HER Audit Action 
Plan implemented 
according to schedule. 
 

P
age 232



26 
 

decision-making in planning and 
development management. 
[also SA2, SA3] 

 
 
 

Strategic Aim 2 
- Ensure, working 
with new and 
existing partners, 
that KCC’s 
historic assets 
are conserved, 
enhanced, 
enjoyed and 
valued by Kent’s 
residents and 
visitors  

Objective 5: Work across KCC 
to coordinate information on 
heritage assets and finalise the 
Kent Highways Heritage 
protocol 
 
Objective 6: Follow a 
management approach to KCC-
owned windmills, so that: i) Mills 
capable of milling flour - 
Drapers Mill, Margate, and 
Cranbrook Mill - remain able to 
do so. ii) The weatherproofing 
programme will be continued 
with Stelling Minnis Mill as the 
next key priority within the 
timeframe of this Plan. iii) Static 
mills will be returned to visual 
completeness as soon as 
possible. iv) Static mills will be 
made active wherever possible 
[also SA3]. 
 
Objective 7: KCC’s relationship 
with the windmill volunteer 
groups will be strengthened. 
[also SA3]  
 

To conserve heritage 
assets in line with 
statutory requirements 
and manage in most cost-
effective way. 
 
To conserve heritage 
assets in line with 
statutory requirements 
and manage in most cost-
effective way. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Volunteer groups 
contribute to heritage 
asset management and 
community is involved. 
 

December 2022 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Ongoing 
 
 
 
 

Heritage assets 
conserved and 
managed effectively. 
 
 
 
Heritage assets 
conserved and 
managed effectively. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Volunteer groups 
involved in day-to-day 
mill management and 
developing future 
approaches. 

P
age 233



27 
 

Objective 8: Explore alternative 
funding mechanisms for the 
windmills, including setting up a 
charitable Trust to oversee 
management. [also SA3]  
 
Objective 9: Assess options for 
the display and long-term 
storage of archaeological 
archives and ensure the KCC-
held archives are placed in an 
appropriate repository. [also 
SA3]  

Increase funding available 
for management of the 
mills from other sources.  
 
 
 
To conserve heritage and 
environmental assets for 
the benefit of Kent 
residents. 
 
Appropriate management 
of heritage assets in line 
with NPPF. 

Project proposal 
prepared by 
December 2022. 
 
 
 
Options report 
prepared by March 
2022. 
 
 
By December 2022 
prepare project plan 
for deposition and 
where appropriate 
display of KCC held 
archaeological 
archives. 
 
KCC held 
archaeological 
archives deposited in 
secure repository by 
March 2023. 
 
Agree plan for Kent 
wide approach to 
deposition and 
display of 
archaeological 
archives by March 
2023. 

Increased funding 
available for windmill 
conservation and 
management. 
 
 
Option chosen. 
 
 
 
 
Plan agreed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Heritage assets 
conserved and 
managed effectively. 
 
 
 
KCC held 
archaeological archives 
deposited safely and 
retrievable for 
researchers and local 
groups. Significant 
artefacts displayed 

P
age 234



28 
 

 locally. 

Strategic Aim 3 
- Increase 
awareness, 
knowledge and 
understanding of 
Kent’s rich 
heritage and 
increase 
involvement in 
heritage activities 
amongst its local 
communities. 

Objective 10: Promote 
understanding and enjoyment of 
Kent’s heritage using multiple 
media channels including digital 
media (the online HER, KCC 
website and social media), print 
media (publications and press 
releases) and through direct 
experience (community 
archaeology) [also SA2]  
 
Objective 11: Develop a 
Community Engagement 
strategy and Communication 
Plan for the Heritage 
Conservation team. [also SA2].  
 
Objective 12: Agree and adopt 
a policy that metal detecting 
and ‘by eye’ searches will only 
be undertaken on KCC owned 
land as part of an approved 
project. [also SA2]  
 
Objective 13: Agree and adopt 
a policy that KCC should retain 
ownership of all finds found on 
its property in perpetuity unless 

Increase awareness and 
understanding of Kent’s 
heritage and KCC’s role 
in conserving it.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Increase awareness and 
understanding of Kent’s 
heritage and KCC’s role 
in conserving it. 
 
 
Provide clarity for 
searchers and KCC 
officers. 
 
 
 
 
To conserve heritage 
assets  for the benefit of 
Kent residents. 
 

Continue to promote 
heritage through 
multiple media 
channels; see also 
Objective 11 below. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Draft Community 
Engagement strategy 
and Communication 
Plan by December 
2022 
 
Public consultation 
undertaken and policy 
agreed by March 
2022. 
 
 
 
To be included in 
consultation and 
policy for Objective 
12. 

Increased awareness of 
heritage and KCC’s 
role. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Communication 
strategy prepared and 
agreed. 
 
 
 
Clarification of policy 
and policy acted upon. 
 
 
 
 
 
Heritage assets 
conserved. 
 
 

P
age 235



29 
 

special exemptions apply. [also 
SA2]  
 
Objective 14: Agree and adopt 
a policy (to be discussed with 
river and coastal authorities) 
that magnet fishing will not be 
allowed on KCC owned land. 
[also SA2]  
 
Objective 15: KCC will work 
with coastal landowners to 
consider the benefits of a permit 
system for metal detecting in 
coastal and riverine foreshore 
areas.  
 
Objective 16: Explore 
developing a county level Kent 
Heritage Strategy to assist 
district authorities who could 
draw upon it as a framework for 
their own strategies as many 
issues and themes are 
commonly held. [also SA1]. 

 
 
 
Conservation of heritage 
assets and Health & 
Safety considerations. 
 
 
 
 
Provide clarity for 
searchers and KCC 
officers. 
 
 
 
 
Requirement of NPPF 
and other policy (see 1.7-
1.9) 
 
To ensure a strategic 
approach to heritage 
conservation across the 
county 
 

 
 
 
To be included in 
policy for Objective 
12. 
 
 
 
 
Report prepared by 
December 2022. 
 
 
 
 
 
Develop project 
outline & seek 
resources by March 
2022 

 
 
 
Heritage assets are 
conserved and public 
safety maintained. 
 
 
 
 
Public consultation 
undertaken and policy 
agreed. 
 
 
 
 
Project outline prepared 
and decision taken as 
to whether to proceed. 
 

Strategic Aim 4 
- Work towards 
the service 
becoming 
financially self-
sustaining 

Objective 17. Develop a cost 
recovery strategy for providing 
archaeological advice to 
developers for major planning 
applications and NSIP 
proposals. [also SA1] 

To improve sustainability 
of service and provide 
stability in capacity to 
meet service 
commitments. 
 

Develop draft strategy 
and undertake 
stakeholder 
consultation by March 
2022. 
 

Heritage Conservation 
service is more 
financially sustainable 
and stability of capacity 
improved. 
 

P
age 236



30 
 

 
Objective 18. Develop a cost 
recovery strategy for the 
creation of HER records as a 
result of development related 
fieldwork. [also SA1, SA3].  
 
Objective 19: Determine and 
secure a funded approach to 
built historic environment 
advice. [also SA1, SA2] 
 
 
Objective 20: Develop a 
strategy to systematically 
review and monitor progress 
towards financial sustainability. 
[also SA1, SA2, SA3] 

 
To improve sustainability 
of service and provide 
stability in capacity to 
meet service 
commitments. 
 
To improve sustainability 
of service and provide 
stability in capacity to 
meet service 
commitments. 
 
To assess effectiveness 
of cost recovery strategy. 

 
Develop draft strategy 
and undertake 
stakeholder 
consultation by March 
2022. 
 
Develop draft strategy 
by March 2022. 
 
 
 
 
Review strategy by 
December 2023. 

 
Heritage Conservation 
service is more 
sustainable and Historic 
Environment Record 
backlog is reduced. 
 
Heritage Conservation 
service is more 
sustainable. 
 
 
 
Effectiveness of cost 
recovery strategy is 
assessed and 
improvements made as 
required. 

P
age 237



31 
 

 

Page 238



From:  David Brazier Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
 
Simon Jones, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport  

 
To:   Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee Meeting – 8th 

September 2021. 
 
Subject:  Procurement and award of contract/s for Highway Rural Swathe, 

Visibility and Hedge Maintenance contract 
 
Key decision:   21/00072   
 
Classification: Unrestricted  

 
Past Pathway of Paper:   N/A 
 
Future Pathway of Paper: Cabinet Member Decision  
 
Electoral Division:   All Districts. 
 

Summary:  
The Highway Rural Swathe, Visibility and Hedge Maintenance contract is currently 
delivered by two contractors. These contracts expire on 31st March 2022. There are 
no further extension options and a new contract is therefore required to be in place 
for 1st April 2022. 
 
There is an opportunity to revise the frequencies and work types of the current 
specifications to allow for an increase in biodiversity but this will add significant cost 
to the contract. The tender process will include several options for specifications 
including the existing specification and a paper on this will be taken to this Cabinet 
Committee in January 2022 to obtain a decision on whether a policy change to the 
existing specification is required and affordable. 
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the proposed decision to 
provide the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport with 
delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate contractual arrangements 
for the provision of Rural Swathe, Visibility and Hedge Maintenance including any 
potential extension periods in accordance with the expectations set out in the report 
as shown at Appendix A. 

 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 Three swathe contracts expire in March 2022 and as a statutory requirement 

they require a re-tendering exercise to continue service provision. Current 
provision is split between three lots which are delivered by Ray Butler (covering 
Mid Kent) and Sage Enviro (covering West and East). In order to ensure a 
seamless transition to new service arrangements, new contracts will need to be 
in place from 1st April 2022.  

Page 239

Agenda Item 10



 
1.2 The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation 

for safe passage of highway users. The main service areas comprise; rural 
grass cutting (swathe); visibility cutting at road junctions; maintenance of rural 
hedges owned by KCC and the managed maintenance of Conservation verges.  
Due to the specialised nature of the works a standalone specialist contract is 
required. 
 

1.3 It is anticipated that the service will be provided across eleven districts in Kent, 
with Folkestone and Hythe District providing the service on behalf of KCC 
through third party contracts. Dover District Council, who also currently 
undertake this service have indicated that they would not like to continue 
beyond the end of this contract term.   

 
1.4 The Council has implemented Plan Bee as part of its environmental strategy to 

improve the biodiversity across its assets. There is an opportunity to enhance 
the specifications to address this strategy and improve the biodiversity of these 
assets. 

 
1.5 Any enhancement in the current specifications will increase the overall costs of 

the contract so will not be possible until funding is known.  
 

1.6 The service will primarily serve Kent County Council Highways & Transport 
owned assets.  There may also be the need to carry out works on privately 
owned assets in order to ensure highway safety.  This type of work has the 
potential to be re-charged through existing Council processes. 
 

2. Procurement Strategy  
 

2.1  Market engagement was conducted in May 2021 and identified a number of 
risks to be considered:  

 

 Contract structure  

 Productivity 

 Performance management  

 Supply chain 
 

2.2  There are three models to deliver this service:  
 

 Split the contract into three lots (West, Mid and East) This is the current 
provision.  

 Split the contract into two lots (West and East)  

 Countywide delivery  
 

2.3  This arrangement has been in place since 2017 with both contractors 
performing well over the contract period. The provision of rural grass and 
hedge cutting maintenance requires specialised tractor-mounted equipment 
and trained staff that are not utilised in other soft landscape contracts. 

 

2.4  Model 3 has been discounted due to the high-risk nature of this model. Due to 
the distances involved in servicing the whole of Kent and timeframes involved 

Page 240



in delivery the model does not fit with the capacity of the local market. As 
detailed within the market analysis, the size of organisations is smaller and so 
the number of bidders for a countywide may not provide sufficient competition 
or deliver best value. Furthermore, this option would not offer resilience if a 
contractor started to fall behind on programme or workloads increased.  

 
2.5  Two lots (model 2) would reduce contract management requirements and 

provide resilience, but the market analysis has indicated that many of the 
SMEs would not bid for this size lot, limiting competition. In this situation, there 
is no guarantee that both lots would receive tenders, particularly in the East of 
the County where fewer potential suppliers are based.  

 
2.6  Splitting the contract into three (model 1) by no means guarantees three 

contractors but allowing one tenderer to win up to two lots would give the 
flexibility needed to provide the market with the required appetite and receive 
good competition from a range of SMEs. This is the current arrangement and 
has worked well over the life of the previous contract.  

 
2.7  The proposed contract term is 5 years with the option to extend for a further 3 

years. Any decision to extend the contract will be linked to performance and 
contract compliance. 

 
2.8 The following lots are being sought: 

 

 Lot 1 – Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling, and 
Tunbridge Wells 

 Lot 2 – Maidstone and Ashford 

 Lot 3 – Swale, Canterbury, Thanet, and Dover 
 

2.9 Due to the proposed contract length, the appointed contractors have the 
opportunity to invest in their workforce and equipment. It is therefore 
recommended to implement a three-lot delivery model with the option to award 
a maximum of two lots to any one contractor, thereby potentially reducing 
KCC’s contract management requirements.  
 

2.10   The Selection Questionnaire stage has been published and those companies 
that have passed the minimum threshold following evaluation will be sent the 
invitation to tender (ITT).  The procurement timetable is as follows: 
 

 SQ Out – 23rd August 2021 

 SQ Return – 21st Sept 2021 

 ITT Out – w/c 15th October 2021 

 ITT Return – w/c 15th November 2021 

 ITT Negotiation – Est w/c 29th Nov 2021 

 Final ITT Evaluation and Governance – Est w/c 17th Jan 2022 

 Contract Award – Est w/c 1st Feb 22 

 Mobilisation Period – 1st Feb - 1st May 2022 

 Service Commencement Date – 1st April 2022 
 

3.  Current Specification 
 

Page 241



3.1 The contract includes one 900mm swathe cut per annum. three visibility cuts 
per annum, one rural hedge cut per annum and one conservation cut per 
annum. 
 

3.2 A timeline for all of the rural cutting types is below: 
 

 
 
3.3 Swathe makes up the significant volume of work and the cut is carried out 

during the summer months. The contract previously provided for two swathe 
cuts during May and again in September. The budget was reduced in 2009/10, 
a decision supported by members, to only perform one swathe cut per annum in 
order to contribute savings to help deliver a balanced budget for KCC as part of 
the Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP). 
 

3.4 The current programmed cutting times for one swathe cut is the 30th of May to 
the 10th of July. 

 
3.5 An extract from the contract specification for the standard of cut is as follows: 

 
16.3.3 Swathe cutting is defined as a cut strip 900mm in width, or the width of 
the verge whichever is less.  The swathe shall be cut from the edge of the 
carriageway or from the back edge of the footway if the footway is adjacent to 
the carriageway………. 
 

3.6 The optimum time to carry out a one swathe cut programme for safety is the 
middle of the year. This ensures grass does not reach a height that causes 
problems. 
  

3.7 Where higher value biodiverse verges are identified these are currently added 
into the late Conservation cut following review. This approach is not sustainable 
under the current funding levels. 

 
3.8 To achieve biodiversity gains and to allow wildflowers greater time to flower and 

set seed, cutting higher value verges during their flowering period would need to 
be reviewed.  

 
3.9 There is then a trade-off between increasing biodiversity gain, safety and 

maintenance costs that needs to be balanced.   
 

4. Biodiversity Gains 
 
4.1 A flower-rich grass sward provides great benefit to pollinating insects and 

wildlife generally. The annual life cycle of pollinators varies but generally there 
needs to be a constant and diverse range of pollen and nectar sources 
available, from early spring to late autumn, as well as food plants for 

Page 242



caterpillars, to be able to support the widest range of insects. Ideally there also 
need to be areas of longer, undisturbed grasses and shelter, for nesting and 
overwintering invertebrates.   
 

4.2 A biodiverse grass road verge is one where a range of naturally occurring 
flowering plant species are able to flourish. It is vital that wildflowers are able to 
complete their full life cycle – i.e., grow, flower, and set seed; this replenishes 
the seed bank and allows populations to be maintained cost-free and 
indefinitely. Cutting at the wrong time or too frequently swiftly eliminates many 
species and creates greater nutrient build-up through the accumulation of more 
grass cuttings, which reduces the biodiversity value of the road verge. Cutting 
after flowers have set seed in late summer allows not only a rich source of 
pollen and nectar for pollinators but also a visually striking display of wildflowers 
for pollinators and Kent’s residents and visitors alike. 
 

4.3 Taking steps to enhance our road network to deliver biodiverse grass verges is 
entirely in line with the purposes of Kent’s Plan Bee, the County Council’s 
Pollinator Action Plan; that being to: 
 

o make the County Council a community leader in action for pollinators, 
showing the way in its own operations 

o ensure that pollinators’ needs are always considered throughout our 
work and services 

o put the conservation of pollinators and their habitats at the heart of the 
council’s land management  

o make a significant contribution to the recovery of pollinator populations 
 

5. Specification Options 
 
5.1 The primary aim of swathe cutting is for highway safety, improving visibility, 

allowing pedestrians and equestrians the ability to pass and repass on the 
highway verge and providing a refuge where necessary. 
 

5.2 Roadside Nature reserves, as recommended by the Kent Wildlife Trust are cut 
twice a year, once during April for safety and again during October. Natural 
England also provide assents for KCC to cut all of its rural verges adjacent to 
Sites of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI) twice a year with similar timings. 

 
5.3 Market engagement involving conservation groups found that the following were 

key for higher value verges: 
 

 Early cutting in March before major bee food sources have flowered (white 
dead nettle) 

 Late cutting in October to allow wildflowers to set seed for coming year. 

 Cut and Collect cuttings to reduce fertility of the soil and reduce 
competition from grass sward. 
 

5.4 Market engagement made it clear that a model containing two swathe cutting 
periods presented more flexibility to manage a greater number of verges for 
biodiversity whilst still maintaining safety. 
 

Page 243



5.5 Several different options have now been explored following stakeholder 
engagement and costs estimated. All of the following options will be priced in 
the tender. 
 
  

5.6 Option 1 – Single Swathe cut with single Conservation cut 
 

5.6.1  Continue with current specifications as outlined above and add Plan Bee 
specification as and when funding is available. 

 
5.7 Option 2 – Single Swathe cut with two Conservation cuts  

 
5.7.1 A timeline of Option 2 is below: 
 
 

 
 
5.7.2 Option 2 is similar to the existing specifications but allows for an additional 

early conservation swathe cut during March.  
 

5.7.3 Higher value verges such as Bee Roads will be assessed through the 
contract period and added to the March cut provided this does not impact on 
highway safety.  

 
5.7.4 Commencement of rural hedge cutting is delayed one month until November 

to allow fruits to remain on hedgerows longer  
 
5.8 Option 3 - Two Swathe cuts with tiered Conservation cuts 

 
5.8.1 A timeline of Option 3 is below: 

 
 

 

Page 244



5.8.2 Option 3 provides a tiered approach to swathe cutting dependent on 
biodiversity value and safety requirement and allows a greater degree of 
flexibility. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
5.8.3 The swathe cut is divided into three timings as follows: 

 

Swathe Cut  Focus 

Swathe (Conservation Assets) 
- Higher Value two cuts 

Higher value Bio-diverse 
SSSI 
RNR 
Cut & collect 
Bee Roads (specific sites - value higher than bee 
lines) 
Not all high value sites will need this cut 

Swathe (Conservation Assets) 
- Lower Value two cuts 

Lower Value Bio-diverse 
Bee Lines 
Early cutting Apr on lower value roads, then 
continue into standard safety swathe 

Swathe - Highway Safety - two 
cuts 

Highway Safety 
Cut for highway safety priority over Bio-diverse 
value 

 
5.8.4 Higher value verges such as Bee Roads will be assessed through the 

contract period and added to a March cut providing there is no impact on 
highway safety. 

 
5.8.5 Lower biodiversity value verges where there is still a safety risk will be added 

throughout the contract to the April cut and receive a second cut during Late 
September. 

 
5.8.6 An additional cut is added to the Highway Safety cut which removes the main 

cut in the middle of the year and replaces this with a May and September cut. 
This reduces the cutting of flowering verges in the middle of the year but still 
allows for safety to be maintained. 

 
5.8.7 Dividing the swathe into different timings also allows flexibility to review 

specific verges throughout the contract period, adding them to earlier cuts if 
appropriate thereby increasing our conservation asset.  
 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 A new procurement may present a price increase which reflects changes in 
market prices since the contract was let in 2017. Contracts have been linked to 
the GM87 indices over the course of the contract so this will be minimised. A 
competitive procurement process will appoint the best value contractor from the 
tenders submitted. The current Contract value is circa £450k per annum. 

Page 245



6.2 However, the addition of either options 2 or 3 to the specification will increase 
costs due to the additional complexity of the contract and these are currently 
unfunded. An estimate of the respective cost increases are as follows: 

 

 Option 1 – Existing Specification - £ possible market rate increase 

 Option 2 – Single Swathe with two Conservation cuts - £50K - £100K 

 Option 3 - Two Swathe with tiered Conservation cuts - £250k - £300K 
 
These costs are dependent on the tender rates received. 
 

6.3 The revenue budget for this work is contained within Highways Asset 
Management. A Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) pressure of £300k has 
been identified for a possible change in specifications for 2022. The MTFP cycle 
will mean that funding will not be confirmed until December. Any additional 
funding will be dependent on the pressure of any prevailing budget gaps in the 
Council’s finances and the MTFP being agreed. 

6.4 Due to the timing of the MTFP cycle a decision on whether to enhance the 
specification for the new contract cannot be reviewed until January 2022. At this 
point firm costs for all options will be known.  

7. Legal implications 
 

7.1 The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation 
for safe passage of highway users. The award of any contracts will be in full 
compliance with all relevant procurement regulation.  

 
8. Equalities implications  

 
8.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out and no implications 

have been identified at this early stage. This will be continually reviewed as the 
programme continues and has been attached in Appendix B.  
 

8.2 The initial screening identified that a Data Projection Impact Assessment will not 
be necessary as no personal data is collected for this commission. 

 
9. Policy Framework 

 
9.1 This commission is detailed within the following plans:  

 

 Highways and Transportation Divisional Operating Plan 21/22 
 

10.  Other corporate implications 
 

10.1 The adoption of either of the options 2 or 3 will add to Kent’s Plan Bee, the 
County Council’s Pollinator Action Plan. 
 

10.2 The decision to award contracts for Highway Rural Swathe, Visibility and 
Hedge Maintenance has no other significant impacts on other areas of the 
Council’s work. 
 

11. Conclusions 

Page 246



 
11.1 This service forms part of the Council’s statutory duty to maintain the highway 

in a safe condition. The existing specification meets these responsibilities and 
will need to be procured as a minimum to meet this duty. 
 

11.2  The Council has implemented Plan Bee as part of its environmental strategy to 
improve the biodiversity across its assets. There is an opportunity to add 
significant weight to this strategy through a revised specification, but it will 
require additional funding.  
 

11.3   A decision on whether the existing specification can be enhanced will not be 
possible until January 2022 when more detail on funding will be known and 
firm costs have been received. Any enhanced specification will need to be 
affordable and within agreed budgets.  

 
13. Background Documentation 

 
Appendix A – Proposed Record of Decision  
Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment: 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105573/AppendixBEqIASC21008Ru
ralSwatheLots123V1.pdf   
 
 

14. Contact details 

Report Authors: 
Andrew Loosemore 
Head of Highways Asset Management 
03000 4116532 
andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk 
Robin Hadley 
Soft Landscape Asset Manager 
03000 413647 
robin.hadley@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director: 
Simon Jones 
Corporate Director of Growth, 
Environment and Transport  
03000 411683 
simon.jones@kent.gov.uk 

 

12. Recommendation:  

The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the 
proposed decision to provide the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment 
and Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate 
contractual arrangements for the provision of Rural Swathe, Visibility and 
Hedge Maintenance including any potential extension periods in accordance 
with the expectations set out in the report as shown at Appendix A. 

Page 247

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105573/AppendixBEqIASC21008RuralSwatheLots123V1.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105573/AppendixBEqIASC21008RuralSwatheLots123V1.pdf
mailto:andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jones@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY 

David Brazier, Cabinet Member – Highways & Transport  

   
DECISION NO: 

21/00072 

 

For publication  
 

Key decision* 
Yes –  
 
 

Subject:  Procurement and award of contract/s for Highway Rural Swathe, Visibility and 

Hedge Maintenance  
 

Decision:  
As Cabinet Member for  Highways and Transportation TO provide the Corporate Director for Growth, 
Environment and Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate 
contractual arrangements for the provision of Rural Swathe, Visibility and Hedge Maintenance 
including any potential extension periods in accordance with the expectations set out in the report   
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
Three swathe contracts expire in March 2022 and as a statutory requirement they require a re-
tendering exercise to continue service provision. 
 
The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation for safe passage of 
highway users. The service is provided primarily through programmed works with flexibility for 
additional ad-hoc provision. The main service areas comprise; rural grass cutting (swathe) and 
ensuring visibility at road junctions, maintenance of rural hedges owned by KCC and the managed 
maintenance of Conservation verges.  Due to the specialised nature of the works a standalone 
specialist contract is required.  
 
The current annual spend for the service will be in the region of £450k. Total spend over the 
contract duration of five years plus potential total of 36 months extension is estimated at £3.6m. 
Contract costs will be determined by the tender rates received. The current Contract expires on the 
31

st
 March 2022.  

 
Given the value of the contract, a PCR15 compliant procurement process will be followed to award 
the contract/s for the following: 
 

Maintenance and cutting of  

 rural verges 

 visibility splays 

 roundabouts 

 rural hedges 

 conservation verges 
 

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  
The Environment and Transport Cabinet committee will consider the proposal decision at its 
meeting on the 8

th
 September 2021. 

  

Any alternatives considered: 
Several Contract lotting options have been considered as follows: 

1. Split the contract into three lots (West, Mid and East) Page 249



01/decision/glossaries/FormC 2 

2. Split the contract into two lots (current provision) 

3. Countywide delivery 

 
The recommendation is for a three lot Contract as below: 
 

 Lot 1 – Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling and Tunbridge Wells 

 Lot 2 – Maidstone and Ashford 

 Lot 3 – Swale, Canterbury, Thanet and Dover 

 

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer:  
 
 
 
 

 

 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   
 
 
Name: 
 

  

 

 

Page 250



From:  David Brazier Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
 
Simon Jones, Corporate Director of Growth, Environment and 
Transport  

 
To:   Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee Meeting – 8th 

September 2021. 
 
Subject:  Procurement and award of contract/s for Highway Emergency Tree 

Works Contract  
 
Key decision:  21/00071   
 
Classification: Unrestricted  

 
Past Pathway of Paper:   N/A 
 
Future Pathway of Paper: Cabinet Member Decision  
 

Electoral Division:   All Districts. 
 

Summary:  
The Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract is currently delivered by two 
contractors, one serving the West of the County and the second the East. These 
contracts expire on 31st October 2021. There are no further extension options, and a 
new contract is therefore required to be in place for 1st November 2021.A Key 
Decision is required to award the contract/s for this service as the value exceeds 
£1m. 
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the proposed decision to 
provide the Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and Transport with 
delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate contractual arrangements 
for the provision of Emergency Tree Works, including any potential extension periods 
in accordance with the expectations set out in the report as shown at Appendix A.
   

 
 
1. Introduction 

 
1.1 The current Emergency Tree Works Contracts with Bridgland and Direct Enviro 

expire on 31st October 2021. There are no further extension options, and a new 
contract is therefore required to be in place for 1st November 2021.  
 

1.2 The original contract delivery model in 2016 was for three lots, but following one 
contractor entering administration, the work with the mid area of the county was 
split between the other two contractors. This has worked well for the remaining 
period. 
 

Page 251

Agenda Item 11



1.3 The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation 
for safe passage of highway users. The main service areas comprise of clearing 
felled trees, most notable in adverse weather conditions. In order to ensure the 
Council meets its obligations the service will need to be commissioned. 

 
1.4 The requirement is for the provision of emergency response specialist tree 

surgery teams to attend at short notice on a 24/7 basis 365 days of the year. 
Emergency type response times will include 2-hour and 24-hour requirement. 
The service is used by all operational staff but also supports the highways out of 
hours emergency response service. 

 
1.5 There is no programmed works and work volumes are dictated by the weather 

and where emergency situations occur. This varies from year to year and is 
largely dependent on the prevailing weather and storm events.  
 

1.6 Demand for this service has grown over the course of the contract due to an 
increase in severe weather events as well as more instances of Ash Dieback 
across the County. The emergency at Walderslade Woods in February 2019 is 
an example of where this contract was used to clear the aftermath of one of 
these storm events. 

 
 

 
 

2. Procurement Strategy  
 

2.1 Market engagement was conducted in May 2021 and identified a number of risks 
to be considered:  
 

• Contract structure  
• Productivity 
• Performance management  

Page 252



• Supply chain 
 

2.2 There are three options to deliver this service: 
 

1. Split the contract into three lots (West, Mid and East) 
2. Split the contract into two lots (current provision) 
3. Countywide delivery 

 
2.3 Option 3 has been discounted due to the high-risk nature of this model. This is 

due to the distances involved in servicing the whole of Kent (attendance within 
two hours) and with demand fluctuated by weather events, there is no 
competition within the local market to demonstrate best value. As detailed within 
the market analysis the size of organisations is smaller. Furthermore, this option 
would not offer resilience to storm events.  
 

2.4 Two contractors (Option 2) will give good resilience to storm events due to the 
number of staff available and has worked well over the last four years and has 
incorporated the trend of increasing severe weather events that has been seen 
since 2016 when the Contract was initially awarded.  

 
2.5 Splitting the contract into three, by no means guarantees three contractors. 

There is also a risk in the market that best value may not be achieved by splitting 
the arrangement into three with either two scenarios happening: 

 
 One contractor bidding for two lots (they cover 8 districts) 
 One lot not being serviced due to a lack of a third competent contractor 
 

2.6 It is recommended to implement a two-lot delivery model. This represents an 
efficient model for improving opportunities to smaller SMEs within Kent and 
reduces the contract management burden to the Council. The following lots are 
being sought: 
 
 Lot 1 (West) - Maidstone, Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge 

& Malling, and Tunbridge Wells   
 Lot 2 (East) - Ashford, Swale, Canterbury, Thanet, Dover and Folkestone and 

Hythe  
 

2.7 The contract period is proposed to be three years with an opportunity to extend 
this for up to three further years. Any decision to extend the contract will be 
linked to performance and contract compliance. 

 
 

2.8 The Selection Questionnaire (SQ) stage has been completed and those 
companies that passed the minimum threshold have been sent the invitation to 
tender (ITT).  

 
2.9 The procurement timetable is as follows: 
 

 SQ Out – 21st May 2021 

 SQ Return – 21st June 2021 

 ITT Out – w/c 19th July 2021 

 ITT Return – w/c 16th August 2021 

Page 253



 ITT Negotiation (if required) – Est w/c 23rd August 2021 

 Final ITT Evaluation and Governance – Est w/c 10th September 

 Contract Award – Est w/c 27th Sept 2021 

 Mobilisation Period – W/C 27th Sept – 1st Nov 

 Service Commencement Date – 1st November 2021 
 

3. Financial Implications 
 

3.1 A new procurement may present a price increase which reflects changes in 
market prices since the contract was let in 2015. Contracts have been linked to 
the GM87 indices over the course of the contract so this will be minimised. A 
competitive procurement process will appoint the best value contractor from the 
tenders submitted.  

3.2 The overall costs for this contract appear to be increasing with the rise in severe 
weather events and diseases such as Ash Die back becoming more prevalent. 
It is not known whether this is a long-term trend.  

3.3 The new contract will include provision for the contractors to record information 
on tree failures whilst on site. This information will then be used to develop a 
Tree Failure Database and allow a process to be implemented to recharge 
private owners where their trees fail. The amount that this could recharge and 
how successful this could be is unknown. 

3.4 The revenue budget for this work is contained within the Highways Asset 
Management emergency budget. Until such time as tender prices are returned it 
is unknown if there will be any pressure on this budget which will also be 
demand led due to weather incidents. The current average spend for this work 
is £376k per annum.  

4. Legal implications 
 

4.1 The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation 
for safe passage of highway users. The award of any contracts will be in full 
compliance with all relevant procurement regulation.  

 
5. Equalities implications  

 
5.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been carried out and no implications 

have been identified at this early stage. This will be continually reviewed as the 
programme continues and has been attached in Appendix B.  
 

5.2 The initial screening identified that a Data Projection Impact Assessment will not 
be necessary as no personal data is collected for this commission.  

 
6. Policy Framework 

 
6.1 This commission is detailed within the following plans:  
 

 Highways and Transportation Divisional Operating Plan 21/22 
 
7. Other corporate implications 

 

Page 254



7.1 The decision to award contracts for Emergency Tree Works has no significant 
impact in other areas of the Council’s work. 
 

8. Conclusions 
 

8.1 This service forms part of the Councils statutory duty to maintain the highway 
in a safe condition. 
 

8.2 The existing contract arrangements have been performing well over their term 
and have provided a reactive emergency response that is reliable and efficient 
for use by operational highway staff and out of hours officers. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
10. Background Documents 

 
Appendix A – Proposed Record of Decision  
Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment: 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105572/AppendixBEqIASC21010E
mergencyTreeWorksV1.pdf  

 
11. Contact details 

 
Report Authors: 
Andrew Loosemore 
Head of Highways Asset Management 
03000 4116532 
andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk 
 
Robin Hadley 
Soft Landscape Asset Manager 
03000 413647 
robin.hadley@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director: 
Simon Jones 
Corporate Director of Growth, Environment 
and Transport  
03000 411683 
simon.jones@kent.gov.uk 

 

9. Recommendation:  
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse or make recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport to provide the Corporate Director 
for Growth, Environment and Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter 
into appropriate contractual arrangements for the provision of Emergency Tree 
Works, including any potential extension periods in accordance with the expectations 
set out in the report as shown at Appendix A.   

 
 

 
 
 

Page 255

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105572/AppendixBEqIASC21010EmergencyTreeWorksV1.pdf
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105572/AppendixBEqIASC21010EmergencyTreeWorksV1.pdf
mailto:andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk
mailto:simon.jones@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY 

David Brazier, Cabinet Member – Highways & Transport  

   
DECISION NO: 

21/00071 

 

 

For publication  
 

Key decision* 
Yes –  
 
 

Subject:  Procurement and award of contract/s for Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract   

 

Decision:  
As Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation, I agree to provide the Corporate Director for 
Growth, Environment and Transport with delegated authority to procure and enter into appropriate 
contractual arrangements for the provision of Emergency Tree Works, including any potential 
extension periods in accordance with the expectations set out in the report.  
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
 
The Council has a legal duty to keep roads and pavements clear of vegetation for safe passage of 
highway users. The main service areas comprise of clearing felled trees, most notable in adverse 
weather conditions. These services will need to be commissioned externally to ensure the Council 
meets its obligations. 
 
The proposed Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract is to enable the procurement and delivery 
of emergency response specialist tree surgery teams to attend at short notice on a 24/7 basis. 
Emergency type response times will include a 2-hour and 24-hour requirement. Suppliers will be 
required to provide suitably qualified staff and have access to the necessary specialised equipment 
to be able to remove fallen trees and branches from causing an obstruction to the highway. 
 
The annual average spend for the service will be in the region of £376k. Total spend over the 
contract duration of three years plus potential total of 36 months extension is estimated at £2.2m.  
However, this value is dependent on storm events. The current contract expires on 31

st
 October 

2021. 
 
Given the value of the contract, PCR15 compliant procurement process will be followed to award the 
contract/s for the following: 
 

 2-hour removal of dangerous trees and branches on both public and private property.  

 24-hour removal of dangerous trees and branches on both public and private property 

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  

 
The Environment and Transport Cabinet committee considered the proposal decision at its meeting 
on the 8

th
 September 2021 and resolved to endorse it with no amendments.  

Any alternatives considered: 

 
Several Contract lotting options have been considered as follows: 

1. Split the contract into three lots (West, Mid and East) 

Page 257



01/decision/glossaries/FormC 2 

2. Split the contract into two lots (current provision) 

3. Countywide delivery 

 
The recommendation is for a two lot Contract as below: 
 

 Lot 1 (West) - Maidstone, Dartford, Gravesham, Sevenoaks, Tonbridge & Malling and Tunbridge 
Wells   

 Lot 2 (East) - Ashford, Swale, Canterbury, Thanet, Dover and Folkestone and Hythe  

 

 

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer:  
 
 
 

 

 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   
 
 
Name: 
 

  

 

 

Page 258



1 
 

From:  David Brazier, Cabinet Member Highways and Transport  
 
 Simon Jones, Corporate Director, Growth, Environment and Transport.  
        
To:  Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – 8 September  
 
Subject: Winter Service Policy for 2021/22 
 
Classification: Unrestricted 

Summary: Each year officers review the Council’s Winter Service Policy and the 
operational plan that supports it considering changes in national guidance and lessons 
learnt from the previous winter. This report sets out revisions to this year’s policy.  

Recommendation: The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse, or make 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the proposed 
decisions to agree changes to the Winter Service Policy for 2021/22 as set out in paragraph 
8.1 

 
1. Introduction  
 
1.1 The 2020/21 winter was slightly colder than average with 76 primary salting routes 

completed compared with the budgeted 66 runs and 15,618 tonnes of salt used.  
 

1.2 During the week of 18th January 2021, the county experienced widespread snow 
showers. Due to the Covid 19 pandemic, snow clearance was carried out in the 
vicinity of testing and vaccination centres and other key medical facilities. 
Additionally, dedicated gritters were assigned to treat sites associated with the EU 
exit.  

 
2.  Financial implications 
 
2.1 The allocated budget for winter service for 2021/22 is £3,498,800 The budget is 

broken down as follows: 
 

Pre-Salting Gritting Operation 1,365,100  

Plant & Equipment              1,789,900  

Snowex Machines                  142,700 

Maintenance Of Farmers Ploughs     50,000 

Weather Forecasting                 20,000 

Ice Prediction                       35,000 

Supply & Maintain Salt Bins          81,100 

Supply Of Salt To Districts          10,000  

Publicity Campaign         5,000  

TOTAL £3,498,800 

 
 
 
 

Page 259

Agenda Item 12



2 
 

3. Winter planning 
 
3.1 Over the 2021 summer period work has been undertaken to further refine and 

improve the winter service; this focused on: 

 

 Brine trial analysis 

 Smart winter route optimisation 

 Salt bin replacement and filling 

 Creation of snow routes 
 

3.2 Brine trial  
 
3.2.1 Following a brine trial in 2019/20. analysis has now been undertaken of the trial data 

to gauge the friction performance of brine in comparison to traditional pre-wet 
treatment.  

 
3.2.2 The bulk of the trial was conducted in moist to wet surface conditions and at a 

moderate temperature range of -2 to +2 degrees Celsius. The general outcome was 
that pre-wet marginally outperforms brine; however, the margin is enough to 
conclude that Brine is a viable substitute for pre-wet in the moderate conditions that 
predominate the Kent operation.  

 
3.2.3  Brine’s performance also did not degrade in either rainy or freezing conditions, 

further reflected in brine exhibiting more consistent friction over all conditions on the 
trial. A more controlled study is needed to account accurately for actual roadside 
observed weather conditions, but this consistency provides further positive indication 
as to its potential reliability as an alternative treatment.  

 
3.3  Smart Winter route optimisation  
  
3.3.1 During phase 2 of the Smart Winter Programme, Amey Strategic Consulting 

developed a machine learning model to predict road surface temperatures using 
sensor and contextual data. This model was used to define new gritting domains with 
more consistent temperature profiles, improving the effectiveness of gritting 
decisions made on domains during the past winter season. Work will be done in the 
next year to further optimise the existing winter routes within the new domains. 

 
3.4  Salt bins 
 
3.4.1  There are just over 3,000 salt bins in the county and this stock is considered 

sufficient to meet the needs of local communities. No new salt bins will be placed this 
winter. County Members can still use their Combined Member Fund to purchase salt 
bins. 

 
3.4.2 Following last season’s snow event, all reports received regarding empty and 

damaged salt bins were actioned.  For this coming winter season, we will be utilising 
individual reports from the highways team and customer enquiries, to ensure salt 
bins are full.  Salt bins will be filled once during the season, however in the event of a 
snow event they may be refilled, subject to available resources.  We will continue to 

Page 260



3 
 

monitor salt bin usage over the coming winter season to ensure bins are located 
where needed on the network.     

4. Snow routes 
 
4.1 The winter service is focused on keeping open the network of primary routes 

comprising 1,597 miles, (2,571 km) which are the main A and B roads and locally 
important roads in the county. During snow events these remain the focus or activity. 
However, it is recognised that other parts of the highway in the county are adversely 
affected by snow, and this can have a detrimental impact on communities relying on 
these roads to get to the main roads.  

 
4.2  Whilst policy, service levels and resources enable us to meet our statutory duty we 

are mindful that other parts of the road network do experience particular difficulties.  
These include hilly areas, exposed roads subject to drifting and other factors. These 
have been designated snow routes and will be treated, as resources allow, when 
there is a snow event. These routes will be digitised and loaded into the in- cab 
Navtrak system.  Additionally, we will continue to have the support of our contracted 
farmers who clear snow from pre-approved areas of the rural network. 

 
5. Winter resilience 
 
5.1 We have identified an Operational Winter Period which is October to April and a 

Core Winter Period which is December to February and the stocks of salt needed 
during those periods to effectively treat the network in line with recommended 
resilience levels.  

 
5.2  The minimum levels of salt needed to maintain the resilient network (as defined in 

the Quarmby review 2012) is 16,800 tonnes.  We maintain a salt stock of 23,000 
tonnes (including 2,000 tonnes of a salt/grit mix which is held in a strategic stockpile 
at Faversham Highway depot) ensuring the recommended minimum levels are 
achieved.  

 
5.3  Arrangements are in place for salt deliveries during the winter to ensure we have the 

recommended resilience stock levels. In addition, we also hold 5,000 tonnes as an 
operational contingency, in the event of an emergency being declared or if supplies 
nationally become restricted. 

 
5.4 An early warning under the term maintenance contract has been raised by our 

service provider Amey concerning the national issue of a shortage of HGV drivers. 
This may impact on their ability to maintain driver levels. This is as stated an early 
warning and as yet there is no measurable impact. Amey senior management are in 
communications with their supply chain sub-contractors and support drivers in order 
to understand if there will be a resource issue. The recent announcement by some 
UK companies offering cash incentives for drivers to join their organisations does 
cause concern for this type of local resource and has the potential to increase costs 
for the service. 

 

Page 261



4 
 

6.  Collaboration with neighbouring authorities  

 
6.1 Mutual aid arrangements are in place with Highways England Area 4 and Medway 

Council. The annual winter meeting with all southeast highway authorities to finalise 
arrangements is scheduled for late September 2021.  

7. Media and communication 

 
7.1 As in previous years a media campaign will be used during the winter season. A 

series of infographics have been prepared which gives information about the winter 
service in an engaging manner. These will feature in a range of media, including 
social media.  

 
7.2 The campaign will increase awareness of the service and encourage everyone to be 

prepared and undertake self-help when possible. This year radio, television and 
press will be provided with media briefs in advance of the winter season detailing the 
essentials of the winter service.  

 
7.3 Key staff in Highways are working with the press office to prepare statements and 

press releases for rapid issue at the onset of winter conditions. These will be pre-
approved for use during periods of severe conditions when the winter service 
delivery team will be busy. 

 
 8. Winter Service Policy and Plan 2021/22 
 
8.1 The Winter Service Policy is presented at Appendix B. The following additions have 

been made to this year’s policy: 
  

(8.1.1) Commencing 2021/22, a new set of snow routes for each district has 
been developed. These will be treated before or after snowfall as required and 
when resources are available. 
 
(8.1.2) For this winter, salt bins will be filled in response to customer enquiries 
and monitored by highways staff throughout the season. This will ensure that 
resources are efficiently deployed to the bins that need to be filled. In the 
event of severe weather further refills will be carried out as time and 
resources permit. 
 

8.2 The Winter Service Policy is supported by an Operational Plan which has been 
updated in line with the Policy and discussions have taken place with our Highway 
Maintenance Service Provider to ensure that plans are aligned.  

 
8.3 The Plan is available for Members to view on request. In addition, district plans have 

been developed in conjunction with district and borough councils across the county 
and these will be used together with this revised Policy  to deliver the winter service.  
Local district plans will be reported to the next round of Joint Transportation Boards. 

 
9. Equality Impact Assessment 
 
9.1  An equality impact assessment (EQIA) has been carried out on the Policy. 

Page 262



5 
 

10. Conclusion 

 
10.1 The Winter Service Policy sets out the Council’s arrangements to deliver a winter 

service across Kent. A few revisions have been made as set out above and detailed 
in paragraph 8.1 

11. Recommendations 

 
11.1 The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse, or make 

recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport on the 
proposed decisions to agree changes to the Winter Service Policy for 2021/22 as set 
out in paragraph 8.1 

 
12. Background documents 
 
12.1 Well Managed Highways 2016; NWSRG Best Practice Guidance -Planning Section - 

http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/codes/index.cfm 
 
12.2 Winter Service Policy: 

https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105411/WinterServicePolicy202122.pdf   

13. Contact details 

Report Author: 
Name:  Carol Valentine 
Title:  Highways Project Manager 
Tel No: 03000 418181 
Email:  carol.valentine@kent.gov.uk 
 
 
Head of Service: 
Name:  Andrew Loosemore 
Title:  Head of Highways Asset Management  
Email:  andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk 

Page 263

http://www.ukroadsliaisongroup.org/en/codes/index.cfm
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105411/WinterServicePolicy202122.pdf
mailto:carol.valentine@kent.gov.uk
mailto:andrew.loosemore@kent.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

From:   David Brazier, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport 
 
   Simon Jones, Interim Corporate Director, Growth, Environment and 

Transport 
 
To:   Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee – 8 September 
    
Subject:  Local Transport Plan 5 (LTP5)  
 
Decision no:  N/A 
    
Classification: Unrestricted  
 

Summary: This report sets out the plan to initiate an early review of the existing 
Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4): Delivering Growth without Gridlock (2016-31) that 
was adopted by the County Council in July 2017 and start the process of preparing a 
new LTP5. In due course, this Committee and Cabinet will be asked to review LTP5 
for recommendation to full Council and consideration by all Members.   
 
LTP5 will enable Kent County Council (KCC) to continue delivering its statutory 
function under the Transport Act 2000 (as amended by the Local Transport Act 2008) 
and reflect the new policy and financial context that has emerged since the adoption 
in July 2017 of the current LTP4. LTP5 will be a critical tool in facilitating growth 
through transport and assist in attracting Government funding by showing alignment 
with national policy delivery. LTP5 will achieve this by undertaking comprehensive 
consideration of the county’s transport needs, integrating recent strategies such as 
the Energy and Low Emissions Strategy, and consider the sub-national transport 
strategy of Transport for the South East (TfSE) and the district level transport 
strategies that support Local Plans that run to 2037.  
 
LTP5 will establish a new ambition for the county’s transport that ensures delivery of 
KCC and Government policies and targets, particularly those set out in the Renewal 
and Resilience Plan and contributing to carbon emissions reduction targets and 
budgets from now to 2050 by increasing the capability in Kent to use lower and zero 
emission forms of transport. In this context, LTP5 will ensure that the needs of people 
living, working, visiting, or travelling through the county are met, and air quality and 
public health improved, by setting out the policies and proposals for the promotion 
and encouragement of safe, integrated, efficient and economic transport. 
 
Recommendation: 
 
The Cabinet Committee is asked to note the plan to initiate an early review of the 
existing Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4): Delivering Growth without Gridlock (2016-31) 
that was adopted by the County Council in July 2017 and start the process of 
preparing a new LTP5. 

 
 
1. Introduction 

  
1.1 A Local Transport Plan (LTP) is a statutory requirement for the County Council 

as Local Transport Authority under the Transport Act 2000, (as amended by the 

Page 265

Agenda Item 13



 

 

Local Transport Act 2008). The LTP is a critical tool in facilitating appropriate 
growth through a sustainable transport system and attracting investment from 
Government and developers to support its priority transport schemes and 
policies. It is thus vital that Kent County Council (KCC) has a robust LTP in 
place, with clear policies aligned with national Government.   

 
1.2 The LTP provides the key over-arching single integrated plan for how a 

transport authority will meet the needs of residents, visitors and businesses 
travelling to, from and through the county. It provides the detail of the transport 
infrastructure needs for Kent by bringing together and setting out the impact. 
For LTP5 this will include using KCC’s county-wide transport model, considering 
the cumulative growth forecasts from district Local Plans that now run to 2037 
and the district transport strategies that support those plans. In so doing, LTP5 
puts the Council in the best position to promote proposals and their case based 
on an infrastructure-first approach where growth is planned in the county. 

 
1.3 The LTP will plan for the impact of this cumulative growth along with other 

strategic changes to the transport network such as Lower Thames Crossing; 
international freight traffic; any ‘new normal’ to emerge now we have 
transitioned out of the EU; innovation in the transport industry; and government 
policies such as the diesel and petrol car sales ban in 2030 and related air 
quality impacts. Establishing a new ambition and plan will maximise KCC’s 
ability to positively shape the future of Kent by responding to the challenges 
facing the county and transport industry more widely. LTP5 will demonstrate 
those areas of Kent’s transport system and geography that need to be levelled-
up if national policies and targets are to be delivered.  

 
1.4 KCC has a series of subject-specific strategies adopted or in development, such 

as the Highways Asset Management Plan, Vision Zero Road Safety Strategy, 
Rail Strategy, Bus Service Improvement Plan, Environment Strategy and 
Energy and Low Emission Strategy as well as the Renewal and Resilience 
Plan. At a sub-national level, Transport for the South East (TfSE), of which KCC 
is a constituent authority, has adopted its transport strategy for the South East 
up to 2050 and aims to complete a Strategic Investment Programme in 2022-
23.  

 
1.5 Furthermore, Government has been developing work on Future Mobility, Rural 

Transport, recently published the Transport Decarbonisation Plan, and is now 
developing the third Road Investment Strategy (RIS3). The Government is part 
way through its significant national investment of £2bn to 2024/25 as it 
established the second Cycling and Walking Strategy whilst KCC’s Active 
Travel Strategy to 2021 also requires replacement. LTP5 will provide the 
mechanism for promoting a new programme of walking and cycling 
improvements based on identified gaps in provision around the county, to 
secure sustained walking and cycling investment that has been absent to date. 

 
1.6 Whilst each plan and strategy have specific purposes and functions, the LTP 

provides the overarching strategy and key policies and proposals that, as a 
package, will have the largest impact and best value in meeting the challenges 
of population growth, economic prosperity, and environmental quality across 
Kent.  

 

Page 266



 

 

1.7 KCC has an adopted LTP (LTP4 - Delivering Growth without Gridlock 2016-31) 
but now is an excellent time to undertake an early review of the existing LTP4 
and prepare a new LTP5 that reflects the markedly changed environment in 
which KCC is seeking to meet its statutory transport duties and work with 
partners to improve travel, air quality, public health and hit carbon emissions 
targets. Furthermore, the lifting of restrictions that have had a significant impact 
on travel demand means KCC can prepare LTP5 with a full understanding of 
the post-pandemic trajectory on travel demand and the new pressures it could 
create across the transport network. These are not simple challenges to 
address and will require all parts of the transport system and KCC’s role and 
influence on them to be carefully planned and directed to ensure improvement 
in one aspect is not at the expense of another. 

 
1.8 The case for preparing LTP5 is detailed in section 2, followed by the policy 

framework context in section 3, then the scope of the programme and schedule 
for its completion in sections 4 and 5, respectively.  

 

2. The case for an early review of LTP4 and development of a new LTP5   
 
2.1 Much has changed since LTP4 was prepared – a new LTP provides KCC the 

opportunity to establish a new direction that can address delivery of its own and 
governments’ new policies and targets. The main changes in the policy and 
financial climate that LTP5 will address are summarised as follows. 

2.1.1 Sources of funding that provided sustained investment in Kent’s 
transport networks over the life of LTP4 are coming to an end – 
particularly the Local Growth Fund, whilst there are no clear plans for a 
further Housing Infrastructure Fund. At the same time, significant new 
funds have been announced that are specific to types of transport – 
£3bn for Bus, £2bn for walking and cycling, £300m by Ofgem on 
Electric Vehicle (EV) charging and a £4.8bn fund for Levelling Up, 
which can include transport schemes but they must demonstrate 
contribution towards the Government’s emissions pathways and 
budgets up to net-zero in 2050.  

2.1.2 Government’s legislation to achieve net zero carbon emissions and the 
Council’s own recognition of a Climate Emergency and subsequent 
adoption of the Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emission Strategy 
and its policies.  

2.1.3 An opportunity to complement the work of Transport for the South East 
(TfSE) by providing ready-prepared evidence and proposals that the 
Sub-national Transport Body (STB) can champion and lobby for to the 
benefit of the county. Simultaneously, LTP5 preparation can benefit 
from TfSE’s own area-based studies exploring orbital and radial travel 
in the TfSE region and the thematic studies on the future of transport 
and establishing a freight strategy. Several constituent members of 
TfSE are also preparing new LTPs for the reasons given in this paper. 

2.1.4 Growth of the digital economy has gathered pace through 2020-21. The 
new plan can respond to and reflect the outcomes of the Government’s 
Future of Transport Regulatory Review and build on KCC’s own 

Page 267



 

 

innovative trials that are underway or in development e.g., Canterbury 
E-scooter hire, Ebbsfleet Mobility as a Service (MaaS) etc. 

2.1.5 The COVID-19 pandemic has changed travel patterns, impacted air 
quality, and increased the primacy of public health. This has increased 
emphasis and funding towards prioritising active travel both for all types 
of journeys and to directly improve public health.  

2.1.6 The future of the rail market and the operation of the industry has been 
hastened by the pandemic, with the Great British Rail proposed reforms 
now published in the Williams-Shapps review.  

2.1.7 Transition out of the EU has completed and the effects of the new 
trading arrangements are becoming established enabling planning, with 
confidence, for the long-term role of Kent as an international gateway. 

2.1.8 LTP5 will be able to take account of Government’s planned reforms to 
the planning system, potential devolution through the Levelling Up 
agenda, and the shifts in transport policy that the Department for 
Transport (DfT) has announced in 2020/21 such as Gear Change and 
the Bus Back Better – the National Bus Strategy.  

 
2.2 A new LTP5 will maximise KCC’s ability and influence to secure critical funding 

from government to invest in the local transport network. Without a new plan 
there will not be the variety of schemes to match the different targeted funding 
routes government has established and will be available for the foreseeable 
future. The current policy goals and priorities the available funding addresses 
are challenging to deliver and will require a comprehensive consideration of 
Kent’s whole transport system to ensure that the LTP5 can establish a new 
ambition and plan that integrates users’ needs and networks and is attractive to 
Government to fund to deliver its national policies and targets.   

 
3. Policy Framework  
 
3.1 The Interim Strategic Plan that the Council set in December 2020 carries the 

following aims for addressing the demand challenge: 
 

3.1.1 Develop a new Local Transport Plan for Kent to reflect changes to 
transport policy as a result of the COVID-19 crisis and the climate 
change emergency, working closely with residents, businesses, local 
transport providers and local, regional, and national partners. 

3.1.2 Consider the appropriate use of active travel schemes (walking and 
cycling) within the development of the new Local Transport Plan. 

  
3.2 The new LTP will also make a significant contribution towards the delivery of the 

Kent Environment Strategy and its supporting strategies, particularly the Energy 
and Low Emissions Strategy. The new LTP will set out KCC’s proposals for 
making best use of the existing transport networks to avoid negative impacts to 
the environment and establish a sustainable future including the necessary 
contribution towards reducing carbon emissions and combatting and adapting 
as necessary to climate change.  

Page 268



 

 

 
3.3 The three key principles of the Renewal and Resilience Plan can be furthered 

by a new LTP. The new LTP will help to ensure that the transport system 
supports a greener future through a sustainable and lower carbon economy by 
addressing the contribution transport makes (e.g., its own carbon emissions 
from operations) and supporting housing and employment growth so their 
impacts are sustainable. The new plan will seek to ensure the transport system 
improves rather than reduces productivity through on-network delay and 
unreliability. The new LTP will also set out how KCC can harness change and 
innovation in the transport sector to make the network resilient and provide 
better opportunities for all.  

 
3.4 Work on the plan will consider feedback and outcomes KCC obtains from its 

other programmes. For example, the Reconnect programme for children and 
understanding how the transport system is or is not supporting their return to 
the activities and opportunities they enjoyed before COVID-19. Or how transport 
arises as a barrier when KCC works with adults through its social care service 
programmes such as Making a Difference Every Day. Infrastructure 
programmes that transport either compliments or substitutes will also be 
considered as the new LTP is prepared – such as understanding how delivery 
of the Kent Broadband Programme and enhanced mobile services will change 
digital accessibility and resultant remaining gaps where dependency on 
transport services may be heightened relative to other parts of the county. 

 
4. Scope 

 
4.1 The proposed scope of LTP5 is that it covers:  

 
4.1.1 All forms of transport and networks including those Kent is not the 

statutory transport authority for e.g., motorways/trunk roads, rail, and 
ports.  

4.1.2 The needs of both passenger traffic and of freight traffic. 

4.1.3 All parts of the county; as well as cross-boundary interfaces with 
Medway, London, Surrey, East Sussex, and internationally. 

4.1.4 Cover all KCC’s policies and delivery plans and consider how transport 
can support their delivery.  

4.1.5 Possible enhancements to transport services and the maintenance, 
operation, management, and best use of the assets necessary for 
transport delivery. 

4.1.6 The cumulative effects of growth in population and employment set out 
across district Local Plans.  

4.1.7 The trajectories and carbon budgets set by government and Kent’s own 
targets and the challenge of adaptation to climate change and creating 
a resilient transport network. 

 

 

 

 

Page 269



 

 

 

 
5. Schedule 

 
5.1 The LTP5 programme milestones are set out below. The programme is planned 

to complete in autumn / winter 2023 with adoption of LTP5 by the County 
Council. The key tasks are: 
 

5.1.1 Agree new Ambition for LTP5 – January 2022 

5.1.2 New policies and proposals established to address objectives of LTP5 – 
August 2022 

5.1.3 Complete Strategic Environment Assessment and Equalities 
Assessment, and undertake consultation – autumn 2022 / winter 2023 

5.1.4 Adoption – autumn 2023 

 

6. Proposed Member Task and Finish Group 
 

6.1 LTP5 will be a new statement of ambition and priorities for Kent’s transport 
system. As a statutory requirement and a strategy covering the whole of Kent, 
LTP5 will require adoption by the full Council. Given this, it is proposed that a 
Member Task and Finish Group is formed from representatives of the 
Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee and other relevant Committees 
such as Growth, Economic Development and Communities, Health and 
Wellbeing etc, be established to provide a means of regular input by Members 
on more detailed matters and to build consensus.  
 

6.2 The Task and Finish group is proposed to be chaired by the Deputy Cabinet 
Member for Transport. The Member Task and Finish group is proposed to meet 
circa three times a year (during core formative stages and therefore not 
necessarily evenly spaced over calendar i.e., every four months), given the 
schedule to prepare LTP5 and report to Environment and Transport Cabinet 
Committee (ETCC), which will provide Member oversight for the County 
Council.  

 
 

Page 270



 

 

 
 

6.3 A proposed structure of the Task and Finish Group is set out in the above. 
Volunteers will be required to fill the group. The group party membership 
broadly represents the balance of power on the full Council. 

 
6.4 The full Terms of Reference for the Task and Finish Group will be prepared in 

due course for approval by its Chair. 
 

7. Financial Implications 
 

7.1 The estimated cost of preparing LTP5 for adoption is £194,500 of non-staffing 
cost – covering consultation activity, use of the county-wide model and the 
statutory environmental assessment. Forecast phasing over the financial years 
covered by the plan is shown in Table 1. Costs are being met from the 
Transport Strategy revenue budget.   

 
Table 1 Estimated required budget for preparing LTP5 

 2021/22 2022/23 Total 

Non-
staffing 

85,500 109,000 194,500 

 
 

8. Legal implications  
 

8.1 Commencement of the new LTP programme and the preparation of a draft for 
consultation does not have any impacts on KCC’s General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) obligations as no personal data is required to complete 
these tasks. A Data Protection Impact Assessment will be undertaken to 
address any personal data that may be collected through the public consultation 
exercise. 

 
 

Page 271



 

 

9. Equalities implications  
 

9.1 LTP5 preparation will include completion of an Equalities Impact Assessment 
(EqIA) for the consultation version of the draft plan and the proposals it 
contains, and then reviewed as part of the preparation of the final LTP5. An 
EqIA screening of the project of preparing the LTP5 itself has concluded a Low 
rating with no adverse impacts forecast on those groups with protected 
characteristics. 
 

10. Governance 
 

10.1 LTP5, once prepared in draft, will be taken to County Council for adoption as 
specified in the Constitution. To reach that stage, the LTP5 programme will 
report to the Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee on its progress and 
obtain feedback on key matters such as the draft LTP5 prior to its public 
consultation. Cabinet Committee and Cabinet will be asked to review LTP5 for 
recommendation to full Council and consideration by all Members. 
 

11. Conclusions 
 
11.1 Preparing LTP5 provides an excellent opportunity to align KCC’s policies and 

priorities, maximise the success of delivering the most effective improvements 
to journeys in the county, and ensure that KCC is in the best position to attract 
funding and investment. It will coincide with policy development and reforms 
emerging from the Government and the recovery from the impacts to the 
transport sector from the pandemic, whilst supporting the delivery of KCC’s 
Environment Strategy and the Energy and Low Emission Strategy. 
 

12.    Recommendation 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
13. Background Documents 

 

13.1 Local Transport Plan 4 published on KCC website at 
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/72668/Local-transport-
plan-4.pdf .  
 

14. Contact details 

Report Author:  
 
Joseph Ratcliffe, Transport Strategy 
Manager 
 
03000 413445 
 
joseph.ratcliffe@kent.gov.uk 

Relevant Director: 
 
Simon Jones, Interim Director of Growth, 
Environment and Transport  
  
03000 411683 
 
simon.jones@kent.gov.uk 

 

Recommendation:  
 
The Cabinet Committee is asked to note the intention to initiate an early review of the 
existing Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4): Delivering Growth without Gridlock (2016-31) 
that was adopted by the County Council in July 2017 and start the process of 
preparing a new LTP5. 

Page 272

https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/72668/Local-transport-plan-4.pdf
https://www.kent.gov.uk/__data/assets/pdf_file/0011/72668/Local-transport-plan-4.pdf


 
From:  David Brazier – Cabinet Member for Highways and 

Transportation  
    
   Simon Jones – Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 

Transport 
 

To:   Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee - 8 September 
2021 
 

Subject:  Independent Cost Consultancy Services 
                          
Classification: Unrestricted  

 
Past Pathway of report:  None  
 
Future Pathway of report: For Cabinet Member Decision 
 

Electoral Division:   None 
 

Summary: This report provides an overview of the requirements for independent 
cost consultancy services within Growth, Environment and Transport.  
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse, or make 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways & Transport on the proposed 
decision, and indicated on the proposed decision sheet attached at Appendix A, as 
follows to give approval to: 
 
a) Procure a single supplier agreement to allow independent cost consultancy 

services to be made available to teams within Growth, Environment and 
Transport. 

b) Provide the Director of Transportation with the delegated authority to enter into 
the appropriate contractual arrangements for the provisions of Independent 
Cost Consultancy Services, including future extensions.  

 

 

1. Introduction 
  

1.1 The Major Capital Programme Team has been using independent cost 
consultancy services for over 10 years to ensure that costings provided through 
the design process are realistic, that budgets are robust and to ensure that best 
value is achieved from highways, transportation, and other civil engineering 
projects. The cost consultants have also provided support in the preparation of 
construction contracts and advice on contractual matters. 
 

1.2 The Major Capital Programme Team has an existing contract in place which 
has a value of £900,000 over 4 years and has supported 69 projects to date. 
The new arrangements will replace the existing contract which expires on 31 
March 2022. 
 

Page 273

Agenda Item 14



1.3 The Major Capital Programme Team consider that it is imperative to have an 
independent cost consultancy available to support the delivery of large-scale 
highways and transportation projects. The independence from the design work 
provides a third-party check which is used to support business cases and give 
greater confidence in project budgeting throughout the delivery of a scheme. 
This is particularly relevant in the short to medium term as the team continues 
to manage uncertainty around inflation and project delays facing the 
construction industry as a result of material and labour shortages. 

 
1.4 This report provides recommendations for the required decisions to allow the 

procurement of the services to be progressed. 
 

2. Scheme Description and Delivery 
 

2.1 The Major Capital Programme Team is working with the Strategic 
Commissioning Team to procure Independent Cost Consultancy Services to 
support the development of highways and transportation schemes and other 
projects within Growth, Environment and Transport.  
 

2.2 Having an external supplier provide these services is more cost effective than 
employing staff with the relevant expertise in-house, particularly as the workload 
will vary and there is no guarantee that they could be fully utilised all year 
round. An external company provides resilience for the service, with a broad 
range of experience and the ability to manage the varying demand.  
 

2.3 There are three options to deliver this service: 
2.3.1 Utilise the Professional Service Framework 
2.3.2 Utilise other central government and local authority frameworks 
2.3.3 KCC procure its own contract 

 
2.4 The existing Professional Services Framework Contract (PSFC) does allow for 

Quantity Surveying services however, the Major Capital Programme Team 
experience has been that most design consultants (on the PSFC) do not have 
the level of all round cost consultancy knowledge to suitably support KCC. The 
new arrangements will provide teams with greater certainty by reviewing design 
costings and ensuring that we have a consistency of approach across our 
projects. This is particularly important for externally funded projects that KCC 
must report on to Central Government. 
 

2.5 The team considered a number of existing frameworks that could be used to 
access cost consultancy services, but none of these provided contractual 
arrangements that suited the requirements for the service. They will also not be 
available in the time frame required to have a supplier in place for 1st April 
2022, which will ensure continuity of service.  

 
2.6 The availability and support of a single supplier allows for consistency in 

approach across the large forward programme of schemes which are being 
delivered. It also means that KCC can react quickly to the challenging 
timescales that are set by Central Government for external funding 
opportunities. 
 

Page 274



2.7 A single supplier allows the Major Capital Programme Team to ensure 
consistency of approach and develop productive working relationships with the 
Cost Consultancy staff.  

 
2.8 It is anticipated that the NEC4 suite of contracts will be used to retain a suitable 

supplier. 
 

2.9 The arrangements will replace the existing contract which will expire on 31 
March 2022. 

 
2.10 The Major Capital Programme Team has a considerable forward programme 

that will require access to cost consultancy services and the contract will also 
be accessible to other teams within Growth, Environment & Transport. As a 
result of this significant forward workload, the new arrangement should have a 
value of up to £4 million over a period of 5 years.  

 
2.11 The procurement of the new arrangement will support the Interim Strategic Plan 

Economic Challenge to bring forward infrastructure to stimulate economic 
growth. It will support projects bringing central government funding into the 
county to invest in infrastructure, supporting the construction industry and 
supply chain and providing opportunities for green infrastructure. 
 

3. Financial Implications 
 

3.1 Future commissions will be funded by capital project budgets and via team 
revenue budgets, if necessary, for projects that have not yet received capital 
funding.  
 

3.2 It is expected that the new arrangement will support expenditure of up to £4m 
over the contractual period (up to 5 years). There will be no workload guarantee 
in the new arrangement.  

 
3.3 The contractual arrangements will operate on agreed rates and value for money 

will be assessed through the tender process through a price and quality 
assessment. 
 

4.    Legal implications 
 

4.1 Legal advice is being sought from Legal Services on the conditions of contract. 
Further legal input is not expected to be required. The award of any contracts 
will be in full compliance with all relevant procurement regulations.  
 

5.    Equalities implications  
 

5.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment has been prepared and approved. There are 
no adverse impacts on protected groups. 
 

6. Other corporate implications 
 

6.1 The decision to award this contract has no significant impact in other areas of 
the Council’s work. 

 

Page 275



7. Governance 
 

7.1 The recommendations include for delegation to the Director for Transportation 
to take further or other decisions as appropriate.   
 

8. Conclusions 
 
8.1 The Major Capital Programme Team require access to independent cost 

consultancy services to provide budget confidence and best value from 
highways and transport projects. 

 
8.2 It is proposed to award to a single supplier to ensure consistency of approach. 
 
8.3 It is planned that the new contract arrangements will be in place following on 

from the end of the existing contract to ensure continuity of service.  
 

8.4 The report and recommendations are to provide the relevant authorities to allow 
the contract to be procured.  

 
9.    Recommendation(s) 
 

Recommendation(s):   
The Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and endorse, or make 
recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways & Transport on the proposed 
decision, aas indicated on the proposed decision sheet attached at Appendix A, as 
follows to give approval to: 
 
a) Procure a single supplier agreement to allow independent cost consultancy 

services to be made available to teams within Growth, Environment and 
Transport. 

b) Provide the Director of Transportation with the delegated authority to enter into 
the appropriate contractual arrangements for the provisions of the Independent 
Cost Consultancy Services, including future extensions.  

 

 
10. Background Documents 

 
Appendix A – Proposed Record of Decision 
Appendix B – Equalities Impact Assessment 
 
11. Contact details 
 
Report Author:  
Victoria Soames 
Project Manager, Major Capital 
Programme Team 
 
Victoria.soames@kent.gov.uk  

Relevant Director: 
Tim Read, Head of Transportation 
  
Tim.Read@kent.gov.uk 

 

Page 276



 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: 

David Brazier, Cabinet Member for Highways & Transport 

   
DECISION NO: 

21/00075 

 

For publication  
 

Key decision: YES / NO  
 

 
 

Subject Matter / Title of Decision 
Independent Cost Consultancy Services 
 
 

Decision:  

 
As Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, I agree to: 
 
a) Procure a single supplier agreement to allow independent cost consultancy services to be 
 made available to teams within Growth, Environment and Transport. 
b) Provide the Director of Highways and Transportation with the delegated authority to enter into 
 the appropriate contractual arrangements for the provisions of the Independent Cost 
 Consultancy Services, including future extensions. 

 
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
The Major Capital Programme Team has been using independent cost consultancy services for over 
10 years to ensure that costings provided through the design process are realistic, that budgets are 
robust and to ensure that best value is achieved from highways, transportation, and other civil 
engineering projects. The cost consultants have also provided support in the preparation of 
construction contracts and advice on contractual matters. 

 
The Major Capital Programme Team has an existing contract in place which has a value of 
£900,000 over 4 years and has supported 69 projects to date. The new arrangements will replace 
the existing contract which expires on 31 March 2022. 
 

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  
The proposal is being considered by Members of the Environment and Transport Cabinet 
Committee at their meeting on 8 September 2021. 

 

Any alternatives considered and rejected: 
N/A 

 

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer:  
 
 
 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   
 

Page 277



This page is intentionally left blank



   

From:  David Brazier, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation 

  Simon Jones, Corporate Director, Growth, Environment & 
Transport  

To:  Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee -  8 September 
2021 

Subject: Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 – Cinque Ports Phase 5 cycle 
facility from Hythe (Palmarsh) to Dymchurch  

Key decision: 21/00066 
 

Classification: Unrestricted 

Past Pathway of paper: Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee – 19 
January 2021 

Future Pathway of Paper: For Cabinet Member Decision 

Summary: This paper provides an update on the Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 
funded scheme; a cycle facility between Hythe (Palmarsh) and Dymchurch.   

Recommendation(s):   

The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and 
endorse, or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways & 
Transport on the proposed decision to proceed to construction for phases 5A and 
5B pending satisfactory land agreements as shown at Appendix C. 

1 Background  

1.1 The Department for Transport has provided two phases of active travel 
funding.  The first tranche supported the installation of temporary projects for 
the COVID-19 pandemic and the second tranche is to enable and support the 
creation of permanent infrastructure to support walking and cycling and active 
travel. 

 
1.2 The bid was submitted on 6th August 2020 and the announcement was made 

on 27th November 2020.  Kent was awarded £6.098million.  This was the 
third highest settlement in the Country.   

 
1.4 The award is for five named walking and cycling active travel schemes across 

the County:   
 

 Canterbury: Littlebourne Road to the City Centre   

 Folkestone: Central Railway Station to Cheriton 

 Thanet: Birchington to Margate Sands  

 Folkestone: Hythe to Dymchurch   

 Gravesham: Gravesend to Northfleet 
 

Page 279

Agenda Item 15



   

1.5 Kent County Council initially consulted on the 5 schemes between 9 
December 2020 and 19 January 2021. The Active Travel Funding Tranche 2 
report to this Cabinet Committee on 19 January 2021 gave approval to 
proceed to design and further consultation on the detailed designs of the 5 
schemes. 

 
 2 The Report – Cinque Ports Phase 5 Palmarsh to Dymchurch 
 
2.1 The full extent of the Cinque Ports Cycleway will eventually provide a 

continual walking and cycling route connecting the coastline from Folkestone 
to Lydd. It aims to encourage sustainable transport within the area, making it 
easier for people to walk and cycle, helping to deliver Kent County Council’s 
Active Travel Strategy. 

 
2.2 The scheme started in 2016 with the installation of a shared use 

foot/cycleway from Folkestone Harbour to Sandgate Esplanade funded by the 
Local Growth Fund. This was followed by the installation of a zebra 
pedestrian crossing point, localised widening of the footway and cycle route 
signs on A259 Sandgate Esplanade, extending the route to Hythe and 
Saltwood Sailing Club in 2017. 

 
2.3 In 2019, we introduced a shared use foot/cycleway from the A259 junction 

with Reachfields to Palmarsh junction with Nickolls Road funded through the 
Department for Transport’s (DfT) Emergency Active Travel Fund. This phase 
also included the installation of a toucan crossing at the junction of St 
George’s Place. A plan detailing all phases of the scheme to date can be 
seen in appendix A. 

 
2.4 The initial consultation on Phase 5 of the Cinque Ports cycle facility between 

Palmarsh and Dymchurch received 193 responses. The proposed cycling and 
walking improvements were well received and strongly supported with 76% 
support for a new cycle route. 76% of respondents stated that they would 
cycle more and 73% walk more as a result of the proposed improvements. 

 
2.5  As the initial plans provided in the consultation have not changed and the 

proposal is to still to provide a 3.0m wide shared footway/cycleway it is 
anticipated that a further consultation on this project is not required. An 
update will be sent to the responders to the consultation if they provided email 
addresses and all local residents and businesses in the vicinity will be 
informed should authority be given to proceed to construction. The scheme 
which converts an existing grassed verge and is entirely off road was brought 
to this Cabinet Committee in January 2021 and received unanimous support. 

 
3 Legal implications 

 
3.1 During the detailed design stage it was identified that part of the route 

required land from the Ministry of Defence (MoD). At present the design team 
is liaising with the MoD on the amount of land that would need to be 
dedicated as Highway Land and any restrictions needed for them to give their 
consent and approval. Early discussions are positive however land 
negotiations can be time consuming so the designs have been split into 2 
sections. Phase 5A (approximately 1,000m) can be achieved without MoD 
land and therefore construction can commence once we are satisfied there 

Page 280



   

are no additional consents/requirements needed from the MoD – see 
appendix B.  Phase 5A can operate without Phase 5B being undertaken.  

 
3.2 Phase 5B requires land from the MoD to be dedicated as Highway Land and 

also requires a retaining wall or embankment to be built to facilitate the 
required cycleway width. This stage is likely to closely follow on from phase 
5A once all approvals from the MoD have be given. Early indications are that 
the MoD will support the proposals and would prefer their land to be 
dedicated as highway rather than the land transferred to KCC which is an 
accepted method. 

 
4 Financial Implications 
 
4.1 The costs of the scheme can be fully covered by the grant awarded to KCC 

via Tranche 2 of Active Travel funding.  This grant makes allowance for the 
staff costs and design fees associated with the scheme delivery in addition to 
the construction costs and any legal costs associated. 

 
5 Programme  
 
5.1 Subject to the endorsement by this committee, it is intended to commence 

construction of Phase 5A in early October 2021 with a build programme of 4 
months shortly followed by phase 5B (pending finalising the land 
negotiations). It is anticipated that the work will be undertaken using a 
competitively selected sub-contractor via the the Highway Term Maintenance 
Contract. 

 
6 Equalities implications 
   
6.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has been undertaken and will continue to be 

updated throughout the project and keep any affected groups informed and 
updated. At present there are no mitigating actions. The EqIA will be placed 
on KCC’s website: www.kent.gov.uk/kentactivetravel.gov.uk 

 
7 Conclusion 
 
7.1 The detailed designs have progressed to convert a grass verge to a shared 

footway/cyleway with the scheme split into 2 phases due to additional land 
requirements on part of the route. Phase 5A is now ready to move to the 
construction stage without the need for further consultation as the options and 
designs are as informed at the initial consultation stage. Local residents and 
businesses will be informed via a newsletter and information will be placed on 
KCC’s website once a recommendation is given. 

8. Recommendation(s) 

The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to consider and 
endorse, or make recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Highways & 
Transport on the proposed decision to proceed to construction for phases 5A and 
5B pending satisfactory land agreements as shown at Appendix C. 

 
Page 281



   

9. Contact details 

Report Author: Jamie Watson 

 Lead officer: Nikola Floodgate 

 Job title: Schemes Planning & Delivery Manager 

 Phone number: 03000 416239 

 E-mail: nikola.floodgate@kent.gov.uk  

Relevant Director: 

 Corporate Director: Simon Jones 

 Job title: Corporate Director of Highways, Transportation & Waste, GET 

 Phone number: 03000 411683 

 E-mail: Simon.Jones@kent.gov.uk 

APPENDICES 

 Appendix A – Overview of Cinque Ports phase 1-5 between Folkestone 
and Dymchurch 

 Appendix B – Phase 5A and 5B 

 Appendix C – Proposed Record of Decision 

 Background document : Equality Impact Assessment : 
https://democracy.kent.gov.uk/documents/s105336/Kent%20Active%20Trav
el%20Fund%20Folkestone%20to%20Lydd%20EqIA.pdf 

Page 282

mailto:Tim.Read@kent.gov.uk
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.kent.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs105336%2FKent%2520Active%2520Travel%2520Fund%2520Folkestone%2520to%2520Lydd%2520EqIA.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7Cc0820deec6f84fd35c2d08d963bf12fd%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637650494565151482%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=IzVYYbjQcCnlbyyoHPQ65Zaz3J0qk1HVivRrZ0HdLVw%3D&reserved=0
https://eur01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fdemocracy.kent.gov.uk%2Fdocuments%2Fs105336%2FKent%2520Active%2520Travel%2520Fund%2520Folkestone%2520to%2520Lydd%2520EqIA.pdf&data=04%7C01%7Ctheresa.warford%40kent.gov.uk%7Cc0820deec6f84fd35c2d08d963bf12fd%7C3253a20dc7354bfea8b73e6ab37f5f90%7C0%7C0%7C637650494565151482%7CUnknown%7CTWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D%7C1000&sdata=IzVYYbjQcCnlbyyoHPQ65Zaz3J0qk1HVivRrZ0HdLVw%3D&reserved=0


 

KENT COUNTY COUNCIL – PROPOSED RECORD OF DECISION 
 

DECISION TO BE TAKEN BY: 

David Brazier, Cabinet Member for Highways & Transport 

   
DECISION NO: 

21/00066 

 

 

For publication  
 

Key decision: YES /  
 
 

Subject Matter / Title of Decision 
Active Travel Fund Tranche 2 – Cinque Ports Phase 5 cycle facility from Hythe (Palmarsh) to Dymchurch 
 
 

Decision:  

 
As Cabinet Member for Highways and Transport, I agree to proceed to construction for phases 5A and 5B 

pending satisfactory land agreements 
 
 
 

Reason(s) for decision: 
KCC has been awarded £6.098m from DfT tranche 2 active travel funding for five schemes across 
the county; one of which is the  Cinque Ports Phase 5 cycle facility from Hythe (Palmarsh) to 
Dymchurch. The full extent of the Cinque Ports Cycleway will eventually provide a continual walking 
and cycling route connecting the coastline from Folkestone to Lydd. It aims to encourage 
sustainable transport within the area, making it easier for people to walk and cycle, helping to deliver 
Kent county Council’s Active Travel Strategy. 

 

Cabinet Committee recommendations and other consultation:  
Kent County Council initially consulted on the 5 schemes between 9 December 2020 and 19 
January 2021. The Active Travel Funding Tranche 2 report to this Cabinet Committee on 19 January 
2021 gave approval to proceed to design and further consultation on the detailed designs of the 5 
schemes. 
 
The proposed decisions to proceed with the Cinque Ports Phase 5 cycle facility from Hythe 
(Palmarsh) to Dymchurch will be considered by Members of the Environment and Transport Cabient 
Committee on 8 September 2021. 

 

Any alternatives considered and rejected: 
N/A 

 

Any interest declared when the decision was taken and any dispensation granted by the 

Proper Officer:  
 
 
 

 

 
.........................................................................  .................................................................. 

 signed   date 
   
 

 
Page 283



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAWING PACK 
Page 1 of 2. 

Project name: CINQUE PORTS PHASE 5 SHARED USE FOOT AND CYCLEWAY. 

Project reference: 2122-ATF-FH-CP5 

Kent County Council, Ashford High Depot, Henwood Industrial Estate, ASHFORD, TN24 8AD. 
Telephone 03000 418181 

Drawing status: FOR CONSULTATION 

Revision number: 1 
Revision date: 01/07/2021 
Purpose of revision: Original issue. 
Drawn by: PB 
Checked by: 
Approved by: 

These drawings are not to be used in whole or part other than for the intended purpose and project as defined in this 
drawing pack.  Refer to the contract for full terms and conditions. 

© Copyright Kent County Council 2021 
Mapping © Crown Copyright and database right 2021. 
Ordnance Survey 100019238. 

P
age 285



Page 2 of 2.

Project: CINQUE PORTS PHASE 5 SHARED USE FOOT AND CYCLEWAY.

Drawing title: Drawing to show all phases of the scheme to date.

Drawing number: 2122-ATF-FH-CP5-101

Scale: 1:30,000 at A3 (Do not scale).

Phase 1

We installed a shared use footway/cycleway

from Folkestone Harbour to Sandgate

Esplanade.  This phase was completed at

the end of 2016.

Phase 2

We installed a Zebra pedestrian crossing

point, localised widening of the footway and

cycle route signs on A259 Sandgate

Esplanade, extending the route to Hythe

and Saltwood Sailing Club.  This phase

was completed at the end of 2017.

Phase 3

We have designed a route from the Sailing

Club on Hythe Promenade across 'The

Green' to rejoin the A259 Dymchurch Road

at the junction with Reachfields.  We are

currently in discussions with Hythe Town

Council, which owns the recreation ground

'The Green', with a view to providing a

continuous route across this area.

Phase 4

Under the Emergency Active Travel Fund

provided by the Department for Transport,

we introduced a shared use

footway/cycleway along the A259 from the

end of Phase 3 at the junction with

Reachfields to the junction with Nickolls

Road, Palmarsh. This phase of the route

also included a Toucan crossing at the

junction of St George's Place.  This section

was completed in early 2019.

Phase 5

Under Tranche 2 of the Active Travel Fund

provided by the Department for Transport,

we are proposing to install further shared use

path from the end of the Phase 4 at Palmarsh

through to Dymchurch Redoubt.  This

phase of the route will take cyclists through

Ministry of Defence land adjacent to the

A259 and then onto the seawall creating a

complete virtually all off-road cycle route

from Folkestone to Littlestone-on-Sea.

Works are due to take place in early 2022.

Page 286



DRAWING PACK 

Page 1 of 2. 

Project name: CINQUE PORTS PHASE 5 SHARED USE FOOT AND CYCLEWAY. 

Project reference: 2122-ATF-FH-CP5 

Kent County Council, Ashford High Depot, Henwood Industrial Estate, ASHFORD, TN24 8AD. 

Telephone 03000 418181 

Drawing status: FOR INFORMATION 

Revision number: 0 

Revision date: 17/08/2021 

Purpose of revision: Original issue. 

Drawn by: PB 

Checked by: 

Approved by: 

These drawings are not to be used in whole or part other than for the intended purpose and project as defined in this 
drawing pack.  Refer to the contract for full terms and conditions. 

© Copyright Kent County Council 2021 

Mapping © Crown Copyright and database right 2021. 
Ordnance Survey 100019238. 

P
age 287



 Page 288



1 
 

From:   David Brazier, Cabinet Member for Highways and Transportation 
 
   Susan Carey, Cabinet Member for Environment 
      
   Simon Jones, Corporate Director for Growth, Environment and 

Transport 
 
To:   Environment & Transport Cabinet Committee – 10 September 2021 

Subject:  Performance Dashboard 

Classification: Unrestricted  

Summary:  
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee Performance Dashboard shows 
progress made against targets set for Key Performance Indicators (KPIs). The latest 
Dashboard includes data up to June 2021. 
 
Fourteen of the nineteen KPIs achieved target and are RAG rated Green. Five KPIs were 
below target but did achieve the floor standard and are RAG rated Amber.  
 
Recommendation(s):   
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to NOTE the report for 
Quarter 1 of 2021/22. 

 
1. Introduction  

 
1.1. Part of the role of Cabinet Committees is to review the performance of the functions 

of the Council that fall within the remit of the Committee.  To support this role, 
Performance Dashboards are regularly reported to each Cabinet Committee 
throughout the year, and this is the first report for the 2021/22 financial year. 

 
2. Performance Dashboard 

 
2.1. The Dashboard provides a progress report on performance against target for the Key 

Performance Indicators (KPIs) for 2021/22. These KPIs, activity indicators and 
targets came before the Cabinet Committee for comment in June 2021. The current 
Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee Performance Dashboard is attached 
at Appendix 1. 

 
2.2. The current Dashboard provides results up to the end of June 2021. 

 
2.3. KPIs are presented with RAG (Red/Amber/Green) alerts to show progress against 

targets. Details of how the alerts are generated are outlined in the Guidance Notes, 
included with the Dashboard in Appendix 1. 

 
2.4. Three out of the five KPIs in Highways & Transportation achieved or exceeded target 

and were RAG rated Green. Faults reported by the public completed in 28 days, was 
one percentage point below target following higher than expected demand for 
pothole repairs and grass cutting. Emergency incidents attended to within 2 hours 

Page 289

Agenda Item 16



2 
 

continues to perform below target. The 98% target is challenging, with below target 
performance this quarter equating to 24 incidents outside the target time out of a total 
of 612 incidents. There continues to be some impact due to staff self-isolating. 
However, work continues with the contractor to ensure response times are in target. 
For digital take-up, all indicators exceeded target. 

 
2.5. Five of the eight indicators for Environment and Waste were above target, leaving 

three that were below. Overall recycling and composting continue to be impacted by 
a reduction in the volume taken to House Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs). 
Municipal waste diverted from landfill is slightly below target but is improving. The 
HWRC target was increased this year to match performance in 2020/21 but saw a 
slight decline with less organic material taken. 

2.6 This is the final quarter of the five-year greenhouse gas emissions target period to 
achieve a 38% reduction compared to 2015.  The 47% reduction achieved was well 
above target. Covid-19 restrictions accounts for some of the outperformance but 
modelling emissions were on track prior to Covid to exceed target.  

3. Recommendation(s):  
 
The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to NOTE the report for 
Quarter 1 of 2021/22. 

 
 
4. Contact details 
 
 Report Author:  Rachel Kennard 

    Chief Analyst 
    Strategic and Corporate Services - Analytics 
    03000 414527 
    Rachel.Kennard@kent.gov.uk 
 

 Relevant Director:  Simon Jones 
    Corporate Director, Growth, Environment and Transport 

    03000 411683 
    Simon.Jones@kent.gov.uk 

 

Page 290

mailto:Rachel.Kennard@kent.gov.uk
mailto:Simon.Jones@kent.gov.uk


Appendix 1 

1 
 

 
 

 
Environment and Transport 
Performance Dashboard 
 
Financial Year 2021/22 
 

Results up to June 2021 

 
 

 
Produced by Kent Analytics 
 
Publication Date: August 2021  

 

P
age 291



Appendix 1 

2 
 

 

Guidance Notes 
 
Data is provided with monthly frequency except for Waste Management and Greenhouse Gases where indicators are reported with 
quarterly frequency and as rolling 12-month figures to remove seasonality.  
 
RAG RATINGS 
 

GREEN Target has been achieved 

AMBER Floor Standard* achieved but Target has not been met 

RED Floor Standard* has not been achieved 

 
*Floor Standards are the minimum performance expected and if not achieved must result in management action 

 
 
Activity Indicators 
 
Activity Indicators representing demand levels are also included in the report. They are not given a RAG rating. Instead, they are 
tracked within an expected range represented by Upper and Lower Thresholds. The Alert provided for Activity Indicators is whether 
they are within their expected range or not. Results can either be within their expected range (Yes), or Above or Below their expected 
range 

P
age 292



Appendix 1 

3 
 

Key Performance Indicators Summary 
 

Highways & Transportation 
Monthly 

RAG 
YTD 
RAG 

 
Environment & Waste RAG 

HT01 : Potholes repaired in 28 calendar days (routine 
works not programmed) 

GREEN GREEN 
 

WM01 : Municipal waste recycled and composted AMBER 

HT02 : Faults reported by the public completed in 28 
calendar days 

GREEN AMBER 
 

WM02 : Municipal waste converted to energy GREEN 

HT04 : Customer satisfaction with service delivery 
(100 Call Back) 

GREEN GREEN 
 WM01 + WM02 : Municipal waste diverted from 

landfill 
AMBER 

HT08 : Emergency incidents attended to within 2 
hours 

AMBER AMBER 
 

WM03 : Waste recycled and composted at HWRCs AMBER 

HT12 : Streetlights, illuminated signs and bollards 
repaired in 28 calendar days 

GREEN GREEN 
 WM04 : Percentage of customers satisfied with 

HWRC services 
GREEN 

   
 EPE14 : Greenhouse Gas emissions from KCC estate 

(excluding schools)  
GREEN 

Digital Take up   RAG  
 EW1: Percentage of statutory planning consultee 

responses submitted within 21 days 
GREEN 

DT01 : Percentage of public enquiries for Highways 
Maintenance completed online 

GREEN  
 DT05 : Percentage of HWRC voucher applications 

completed online 
GREEN 

DT03 : Percentage of concessionary bus pass 
applications completed online 

GREEN  
  

 

DT04 : Percentage of speed awareness courses 
booking completed online 

GREEN  
  

 

DT06 : Percentage of Highway Licence applications 
completed online 

GREEN  
  

 

DT15 : Percentage of KCC travel Saver applications 
completed online  

GREEN  
  

 

DT16 : Percentage of 16+ Travel Saver applications 
completed online 

GREEN  
  

 

 

P
age 293



Appendix 1 

4 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Member 

Highways & Transportation Simon Jones David Brazier 

 
Key Performance Indicators 
 

Ref Indicator description Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 
Month 
RAG 

YTD 
YTD 
RAG 

Target Floor  

HT01 
Potholes repaired in 28 calendar days 
(routine works not programmed)  

90% 91% 89% 93% 97% GREEN 92% GREEN 90% 80% 

HT02 
Faults reported by the public 
completed in 28 calendar days  

91% 91% 89% 87% 90% GREEN 89% AMBER 90% 80% 

HT04 
Customer satisfaction with service 
delivery (100 Call Back)  

97% 93% 98% 96% 88% GREEN 94% GREEN 85% 70% 

HT08 
Emergency incidents attended to 
within 2 hours  

95% 96% 93% 97% 97% AMBER 96% AMBER 98% 95% 

HT12 
Streetlights, illuminated signs and 
bollards repaired in 28 calendar days 

93% 95% 94% 94% 91% GREEN 93% GREEN 90% 80% 

 
HT02 – In the first Quarter of 2021/22 there were almost 14,000 requests from customers, with the response within timescale just 
missing the 90% target.  Grass cutting enquiries and pothole demand remain high compared to the previous two years.  There has also 
been an increase in demand on the Highway Definition team for enquiries generated by people moving house.  The Service is working 
with contractors and supply chain to ensure performance improves and the target is achieved. 
 
HT08 - The service received 612 reports of emergency incidents in this Quarter with the contractor, Amey, unable to attend 24 of these 
within the 2-hour response time window, although many of these by just a few minutes. In most cases a Highway Steward, Inspector or 
Police Officer were on site awaiting a response crew thus minimizing the risk to road users.  Amey and its supply chain continue to be 
affected by staff and operatives self-isolating adding additional pressure to their ability to respond. However, work continues to ensure 
response times are in target. 
 

P
age 294



Appendix 1 

5 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Member 

Highways & Transportation Simon Jones David Brazier 

 
Activity Indicators 
 

Ref Indicator description Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 
Year to 

Date 

In 
expected 
range? 

Expected Range 
Upper | Lower 

HT01b 
Potholes repaired (as routine 
works and not programmed) 

1,577 2,083 2,007 1,473 1,221 4,701 Above 4,300 3,100 

HT02b 
Routine faults reported by the 
public due to be completed 

5,076 7,735 5,554 3,890 4,418 13,862 Above 13,700 10,700 

HT06 
Number of new enquiries requiring 
further action (total new faults) 

9,629 8,508 5,769 6,554 8,377 20,700 Below 27,000 22,000 

HT07 
Work in Progress (enquiries 
waiting for action) - end of month 

snapshot 
7,474 6,681 6,298 6,086 6,563 N/a Yes 7,300 6,300 

HT13 Streetwork permits issued 12,747 15,874 13,249 12,746 13,497 39,492 Above 36,100 30,100 

 
HT01b – Higher than expected numbers of potholes were reported as traffic volumes returned to more normal levels following the 
easing of the lockdown which commenced in January.  Highway teams continued to respond accordingly. 
 
HT02b – Similarly, this will have been impacted by increased road use, as well as enquiries regarding grass cutting schedules and 
drain issues across the County caused by some heavy June rain, meaning more routine faults were due for completion than normal. 
 
HT06 – Whilst the routine faults requiring action in 28 days (drains blocked and potholes etc), have been higher than usual, overall 
enquiries including longer term repairs, streetlighting queries and pavement issues, have been lower than normal. 
 
HT13 – The demand from utility companies to access and open Kent roads in this quarter reached almost 40,000 permit requests and 
this is up from nearer 28,000 for the same period in each of the last 2 years.  This pressure for road space and managing the Kent 
network continues to put significant pressure on the team. 

P
age 295



Appendix 1 

6 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Member 

Highways and Transportation Simon Jones David Brazier 
 

Digital Take-up indicators 
 

 

Ref Indicator description Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 
Year to 

Date 
YTD 
RAG 

Target Floor  

DT01 
Percentage of public enquiries for Highways 
Maintenance completed online 

64% 61% 58% 57% 60% 59% GREEN 55% 45% 

DT03 
Percentage of concessionary bus pass 
applications completed online 

79% 75% 72% 66% 81% 74% GREEN 70% 60% 

DT04 
Percentage of speed awareness courses 
bookings completed online 

86% 87% 89% 89% 88% 88% GREEN 85% 75% 

DT06 
Percentage of Highway Licence applications 
completed online 

99% 98% 98% 98% 99% 99% GREEN 95% 85% 

DT15 
Percentage of KCC Travel Saver 
applications completed online (Rolling 12 

months)  
99% 99% 99% 99% 99% #N/A GREEN 95% 85% 

DT16 
Percentage of 16+ Travel Saver applications 
completed online (Rolling 12 months) 

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% #N/A GREEN 95% 85% 

 

P
age 296



Appendix 1 

7 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Members 

Environment & Waste Simon Jones Susan Carey 
 

Key Performance Indicators (Rolling 12 months except WM08)  

 

Ref Indicator description Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 RAG Target Floor  

WM01 Municipal waste* recycled and composted 46% 46% 46% 46% 47% AMBER 50% 45% 

WM02 Municipal waste* converted to energy 54% 53% 52% 52% 52% GREEN 49% 44% 

01+02 Municipal waste diverted from landfill 99.6% 99.3% 98.6% 98.7% 98.8% AMBER 99% 95% 

WM03 
Waste recycled and composted at Household 
Waste Recycling Centres (HWRCs) 

62% 64% 67% 70% 69% AMBER 70% 65% 

WM08 
Overall score for mystery shopper assessment 
of Household Waste Recycling Centres  

N/a N/a N/a N/a 97% GREEN 96% 85% 

* This is waste collected by Districts, and by KCC via HWRCs. 
 

WM01 – Overall recycling and composting continues to be impacted by a reduction in volumes taken to HWRC sites since the start of 
the pandemic. Kerbside recycling and composting has remained consistently around 44% throughout the pandemic, and is not very 
different to pre-Covid levels.  
 

WM01+02 – This KPI is very close to meeting target of 99% diverted from landfill, but being a 12-month rolling percentage, it does 
reflect the extended maintenance at the Allington Waste to Energy Plant which occurred last autumn. The Quarter to June figure is 
over 99.8%. 
 

WM03 – Having met target the previous Quarter, this dropped back slightly in the Quarter to June. The cool and relatively dry Spring 
saw lower volumes of organic waste taken to HWRCs than expected. 
 

P
age 297



Appendix 1 

8 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Members 

Environment & Waste Simon Jones Susan Carey 

 
Activity Indicators (Rolling 12 months) 
 

Ref Indicator description Jun-20 Sep-20 Dec-20 Mar-21 Jun-21 
In 

expected 
range? 

Expected Range 
Upper | Lower 

WM05 
Waste tonnage collected by District 
Councils 

558,469 573,257 587,851 602,744 601,796 Above 550,000 530,000 

WM06 Waste tonnage collected at HWRCs 101,163 86,232 79,993 73,002 89,051 Below 150,000 130,000 

05+06 Total waste tonnage collected 659,632 659,489 667,844 675,746 690,847 Yes 700,000 660,000 

WM07 
Waste tonnage converted to energy at 
Allington Waste to Energy Plant 

327,954 323,622 323,123 327,984 330,901 Yes 340,000 320,000 

 

WM05 – Volumes of kerbside waste remain well above expected levels. Most collection authorities are collecting side waste, which is 
waste presented by residents next to their containers. Certain Districts have struggled to maintain collection schedules and have relied 
upon agency personnel. There has been an increased level of contamination in recyclable waste and recyclable materials placed in 
residual waste for energy recovery rather than recycling.  
 
WM06 – The volume of waste taken to HWRCs is increasing but is still about 50,000 tonnes (36%) lower than anticipated in the 12 
months to June. With removal of restrictions from 19 July, the number of booking slots has substantially increased. 
 

P
age 298



Appendix 1 

9 
 

 

Division Corporate Director Cabinet Member 

Environment & Waste Simon Jones Susan Carey 

 
Key Performance Indicator (reported quarterly in arrears) 
 

Ref Indicator description Mar 20 Jun 20 Sep 20 Dec 20 Mar 21 RAG Target Floor  

EPE14 
Greenhouse Gas emissions from KCC estate 
(excluding schools) in tonnes  

29,926 28,152 26,908 25,187 24,180 GREEN 28,100 29,500 

 

This quarter marks the completion of the five-year period for a which a 38% reduction target was set. The reduction achieved was 47% 
some of which is due to Covid-19 restrictions but modelling shows emissions were on track prior to Covid to exceed target. The next 
report will use the new methodology for reporting progress to the 2030 target of Net Zero. 

Key Performance Indicators (monthly) 

 

Ref Indicator description Feb-21 Mar-21 Apr-21 May-21 Jun-21 
Year to 

Date 
YTD 
RAG 

Target Floor  

EW1 
Percentage of statutory planning consultee 
responses submitted within 21 days 

N/a N/a 81% 88% 94% 87% GREEN 85% 76% 

DT05 
Percentage of HWRC voucher applications 
completed online 

99% 96% 99% 99% 99% 99% GREEN 95% 85% 

 

P
age 299



T
his page is intentionally left blank



From:  Benjamin Watts, General Counsel 
 
To:   Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee on 8 September 

2021  
 
Subject:  Work Programme 2021-2022 
    
Classification: Unrestricted  
    
Past and Future Pathway of Paper:   Standard agenda item 
 
 

Summary: This report gives details of the proposed work programme for the 
Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee. 
 
Recommendation:  The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is asked to 
consider and agree its Work Programme for 2021/22. 

 
 
1. Introduction  
1.1 The proposed work programme, appended to the report, has been compiled 

from items in the Future Executive Decision List and from actions identified 
during the meetings and at agenda setting meetings, in accordance with the 
Constitution. 

 
1.2 Whilst the chairman, in consultation with the cabinet members, is responsible 

for the programme’s fine tuning, this item gives all members of this cabinet 
committee the opportunity to suggest amendments and additional agenda items 
where appropriate. 
 

2. Work Programme 2021/22 
2.1  The proposed work programme has been compiled from items in the Future 

Executive Decision List and from actions arising and from topics, within the 
remit of the functions of this cabinet committee, identified at the agenda setting 
meetings [Agenda setting meetings are held 6 weeks before a cabinet 
committee meeting, in accordance with the constitution].   
 

2.2   The cabinet committee is requested to consider and note the items within the 
proposed Work Programme, set out in appendix A to this report, and to suggest 
any additional topics to be considered at future meetings, where appropriate. 

 
2.3   The schedule of commissioning activity which falls within the remit of this 

cabinet committee will be included in the work programme and considered at 
future agenda setting meetings to support more effective forward agenda 
planning and allow members to have oversight of significant services delivery 
decisions in advance.   

 
 

Page 301

Agenda Item 17



2.4 When selecting future items, the cabinet committee should consider the 
contents of performance monitoring reports.  Any ‘for information’ items will be 
sent to members of the cabinet committee separately to the agenda and will not 
be discussed at the cabinet committee meetings. 

 
3. Conclusion 
3.1 It is vital for the cabinet committee process that the committee takes ownership 

of its work programme to deliver informed and considered decisions. A regular 
report will be submitted to each meeting of the cabinet committee to give 
updates of requested topics and to seek suggestions for future items to be 
considered. This does not preclude members making requests to the chairman 
or the Democratic Services Officer between meetings, for consideration. 

 
 

4. Recommendation:  The Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee is 
asked to consider and agree its Work Programme for 2021/22. 

 
5. Background Documents: None 
 
6. Contact details 
 
Report Author:  
Matthew Dentten 
Democratic Services Officer 
03000 414534 
Matthew.dentten@kent.gov.uk 

 

Lead Officer: 
Benjamin Watts 
General Counsel 
03000 410466 
benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk  
 

 

Page 302

mailto:benjamin.watts@kent.gov.uk


Environment and Transport Cabinet Committee - WORK PROGRAMME 2021/22 
 
 

 

3 November 2021 
 

No Item Key Decision Additional Comments 
 

1 Intro/ Web announcement (Standing Item) NO  

2 Apologies and Subs (Standing Item) NO  

3 Declaration of Interest (Standing Item) NO  

4 Minutes (Standing Item) NO  

5 Verbal Update (Standing Item) NO  

6 Strategic Delivery Plan Monitoring NO Bi-Annual  

7 Budget Consultation  NO Annual  

8 Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 5 year Review public consultation YES  

9 Adaption Programme Endorsement  YES  

10 West Kent Solar Park YES  

11 Southern Water - Thanet coast wastewater release NO Requested at E&T Cabinet Committee on 29 June 2021. 

12 Performance Dashboard (Standing Item)  NO  

13 Work Programme (Standing Item) NO  

 

19 January 2022 
 

No Item Key Decision Additional Comments 
 

 Final Draft Budget  NO Annual 

Item Cabinet Committee to receive item 

Performance Dashboard  At each meeting 

Work Programme At each meeting 

Budget Consultation   Annually (November/December) 

Final Draft Budget  Annually (January) 

Risk Register – Strategic Risk Register Annually (March) 

Annual Equality and Diversity Report Annually (June/July) 

Winter Service Policy Annually (September) 

Bus Feedback Portal update Bi-Annual (every six months)  

Strategic Delivery Plan Monitoring Bi-Annual (every six months – November & May) 

Appendix A 

P
age 303



 

17 March 2022 
 

No Item Key Decision Additional Comments 
 

 Risk Register – Strategic Risk Register  Annual 

 

24 June 2022 
 

No Item Key Decision Additional Comments 
 

 Annual Equality and Diversity Report  Annual 

 

Items for Consideration that have not yet been allocated to a meeting 
18/00037 - M2 Junction 5  Date TBC 

North West Maidstone Transfer Station Requested at E&T Cabinet Committee on 16 July 2019. 

Road Crossing Patrol Policy (Decision) Date TBC 

Update report on Serious Organised Crime  Date TBC  - Requested at E&T Cabinet Committee on 16 July 2019 

A26 cycle route Requested at E&T Cabinet Committee on 29 June 2021. 

 

P
age 304


	Agenda
	4 Minutes of the meeting held on 29 June 2021
	Minutes

	6 21/00073 - Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2013-30 - 5 Year Review of 2016 adopted Plan
	KMWLP Appendix A - PROD
	Appendix 1  - Report of the 5 year Review of the Kent Minerals and Waste Local Plan 2021 assessment

	7 Approach to monitoring Net Zero Target
	8 Kent and Medway Energy and Low Emissions Strategy - Progress Update
	9 Heritage Conservation Strategy
	Heritage Conservation Strategy Report

	10 21/00072 - Highway Rural Swathe Contract
	Appendix A - Rural Swathe , Vis and Hedge Contract PROD

	11 21/00071 - Highway Emergency Tree Works Contract
	Appendix A - Emergency Tree Works Procurement PROD

	12 Winter Service Policy
	13 Local Transport Plan 5 - Early review
	14 21/00075 - Independent Cost Consultancy Services
	Independent Cost Consultancy PROD

	15 21/00066 - Kent Active Travel scheme - Cinque Ports Phase 5 - A259 Palmarsh to Dymchurch
	Appendix C - PROD
	Appendix A - overview of Cinque Ports phase 1- 5 between Folkestone to Dymchurch
	Sheets and Views
	101 Overview


	Appendix B - Phase 5A and 5B

	16 Performance Dashboard
	Appendix 1 - Performance Dashboard Sep 21

	17 Work Programme
	Work Programme 2021-22


